
 

 
 

Agenda 

 

Page 1 

Cabinet 
 

Time and Date 
2.00 pm on Tuesday, 11th January 2022 
 
Place 
Council Chamber, Council House, Coventry CV1 5RR 
 

Please note that in line with current Government and City Council guidelines in 
relation to Covid, there will be reduced public access to the meeting to manage 
numbers attending safely. If you wish to attend in person, please contact the 
Governance Services Officer indicated at the end of the agenda. 
 

 
 
Public business 
 
1. Apologies   

 
2. Declarations of Interest   

 
3. Minutes  (Pages 5 - 14) 
 

 (a) To agree the minutes from the meeting of Cabinet on 14th December 
2021 

 
(b) Matters arising 
 

4. Exclusion of Press and Public   
 

 To consider whether to exclude the press and public for the items of private 
business for the reasons shown in the reports. 
 

5. The 2022/23 Council Tax Base Report  (Pages 15 - 26) 
 

 Report of the Director of Finance 
 

6. Approval of Rough Sleeper Drug and Alcohol Treatment Grant   
           (Pages 27 - 34) 
 

 Report of the Chief Partnership Officer 
 

7. Outcomes of the Fair Funding Consultation 2022-23  (Pages 35 - 70) 
 

 Report of the Director of Education and Skills 
 

8. External Auditor Appointment From April 2023  (Pages 71 - 78) 
 

 Report of the Director of Finance 
 

Public Document Pack



Page 2 

9. Homes for Disabled Children - Acceptance of a Capital Grant, Further 
Capital Borrowing and Future Homes for Children with a Disability  
(Pages 79 - 86) 

 

 Report of the Director of Children’s Services 
 

10. Disposal of Land at Allard Way  (Pages 87 - 96) 
 

 Report of the Director of Property Services and Development 
 

11. City Centre South Land Acquisition and Compulsory Purchase Order  
(Pages 97 - 270) 

 

 Report of the Director of Property Services and Development 
 

12. Outstanding Issues   
 

 There are no outstanding issues 
 

13. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.   
 

Private business 
 
14. Homes for Disabled Children - Acceptance of a Capital Grant, Further 

Capital Borrowing and Future Homes for Children with a Disability  
(Pages 271 - 278) 

 

 Report of the Director of Children’s Services 
 
(Listing Officer: Paul Smith, Tel: 024 7697 6744) 
 

15. Disposal of Land at Allard Way  (Pages 279 - 288) 
 

 Report of the Director of Property Services and Development 
 
(Listing Officer: J Grant, Tel: 024 7697 7215) 
 

16. City Centre South Land Acquisition and Compulsory Purchase Order  
(Pages 289 - 350) 

 

 Report of the Director of Property Services and Development 
 
(Listing Officer: A Hunt, Tel: 024 7697 6853) 
 

17. Any other items of private business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.   
 

 

Julie Newman, Director of Law and Governance, Council House, Coventry 
 
Tuesday, 21 December 2021 
 



Page 3 

Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is 
Michelle Salmon, Governance Services, Email: michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 
Membership 
 
Cabinet Members:  
Councillors R Brown, K Caan, G Duggins (Chair), P Hetherton, A S Khan (Deputy 
Chair), M Mutton, J O'Boyle, K Sandhu, P Seaman and D Welsh 
 
Non-voting Deputy Cabinet Members: 
Councillors P Akhtar, B Gittins, G Hayre and G Lloyd 
 
By invitation:  
Councillors P Male and G Ridley (Non-voting Opposition representatives) 
 
 
Public Access 

Please note that in line with current Government and City Council Covid guidelines, 

there will be limited public access to the meeting to manage numbers attending safely. 

Any member of the public who would like to attend the meeting in person is required to 

contact the officer below in advance of the meeting regarding arrangements for public 

attendance. A guide to attending public meeting can be found here: 

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings 

 

Michelle Salmon 
Governance Services  
Email: michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings


This page is intentionally left blank



 
– 1 – 

 

Coventry City Council 
Minutes of the Meeting of Cabinet held at 2.00 pm on Tuesday, 14 December 2021 

 
Present:  

Members: Councillor G Duggins (Chair) 

 Councillor R Brown 
Councillor K Caan 
Councillor P Hetherton 
Councillor M Mutton 
Councillor J O'Boyle 
Councillor K Sandhu 
Councillor P Seaman 
Councillor D Welsh 
 

Non-Voting Deputy 
Cabinet Member: 
 
Non-Voting Opposition 
Members: 
 
 
Other Non-Voting 
Members: 
 
 
Employees (by Service): 
 
Chief Executive 
 
Business, Investment and 
Culture 
 
Finance 
 
Law and Governance 
 
 
Apologies: 
 
 

 
Councillor G Hayre 
 
 
Councillor J Blundell (Substitute for Councillor P Male) 
Councillor G Ridley 
 
 
Councillor R Lakha 
Councillor C Thomas 

 
 
      

M Reeves (Chief Executive) 
 
D Hope, D Weir 
 
 
B Hastie (Director of Finance), P Jennings 
 
J Newman (Director of Law and Governance), M Salmon     
 
 

Councillor N Akhtar 
Councillor P Akhtar 
Councillor L Bigham 
Councillor B Gittins 
Councillor G Lloyd 
Councillor A S Khan 
Councillor P Male 

 

  

Public Business 
 
48. Declarations of Interest  

 
There were no disclosable pecuniary interests. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

 
– 2 – 

 

 
 

49. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 16th November 2021 were agreed and signed 
as a true record. There were no matters arising. 
 

50. Coventry Creative Growth and Cultural Tourism Recovery Programme - 
Community Renewal Fund Application  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Business, Investment and 
Culture that indicated that Coventry City Council (CCC) had been successful in its 
application to the West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) for £751,306 to be 
allocated through the Community Renewal Fund (CRF) to enable the delivery of a 
pilot project (expected to be 7 months duration) up to 30th June 2022, which would 
support the continued growth and competitiveness of cultural sectors in Coventry, 
not least through realising the unique opportunities presented by UK City of 
Culture 2021, the 2022 Commonwealth Games and associated Legacies. 
 
Through the CRF Pilot, CCC would lead a partnership to deliver an integrated 
business, skills and employment support package to Coventry’s cultural sectors, 
which included creative industries, tourism and hospitality, events, and 
businesses/freelancers supplying these sectors.   
 
The CRF was announced at the March 2021 Budget. It was principally revenue 
funding and had four themes: Investment in Skills; Investment for Local 
Businesses; Investment in Communities and Place; and Supporting People into 
Employment. A key purpose of CRF was to deliver pilot initiatives (including new 
innovative concepts) that could act as the forerunner for activities that could be 
potentially delivered through the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF - the 
Government’s successor to European Regional Development Fund - ERDF and 
European Social Fund - ESF), which was expected to be launched in either 2022 
or 2023. 
 
Through the successful application, CCC, working with Delivery Partners, would 
be able to build on its extensive track record of delivering successful economic 
and social development programmes through ERDF and ESF, and also pilot new 
ways of delivering business, skills and employment support services which could 
then be taken forward through UKSPF – this was expected to be an important 
funder of many of CCC’s economic and social development activities after ERDF 
and ESF funding in the UK ended in 2023.  
 
CCC would engage in a contracting process with the WMCA, who were the Lead 
Authority for the overall funding received from Government. Following the signing 
of this Funding Agreement, it would also need to develop Grant Aid Agreements 
with its Delivery Partners before project activities could formally start. 
 
The report provided information on the bid and sought approval for the Council to 
accept the grant allocation in order to deliver the pilot project. 
 
 
 

Page 6



 

 
– 3 – 

 

 
RESOLVED that the Cabinet: 
 
1) Approves the acceptance and drawdown of the grant funding totalling 

£751,306 for the Community Renewal Fund to be utilised in delivering the 
City’s priorities, as set out in the report. 

 
2) Delegates authority to the Director of Business, Investment and Culture, 

following consultation with the Director of Finance, the Director of Law 
and Governance and the Cabinet Member for Jobs, Regeneration and 
Climate Change, to negotiate the final terms and approve entry into: 

 
a)   the funding agreement with West Midlands Combined Authority for 

the Community Renewal Fund funding allocation; and 
  
b) back-to-back agreement with such delivery partners as is deemed 

necessary to deliver the City’s priorities, as set out in the report. 
 
3) Following completion of the actions set out in recommendation 2) above, 

delegates authority to the Director of Business, Investment and Culture, 
following consultation with the Cabinet Member for Jobs, Regeneration 
and Climate Change and Cabinet Member for Education and Skills, to 
manage the administration of the Community Renewal Fund Grant 
Funding Agreement with the West Midlands Combined Authority and the 
Grant Aid Agreements with the delivery partners, to ensure compliance 
in accordance with their terms.  

 
51. 2020/21 Second Quarter Financial Monitoring Report (to September 2021)  

 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Finance that would also be 
considered by Audit and Procurement Committee at their meeting on 31st January 
2022, advised of the forecast outturn position for revenue and capital expenditure 
and the Council’s treasury management activity as at the end of September 2021. 
Appendices to the report provided details of: Revenue Position - Detailed 
Directorate breakdown of forecast outturn position; Capital Programme - Analysis 
of Budget/Technical Changes; Capital Programme - Estimated Outturn 2021/22; 
Capital Programme - Analysis of Rescheduling; and Prudential Indicators. 
 
The headline revenue forecast for 2021/22 was for net expenditure to be £14.4m 
over budget before the application of COVID-19 emergency funding for local 
government. After the use of this grant, the net forecast over-spend was £3.1m. At 
the same point in 2020/21 there was a projected overspend of £3.5m. 
 
The position included an underlying overspend of £6.8m within Children’s Services 
although £3.3m of this had been attributed to the pandemic and funded from one-
off Covid funding accordingly leaving a net overspend of £3.4m (2.7m at Quarter 
2). Work had been undertaken to understand the likelihood and extent of these 
pressures continuing into next year and this would be reflected in the 2022/23 Pre-
Budget Report. Management focus would continue to identify the causes and 
manage as far as possible the budget pressures within Children’s Services as a 
fundamental element of balancing the 2022/23 Budget position. It was clear 
though that a combination of societal and demographic trends and market 

Page 7



 

 
– 4 – 

 

pressures were creating a very difficult environment for the service, part of the 
effect of which was the challenging financial position reflected here.  
 
Elsewhere, lower-level budget pressures had continued or emerged within 
Streetscene and Regulatory Services, Finance, Legal and Governance Services 
and Transportation and Highways. In overall terms the corporate position was 
within acceptable tolerances at this stage of the financial cycle and could be 
reasonably expected to continue improving towards year-end. 
 
The Council and the city continued to receive Government support linked to Covid 
within the 2021/22 financial year. This amounted to c£24m announced to date to 
support Council services directly and a further c£41m channelled through the 
Council to support Coventry businesses and external suppliers. Although further 
allocations could be ruled out, the pace of funding announcements had slowed 
markedly reflecting the wider easing of lockdown measures. The scale of any 
residual Covid related grants was therefore likely to be modest. 
 
The Council’s capital spending was projected to be £253.4m and includes major 
scheme expenditure which ranged from investment in to the A46 Link Road, 
Coventry Station Masterplan, construction of a second office building and a hotel 
within the Friargate development, Air Quality highways works and Secondary 
Schools expansion. The size of the programme and the nature of the projects 
within it continued to be fundamental to the Council’s role within the city. 
 
The Council’s services and its financial position were moving gradually towards a 
business-as-usual position as the year progressed with activity and impacts arising 
from the Covid pandemic starting to subside. Some pockets of service activity 
continued to be significantly affected although often this was not resulting in a net 
financial cost. It was clear though that significant financial risk remained in relation 
to the underlying funding position for local government as well as the future 
trajectory of Covid costs and funding within a few service areas. It remained a 
financial imperative therefore to focus on the medium-term horizon and for the 
Council to tackle the anticipated legacy effects of Covid. 
 
RESOLVED that the Cabinet: 
 
1) Approves the Council’s revenue monitoring position incorporating the 

application of Covid emergency funding. 
 
2) Approves the revised forecast capital outturn position for the year of 

£253.4m incorporating: £4.8m programme acceleration since quarter one 
and £1.5m net increase in spending relating to approved/technical 
changes. 

 
52. Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022-2025  

 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Finance that had been 
considered by the Finance and Corporate Services Scrutiny Board (1) at their 
meeting on 1st December 2021 (their minute 22/21 referred) and would also be 
considered by Council at their meeting on 18th January 2022, that presented a 
Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for adoption by the City Council. A 

Page 8



 

 
– 5 – 

 

briefing note setting out a recommendation from Finance and Corporate Services 
Scrutiny Board (1) consideration of the report was circulated. 
 
The previous strategy was approved as part of the 2021/22 Budget Report in 
February 2021. The Strategy set out the financial planning foundations that 
supported the Council’s vision and priorities and the financial and policy context for 
the Council’s current Budget process. Cabinet would consider proposals within the 
Pre-Budget Report in December 2021 and the final Budget Setting Report would 
be brought to Cabinet and Council in February 2022.  
 
The national funding background to the MTFS was that the local government 
would be subject to a new settlement from Government within the financial 
parameters of the Autumn Budget and Spending Review 2021 (SR2021) 
announced in October. Although a major upheaval in the funding arrangements for 
all councils had been signalled at regular intervals this was once again postponed 
in SR2021 and there would be no structural changes to the system until 2023/24 
at the earliest. In addition, SR2021 provided only indicative control totals for the 
sector and it would not be until the provisional local government settlement was 
released in December 2021 that firmer indications would be provided of the 
Council’s outline financial settlement for the next three years. The Pre-Budget 
report that would be considered by Cabinet alongside this one set out the best 
estimate of the Council’s three-year settlement financial position. Current medium-
term estimates were still based on assumptions of local authorities continuing to 
face significant financial pressures.  
 
The national political and financial environment had continued to be subject to 
fluidity and uncertainty resulting from the impact of Covid and the economic 
transition as restrictions had been lifted. Despite the large increase in Government 
borrowing incurred during the pandemic SR2021 indicated that real terms growth 
would be allowed across Government departments over the medium term. How 
this affected the financial position for local government would not be known with 
any certainty until the forthcoming local government settlement, although it was 
anticipated that demographic, societal and inflationary pressures would absorb 
much if not all of the indicated growth in the sector. The shorter-term impact of this 
was likely to be some additional funding for local government to help deal with 
known and growing financial pressures. The extent that the position could be 
forecast beyond 2022/23 would depend greatly on the detail set out in the 
settlement. There was every expectation that the pressure on public finances 
would not ease in a sustained way and that any increase in available revenue 
resources would be at least matched by equivalent need to meet pressures within 
the sector, in particular those relating to social care. 
 
On a local level, the Council continued to be faced with challenging conditions 
created by the need to protect vulnerable children in the city and the pressures of 
delivering services for a growing city. In some sectors this had been affected by 
difficulties within the labour market and the need to employ external agency 
staffing to deliver core services. The delivery of the ambitious scale and pace of 
the Council’s capital and transformation plans within its existing project and 
management capacity presented a further challenge. In addition, the elements of 
the Programme that were funded by future West Midlands Combined Authority 
(WMCA) grant approvals would not be able to proceed until resourcing for these 
grants had been secured through the WMCA.  

Page 9



 

 
– 6 – 

 

 
Notwithstanding the approaches set out in this strategy, the Council would need to 
maintain dynamic financial models that took account of changes in its medium-
term budget position and ongoing re-evaluation of its Capital Programme. These 
would be set out fully at the point of decision making. 
 
In summary, the key national and local contexts that framed this Strategy included: 
 
• A paramount need to protect the most vulnerable people in the city;  
• Expectations on the Council to maintain service levels and standards across a 

wide range of core services, in part redefined within an updated set of policy 
priorities; 

• A comparatively high rate of local population growth causing greater demand 
and expenditure pressures in areas such as social care, waste disposal and 
housing; 

• Any growth in the level of government resources within a revised local 
government funding framework being absorbed by spending demands, 
especially within social care sectors; 

• A Business Rates retention system emphasising the continued importance of 
promoting growth in the local economy; 

• A very large Capital Programme which defined the Council’s aspirational 
outlook, but which established a major programming and logistical challenge in 
order to deliver it. 

 
Taken together, these factors represented a combination of limited resources, 
challenging underlying economic and demographic conditions, increased demand, 
pressure to sustain the quality of services and new challenges represented by 
government reform and local structural and governance relationships. In these 
circumstances it was crucial that the Council’s financial strategy was both robust 
and flexible. This would provide the financial foundations required to ensure that 
Council services were fit for purpose to protect the most vulnerable as well as 
providing good core services for every citizen in the city. 
 
In support of these aims, the City Council’s strategic financial approach to the 
demands that it faces included: 
 
• An approach based on economic growth, quality of life and a commitment to 

delivering fundamental services as well as a greatly increased focus on 
actions to tackle climate change; 

• A Local Plan setting the blueprint for taking the City forward, identifying land 
for new homes, new jobs and new retail and community uses; 

• A fundamental commitment to protecting the city’s vulnerable children, adults 
and older people; 

• Managing the demand for services selectively, through digital working and 
community engagement; 

• A programme of activity to deliver the One Coventry Plan which would change 
the way the Council worked and engaged with its customers, to achieve better 
outcomes and in part to achieve more efficient and cost effective services; 

• A programme of major capital schemes to drive regeneration and economic 
growth in the city including its public realm, the city’s highways network and its 
cultural and leisure offer to make Coventry an attractive place to live and work.  

Page 10



 

 
– 7 – 

 

• Growing the city’s local income base, within the environment of increasing 
localisation of funding sources, including Business Rates; 

• Partnership working, including as part of the West Midlands Combined 
Authority, together with voluntary organisations and other partners; 

• A continued drive towards income maximisation, including investment in 
commercial ventures within the context of robust risk management 
arrangements and mindful of sector guidance; 

• A continued Workforce Strategy requiring a workforce working in flexible ways 
consistent with a modern organisation, ensuring that the Council had the talent 
in place necessary to deliver the challenging agenda that it faced; 

• Seeking to optimise the use of pooled funding available to support social care 
and health; 

• Seeking to modernise, rationalise and prioritise services, consider alternative 
service delivery models and work in tandem with partners and neighbouring 
authorities; 

• Strong corporate financial planning, monitoring and project management 
arrangements; 

 
Based on the 2021/22 approved budget, the initial financial gap for the following 3 
years as at the start of the new Budget Setting round was: 
  

 

*The positions for 2022/23 and 2023/24 had been updated to reflect all approved 
decisions up to and including the 2021/22 Budget process. 
 
The 2022/23 Pre-Budget Report which would be considered by Cabinet alongside 
this report, would provide the latest detailed financial position to reflect an updated 
financial assessment and work undertaken to balance the forthcoming budget. The 
scale of the financial gap shown above was not unusually large in a historical 
context or compared with authorities similar to Coventry and the Pre-Budget report 
would show measures that were likely to bring next year’s position close to 
balance. One of the challenges of this strategy was to move the Council towards a 
balanced position over the medium term although this would depend to a large 
degree on the content of the local government settlement. It would nevertheless 
require the Council to consider the need to prioritise the services that it wished to 
maintain in the future and identify those that may be allocated fewer resources, 
managed in a different way or ceased altogether. 
  
The Cabinet noted that within the table entitled Summary of Reserve Movements 
in 2020/21 the closing reserve balance for the Innovation and Development Fund 
should be £5.549m (not £5.649m as stated), and that the corresponding figures for 
Other Corporate Reserves should be £13.600m (not £13.500m as stated). The two 
restatements cancelled each other out and the overall total was unaffected. 
 
 
 
 

 
2022/23  

£m 

2023/24 

£m 

2024/25 

£m 

Revised Revenue Budget Gap* 15.4 21.4 26.6 

Page 11



 

 
– 8 – 

 

RESOLVED that the Cabinet: 
 
(1) Agrees the recommendation from the Finance and Corporate Services 

Scrutiny Board (1) that Cabinet agrees the recommendations contained 
in the report; and 

 
(2) Recommends that Council approve the Strategy as the basis of its 

medium-term financial planning process. 
 

53. Pre-Budget Report 2022/23  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Finance that outlined, as a 
basis for consultation, a set of new revenue budget proposals for 2022/23 to 
2024/25 which represented changes to the Council’s existing Budget. Consultation 
views were also sought on the potential level of Council Tax and Adult Social Care 
Precept increases for 2022/23. The final Budget proposals and the Council Tax 
and Adult Social Care Precept increases would be subject to Council approval in 
February 2022. An Appendix to the report provided details of the Pre-Budget 
Financial Position. 
 
The Council’s overall future strategy was set out in the “One Coventry Council 
Plan” which described the Council’s key priorities including: improving the quality 
of life for Coventry people, especially the most vulnerable; promoting the growth of 
a sustainable Coventry economy and ensuring that residents shared in the 
benefits; and making the most of assets and working closer with partners and 
residents to enable people to do more for themselves. Implicit within the plan was 
the Council’s commitment to delivering a range of core services to everyone in the 
city. The Plan was currently being revised and it was intended that it would be 
brought for approval during the first part of 2022. Much of the policy content would 
remain similar to the current version although it was expected that there would be 
some significant changes. 
 
The expected developments in relation to the system of local government finance 
continued to be delayed. The Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities had announced that a future move to 75% Business rates retention 
would not now proceed although the current assumption was that wider 50% 
retention and existing arrangements for Business Rates pools and pilots would 
continue for the foreseeable future. In the Council’s case this would mean 
continued membership of the Coventry and Warwickshire Business Rates Pool 
and the West Midlands Combined Authority Business Rates Pilot, both of which 
continued to offer potential positive financial benefits. At present though, neither 
further reform to the fundamental nature of the Busines Rates and Council Tax 
arrangements within local government nor the fair funding review of local 
government appeared imminent. 
 
The Chancellor of the Exchequer did announce the Autumn Budget and Spending 
Review 2021 (SR2021) on 27th October 2021. This presented a three-year 
horizon for Government spending in the form of Departmental Spending Limits 
(including local government). This indicated some further financial support for local 
government although at the time of writing the Council was still awaiting the 
2022/23 Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement which would include 
details on a number of key funding announcements which would dictate the 

Page 12



 

 
– 9 – 

 

funding envelope within which the Council would need to operate next year. As a 
result, the financial Pre-Budget position set out in this report was assumption 
sensitive and was likely to be subject to significant changes in some important 
areas prior to the setting of the final Budget in February 2022. A note of caution 
was urged both due to the pressures which were likely to need to be met over the 
coming budget period and with the expectation that the detail for local government 
was likely to be restricted to a one-year settlement despite the 3 year horizon of 
SR2021. 
 
Initial interpretations of SR2021 were that it did include some stabilising elements 
to help councils manage pressures that they had either foreseen previously or 
which had emerged more recently. Although much detail remained to be set out 
and enormous uncertainty remained, the report included a less austere outlook for 
the Council than had been possible for some years. It remained the case though 
that the report and the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (considered at 
the same meeting of Cabinet as this report) continued to focus on the immediate 
term in managing the current and pressing challenges facing the Council and the 
city. Several critical areas of work needed to be finalised as the Budget cycle 
concluded which it was planned would enable the Council to balance the position 
for 2022/23.    
 
The financial proposals in the report did not include any new service cuts. It was 
anticipated that this could be avoided due to the impact of SR2021 plus the 
likelihood of being able to implement a range of technical measures. This could 
include using one-off resources (in the form of reserves) to meet one off pressures 
if required, although no such measures were proposed at this stage. The Council’s 
view remained that it wanted to avoid the need to reduce vital services and would 
seek to explore all possible avenues to do this. That being said, the report did not 
include sufficient measures to present a balanced budget in 2022/23, with a 
financial gap of £3m still remaining at this stage. The report included a range of 
approaches set put in Section 5.1 which were intended would balance this 
position. 
 
The pre-existing Medium Term Financial Strategy included an approach 
incorporating a number of transformation themes such as commercialisation and 
digitalisation. This work had been somewhat delayed through 2020 and 2021 as 
the Council shifted its focus by necessity to meeting the challenge of Covid. Initial 
work done to revise the One Coventry Council Plan and an accompanying 
framework to improve the Council’s ability to sustain an effective performance 
framework were underway and would be implemented in the first part of 2022. 
This was expected would form an increasing focus of the Council’s activity beyond 
2021/22 to improve the manner and cost effectiveness with which the Council was 
able to deliver services to its citizens.  
 
The proposals in the report were made as a basis for public consultation and the 
results of the consultation would be reflected in the final Budget Report in 
February 2022 and considered as part of the final decisions recommended in that 
report. Further work would be undertaken to confirm all the financial assumptions 
between now and the final Budget Report in February 2022.  
 
 

Page 13



 

 
– 10 – 

 

An outline of the resources and the spending and savings proposals were 
provided in Section 2 of the report and on a line-by-line basis in Appendix 1 to the 
report. The Council’s Council Tax assumptions and the basis on which it was 
consulting, was set out in Section 2 of the report.  
 
An indicative outline was included within the report for the Council’s prospective 
Capital Programme for 2023/24 based on current knowledge. This would be 
updated in the February 2022 Budget Report, reflecting the most up to date 
programme information available. The draft Programme was based 
overwhelmingly on pre-existing decisions and patterns of expenditure. 
 
RESOLVED that the Cabinet approves as a basis of consultation: the 
revenue spending and savings options in Section 2 of the report and 
Appendix 1 of the report; the broad Capital Programme proposals in 
sections 2.6 to 2.9 of the report; the approach in relation to Council Tax and 
the Adult Social Care Precept in Section 1.7 of the report including a Council 
Tax rise of just under 2% and an Adult Social Care Precept of 1%. 
 

54. Outstanding Issues  
 
There were no outstanding issues. 
 

55. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.  
 
There were no other items of public business. 
 
 
 
 

(Meeting closed at 2.35 pm)  

  

Page 14



  
Public report 

Cabinet Report 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet                         11th January 2022 
 
Name of Cabinet Member:
Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources – Councillor R Brown
 
Director approving submission of the report:
Director of Finance
 
Ward(s) affected:
All 
 
Title:
The 2022/23 Council Tax Base Report  
 
 
Is this a key decision?
Yes – this report deals with income in excess of £1m 
 
 
 
Executive summary:
 
The main purpose of this report is to establish the 2022/23 Council Tax base for tax setting 
purposes.  
 
The Council Tax base is the measure of the taxable capacity of an area, for the purpose of 
calculating an authority's Council Tax.  It represents the estimated number of Band D equivalent 
chargeable dwellings for the year.  It also takes into account the authority's estimated Council 
Tax collection rate. 
 
This report does not set the actual level of Council Tax in Coventry; that will be set by Council on 
the 22nd February 2022. 
 
Recommendations: 
 
The Cabinet is recommended to:  
 
1) Approve that the Council Tax collection rate for 2022/23 be set at 97.9% 
 
2) That, in accordance with the Local Authorities (Calculation of Tax Base) Regulations 2012, 

the amounts calculated by the City Council for 2022/23 shall be: 
 

 a net tax base of 84,264.3 for the whole of the City Council area made up as 
follows: 

Allesley Parish 356.9 

Finham Parish 1,524.6 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



 2 

Keresley Parish 237.0 

All Other Coventry City Council Wards 82,145.8 

TOTAL 84,264.3 

 
3. That the following grant payments should be made to parish councils to reflect the impact 

in 2022/23 of Council Tax reductions on their tax bases. 

Allesley Parish £2,135 

Finham Parish £3,060 

Keresley Parish £1,313 

TOTAL £6,508 

 
 
 
List of Appendices included:  
 
Appendix A - Tax Base Calculation for 2022/23 Tax Setting (Coventry) 
Appendix B -Tax Base Calculation for 2022/23 Tax Setting (Allesley) 
Appendix C - Tax Base Calculation for 2022/23 Tax Setting (Finham) 
Appendix D - Tax Base Calculation for 2022/23 Tax Setting (Keresley) 
Appendix E - Grant payments to parish councils 
 
Background papers: 
 
None 
 
Other useful documents: 
 
None 

Has it or will it be considered by scrutiny?  
 
No 
 
Has it, or will it be considered by any other council committee, advisory panel or other 
body? 
 
No 
 
Will this report go to Council?  
 
No 

Page 16



 3 

Report title: 
The 2022/23 Council Tax Base Report 
 
1. Context  
 
1.1 Council tax base 

 
1.1.1 The Council tax base is the measure of the taxable capacity of an area, for the purpose of 

calculating an authority's Council Tax.  It represents the estimated number of Band D 
equivalent chargeable dwellings for the year.  It also takes into account the authority's 
estimated Council Tax collection rate. 

 
1.1.2 This report makes the necessary calculations in accordance with the Local Authorities 

(Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 2012 to establish the Council Tax base for 
the City Council and its parishes. These regulations include the impact of the Council Tax 
Support Scheme (also known as the Council Tax Reduction Scheme). 
 

1.1.3 The Council Tax base for the City Council will be used by major preceptors when setting 
their precepts.  
 

1.1.4 Under the Support Scheme, the Council Tax base is reduced according to the amount of 
reductions awarded under the scheme, as the authority will be foregoing the relevant 
Council Tax income, and instead will receive partial compensation via an adjustment 
within the Local Government Finance Settlement calculations. These reductions are 
reflected in the calculation of the Council Tax base, in order to calculate the correct 
amount of Band D Council Tax for the billing authority (Coventry City Council), the major 
preceptors (West Midlands Police and Crime Commissioner, the West Midlands Fire and 
Rescue Authority and the West Midlands Combined Authority), and the local precepting 
authorities (Allesley Parish Council, Finham Parish Council and Keresley Parish Council). 

 
1.1.5 It is estimated that the effect on the tax base of the Support Scheme will be to reduce it by 

13.8%. The financial impact of the reduction in tax base will be partially offset by an 
element of the overall funding settlement from Government. 

 
1.1.6 The tax bases for the parishes of Allesley, Finham and Keresley will also be reduced by 

13.8% as a result of the Council Tax Support Scheme. It is proposed that the Council 
transfers an element of the compensation described above to offset the impact of the 
reduced tax base on tax income for the parish councils. Recommendation 3 proposes that 
Allesley, Finham and Keresley receive payments of £2,135, £3,060 and £1,313 
respectively to offset the effect of the tax base reduction. These payments have been 
calculated to offset 90% of the effect of the tax base reduction, in keeping with the 
compensation percentage adopted when the scheme was first introduced. The details of 
the calculations are provided in Appendix E. 

 
1.1.7 This report does not set the actual level of Council Tax in Coventry; that will be set by 

Council on the 22nd February 2022. The determination of the tax base is one part of the 
process and must occur before 31st January each year. 

 
1.1.8 The technical nature of this report reflects the fact that the tax base calculation is 

prescribed by statute.  The tax base measures all properties in an area, relative to a band 
D property even though this is not representative of the typical domestic property in 
Coventry.  In fact, 87% of properties in Coventry fall into Bands A to C, which attract lower 
bills than Band D properties. 

 

Page 17



 4 

 
2. Options considered and recommended proposal 
 
2.1 Calculation of the Council tax base 
 
2.1.1 The regulations specify in detail the calculations required.  The basic formula is AxB, 

where: 
 

-  'A' is the number of "Band D equivalent" properties estimated to be applicable for the 
forthcoming financial year.  This is referred to as the 'gross tax base'.  The calculation 
and exact definition are explained in section 2.1.3 below. 

- 'B' is the City Council's estimate of the Council Tax collection rate for those Band D 
equivalent properties as explained in section 2.2 below. 

 
2.1.2 The calculation of the number of Band D equivalent properties is set out in full in 

Appendix A. This provides a gross tax base figure (A) of 86,071.8 for the City of Coventry.  
 
2.1.3 The gross tax base is derived for each band by taking the valuation list as at the 30th 

November in the current financial year, adjusted for the effect of exemptions, discounts 
and reliefs claimed on that day, as well as estimated changes throughout the year. The 
tax base is also adjusted for the estimated effect of reductions that have replaced the 
previous Council Tax benefits. The calculation of each band is then weighted to the 
equivalent of a Band D property and added together to give the gross tax base. 

 
2.1.4 Calculation of the gross tax base considers an estimate of the change in tax base that is 

likely to occur during the forthcoming financial year.  This includes the anticipated effect of 
retrospective amendments.  Most of these amendments relate to properties that are 
exempt from Council Tax (e.g. student accommodation), where the exemption is only 
made known to the Council at a later date. 

 
2.1.5 For the purposes of calculating the 2022/23 tax base, an adjustment of -2.1% has been 

made, based on existing experience, to consider the anticipated effect of these 
amendments.  

 
2.2 The Calculation of the Collection Rate 
 
2.2.1 The City Council also has to estimate the likely rate of collection of Council Tax (referred 

to as 'B' in 2.1.1 above).  This determines the amount of tax due which the Council 
believes it can collect after allowing for bankruptcies, absconders and other non-
collectable sums. The collection rate is applied to the gross tax base to give the net tax 
base, used for the purpose of setting Council Tax. 

 
2.2.2 Reductions or increases in the collection rate lower or raise the net tax base and hence 

the amount of Council Tax available to fund services.  A 0.25% variation in the collection 
rate would reduce or increase the amount of Council Tax to meet the budget requirement 
by approximately £0.4m. 
 

2.2.3 Balancing recent arrears collection performance and the pattern of write offs, it is 
recommended that an assumed eventual collection rate of 97.9% is adopted for 2022/23. 
Collection performance will be monitored throughout the forthcoming year and the rate 
reviewed as part of the determination of 2023/24 tax base.  

 
2.2.4 Multiplying the gross tax base (A) of 86,071.8 by the collection rate (B) of 97.9% gives a 

recommended net tax base of 84,264.3 for the City Council. 

Page 18



 5 

 
2.3 Calculation of Tax Base for the Parish Councils 
 
2.3.1 The City Council is also required to calculate a tax base for each part of its area on which 

parish precepts are to be levied.  Accordingly, the net tax bases for Allesley (Appendix B), 
Finham (Appendix C) and Keresley (Appendix D) parishes have been calculated as 
356.9, 1,524.6 and 237.0 respectively. 

 
3. Results of consultation undertaken
 

None 
 

4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 

The tax base assumed within this report relates to financial year 2022/23. 
 
5. Comments from Director of Finance and the Director of Law and Governance
 
5.1 Financial Implications 
 
5.1.1 The contents of this report are driven by a statutory framework and as such the Council is 

governed by this framework in relation to the contents of the report. Council Tax collection 
performance is the key area that will dictate whether the Council achieves the eventual 
collection rate of 97.9% assumed within this report. This matter is subject to regular 
performance monitoring. 

 
5.1.2 The net tax base directly influences the level of Council Tax levied and therefore the 

resources available to the City Council.  This will be dealt with as part of the Council Tax 
Setting and Budget Requirement Reports that will be considered by Council on 22nd 
February 2022. 

 
5.2 Legal Implications 
 
5.2.1 As stated in section 1 above, the tax base calculations for a particular financial year must 

comply with the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 2012 and 
be determined by no later than 31st January in the preceding financial year. These 
regulations have been made under the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended 
(LGFA 1992). 
 

5.2.2 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 (LGFA 2012) includes several amendments to 
the LGFA 1992 that affect the calculation of the Council Tax base. These amendments 
require councils to operate a Council Tax Support Scheme (as a replacement of Council 
Tax benefit) and gave powers to determine further discounts and set premiums. 

 
5.2.3 The Tax Base for the City Council will be used by the West Midlands Police and Crime 

Commissioner, the West Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority and the West Midlands 
Combined Authority when setting their 2022/23 precepts in February 2022. It will also be 
used to set the City Council's element of the Council Tax for 2022/23, at the full Council 
meeting on 22nd February 2022. 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 19



 6 

6. Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's Plan? 

 This report is technical in nature and its implications do not have any direct bearing on 
these matters.  

 
6.2 How is risk being managed? 
 
 Regular monitoring of performance will ensure that the Council can take appropriate 

management action in the area of Council Tax collection.  
 
6.3 What is the impact on the organisation? 
 
 The report affects the potential Council Tax resources available to the City Council and, 

as such, impacts on the 2022/23 budget setting process. 
 
6.4 Equalities / ECA 
 

None 
 

6.5 Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment
 

  No impact 
 

 
6.6 Implications for partner organisations?
 
 The Council Tax base for the City Council will be used by the by the West Midlands Police 

and Crime Commissioner, the West Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority and the West 
Midlands Combined Authority when setting their 2022/23 precept. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



 7 

Report author(s):
 
Name and job title:
Phil Baggott 
Lead Accountant 
 
Service: 
Finance 
 
Tel and email contact:
Tel: 024 7697 2629 
Email: phil.baggott@coventry.gov.uk 
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 
 

Contributor/approver 
name 

Title Service Date doc 
sent out 

Date 
response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors:     

Michelle Salmon  Governance Services 
Officer 

Law and 
Governance 

07/12/21 08/12/21 

Paul Jennings Finance Manager 
(Corporate Finance) 

Finance 07/12/21 07/12/21 

Names of approvers: 
(officers and members) 

    

Sarah Harriott Corporate Governance 
Lawyer 

Law and 
Governance 

07/12/21 21/12/21 

Barry Hastie Director of 
Finance  
 

Finance 20/12/21 20/12/21 

Councillor R Brown Cabinet Member 
(Strategic Finance and 
Resources) 

- 20/12/21 20/12/21 

 

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings  
 

Page 21

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings


 

 8 

Page 22



 

 9 

Page 23



 

 10 

Page 24



 

 11 

Page 25



 

 12 

Appendix E - Grant payment to Parish Councils

Allesley Finham Keresley

a Tax Base without the effect of Council Tax reductions 414.0 1,768.7 274.9

b Effect of Council Tax reductions -13.8% -13.8% -13.8%

c Tax Base change as a result of Council Tax reductions a x b -57.1 -244.1 -37.9

d Tax Base a + c 356.9 1,524.6 237.0

e Band D parish precept from previous year £41.51 £13.93 £38.46

f Loss of Income from Council Tax reductions c x e -£2,372 -£3,400 -£1,459

g Grant payment     (90% of lost income) f x 90% £2,135 £3,060 £1,313

 

Page 26




 

Public report 
Cabinet Report 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet  11th January 2022 
 
 
Name of Cabinet Member:  
Cabinet Member for Public Health and Sport – Councillor K Caan 

 
Director Approving Submission of the report: 
Chief Partnership Officer 

 
Ward(s) affected: 
All 
 
Title: 
Approval of Rough Sleeper Drug and Alcohol Treatment Grant 
 
 
Is this a key decision?  
 
No 
 
 
Executive Summary: 
 

The City Council has successfully bid for a grant of up to £640,361 to support rough sleepers and 
those at risk of rough sleeping to engage with and access drug and alcohol treatment. 

The Council’s constitution requires formal Cabinet approval prior to agreeing to receive external 
grants in excess of £500,000. Where time does not allow this to happen approval can be sought 
by the relevant Director in consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member and Scrutiny Chair with 
a requirement to then report retrospectively to Cabinet. As time was not available to report in 
advance of signature for this grant , approval was gained by the Director of Public Health and 
Wellbeing, in consultation with Councillor Caan (Cabinet Member for Public Health and Sport), 
Councillor Welsh (Cabinet Member for Housing and Homelessness) and Councillor Clifford 
(Chair, Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board); with agreement for a retrospective report to 
Cabinet. 

 
Recommendations: 
 
Cabinet is recommended to note the approval to receive the Rough Sleeper Drug and Alcohol 
Treatment Grant. 
 
List of Appendices included: 
 
None 
 
Background papers: 
 
None 

Page 27

Agenda Item 6



 

  

 
Other useful documents 
 
None 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
 
No 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?  
 
No 
 
Will this report go to Council?  
 
No 
 
 

Page 28



 

  

Report title: Rough Sleeper Drug and Alcohol Treatment Grant 
 

1. Context (or background) 
 
1.1 Coventry was identified by the Ministry for Housing Communities and Local Government 

(now Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities - DLUHC) and Public 
Health England (now the Office for Health Improvement and Disparities – OHID) as a 
priority area for additional funding to support drug and alcohol treatment services for 
rough sleeping and homeless populations in June 2021. 
 

1.2 As such, the City Council was invited to submit proposals for the Rough Sleeper Drug and 
Alcohol Treatment Grant (RSDATG) scheme to provide additional services for people 
currently, or at risk of, rough sleeping. The scheme allowed bids for activity up to March 
2023 and uses funds secured by MHCLG and the Department of Health and Social Care. 
 

1.3 The purpose of the grant is threefold: 
 

• to support people experiencing, or at risk of, rough sleeping to access and 
engage in drug and alcohol treatment 

• to ensure that the engagement that people have had with drug and alcohol 
treatment services whilst rough sleeping or in emergency or temporary 
accommodation is maintained as they move into longer term accommodation 

• to build resilience and capacity in local drug and alcohol treatment systems to 
continue to meet the needs of this population in future years 

 
1.4 In June 2021 there were approximately 10 people known to be misusing substances and 

rough sleeping and a further 550 people misusing drugs or alcohol and in a form of 
temporary accommodation. Of this total approximately 250 were not engaged in 
substance misuse specialist treatment. 
 

1.5 Following the invitation to submit proposals for the RSDATG scheme, Public Health and 
Housing teams identified the need to create a number of dedicated outreach roles to 
support this population to engage in treatment, including: 
 

• a specialist drug and alcohol outreach worker within the Council Rough Sleeper 
Outreach team to engage with people currently ‘bedding down’ into treatment services 

• a team of outreach workers within Change, Grow, Live (CGL Coventry - the Council’s 
commissioned drug and alcohol treatment service) to engage with people in 
temporary accommodation and at risk of rough sleeping 

• a team of allied specialist roles including a physical healthcare nurse, a Non-Medical 
Prescriber and an occupational therapist to support people to engage in treatment. 
These roles will predominantly deliver services at times and places which meet the 
specific needs of people rough sleeping in order to maximise engagement 
 

1.6 In addition to the above roles, the bid includes provision for training for all CGL Coventry 
staff in trauma informed practice and other resources such as Naloxone (an opiate 
overdose reversal medicine) for people using opiates and not accessing treatment. 
 

1.7 The bid was submitted in June and totalled spend of up to £640,361 over a 21-month 
period to March 2023.  

 
1.8 On 29 October 2021, OHID announced Coventry’s bid had been approved. A formal grant 

award was subsequently received on 5 November 2021. 
 
 

Page 29



 

  

Drug and alcohol treatment services 
 

1.9 CGL Coventry is commissioned by the local authority to deliver a range of community-
based services to support the recovery of adults misusing drugs and alcohol. The service 
aims to: 
 

• reduce the harm cause by drugs and alcohol through interventions like needle 
exchange and harm reduction advice 

• support people to gain and maintain abstinence or control of drug and alcohol misuse 
through medical and psychosocial interventions, and practical and peer support. The 
service has a significant number of volunteers – often people with lived experience – 
who provide a key role in engaging and supporting clients. 

• improve the health of individuals in various ways including vaccination, diagnosis and 
supporting the treatment of blood born viruses like Hepatitis C. Recently the service 
has introduced micro spirometry at assessment to provide early identification of 
respiratory disease 

• reduce drug and alcohol related deaths by reducing consumption and providing 
Naloxone (overdose reversal medication) 

• provide support to parents and carers of adults misusing drugs and alcohol 
 

1.10 In 2020/21, CGL Coventry supported 1,864 adults in structured treatment, an increase of 
10% from the 1,685 adults supported in the previous year. A significant number of other 
individuals are supported by CGL Coventry through unstructured or short interventions. 
Approximately 50% of people using heroin and/or crack cocaine - and 14% of alcohol-
dependent drinkers - engaged in treatment in the last year. The impact of COVID has 
been significant, with both more people accessing support and fewer service users being 
discharged. 
 

1.11 During 2021/22 the City Council has been successful in receiving additional funding 
totalling £1,308,361 (some of which is to support clients in Warwickshire) to support 
individuals misusing drugs or alcohol. Service developments resulting from these new 
investments, with the exception of the RSDATG scheme, are summarised below. 
 
Public Health Universal Grant 
 

1.12 A grant of £376,000 was received by the City Council from Public Health England as part 
of a £80m national uplift in investment in 2021/22, specifically to: 
 

• Cut drug-related crime 

• Reduce drug-related deaths 
 

1.13 In Coventry, this was used to: 
 

• create a criminal justice team within CGL Coventry, with workers partially co-locating 
with police and probation and providing in-reach into prison to support offenders’ 
continuation of care at release into the community. 

• employ a dedicated work to CGL Coventry in-reach in the Caludon Centre 

• expand provision of residential rehabilitation 

• introduce the use of injectable opiate substitute therapy at CGL Coventry  

• employ a residence worker within Positive Choices (Coventry’s Early Intervention 
service) to support young people at risk of involvement in County Lines activity 

• employ a dedicated role within the Council’s Housing team to coordinate the 
Vulnerable Person’s Forum 

• increase provision of Naloxone to reduce the risk of fatalities from accidental opiate 
overdoses 

Page 30



 

  

  
1.14 Funding provided under the scheme is for activity up to July 2022.  

 
Individual Placement and Support employment  
 

1.15 Coventry Public Health led a successful bid on behalf of the City and County Councils for 
funding to recruit a team of employment specialists as part of the national expansion of 
the Individual Placement and Support (IPS) scheme in drug and alcohol services across 
Coventry and Warwickshire. The scheme will provide up to £292,000 to employ 4 
employment specialists to support clients accessing CGL into work.  
 

1.16 Recruitment is currently underway for the new IPS team. The Senior Employment 
Specialist commenced in post on 9 November 2021. 
 

1.17 The scheme is funded to March 2023.  
 

1.18 The three additional funding streams are all relatively short term. The government has 
committed to publishing a new national drug strategy by the end of the calendar year in 
response to the Dame Carol Black review of drug treatment. The Dame Carol Black 
review advocated for a significant increase in funding for services, ring fenced funding 
arrangements and an increase in joint commissioning arrangements with a wide range of 
partners. 

 
2      Options considered and recommended proposal 

 
2.1 The value of the Rough Sleeper Drug and Alcohol Treatment Grant is such that the 

Constitution requires formal approval prior to acceptance. 
 

2.2 As time did not allow Cabinet approval in advance of signing the grant agreement, the 
Director of Public Health and Wellbeing, in consultation with Councillor Caan (Cabinet 
Member for Public Health and Sport), Councillor Welsh (Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Homelessness) and Councillor Clifford (Chair, Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board), 
gave approval as permitted within the constitution to sign the agreement, to be reported to 
Cabinet retrospectively..  

 
3   Results of consultation undertaken 

 

3.1 Timescales for completion of the initial bid for the Rough Sleeper Drug and Alcohol 
Treatment Grant meant there was limited opportunity to consult widely. However, 
outreach workers from the Council’s Housing team conducted brief consultation with 
rough sleepers who supported the approach taken for the bid, including a focus on 
individual’s physical healthcare needs. 

 
3.2 Prior to submission, the bid received sign off from the Council’s Chief Executive, Director 

of Adult Services and homelessness commissioner, from the CCG Director of 
Commissioning and from CGL at Director-level. 
     

4   Timetable for implementing this decision 
 

4.1 The Rough Sleeper Drug and Alcohol Treatment Grant Agreement was received and 
signed on 16 November 20211 and returned to OHID. Recruitment of posts commenced 
in advance to support rapid mobilisation. It is anticipated that staff will commence in post, 
following DBS checks, from January 2022. 

 
 
 

Page 31



 

  

5 Comments from Director of Finance and Director of Law and Governance 
 

5.1    Financial implications 
 

The Rough Sleeper Drug and Alcohol Treatment Grant offer is valued at £640,361 for 
spend prior to March 2023. 
 
A sum of up to £592,271 will be transferred to CGL under a contract variation agreed by 
Procurement Board on 24 September 2021. A sum of up to £48,090 will be used to employ 
an outreach worker within the Council’s Rough Sleeper Outreach Team. 
 
An additional grant will be provided to meet the treatment costs of people engaged through 
the RSDATG scheme based on a government agreed unit cost for people receiving 
community-based and residential treatment. 

 
5.2    Legal implications 
 

The Council will comply with the grant terms and conditions set out in the grant agreement. 
 

6 Other implications 
 

6.1    How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)?  
 

             The services support the One Coventry Corporate Plan’s vision to help to make 
communities safer, improve the health and wellbeing of local residents and protect our 
most vulnerable people. 

 
6.2    How is risk being managed? 

 
Public Health and Housing commissioners will work closely to understand and mitigate 
risks in relation to the Rough Sleeper Drug and Alcohol Treatment Grant. Key risks include: 
 

• Failure to appoint recruit posts. Recruitment of posts started prior to the receipt of the 
formal grant award in order to offer applicants the longest possible term of 
employment. Broadly recruitment has progressed well but the response to some 
advertised posts has been limited and alternative solutions will be considered. 

 

• Limited capacity within current treatment service to meet the new demand. The 
increase in number of clients accessing structured treatment with CGL Coventry 
through the additional engagement activity by the outreach team will place additional 
pressure on an already stretched service. The bid included an additional worker to 
provide capacity during the period of the scheme and some further funding is available 
from OHID to meet additional clinical costs such as prescribing for opiate substitute 
therapy; it is unclear at this stage if these costs will be met for any period beyond the 
end of the grant scheme. Public Health commissioners meet with CGL Coventry 
management regularly to understand service pressures. 

 

• Short term funding. Funding is available for activity to March 2023 and it is unclear 
what, if any, further funding may be made available. Demand for outreach should 
reduce over time if, as intended, the provision supports a significant number of people 
into sustained episodes of treatment. Commissioners will work closely to ensure links 
between CGL Coventry and homelessness services are closely aligned. 

 
 
 

Page 32

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


 

  

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation? 
 

The grant provides additional capacity with the Rough Sleeper Outreach team. Activity 
delivered under the grant may identify additional needs requiring further social care 
support.  

 
6.4 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 

 
The provision is targeted at supporting some of the most vulnerable people in our 
communities. To deliver an enhanced positive impact to groups with protected 
characteristics and more excluded, dedicated roles will be created to support females at 
risk of rough sleeping including female sex workers, and foreign nationals. 

  
6.5 Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 
 

There are no implications. 
 

6.6 Implications for partner organisations? 
 

CGL Coventry is commissioned to deliver drug and alcohol services by the City Council 
and operates closely with a wide range of partners including primary and secondary 
healthcare providers, homelessness services and social care services. 
 
CGL also delivers drug and alcohol services in Warwickshire, commissioned by the County 
Council. Warwickshire was not invited to bid for RSDATG monies. 

 
 

Page 33



 

  

Report author(s): 
Valerie De Souza, Acting Director of Public Health and Wellbeing  
Paul Hargrave, Senior Commissioning Manager – Adult Public Health Services 

 
Service: 
Public Health and Wellbeing 
 
Tel and email contact: 
Tel: 024 7683 2868 
Email: Paul.Hargrave@coventry.gov.uk  
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 
 

Contributor/approver 
name 

Title Service Date doc 
sent out 

Date response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors:     

Sophie Hall Commissioning Manager - 

Housing and 

Homelessness 

Law and 
Governance 

17/11/2021 1/12/21 

Ewan Dewar Finance Manager  Finance 17/11/21 22/11/21 

Rachel Chapman Consultant in Public 

Health  

Public Health 
and Wellbeing 

16/11/21 16/11/21 

Michelle Salmon Governance Services 
Officer 

Law and 
Governance 

17/11/2021 17/11/21 

Names of approvers for 
submission:  
(officers and members) 

    

Kirston Nelson Chief Partnerships Officer - 23/11/21 06/12/21 

Valerie De Souza 
 

Acting Director of Public 
Health and Wellbeing 

- 23/11/21 23/11/21 

Julie Newman Director of Law and 
Governance 

- 23/11/21 23/11/21 

Pete Fahy Director of Adult Services - 23/11/21 01/12/21 

Jim Crawshaw Head of Housing and 
Homelessness 

Law and 
Governance 

23/11/21 01/12/21 

Barry Hastie Director of Finance - 23/11/21 01/12/21 

Councillor K Caan Cabinet Member for 
Public Health and Sport 

- 23/11/21 24/11/21 

Councillor D Welsh Cabinet Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 

- 23/11/21 02/12/21 

Councillor J Clifford Chair of Health and Social 
Care Scrutiny Board (5) 

- 23/11/21 24/11/21 

 

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings  
 

Page 34

mailto:Paul.Hargrave@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


 Public report 
Cabinet Report 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

Cabinet 11 January 2022
 
 
Name of Cabinet Member 
Cabinet Member for Education and Skills - Councillor Dr K Sandhu
 
Director Approving Submission of the report:
Director of Education and Skills 
 
Ward(s) affected:
All 
 
Title:
Outcomes of the Fair Funding Consultation 2022-23 
 
 
Is this a key decision?
 
No – although the proposals in the Fair Funding Consultation 2022-23 will affect all wards in the 
city, the impact is not expected to be significant. 
 

 
Executive Summary:
 
This report sets out the results of the consultation on proposed changes to the Fair Funding 
Scheme of Delegation ("the Scheme") and seeks approval for recommended changes to the 
Scheme and the Fair Funding Formula. 
 
Recommendations: 
 
Cabinet is requested to: 
 
1) Approve the recommended changes to the Fair Funding Formula and Fair Funding Scheme 
 of Delegation, which are summarised in Section 3 of the report. 
 
2) Delegate authority to the Director of Education and Skills, following consultation with the 

Cabinet Member for Education and Skills, to make any necessary amendments to the final 
detail of these recommended changes, in order to comply with the School Finance (England) 
Regulations 2021 once full detail of the schools funding settlement has been published by 
the Department for Education for 2022/23. Any changes will be made following discussion 
with the Schools Forum as appropriate. 

 
 
List of Appendices included:
 
Appendix 1 - Fair Funding Consultation 2022-23: Summary of Responses
Appendix 2 - De-delegation levels approved for 2021-22 
Appendix 3 - Fair Funding Consultation 2022-23 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



 

  

Background papers:  
 
None 
 
Other useful documents: 
 
Draft Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation available on the Coventry City website: 
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/37245/fair_funding_consultation_2022-23 
 
Has it or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
 
No 
 
Has it, or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or other 
body?  
 
No 
 
Will this report go to Council?  
 
No 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/37245/fair_funding_consultation_2022-23


 

  

Report title: 
Outcomes of the Fair Funding Consultation 2022-23 
 

1 Context (or background) 

1.1 Under Section 48 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998, Local Authorities 
(LAs) are required to have schemes of delegation which set out the financial controls and 
arrangements that will operate between schools and the LA. Any proposed revisions to 
these schemes and/or the Fair Funding Formula must be the subject of consultation and 
require approval by the Schools Forum. 

1.2 The DFE introduced its National Funding Formula (NFF) for LAs in 2018-19, whereby 
allocations for LAs were determined under the NFF approach, but LAs retained control over 
how they chose to distribute that funding amongst their schools. In Coventry the decision 
since 2018-19 has been to mirror the NFF allocation for schools as far as possible. This 
has provided all schools with annual increases at least in line with the maximum per pupil 
funding increase set out in the NFF. 

1.3 The Department for Education (DFE) published the "Schools Revenue Funding 2022 to 
2023: Operational Guide" which sets out the school revenue funding arrangements for 
2022-23. There have not been any significant changes required to the operation of the local 
school funding formula for 2022-23; with the main changes being changes to data points as 
certain data was not collected as usual due to the pandemic. 

1.4 The consultation document was circulated on the 22nd October 2021 to Head Teachers 
including Academy Head Teachers/Principals, Chairs of Governing Bodies, relevant 
Councillors, Trade Unions, Diocesan authorities, the Coventry Governors Association, 
members of the Schools Forum and Early Years Free Entitlement providers in the private, 
voluntary and Independent (PVI) sectors. The consultation period ended after 4 weeks on 
the 19th November 2021. 

1.5 Stakeholder groups were briefed throughout the consultation period. These included 
Primary Finance representative head teachers and the Schools Forum. The consultation 
document also seeks to act as an information document to school stakeholders regarding 
anticipated local budget pressures. 

1.6 Context of the National Funding Formula 

1.6.1 The National Funding Formula continues to be in a ‘soft’ phase. This means that the DFE 
will run the NFF for each individual school and the total of Coventry schools’ allocations will 
become the total budget available for schools in Coventry. The LA is still required to go 
through the usual budget setting process and run the local schools funding formula to 
distribute the resource. 

1.6.2 The national announcements surrounding the 2.00% increase, and the publication of 
individual school allocations, set a level of expectation that all schools would see at least a 
2.00% per pupil increase in their funding vs 2021-22 allocations.  

1.6.3 It remains the case that the pure NFF (without any protection) delivers significantly less 
resource for Coventry schools. The estimated value of protection in 2022-23 for Coventry 
schools is estimated to be £3.2M. It is not clear what protection arrangements will be in place 
after 2022-23 although we do not anticipate that the full protection would be immediately 
removed from 2023-24 any significant reductions would be likely to have a detrimental impact 
on school financial sustainaibility. Any changes will be subject to further DFE 
announcements. 

Page 37



 

  

1.6.4 Further background on the National Funding reform and full details of the following proposals 
can be found in the Fair Funding Consultation 2022-23 which is included in this report at 
Appendix 3 to the report. 

2 Options considered and recommended proposal 

2.1 Fair Funding Formula options 

2.1.1 As a result of the continued application of the National Funding Formula (NFF), and following 
detailed work carried out with the Schools Forum and its sub-group we consulted on a 
preferred option in relation to the application of the schools funding formula: 

Proposal: Continue to mirror, as closely as possible, the allocations and protection 
arrangements set out in the NFF; meaning the majority of schools will see a ca. 
+2.00% per pupil increase (subject to affordability)1 compared with 21-22. 

 
Under this option all schools would receive at least a +2.00% per pupil increase 
in formula funding between 2021-22 and 2022-23 (as per the NFF funding 
floor), with a further 49 schools receiving an increase between +2.00% and 
+4.11% as these schools would be on the NFF (i.e. above the floor). 

 
2.1.2 The consultation document asked stakeholders whether they agreed with the proposal and 

to feedback any general comments. The consultation responses received were unanimously 
in favour of the recommended option. Please see Appendix 1 to the report for a summary of 
the responses.  

2.2 De-delegated Services 

2.2.1 The previous school funding reforms have required a number of former centrally held budgets 
within the Schools Block to be delegated to schools through the funding formula. Maintained 
schools then have the option to ‘de-delegate’ these amounts back to the Local Authority, 
pooling this resource to allow continued delivery of a service centrally. The areas covered by 
Coventry’s de-delegation are listed below; 

• administration of free school meals eligibility;  

• staff costs or supply cover;  

• support for minority ethnic pupils or underachieving pupils;  
 

2.2.2 De-delegation items must be approved by Schools Forum with Primary maintained member 
representatives deciding for their own phase. In 2021-22 Primary maintained schools opted 
to pool resources for all de-delegated services offered. The table within appendix 2 shows 
those values approved for de-delegation. 

2.2.3 The same de-delegation arrangements are available in 2022-23. Approval was given by the 
Schools Forum for this in November 2021 when maintained primary representatives voted to 
de-delegate all areas offered. 

 
 
 

 
1 For a number of factors within the NFF, the funding for LAs is based upon historic cost – our ability to fund the 
additional 2.00% in full will depend on the extent to which our future costs are higher or lower than the historic funding. 
It will also depend on the level of change in overall pupil eligibility for formula factors based on the Oct-21 census data. 

Page 38



 

  

2.2.4 The consultation document asked stakeholders whether they agreed with the proposal and 
to feed back any general comments. The consultation responses were unanimously in favour 
de-delegating funding for these services. Please see appendix 1 for a summary of the 
responses. 

2.3 Minimum Funding Guarantee Disapplications 

2.3.1 As part of the schools funding formula the LA is required to apply a Minimum Funding 
Guarantee (MFG) protection mechanism to provide funding stability to schools on a per pupil 
basis. 

2.3.2 A disapplication was proposed in order to allow agreed one-off reserve funding to be 
delegated to schools without affecting their calculated protection level. 

2.3.3 The consultation document asked stakeholders whether they agreed with the proposal and 
to feed back any general comments. The responses received were unanimously in favour of 
the proposed disapplications. Please see appendix 1 for a summary of the responses. 

2.4 Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation 

2.4.1 Section 48 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998, and Schedule 14 to the Act 
set out that Local Authorities (LAs) should have a Scheme of Delegation. LAs are required 
to publish schemes for financing schools setting out the financial relationship between the 
LA and the schools they maintain. 

2.4.2 In making any changes to their schemes, local authorities must consult all maintained 
schools in their area and receive the approval of the members of their Schools Forum 
representing maintained schools. Local authorities must take this guidance into account 
when they revise their schemes, in consultation with the Schools Forum. 

2.4.3 The nationally proposed change to the scheme for 2022-23 is set out below. This was already 
practice in Coventry but is now to be formalised within the scheme. 

• Formally allowing advances of budget shares to prevent schools being 
overdrawn to be treat as cash advances and not loans. This was already the 
practice in Coventry. 

 
2.4.4 The link to the consultation version of the Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation is 

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/37245/fair_funding_consultation_2022-23 

2.4.5 The fair funding consultation document asked stakeholders to feed back any general 
comments on the revised scheme. The responses were unanimously in favour of the 
proposal. Please see appendix 1 for a summary of the responses. 

3 Results of consultation undertaken 

3.1 The Fair Funding Consultation is an annual consultation. All Local Authorities are required 
by the Department for Education (DfE) to consult with all relevant stakeholders on the 
proposed changes to the local fair funding formula.  

3.2 The consultation document was circulated on the 22nd  October 2021 to Head Teachers 
including Academy Head Teachers/Principals, Chairs of Governing Bodies, relevant 
Councillors, Trade Unions, Diocesan authorities, the Coventry Governors Association, 
members of the Schools Forum and Early Years Free Entitlement providers in the private, 

Page 39

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/37245/fair_funding_consultation_2022-23


 

  

voluntary and Independent (PVI) sectors. The consultation period ended on the 19th 
November 2021. 

3.3 In addition, where possible, stakeholder groups were briefed throughout the consultation 
period. These included Primary Finance representative head teachers and the Schools 
Forum. 

3.4 The result of the consultation is set out in Appendix 1 to the report and summarised under 
each proposal within section 2 of this report. 

4 Timetable for implementing this decision 

4.1 We are required to submit a proforma to the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) 
by 21st January 2022 setting out the draft Fair Funding Formula, including proposed 
changes. Once the proforma is checked for compliance and approved by the ESFA, the 
proposed changes will then be implemented from April 2022. 

5 Comments from the Director of Finance and the Director of Law and Governance 

5.1 Financial Implications 

Financial implications on schools 

5.1.1 Schools will face significant cost pressures in 2022-23 as a result of price inflation 
(particularly energy price inflation) and increasing staffing costs which are likely to be more 
than the extra 2.00% increase to pupil led funding. These pressures are likely to be 
exacerbated in schools where there are falling pupil numbers.  

5.1.2 Mainstream schools will continue to be subject to the minimum funding guarantee (MFG) 
protection arrangements in 2022-23. The MFG seeks to protect schools against historical 
levels of pupil led funding for the purposes of stability. The level of the MFG in 2022-23 will 
be set at positive 2.00%, which means all schools will see a per pupil funding increase of at 
least 2.00% per pupil (subject to affordability)2. Despite this increase schools may still see a 
significant cash reduction if they are experiencing falling pupil numbers. 

5.1.3 Within the National Funding Formula (NFF) there is a significant level of protection (ca. 
£3.2M) being applied to school budgets compared with the pure NFF allocations. It is not 
clear what protection arrangements will be in place for schools after 2022-23 as these will be 
subject to future announcements. We do not anticipate that the full protection will be 
immediately removed, but schools must be made aware of the level of protection included 
within their funding allocations, so that they can begin to scenario plan and manage 
vacancies so that they are prepared to take swift informed decisions should the level of 
protection reduce in 2023-24 or beyond. 

Financial Implications on the LA 

5.1.4 The DfE’s School Funding Reform required Local Authorities (LA)s to delegate some 
centrally spent dedicated schools grant (DSG) to schools. Maintained schools can then agree 
to pool funding and return to the LA to be spent on their behalf. Areas that this includes are 

 
2 For a number of factors within the NFF, the funding for LAs is based upon historic cost – our ability to fund the 
additional 2.00% in full will depend on the extent to which our future costs are higher or lower than the historic funding. 
It will also depend on the level of change in overall pupil eligibility for formula factors based on the Oct-21 census data. 

Page 40



 

  

Minority Group Support Services (new arrivals), maternity & Trade Union staffing. This is 
reviewed and approved by the Schools Forum on an annual basis.  

5.1.5 Should the significant level of protection funding in schools (see 5.1.3) be quickly reduced 
after 2022-23 this could result in a number of schools needing to carry out restructures and 
potential staffing redundancies. This could create a financial pressure for the LA, as in some 
circumstances we are required to fund these costs for maintained schools. Work to mitigate 
this is continually discharged through the LA’s Schools Finance function, working with 
schools on scenario planning and vacancy management in order to reduce the likelihood that 
redundancies are required; although given the potential level of funding change that may 
occur, coupled with falling pupil numbers in the primary sector, some of these costs may be 
unavoidable. 

5.2 Legal implications 

5.2.1 s 48(1) of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 requires Local Authorities (LA)s 
to maintain and publish schemes connected with the financing of maintained schools. 
Regulations made under the Act (School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations 
2020) specify the functions which the LA is and is not required to delegate to schools, and 
the factors which the LA considers when delegating funding and the consultation 
requirements. A scheme maintained by the LA may be revised in whole or in part, the LA is 
required to take into account guidance issued by the Secretary of State (Schools Revenue 
Funding 2022 to 2023: Operational Guide) in respect of the provisions that the Secretary of 
State regards as appropriate for inclusion into any revised scheme. The LA is required to 
consult the governing body and head teacher of every school maintained by the authority 
and to submit the proposals for approval to the School's Forum. 

5.2.2 Public authority decision makers are under a duty to have due regard to 1) the need to 
eliminate discrimination: 2) advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not: 3) foster good relations between persons who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and people who do not (public sector equality duty - 
s 149(1) Equality Act 2010). The applicable protected characteristics are disability, gender 
reassignment; race, religion or belief, sex; sexual orientation, pregnancy or maternity. 

5.2.3 Decision makers must be consciously thinking about these three aims as part of their 
decision-making process with rigour and with and open mind. The duty is to have “due 
regard”, not to achieve a result but to have due regard to the need to achieve these goals. 
Consideration being given to the potential adverse impacts and the measures needed to 
minimise any discriminatory effects. 

6 Other implications 

6.1 How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)? 

6.1.1 A clear and transparent financial infrastructure is key to ensuring that schools can focus on 
improving educational outcomes. 

6.1.2 We also want to ensure that the financial relationship between the City Council and the 
schools it maintains is clear and transparent, and this is set out in the Fair Funding Scheme 
of Delegation.  

6.2 How is risk being managed? 

6.2.1 The consultation document is sent to all relevant stakeholders within the city.  

Page 41

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


 

  

6.2.2 The City Council has a statutory responsibility to ensure maintained schools can balance 
their budget, and the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) has a statutory 
responsibility to ensure Academies are setting balanced budgets. The City Council also has 
a moral obligation to support all Coventry’s children and young people. 

6.2.3 Any potential school deficit or long-term sustainability issues will be reported back to the City 
Council as early as possible to ensure plans are put in place for balanced budgets. This will 
include liaison with the ESFA where the school is an academy and the problem is brought to 
our attention. 

6.2.4 The updated Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation will enable schools and City Council officers 
to clearly understand and uphold the financial responsibilities of each organisation. 

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?  

6.3.1 The proposals will continue the theme of mirroring the National Funding Formula protection 
mechanism and allocations in schools, as well as per pupil funding stability in schools as 
provided by the Minimum Funding Guarantee. 

6.3.2 If as a consequence of implementing some of the proposals there is the need to make staffing 
structure changes then full consultation will be undertaken with both Coventry City Council 
staff and the trade unions in accordance with city council policies. 

6.4 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 

6.4.1 The DfE carried out an Equality Impact Assessment on the significant changes introduced 
by the National Funding Formula. The majority of proposals included in this report are the 
result of the National Funding Formula changes therefore the DfE equality impact 
assessment should equally apply to Coventry. The details of this EIA can be obtained via the 
link below: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-formula-for-schools-and-high-
needs-equalities-impact-assessment 

6.5 Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 

None 
 

6.6 Implications for partner organisations? 

None 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-formula-for-schools-and-high-needs-equalities-impact-assessment
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-formula-for-schools-and-high-needs-equalities-impact-assessment


 

  

Report author(s): 
 
Name and job title: 
Paul Hammond 
Lead Accountant 
 
Service:  
Finance 
 
Tel and email contact: 
Tel: 024 7697 2635; 
Email: paul.hammond@coventry.gov.uk  
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 
 

Names of approvers: 
(officers and members) 

Title Service Date doc 
sent out 

Date 
response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors:     

Christopher Whiteley Finance Manager Finance 30/11/2021 02/12/2021 

Michelle Salmon Governance 
Services Officer 

Law and Governance 02/12/2021 02/12/2021 

Names of approvers for 
submission: 
(officers and members) 

    

Councillor Dr K Sandhu Cabinet Member 
for Education and 
Skills 

- 02/12/2021 06/12/2021 

Kirston Nelson Director of 
Education and 
Skills 

- 02/12/2021 06/12/2021 

Barry Hastie Director of Finance  - 02/12/2021 02/12/2021 

Elaine Atkins 
 

Solicitor Law and Governance 02/12/2021 02/12/2021 

 
This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 

Page 43

mailto:paul.hammond@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


 

  

Appendix 1 

Fair Funding Consultation 2022/23 - Summary of Responses 
 

1 Introduction 

1.1 This Appendix provides a summary of responses received to the consultation paper that 
was issued to all schools and other stakeholders on 22nd October 2021. All responses that 
were received have been analysed and the results are summarised in this paper.  

1.2 A total of 7 responses were received, with 2 of those received from groups and therefore 
representing multiple stakeholder views. 

Respondent Responses Received 

Primary 3 
Secondary 0 
Special 0 
Early years 2 
Other 2 

Total 7 

 
1.3 The results and comments are summarised below. Some of the responses included further 

detail relating to connected issues within specific schools or specific aspects as funding. 
These raise concerns, but do not relate specifically to the proposals and so have not been 
included in full in this report. The full responses can be made available on request. 

2 RESULTS 

2.1 Proposal 1 –  Fair Funding Formula options 

2.1.1 This proposal recommends that Coventry continues to use the local funding formula in 
2022/23 to mirror the National Funding Formula protection levels as closely as possible. 

2.1.2 We asked stakeholders whether they agreed with this proposal and for general comments. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2.2 Proposal 2 – De-delegated Services 

2.2.1 Funding for some centrally provided services must be allocated direct to schools through the 
formula but can then be returned to the LA by maintained schools via local de-delegation 
agreement. This Proposal highlights the de-delegation decision will need to be agreed by 
Schools Forum. 

Sector Agree Disagree Blank or N/A 

Primary 3 0 0 

Secondary 0 0 0 

Special 0 0 0 

Early Years 0 0 2 

Other 2 0 0 

Total 5 0 2 

Respondents  General Comments 

Primary (3) Agree: We support the proposal as the recommendation is sensible & it 
doesn’t make sense to move away from the NFF at this stage  

Other (2) Agree:  We support the recommendation 

Page 44



 

  

2.2.2 We asked stakeholders for general comments on this proposal. 

 
 

2.3 Proposal 3 – Minimum Funding Guarantee approach 

2.3.1 The Local Authority retains the ability to set the level of the Minimum Funding Guarantee 
(MFG) protection for schools in 2022/23, although the direction taken in proposal 1 
determines the appropriate MFG approach this year. This proposal highlights the MFG 
exemption that will need to be agreed by Schools Forum. 

2.3.2 We asked stakeholders whether they agreed with this proposal and for general comments. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

2.4 Proposal 4 – Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation 

2.4.1 This section covers change that is being made to the Fair Funding Scheme of delegation to 
reflect updated national and local policies. 

2.4.2 We asked stakeholders for general comments on this proposal. 

Respondents General Comments 

Primary (3) Agree: Happy that the change does not change the CCC operate 

Other (2) Agree: As above 

 
 

Respondents  General Comments 

Primary (3) Agree:  A central pool allows schools to more efficiently manage their budget 
by avoiding expenditure variations that cannot be predicted E.G. teacher 
maternity. 

Other (2) Agree:  Maternity support is necessary; refusing is not an option 

Sector Agree Disagree Blank or N/A 

Primary 3 0 0 

Secondary 0 0 0 

Special 0 0 0 

Early Years 0 0 2 

Other 2 0 0 

Total 5 0 0 

Respondents General Comments 

Primary (3) Agree: We have to ensure that schools with falling rolls are protected from 
reduced funding 

Other (2) Agree: Support the LA to apply for the MFG disapplication as recommended 
to Schools Forum 

Page 45



 

  

Appendix 2 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2021/22 De-delegated Amounts  

 Primary 

Free school meal eligibility 14,866 

Licences/subscriptions 0 

Maternity 455,949 

Trade Union facility 77,880 

School Improvement 0 

MGSS (new arrivals fund) 268,352 

Behaviour support services 0 

Total 817,047 
 

Page 46



 

  

Appendix 3 
 
 
 
 

 

Fair Funding 
Consultation 

2022/23 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DOCUMENTS ENCLOSED: Consultation on Proposed Changes to the Fair Funding Formula and 
Scheme of Delegation (including a Response Form) 

Page 47



 

  

Consultation on Proposed Changes to the Coventry 
Fair Funding Formula and Fair Funding Scheme of 

Delegation 
 

 

 

Contents 

Fair Funding Consultation 2022/23 .......................................... 13 

1 Purpose of Consultation ........................................................... 15 
2 Executive Summary ................................................................. 16 
3 Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Budget Implications .............. 18 

Schools Block & Local Formula ChangesError! Bookmark not defined. 

4 Schools Block National Funding Formula ................................. 20 
5 Proposal 1 – Fair Funding Formula options ............................. 23 

6 Proposal 2 – De-delegated Services ........................................ 25 
7 Proposal 3 – Minimum Funding Guarantee Disapplications ..... 26 

Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation Error! Bookmark not defined. 

8 Proposal 4: Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation changes ....... 28 

Appendices ....................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Appendix A – Response Form ........................................................... 29 

 

 
 

Page 48



 

  

1 Purpose of Consultation 

 
1.1 Under Section 48 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998, Local Authorities 

(LAs) are required to have schemes of delegation which set the financial controls and 
arrangements that will operate between schools, nursery providers, and the LA. 

 
1.2 Any proposed revisions to these schemes and/or the Fair Funding Formula3 must be the 

subject of consultation and require approval by the Schools Forum. 
 
1.3 The purpose of this document is to seek your views on proposed changes to the Fair 

Funding Scheme of Delegation and the fair funding formula from April 2022. It also 
provides information in relation to funding changes and/or issues affecting funding 
in 2022/23. 

 
1.4 After the consultation period, the Director of Finance and the Director of Education & Skills 

will make recommendations to Cabinet in January 2022 and the LA will submit the Authority 
Pro-forma Tool to the ESFA later that month. 

  
1.5 It is important that you respond to the Consultation, as responses are taken into 

consideration in the report to Cabinet and Schools Forum.  
 
1.6 A summary of responses will be made available to Cabinet Members, and all relevant 

stakeholders.  
 
1.7 The closing date for responses to the consultation is Friday 19th November 2021. It 

will not be possible to take account of responses after this date. Please send responses to 
lisa.thomas@coventry.gov.uk  

 
1.8 If you have any queries regarding the proposals, please contact Paul Hammond (Lead 

Accountant) on 024 7697 2635 or email paul.hammond@coventry.gov.uk. 

 
3 The Fair Funding Formula is used to fund maintained schools, and calculate DSG recoupment from LA for academies. The 

ESFA mirror the LA Funding formula to fund academies. 

Page 49

mailto:lisa.thomas@coventry.gov.uk


 

  

2 Executive Summary 

 
 

2.1 Background 

2.1.1 During the summer and in October the Department for Education (DFE) published a series 
of operational guides and technical notes for schools and high needs funding. The “Schools 
Revenue Funding Operational Guide4” and “High Needs Revenue Funding Operational 
Guide5” set out the funding arrangements for 2022/23. 

2.1.2 The DFE has also published a further National Funding Formula (NFF) policy document6 
for the Schools Block, High Needs Block and Central Schools Services Block. These 
policies set out the composition of the formulas, including timings, transition arrangements 
and next steps. 

2.1.3 There are a few, mostly minor, changes set out in the various guidance documents that 
relate to the 2022/23 funding formula. The main change is the change to the data sets used 
for FSM6 and low prior attainment. These changes are set out within section 4 of this 
consultation. 

2.1.4 The table below identifies which proposals within this consultation could potentially have a 
direct effect on each sector from the start of the 2022/23 financial year. 

Proposal Nursery  Primary Secondary Special FE 
1 No Yes Yes No No 
2 No Yes Yes No No 
3 No Yes Yes No No 
4 No Yes Yes Yes No 

 

 

2.2 Brief Description of Proposals 

2.2.1 Proposal 1: Fair Funding Formula options 

2.2.2 This proposal recommends that Coventry continues to use the local funding formula in 
2022/23 to mirror the National Funding Formula protection levels as closely as possible. 

This proposal in section 5 requests that schools feedback general comments. 

2.2.3 Proposal 2: De-Delegated services 

De-delegated services must be approved annually. We will be seeking approval at 
Schools Forum in autumn 2021 in relation to 2022-23 de-delegated services. This 
proposal in section 6 sets out the information we will be sharing with the Schools Forum. 

2.2.4 Proposal 3: Minimum Funding Guarantee Disapplications 

This proposal highlights the MFG exemptions that will need to be agreed by Schools 
Forum. This proposal in section 7 requests approval to apply for exemptions to the MFG.  

 
4 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pre-16-schools-funding-local-authority-guidance-for-2022-to-2023 
5 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2022-to-2023 
6 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-formula-tables-for-schools-and-high-needs-2022-to-2023 

Page 50

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pre-16-schools-funding-local-authority-guidance-for-2022-to-2023
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2022-to-2023
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-formula-tables-for-schools-and-high-needs-2022-to-2023


 

  

2.2.5 Proposal 4: Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation changes 

Section 8  covers the change that is being made to the Fair Funding Scheme of delegation 

to reflect updated national and local policies. 

2.3 Consultation Response 

Please respond to this consultation using the consultation response form that you will find 
at appendix A. This should be returned electronically as per the instructions on the 
response form. 
 

Page 51



 

  

3 Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Budget Implications 

 
3.1 Context 

3.1.1 This section is to provide early, high-level information to schools and other stakeholders on 
the emerging issues that will affect budget levels and financial positions in 2022/23 and 
beyond. Due to the nature of national policy development and the timing of published 
information & allocations, this will progress further as we work on the DSG budget setting 
process between now and March 2022. Stakeholders should refer to Schools Forum 
papers, and relevant head teacher briefings, for further developments during that time. 

3.2 Cost Pressures 

Pay Inflation 
 
3.2.1 There has not been any confirmation of the officers’ pay award from April 2021, we are 

assuming an additional 2% and we are assuming a similar increase from April 2022. 

3.2.2 The Government recently announced an increase of 1.25% in National Insurance 
Contributions from April 2022. No official announcement has yet been made as to whether 
any additional funding will be made available to cover this increase. 

3.2.3 There was no pay award in September 2021 for the majority of teachers, however there 
was an uplift of 1% for those earning below £24,000. We are prudently assuming a larger 
increase for September 2022. 

3.2.4 No additional funding to specifically support the 2021/22 teachers pay award is anticipated 
and schools will be expected to meet the costs of this, and future teachers pay awards, 
from your budget share funding. 

Health and Social Care Levy 
 
3.2.5 The government has announced a new health and social care levy which is being funded 

by increasing National Insurance Contributions by 1.25%. It has been implied that public 
bodies will be compensated for any increase in costs this causes. However, this hasn’t been 
confirmed yet. 

Pensions 
 
3.2.6 The employer superannuation contribution rate for officers in the Local Government 

Pension Scheme (LGPS) is 22.9%. We do not anticipate any changes to this rate for 
maintained schools during 2022/23. 

3.2.7 Increases in non-teaching staff employer pension contributions for academies and free 
schools will be dependent on the schemes employees are in, and their own scheme review 
date. 

3.2.8 The employer superannuation contribution rate for teachers in the Teachers’ Pension 
Scheme (TPS) remains at 23.68%. We do not anticipate any increase to this during 
2022/23. 

Price Inflation 
 
3.2.9 The largest part of a school’s expenditure is staffing, so changes within that area of 

expenditure are by far the most significant, however the general inflation level will also affect 
other areas of expenditure within schools. For your information please note that the Retail 

Page 52



 

  

Price Index (RPI) and the Consumer Price Index (CPI) inflation measures are currently 
running at 4.9% (Sep) and 3.1% (Sep) respectively. 

3.2.10 Please also note that any increases to teachers pay and pension costs (detailed above) will 
also affect other providers and services that are staffed/delivered by teachers; this is likely 
to result in higher fees for these services. 

  

Page 53



 

  

4 Schools Block National Funding Formula 

 

The below is a high level summary of the impact of the National Funding Formula on Coventry’s 
Dedicated Schools Grant allocation, including changes for 2022/23 and an indication of how this 
may impact on schools. 

 
4.1 The Schools Block National Funding Formula 

4.1.1 The school and education system is funded from the dedicated schools grant (DSG), which 
is a ring-fenced grant. In 2021/22 the total amount of grant for Coventry is £343M, and this 
is spent across 4 areas/blocks: Early Years, Schools, Central Schools Services and High 
Needs (including special school provision). The majority of this resource funds provision 
(including all schools) for children and young people across the city. 

4.1.2 From April 2018 the Government introduced a new “National Funding Formula” (NFF) for 
school funding which set nationwide funding formula values and determined the overall 
level of Schools Block funding for each Local Authority. 

4.1.3 The government’s stated intention behind the NFF is to "introduce a funding formula that 
addresses the long-standing inequalities in school funding that have existed for many 
years”. Unfortunately the impact of the National Funding Formula (if protection is 
removed/reduced) will be to reduce the money available to Coventry schools over the 
longer term. As a result 78 out of 107 mainstream schools in Coventry are currently on the 
NFF funding floor. 

4.1.4 We are now in the third year of the Treasury’s three-year education funding settlement. For 
2022/23 this brings an additional £2.3bn funding some of which the Department for 
Education (DFE) have used to raise most of the funding factors in the NFF by 3%, resulting 
in more schools moving off the funding floor & onto the NFF, meaning more schools seeing 
an above minimum funding guarantee increase. 

4.1.5 Since 2018/19, in consultation with schools, Coventry has taken the decision to mirror the 
NFF protection levels as closely as possible. This has allowed us to maximise the amount 
of funding we were able to pass out to schools; providing an annual per pupil funding 
increase at the full NFF funding floor level, and higher for the few schools above the funding 
floor. 

4.1.6 In 2022/23 the citywide allocation we receive for these protection arrangements (funding 
floor) is estimated to be ca. £3.2m. This indicates the difference between historic funding 
arrangements and the NFF for Coventry, and the importance of the funding floor protection 
arrangement for the city. For 2022/23 it has been confirmed that national protection 
arrangements will remain as they were in 2021/22, that is per pupil protection is between 
+0.5% and +2%. 

4.2 The NFF in Coventry 

4.2.1 The NFF is currently in a ‘soft’ phase, meaning that the DFE will run the NFF for each 
school, and then the total of the Coventry schools’ allocations will become the Schools 
Block DSG allocation for Coventry to use in its own formula. We then need to go through 
the usual budget setting process and decide the local funding formula and minimum funding 
guarantee arrangements that we will use to calculate budget shares for Coventry schools. 

4.2.2 Whilst most of the Schools Block funding is based on the NFF factors, funding for premises 
factors (i.e. Rates, Split Site, PFI) is based on historic allocations. The extent to which our 
premises costs in 2022/23 are higher or lower than the allocation we receive, will impact on 

Page 54



 

  

the affordability of the formula - i.e. whether we are able to afford the +2.00% pupil-led 
funding increases as set out in the nationally published school-level allocations. 

4.2.3 The October 21 census will inform the level of funding we are required to distribute for 
2022/23 and we will therefore not be able to fully understand the financial implications and 
affordability of Coventry’s funding formula until we have the finalised October 21 census 
data and received the final Schools Block DSG settlement in December 2021. 

4.2.4 We will be working with the Schools Forum, in consultation with Headteacher Partnerships, 
to understand the financial models available and to implement the appropriate formula 
changes to deliver school funding allocations for 2022/23. 

4.2.5 The DFE have also restated the ministerial commitment to move to a ‘hard’ NFF which 
would remove most/all local flexibilities on schools funding. A consultation on transitioning 
to the Hard NFF was launched in July 20217. The Council’s consultation response8 was 
shared with all Head Teachers and with the Schools Forum in September.  

4.2.6 The Council response disagreed with the direction of travel to the NFF stating that Local 
Authorities have knowledge of local factors and understand local requirements of schools 
and are therefore best placed to distribute funding in the most effective way. 

4.2.7 The transition to the Hard NFF will be a complex piece of work due to the number of local 
complexities in play across the country. We will keep Schools Forum updated on this issue 
as it develops. 

4.3 NFF Changes of note 

4.3.1 The DFE have increased most national formula factors by 3% vs 21/22. Most Coventry 
schools’ funding will be unaffected by this increase as their formula allocations (via the 
funding floor) are already more than 3% above the NFF level – but schools on or close to 
the NFF level may see formula allocations increase. 

4.3.2 The Minimum Per Pupil funding level has been increased by £85 to £4,265 (Pri) and by 
£110 to £5,525 (Sec) – this factor ensures that schools receive at least this amount per 
pupil in their funding allocations. This factor is mandatory in LA’s formulas. 

4.3.3 The Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG) is a mechanism that protects a school’s funding 
(per pupil) against its previous year’s allocation. The level of protection which can be 
applied to schools has remained constant for 22/23; it can be set between +0.5% and 
+2.00%.  

4.3.4 For the FSM Ever 6 factor, the DFE have changed the data point for checking whether 
pupils have been eligible for Free School Meals at any point in the past 6 years. This data 
will now be based on the October census instead of January in order to and bring it in line 
with arrangements for other NFF factors. The effect of the FSM Ever 6 change is expected 
to be less significant than that of the Pupil Premium Grant (PPG) in 21/22 (which is also 
based on FSM Ever 6) as we are now 12 months on from the PPG change and schools are 
already aware of the importance of the Oct census for FSM eligibility checks. 

4.3.5 In calculating the low prior attainment factor the DFE use data from the Early Years 
Foundation Stage Profile (EYFSP) and Key Stage 2 assessments. As these assessments 

 
7 https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/completing-our-reforms-to-the-nff/  
8 https://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/37239/nff_consultation_response_oct_2021 

Page 55

https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/completing-our-reforms-to-the-nff/
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/37239/nff_consultation_response_oct_2021


 

  

were not conducted in 2020 due to Covid-19 the DFE will instead use a second year of the 
2019 data as a proxy for the missing 2020 data.  

4.3.6 Pupils who joined a school between January 2020 and May 2020 attract funding for mobility 
based on their entry date, rather than by virtue of the May school census being their first 
census at the current school as the May 2020 census did not take place due to COVID-19 

4.3.7 Schools business rates will be paid by ESFA to billing authorities directly on behalf of all 
state funded schools from 2022/23 onwards. This does not represent a change in funding 
levels, but instead a more streamlined system which restructures the physical payment 
process of existing funding. 

Page 56



 

  

5 Proposal 1 – Fair Funding Formula options 

   

This proposal recommends that Coventry continues to use the local funding formula in 2022/23 to 
mirror the National Funding Formula protection levels as closely as possible. 

 
5.1 Background 

5.1.1 The recent ministerial announcements have set a level of expectation amongst schools that 
most will see a 2.00% per pupil increase in pupil led school funding in 2022/23, with schools 
above (or close to) the funding floor, receiving increases in excess of this.  

5.1.2 Since 2018/19, in consultation with schools, Coventry has taken the decision to mirror the 
NFF protection levels as closely as possible. This has allowed us to maximise the amount 
of funding we were able to pass out to schools, ensuring that all schools received the higher 
of their NFF Funding Floor increase or their National Funding Formula allocation. 

5.1.3 As set out in section 4.2 the LA retains flexibility in how it sets the school funding formula 
and could choose to move away from mirroring the NFF protection levels, instead protecting 
all schools with a blanket protection %.  

5.1.4 Despite this flexibility, setting an equal protection level % for all schools in 2022/23 provides 
schools on the funding floor with only a marginal benefit, whilst providing significantly less 
funding for those schools that would be on the pure NFF. 

5.1.5 The Schools Forum Sub-group will be reviewing both options in detail to determine whether 
the decision to mirror the NFF for the past several years continues to be appropriate, and 
will report back to the November 2021 Schools Forum which formula approach should be 
taken for 2022/23. 

5.1.6 Given this, and the consensus to mirror the NFF during the past four years, we have 
decided to put only one 2022/23 formula approach forwards for consultation and we 
welcome your views on this proposal. 

5.2 Proposed Option: Continue to mirror the National Funding Formula (NFF) protection levels 
as closely as possible (subject to affordability). 

5.2.1 This would ensure that all schools receive at least a 2.00% increase in pupil led funding 
compared with 2021/22 funding levels. A Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG) protection 
level of +2.00 per pupil would also be put in place which would allow any schools currently 
above the 2.00% funding floor to see some decrease in funding if their NFF formula 
allocation was due to reduce in 2022/23. 

5.2.2 The financial impact of this option would be that all schools would receive the higher of the 
+2.00% Funding Floor or their National Funding Formula allocation (subject to affordability). 
In summary it would mean: 

• 58 schools would receive a 2.00% per pupil funding increase vs 21/22 

• 49 schools would see funding increases above 2.00% (up to 4.11%) per pupil vs 
21/22 

• All schools would continue to be in line with NFF allocations including funding floor 
protection 

Page 57



 

  

5.2.3 Should it not be affordable to deliver this option in full (see 4.2.3 – 4.2.4 for context) we will 
reduce all school allocations, where possible, on an equivalent % basis to fit within the 
available resource. To do this we will need to reduce the MFG protection % and also 
implement a ‘capping & scaling’ approach for schools above the Funding Floor. 

 
5.3 Consultation 

Please indicate whether you agree with this proposal and feedback any general comments you 
may have on this proposal. 
(Please respond on the Consultation Response Form - Appendix A) 

Page 58



 

  

6 Proposal 2 – De-delegated Services 

 

Funding for some centrally provided services must be allocated direct to schools through the 
formula but can then be returned to the LA by maintained schools via local de-delegation 
agreement. This Proposal highlights the de-delegation decision will need to be agreed by Schools 
Forum. 
 

6.1 Background 

6.1.1 The budgets for a number of centrally provided services have to be delegated to schools 
through the funding formula but can be de-delegated for maintained schools. This means 
that maintained schools can choose to pool resources to continue delivery of a service. 
Academies are not able to opt into de-delegation but can choose to buy back into the 
services if offered. 

6.1.2 In 2021/22 Primary maintained schools opted to pool resources for all of the de-delegated 
services offered. Licenses and Subscriptions are funded via a national top-slice for all 
schools and Behaviour Support Services are now traded. Both are no longer part of de-
delegation. 

6.2 Proposed way forward 

6.2.1 The pooling arrangements continue to be available in 2021/22 and must be approved by 
Primary representatives within the School Forum.  

6.2.2 We will be seeking approval from the School Forum in November in relation to de-delegated 
services. The table below shows the values approved for de-delegation in 2021/22. (These 
figures are subject to in-year change, where LA maintained schools convert to academies). 
There are no longer any maintained secondary schools within Coventry therefore de-
delegation decisions will only be taken by maintained primary school representatives. 

2021/22 De-delegated Amounts  

 Primary 

Free school meal eligibility 14,866 

Licences/subscriptions 0 

Maternity 474,192 

Trade Union facility 80,996 

School Improvement 0 

MGSS (new arrivals fund) 278,628 

Behaviour support services 0 

Total 848,682 
 

 
 
 
 
 

6.3 Consultation 

Please feedback general comments on de-delegated services. We will report the overall response 
at the Schools Forum (SF) meeting. Schools can also make representation to their SF 
representative. 
(Please respond on the Consultation Response Form - Appendix A) 

Page 59



 

  

7 Proposal 3 – Minimum Funding Guarantee Disapplications 

   

The Local Authority retains the ability to set the level of the Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG) 
protection for schools in 2022/23, although the direction taken in proposal 1 determines the 
appropriate MFG approach this year. This proposal highlights the MFG exemption that will need to 
be agreed by Schools Forum. 

 
7.1 Background 

7.1.1 The Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG) is a protection mechanism which protects school 
formula funding, so that schools cannot lose more than a set percentage of their funding 
(on a per pupil basis) between one year and the next. 

7.1.2 Historically the LA had no flexibility on what level the MFG protection % should be set at, 
with the DFE fixing at negative 1.5% rate; meaning schools could not lose more than 1.5% 
of their like for like funding between years. In recent years the National Funding Formula 
(NFF) gave LAs a degree of flexibility to choose an MFG % within a set range. For 2021/22 
the MFG range available is from +0.5% to +2.0%. 

7.1.3 Despite the NFF announcements and shadow school allocations published by the 
Department for Education (DFE), the LA is still required to operate its local funding formula 
within a strict legal framework which does not allow the flexibility to simply allocate funding 
to schools at the NFF level. In order to allow flexibility for the local formula to continue to 
closely mirror the NFF protection levels, and to prevent the allocation of one-off resource 
from being locked into funding baselines, an MFG exemption will be required.  

7.2 Proposed way forward & Financial Impact 

7.2.1 The Local Authority wishes to continue the operation of the Coventry Education 
Improvement Strategy commissioning pot (network monies) into 2022/23 for all schools. 

7.2.2 As in 2021/22, if continuation of the fund is agreed, the funding for this pot will be given to 
all Coventry schools in addition to their usual budget share funding; this would be one-off 
funding from DSG reserves. The expectation would be that this same level of funding would 
then be passed back to the commissioning pot, with all schools contributing on an individual 
basis. 

7.2.3 An MFG exemption is needed in order to allow this one-off reserve funding to be delegated 
to schools at the same level per pupil, as the operation of the MFG would currently act to 
redistribute the funding based on changes in overall school level funding. 

7.2.4 Not having this exemption would result in some schools being delegated more one-off 
funding than they are required to contribute to the school improvement provision, whilst 
others would receive less than required. 

7.2.5 As is usual, we will go through the proposed exemption in detail with the Schools Forum 
funding sub-group and they will be making a recommendation on this exemption to the 
November Schools Forum. 

7.2.6 Should schools not agree to the continued operation of the Education Improvement 
Strategy commissioning pot this MFG exemption would no longer be needed.  

7.3 Consultation 

Page 60



 

  

Please indicate whether you agree with the proposal to make this disapplication and feedback any 
general comments you may have. 
(Please respond on the Consultation Response Form - Appendix A) 

  

Page 61



 

  

8 Proposal 4: Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation changes 

 

This section covers changes that are being made to the Fair Funding Scheme of delegation to 
reflect updated national and local policies. 

 
8.1 Background 

8.1.1 Section 48 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998, and Schedule 14 to the Act 
set out that Local Authorities should have a Scheme of Delegation. 

8.1.2 Local authorities are required to publish schemes for financing schools setting out the 
financial relationship between them and the schools they maintain. 

8.1.3 In making any changes to their schemes, local authorities must consult all schools in their 
area and receive the approval of the members of their schools forum representing 
maintained schools. Local authorities must take this guidance into account when they revise 
their schemes, in consultation with the schools forum. 

8.1.4 The link to the draft consultation version of Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation is 
available at 
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/37241/fair_funding_scheme_of_delegation_-
_september_2021 

8.2 Proposed way forward 

There is one main area of change in the FFSD. This is directed by national change and is 
summarised below: 

8.2.1 Section 3.1 (Frequency of instalments): 

• Amended the previous scheme guidance (3.1.2) to clarify that where a school 
requires a budget share advance in order not to be overdrawn at their bank, this is 
treated as a cash advance and not a loan. 

 
8.2.2 This is not a change for Coventry, where funding provided to maintained school to prevent 

them from being overdrawn has always been considered a cash advance. 

8.3 Consultation 

Please feedback any general comments on the Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation. Please 
respond on the Consultation Response Form - Appendix A 

  

Page 62

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/37241/fair_funding_scheme_of_delegation_-_september_2021
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/37241/fair_funding_scheme_of_delegation_-_september_2021


 

  

Appendix A – Response Form 
 

Response Form 

 

Consultation on Proposed Changes to the Fair 
Funding Scheme of Delegation and Formula 2022/23 

 

 

Name of Respondent: ………………………………………………….. 

Name of setting: ………………………………………………………… 

Position: ………………………………………………………………….. 

Responding as (please ✓ the box) 

Group                   

Individual   

Stakeholder Group: (please ✓ the box) 
 

 Trade Union Representatives 

 Diocesan Church Authorities 

 Governors Associations 

 Head Teachers 

 Chairs of Governors/Governing Body 

 Schools Forum 

 PVI/Childminder Early Years Provider 

 

 

 

PLEASE RETURN BY Friday 19th November 2021 to: 

 E-mail: lisa.thomas@coventry.gov.uk  

 

 

Page 63

mailto:lisa.thomas@coventry.gov.uk


 

  

  

Proposal 1 Response  
 
Fair Funding Formula options 
(for further information see the Fair Funding Consultation, section 5) 

This proposal recommends that Coventry continues to use the local funding formula in 2022/23 to 
mirror the National Funding Formula protection levels as closely as possible. 
 
Please indicate whether you agree with this proposal and feedback any general comments you 
may have on this proposal. 

 

Please indicate whether you Agree or Disagree with this proposal 

            Agree           Disagree       

Proposal 1: Comments 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



 

  

Proposal 2 Response 

De-delegated Services 
(for further information see the Fair Funding Consultation, section 6) 
 

Funding for some centrally provided services must be allocated direct to schools through the 
formula but can then be returned to the LA by maintained schools via local de-delegation 
agreement. This proposal highlights the de-delegation decision that will need to be agreed by 
Schools Forum. 
 
Please feedback general comments on de-delegated services. We will report the overall response 
at the Schools Forum meeting. 

Proposal 2: Comments 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



 

  

  

Proposal 3 Response 
 
Minimum Funding Guarantee Approach  
(for further information see the Fair Funding Consultation, section 7) 
 

The Local Authority retains the ability to set the level of the Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG) 
protection for schools in 2022/23, although the direction taken in proposal 1 determines the 
appropriate MFG approach this year. This proposal highlights the MFG exemption that will need to 
be agreed by Schools Forum. 
 
Please indicate whether you agree with the proposal to make this disapplication and feedback any 
general comments you may have. 

 

Please indicate whether you Agree or Disagree with this proposal 

            Agree           Disagree       

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proposal 3: Comments 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



 

  

Proposal 4 Response 
 
Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation 
(for further information see the Fair Funding Consultation, section 8) 
 

This section covers the change that is being made to the Fair Funding Scheme of delegation to 
reflect updated national and local policies. 
 
Please feedback any general comments on the Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation. 

 

Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation changes: Comments 

Page 67



 

  

Other General Comments: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fair Funding Consultation 2022/23: Comments 

Page 68



 

  

 Circulation List 

 

Trade Union Representatives 

Diocesan Church Authorities 

Governors Associations 

Head Teachers 

Chairs of Governors 

Schools Forum 

PVI/Childminder Early Years Provider 

LA Councillors  

 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank




 

Public report 
 

 
  

Cabinet 11th January 2022 
Council 18th January 2022 
 
Name of Cabinet Member:  
Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources – Councillor R Brown 
 
Director Approving Submission of the report: 
Director of Finance 
 
Ward(s) affected: 
None 
 
Title: 
External Auditor Appointment from April 2023 
 
 
Is this a key decision?  
 
No, it is not expected that the impact will be significant. 
 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
This report sets out the options for appointing the external auditor to the Council for the five years 
commencing 2023/24 as the current arrangements only cover audits up to and including 2022/23. 
The report compares these options and seeks approval for its recommended approach. The 
appointment of the Council’s auditors is a matter reserved for full Council. 
 
 
Recommendations: 
 
The Cabinet is requested to: 
 

1) Recommend that Council approves Option 2, as described in this report, which is to 
accept Public Sector Audit Appointments’ (PSAA) invitation to ‘opt in’ to the sector led 
option for the appointment of external auditors for the five financial years commencing 1 

April 2023 
 

 
Council is requested to: 
 

1) Approve Option 2 to accept Public Sector Audit Appointments’ (PSAA) invitation to ‘opt in’ 
to the sector led option for the appointment of external auditors for five financial years 
commencing 1 April 2023. 

 
 
 
 

Page 71

Agenda Item 8



 

  

List of Appendices included: 
 
None 
 
Background papers: 
 
None 
 
Other useful documents 
 
None 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
 
No 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?  
 
No 
 
Will this report go to Council?  
 
Yes – 18th January 2022 
 
 

Page 72



 

  

Report title: 
External Auditor Appointment from April 2023 
 
1. Context (or background) 
 
1.1 This report sets out the options for appointing the external auditor to the Council for the 

2023/24 accounts and beyond, as the current nationally regulated arrangements only 
cover up to and including 2022/23 audits. 

 
1.2 The Council’s current auditors are Grant Thornton UK LLP working under a 5-year 

contract let by Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) – a body set up principally to 
manage this process. The planned audit fees for 2020/21 are £211k.  
 

1.3 The PSAA is inviting the Council to opt into the national arrangements for the next 5-year 
period along with all other authorities, so that the PSAA can enter into a number of 
contracts with appropriately qualified audit firms and appoint a suitable firm to be the 
Council’s auditor. 

 
2. Options considered and recommended proposal 
 
2.1 There are two main options: 

 
Option 1: For the Council to arrange its own procurement and make the appointment itself 
or in conjunction with other councils. 
 
Option 2: For the Council to join the procurement exercise administered by Public Sector 
Audit Appointments 
 
Option 1: Stand-Alone or Local Procurement  
 

2.2 In order to make a stand-alone appointment, the Council would need to set up an Auditor 
Panel. The panel must be made up wholly of, or a majority of, independent members as 
defined by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the Act). Independent members for 
this purpose are independent appointees, this excludes current and former elected 
members (or officers) and their close families and friends. This means that elected 
members would not have a majority input to assessing bids and choosing which firm of 
accountants to award a contract for the Council’s external audit. A new independent auditor 
panel established by the Council would be responsible for selecting the auditor. 
 

2.3 Setting up an Auditor Panel would allow the Council to take maximum advantage of the 
local appointment regime and have local input to the decision. However, this option would 
involve additional officer time setting up the panel, running the bidding exercise and 
negotiating the contract. It would also incur some expense for the payment of members of 
the independent auditor panel. The Council would not be able to take advantage of 
reduced fees that may be available through joint or national procurement contracts and the 
assessment of bids and the decision on awarding contracts would be taken by independent 
appointees and not solely by elected members. 

 
2.4 The Act enables the Council to join with other authorities to establish a Joint Auditor Panel. 

Again, this would need to be constituted wholly of, or a majority of, independent 
appointees. Legal advice would be required on the exact constitution of such a panel 
having regard to the obligations of each Council under the Act and the Council would need 
to liaise with other local authorities to assess the appetite for such an arrangement. 

 

Page 73



 

  

2.5 The costs of setting up the panel, running the bidding exercise and negotiating the contract 
would be shared across a number of authorities and there is greater opportunity for 
negotiating some economies of scale compared with the Council undertaking a stand-alone 
procurement by being able to offer a larger combined contract value to the firms. 

 
2.6 However, the decision-making body would be further removed from local involvement, with 

potentially no input from elected members where a wholly independent auditor panel was 
used or possibly only one elected member representing each council, depending on the 
constitution agreed with the other bodies involved.  

 
 
Option 2 – Sector Led Body (PSAA) (recommended option) 

 
2.7 The government has previously established a national provider, Public Sector Audit 

Appointments Ltd (PSAA), to make auditor appointments to opted-in local government 
bodies. The PSAA is an independent company limited by guarantee and incorporated by 
the Local Government Association in August 2014. The (PSAA) has the ability to negotiate 
contracts with audit firms nationally, maximising the opportunities for the most economic 
and efficient approach to procurement of external audit on behalf of the whole sector. The 
costs of setting up the appointment arrangements and negotiating fees is shared across all 
opt-in authorities and, by offering large contract values, the firms should be able to offer 
better rates and lower fees than are likely to result from local negotiation. 
 

2.8 Local authority accounts have become far more complicated in recent years than they were 
historically, and expectations of auditors have also been on a steep upward curve in the 
last year or two. It will be difficult for any individual authority to define an appropriate 
specification for the audit of the accounts that individual firms would reasonably be able to 
respond to. There is a high risk of firms needing to challenge and expand the specification 
through the contract term (leading to increased prices) and of firms needing to take a risk 
averse approach to pricing strategy due to the uncertainty of dealing with an individual 
client. 

 
2.9 Any conflicts at individual authorities would be managed by the PSAA who would have a 

number of contracted firms to call upon. In addition to the economies of scale which could 
be achieved under the national scheme, other benefits include: 

• assured appointment of a qualified, registered, independent auditor; 

• appointment, if possible, of the same auditors to bodies involved in significant 
collaboration and joint working initiatives or combined authorities; 

• distribution of surpluses to participating authorities; 

• avoiding the necessity for individual authorities to establish an auditor panel and to 
undertake an auditor procurement. 

  
2.10 The local government audit environment has been subject to significant turbulence over 

recent years marked by reported auditor performance shortcomings in specific instances, 
financial failings at some councils, a call for reform through the Redmond Review and 
significant market pressures within audit firms. Many councils including Coventry have had 
to work through some significant challenges alongside their audit partner with delays to 
audit closedowns and a larger than normal number of reported adjustments to the 
accounts. It would be wrong to conclude though that breaking away from the existing 
appointment framework would offer a solution to these experiences. It is highly likely that 
the audit market will continue to be difficult and there is no guarantee of obtaining a 
sufficient quantum of audit capacity to meet demand. In these circumstances, being part of 
national arrangements for meeting this challenge presents far less risk than being outside 
these arrangements. 
 

Page 74



 

  

 
2.11 Option 2 is recommended as the Council’s preferred option. It should be borne in mind that, 

with this option, individual elected members will have less opportunity for direct 
involvement in the appointment and the final fee structure from the PSAA will require 
councils to indicate their intention to opt-in before final contract prices are known.  

 
3. Results of consultation undertaken 

 
3.1 No consultation has been undertaken. This is a matter of governance subject to the 

decision of whole Council and does not lend itself readily to wider consultation. 
 
4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 
4.1 If the Council is to become part of the national procurement exercise it is required to 

respond to PSAA by 11th March 2022. The first Audit period that will be covered by the new 
contracts will start on 1st April 2023 
 

5. Comments from Director of Finance and Director of Law and Governance 
 
5.1 Financial implications 
 
 There is a risk that current external fees levels could increase when the current contracts 

end. Opting-in to a national scheme provides maximum opportunity to ensure fees are as 
low as possible, whilst ensuring the quality of audit is maintained by entering a large scale 
collective procurement arrangement. If the national scheme is not used some additional 
resource may be needed to establish an auditor panel and conduct a local procurement. 
Until a procurement exercise is completed it is not possible to state what, if any, additional 
resource may be required for audit fees for 2022/23. Re-joining the PSAA administered 
process provides the best opportunity of securing a streamlined procurement exercise and 
robust audit process for the Council’s accounts 

 
5.2 Legal implications 
 

 Section 7 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the Act) requires a relevant 
Council to appoint a local auditor to audit its accounts for a financial year not later than 31 
December in the preceding year.  

 
 Section 8 of the Act governs the procedure for appointment including that the Council must 

consult and take account of the advice of its auditor panel on the selection and 
appointment of a local auditor. 

 
 Section 17 of the Act gives the Secretary of State the power to make regulations in relation 

to an ‘appointing person’ specified by the Secretary of State. This power has been 
exercised in the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 (SI 2015/192) and this 
gives the Secretary of State the ability to enable a Sector Led Body to become the 
appointing person. In July 2016 the Secretary of State specified the PSAA as the 
appointing person. 
 

6. Other implications 
 

 Any other specific implications 
 
 
 
 

Page 75



 

  

6.1 How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)?  
 
 External audit of the Council provides an independent assessment of whether the Council’s 

financial statements have been prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and 
whether the Council has secured value for money though the efficient and effective use of 
its resources. This report facilitates a required decision on the process to be followed for 
future external auditor appointments.   

 
6.2 How is risk being managed? 
 
 The Council needs to take a decision on the preferred option for the future appointment of 

its external auditor. There is no immediate risk to the Council; however, early consideration 
of the preferred options available will enable detailed planning to take place to achieve 
successful transition to the new arrangement in a timely and efficient manner. 

 
6.3 What is the impact on the organisation? 
 
 Determining the process for external auditor appointment will ensure compliance with 

statutory requirements and continuity of audit processes.   

  
6.4 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 

 
 No implications. 
 
6.5 Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 

 
 No implications. 
 
6.6 Implications for partner organisations? 
 
 External audit of the Council’s accounts includes significant analysis of its ownership of 

external companies and the accounting arrangements of these relationships. 
 

Page 76

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


 

  

Report author(s): 
 
Name and job title: 
Paul Jennings (Finance Manager) 
 
Directorate: 
Finance 
 
Tel and email contact: 
Tel: 02476 977228  
Email: paul.jennings@coventry.gov.uk 
 

Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 
 

Contributor/approver 
name 

Title Service Date doc 
sent out 

Date response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors:     

Michelle Salmon Governance 
Services Officer 

Law and 
Governance 

26/11/21 26/11/21 

Names of approvers for 
submission:  
(officers and members) 

    

Sarah Harriott Corporate 
Governance Lawyer 

Law and 
Governance 

26/11/21 29/11/21 

Barry Hastie Director of Finance - 02/12/21 15/12/21 

Councillor R Brown Cabinet Member for 
Strategic Finance 
and Resources 

- 02/12/21 15/12/21 

 

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings  
 

Page 77

mailto:paul.jennings@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


This page is intentionally left blank



   

 

 

 

 

Public report 
Cabinet Report 

 
  
 

A separate report is submitted in the private part of the agenda in respect of this item, as it 
contains details of financial information required to be kept private in accordance with 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  The grounds for privacy are that it 
contains information relating to the financial and business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information). The public interest in maintaining the 
exemption under Schedule 12A outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

 

Cabinet 11th January 2022 
 
 

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Children and Young People - Councillor P Seaman 

 

Director Approving Submission of the report: 
Director of Childrens Services 

 
Ward(s) affected: 
None 

 
Title: 
Homes for Disabled Children- acceptance of a capital grant, further capital borrowing and future 
homes for children with a disability. 

 
 

Is this a key decision?  

 

Yes - the proposals involve financial implications in excess of £1m per annum. 
 

 

Executive Summary: 
 

A sufficiency needs analysis is a requirement of section 22G of the Children Act 1989 and 
statutory guidance was issued in 2010. A recent analysis in Coventry has identified the need for 
additional provision for children with disabilities. Currently any child with a disability has to live 
outside of the Coventry because there is no appropriate home within the city boundary. Private 
provision has not been of good quality and currently the market is not providing suitable local 
homes for this group of children. Nationally this has been acknowledged by the Department for 
Education (DfE) which has recently announced an initiative to match any capital funding 
required to enable local authorities to open and run its own provision. An application has been 
made and the service is currently waiting for a decision. The current proposal is to refurbish a 
vacant Coventry City Council building attached to the current short breaks provision for children 
with disabilities and to undertake a business case to understand the feasibility of commissioning 
additional new build provision. This will enable children to live locally and this supports improved 
outcomes for children with a disability.  

 

 

 

 

Page 79

Agenda Item 9



Recommendations: 

 
The Cabinet is requested to: 

 
1) Approve the acceptance of a DfE grant if awarded and the proposal to spend the grant 

award for the commissioning and provision of an additional children’s home. 
 
2) Approve capital expenditure of £0.5m to be met from prudential borrowing. In the absence 

of the DfE grant award, the full £1m to be met from prudential borrowing. 
 

3) Delegate authority to Director of Finance, following consultation with the Director of Law and 
Governance, City Solicitor and Monitoring Officer, to negotiate final terms and approve entry 
into the grant funding agreement to secure the DfE funding with the City Council acting as 
the Accountable Body for the funding and any other agreements as required for further 
borrowing and future homes. 

 
4) Task officers to scope out the potential for a second new build property that can be used for 

the purpose of a children’s home. 

 

List of Appendices included: 
 

None. 
 

Background papers: 
 
None 

 

Other useful documents 
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-market-study-interim-
report/interim-report 
 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/
273812/sufficiency_-
_statutory_guidance_on_securing_sufficient_accommodation_for_looked_after_children.pdf 

 

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
 
No 

 

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body? 

 
Yes – the matter will be submitted to the Corporate Parenting Board on 27th January 2022 

 

Will this report go to Council?  
 
No 

 

Page 80

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-market-study-interim-report/interim-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-market-study-interim-report/interim-report
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/273812/sufficiency_-_statutory_guidance_on_securing_sufficient_accommodation_for_looked_after_children.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/273812/sufficiency_-_statutory_guidance_on_securing_sufficient_accommodation_for_looked_after_children.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/273812/sufficiency_-_statutory_guidance_on_securing_sufficient_accommodation_for_looked_after_children.pdf


Report title: Homes for Disabled Children – acceptance of a capital grant, further capital 
borrowing and future homes for children with a disability. 

 

1. Context (or background) 
 

1.1 A sufficiency analysis has identified that additional resource is needed in the city for 
children with disabilities who are looked after by Coventry City Council and have an 
assessed need to live in a children’s home. This analysis is reinforced by a recent 
report by the Competition and Markets Authority (CMA) which undertook an 
examination of the market on behalf of the Government. An interim report has been 
published. It found that there was a shortage of appropriate children’s homes 
placements, that the largest market providers could be earning higher profits than the 
CMA would expect in a well-functioning market and highlighted the risk of private 
equity owned providers going into financial distress and ultimately having to exit the 
sector due to the high and increasing levels of debt. Coventry is already a provider of 
children’s home provision registered with Ofsted. It is proposed that Coventry City 
Council now opens an additional home and investigates the feasibility of exploring a 
new build home to meet the identified gap in provision. This will future proof the 
Council from excessive placement costs caused by market swings such as those 
experienced throughout the Covid-19 pandemic.  

 

2. Options considered and recommended proposal 
 

2.1 Several options have been considered to meet the identified provision gap. These are 
accessing the private market, extension of the current block contract, commissioning further 
provision from the market and providing the provision internally. 

  
2.2 Use of the private market- Coventry has used placements for children with disabilities in the 

city in the past. One of these homes ceased trading because it was not meeting expected 
profit margins of the provider and the second was issued a suspension notice by Ofsted 
following inspection as the care it offered children was inadequate. There is currently no 
private provision in the city and there is no indication that this situation is likely to change. 

 
2.3 Use of existing block contract- there has been some discussion with Coventry’s City Council’s 

block providers to explore whether they are able to expand provision into this area. However, 
both providers have indicated that they do not have the skills and experience to run homes for 
children with disabilities. 

 
2.4 Commissioning further provision from the market- there have been some preliminary 

discussions about commissioning out this service. However, early indications are that there is 
unlikely to be an appetite for providers to enter into a contract with the City Council to make 
this provision available in the city boundary. 

 
2.5 Expanding internal provision- Coventry has a good track record in opening and running 

children’s home provision. It currently runs 5 children’s homes, all of which are currently 
judged as good by Ofsted. One of these is a short break home for four children with 
disabilities. This means that Coventry has experience of opening and running good quality 
children’s homes within the city. In addition, the DfE has announced an initiative to local 
authorities that want to open their own provision to meet need to match capital funding. An 
application has been made to match fund the capital provision invested by Coventry City 
Council. 

 
2.6 The analysis of options indicates that providing internal children’s homes is the best option for 

providing high quality provision that meets the needs of children within the city boundary. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 81



2.7 The plan is to create a home for children with disabilities in a refurbished property attached to 
Coventry’s existing short breaks provision. This makes use of the DfE match capital funding 
available, and due to the tight delivery timelines within the grant, will enable the us to provide 
in-city in house provision for looked after children with disabilities before the end of the next 
financial year. 

  
2.8 Running concurrently with this it is proposed that a comprehensive exercise will be 

undertaken to assess the feasibility of establishing new build facilities. This may deliver a 
sustainable future plan to provide children with disabilities first class homes to live in. It also 
means that there will be staggered opening of these additional premises, as a refurbishment 
can commence immediately, whilst new build feasibility plans are established, and a full 
business case presented to members. 

 

3. Results of consultation undertaken 
 

3.1 There has been continuing discussion with young people, their families, partner 
agencies and organisations representing families who have children with disabilities. 
There is overwhelming feedback that there needs to be local provision for this group of 
children. Some have had to move considerable distances to be placed in a home that 
meets their needs. This makes continued contact with their families difficult and a 
disconnect in services such as school and health as new services and professionals are 
allocated to work with the child in the area of their new home. This means children with 
complex needs are having to cope with significant changes in their lives. All feedback 
has underlined the benefit of young people remaining in the city where their families can 
be better involved in the child’s care planning and local professionals work together to 
meet the child’s needs. This will all contribute to better outcomes for the child who is 
placed in the city. 

 
In addition, there will be better outcome efficiencies for Children’s Services. Having 
children closer to the city will mean that there will be wider savings in transportation and 
social worker time. It will be easier and quicker to visit children who are based in our 
own homes. Staff at the homes will use the same recording system as the allocated 
social worker meaning that communication is more efficient, and the needs of children 
can be identified more easily and met more quickly. 

 

4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 

4.1 Once approved the refurbishment of the children’s home will begin immediately. Coventry 
City Council is now waiting for a decision from the DfE which has been delayed because 
of the volume of applications it has received. There are specific requirements regarding 
completion of provision attached to the DfE grant. These will be monitored regularly 
though a project management group, chaired by the Strategic Lead for looked after 
children and oversight by operational staff including finance and property services 
colleagues. There will be regular reports on progress to the Lead member for Children’s 
Services and Corporate Parenting Board. 

 
4.2 A comprehensive and detailed business case for a second new build will be presented to 

the lead member through her regular briefings. This will also include partners across the 
City Council. The outcome of any decision to approve a further business case will return 
to Cabinet for full and final approval. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 82



5. Comments from Director of Finance and Director of Law and Governance 
 

5.1 Financial implications 
 

The Council intends to refurbish and repurpose a vacant Council owned building to enable it 
to be used as a residential children’s home for looked after children with disabilities. The total 
capital outlay needed to undertake this work has been estimated at £1,012,770 following 
surveys and site visits. 
 
In October 2021, a bid was made to the DfE under its Children’s Home Capital Fund 
programme for the capital project to be 50% match funded. If the Council’s bid is successful, 
the DfE will contribute up to £506,385 towards the capital work. 
 
The Council will need to fund the remaining 50% of the capital project from prudential borrowing 
and would be broken down as follows. 
 

 
 
If the bid for DfE capital match funding is unsuccessful the Council will seek to fund the entire 
£1m refurbishment from prudential borrowing. 
 
Revenue funding 
 
The council currently provides residential care for children with disabilities via spot contracts. 
While the amount spent on this varies depending on the needs of the children and provision 
available at any point in time, modelling has suggested that the operational running costs 
needed to operate an internal 4-bedroom residential home for looked after children with 
disabilities effectively, is 6% cheaper per week per placement. This assumes an 87% 
occupancy rate. Current and expected average unit costs are detailed in the private report.  

 

 
There will be an initial period before any savings are realised, due to the need to establish the 
home and train the staff. It is expected to take approximately 3 months before occupancy 
reaches the required level for savings to begin accumulating. The impact of this during the 
first financial year is a one-off running cost pressure of approximately £165k above the 
available budget. From 2023/24 onwards we would expect a small saving. 

   
In the event of an unsuccessful DfE grant bid and the Council funding the full £1m 
refurbishment from prudential borrowing, this would have an impact on revenue of an 
additional £29k per annum attributed to a higher repayment amount. 

 

5.2 Legal implications 
 

Section 22 (3) of the Children Act 1989 sets out the general duty of the Council looking 
after a child to safeguard and promote the welfare of the child. Furthermore the Council 
is required under section 22G of the Children Act 1989 (s.9 of the Children and Young 
Persons Act 2008) to take steps to secure, so far as is reasonably practicable, sufficient 
accommodation for looked after children in their local authority area. 
 
Governance will need to be considered for the operation of the children’s home to 
ensure a registered manager is appointed to manage the home and appropriate quality 
assurance arrangements for monitoring in compliance with statutory requirements under 
the Children’s Homes (England) Regulations 2015. 
 
 
 

DfE Council Total

£506,385 £506,385 £1,012,770

Capital funding

Page 83



Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 permits a Council to do anything that an individual 
may do, whether or not normally undertaken by a local authority (the General Power of 
Competence). If successful, the Council will be accepting a grant for the delivery of the 
outcomes specified and compliance with any funding criteria and requirements. The 
Council would be the accountable body for the funding. 
 
As the accountable body, it is anticipated that the Council will be required to enter into a 
grant funding agreement with the DFE to govern the terms and conditions of the grant 
funding. Legal advice will be sought on the terms and conditions of the grant agreement 
to minimise any risks. 
 
Any procurement exercise will be conducted in compliance with the Council’s policy and 
legal obligations, specifically in compliance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules 
and the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and Subsidy Control Rules and supported by 
relevant officers.  

 

6. Other implications 
 

6.1 How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)? 
 

The initiative will contribute to the Council plan in the following ways: 

Locally committed- the homes will protect some of the city’s most vulnerable children, 
keeping them local to meet their needs and make sure that they continue to have regular 
involvement with their family. It will engage local partners so that the health and wellbeing 
of this group of children will be significantly improved. 

Delivering our priorities with fewer resources- the opening of additional homes will make 
savings on the Children’s Services Placements budget. This has been demonstrated 
through an effective cost/benefit analysis and business case. It will add social value to the 
communities in which the homes are located. The refurbished property is in a ward in the 
city which would benefit from the additional investment. The needs of children are at the 
heart of this initiative. 

Managing performance and managing progress- the homes will be subject to significant 
scrutiny and governance as they registered with Ofsted. Once registered, the homes will 
be subject to significant quality oversight including monthly assessment by an independent 
visitor and inspection by regulatory inspectors by Ofsted in accordance with regulation. 

 

6.2 How is risk being managed? 
 

Tight governance processes are proposed that will make sure that any emergent risks are 
identified and mitigated at the earliest opportunity. The underlying outcome is that children’s 
homes open within robust timescales. This will include representatives across the whole of 
the Council who are involved in the delivery of the project. These will be coordinated by the 
Strategic lead for looked after children. 
 
There is always a level of risk operating a children’s home. However, as Coventry has a track 
record running homes currently judged as good by Ofsted, it is anticipated that any risks can 
be ameliorated through robust management and active leadership. 

 

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation? 
 

The initiative is a key pillar of the Council’s corporate parenting responsibilities. Opening 
further children’s homes in the city will provide children with high quality provision in the 
city.  Operating this home will mean improved placement choice for children with complex 
needs. The registered manager will be better able to match a child to a vacancy because 
there will be an ongoing relationship with colleagues as an employee of the Council.  

 
 

Page 84

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


 
6.4   Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 

 
An Equality Impact Assessment will be completed as part of the business case for a new 
build home. 

 
6.5   Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 

 

The plan to refurbish the new home will take account of all current building regulations and will 
be ‘future proofed’ to meet all environmental regulations. There has been close liaison with the 
Safety, Health, Environment and Quality Manager to identify the best ways of minimising any 
impact on the environment from any future new build homes. 

 

Coventry City Council has secured ERDF funding towards the installation of Solar PV on the 
existing residential part of the building. This project is scheduled to be delivered in January 
2022. There is therefore potential to expand the scheme should additional funding be provided 
as part of the refurbishment project. This would further reduce the carbon emissions 
associated with the proposed expanded residential function. 
 

6.6    Implications for partner organisations? 
 

Partner agencies are required to provide ongoing services to children who are 
looked after. This includes health services and education provision. Feedback from 
all partners is that it is easier to deliver high quality services when children remain 
within to the city. It is anticipated that any new home opened by Coventry City 
Council will homes will be located within the city boundary. This means partners will 
be in a better position to meet children’s needs, improve their health and education 
outcomes and support families. 

Page 85



Report author(s): 
 

Name and job title:  
Paul Smith 
Strategic Lead for Looked After Children 

 

Service:  
Childrens Services 

 

Tel and email contact:  
Tel: 02476 976744   
Email: paul.smith2@coventry.gov.uk 
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person 
 

 

Contributor/appro
ver name 

Title Service Area Date doc 
sent out 

Date response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors:     

  Michelle Salmon Governance 
Services Officer 

Law and 
Governance 

06/12/2021 06/12/2021 

Names of approvers 
for submission: 
(officers and members) 

    

Tina Pinks Finance Manager   Finance 03/12/2021 03/12/2021 

Julie Newman 
 

Director of Law and 
Governance, City 
Solicitor and 
Monitoring Officer 

- 06/12/2021 06/12/2021 

John Gregg Director of Children’s 
Services 

  - 04/12/2021 04/12/2021 

  Councillor P Seaman Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 

  - 08/12/2021 08/12/2021 

This report is published on the council's website: 
www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 

Page 86

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings



 

Public report 
Cabinet 

 

   
 

 
 
 
 

 
A separate report is submitted in the private part of the agenda in respect of this item, as 
it contains details of financial information required to be kept private in accordance with 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  The grounds for privacy are that it 
contains information relating to the financial and business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information). The public interest in maintaining the 
exemption under Schedule 12A outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information. 
 
Cabinet 11th January 2022 
  
 
Name of Cabinet Member:  
Cabinet Member for Jobs, Regeneration and Climate Change – Councillor J O’Boyle 
 
Director Approving Submission of the report: 
Director of Property Services and Development  
 
Ward(s) affected: 
Binley and Willenhall  
 
Title: 
Disposal of Land at Allard Way 
 
 
Is this a key decision? 
Yes – The proposal in the report will result in financial implication exceeding £1million 
 

 
Executive Summary: 
 
The Council owns the freehold of land located at Allard Way/London Road compromising 
approximately 11 acres and is shown red on the plan annexed to this report (“the Site”). The Site 
including the adjoining Whitley Pumping Station site owned by Homes England was allocated as 
a future housing site in the adopted Local Plan policy H2:9 
 
The Coventry Local Plan was adopted by the Council on the 5th December 2017 and came into 
effect the following day. 
 
To ensure that a comprehensive approach was taken to the allocations in the Local Plan as 
advised by the Planning Department, the Council and Homes England worked in collaboration in 
the promotion of their individual sites. This resulted with both planning applications being 
recommend for approval and determined by Planning Committee on the 2nd September 2021. 
 
The Council secured an Outline Planning Approval by Planning Committee for up to 125 
residential dwellings on the 2nd September 2021. Planning reference OUT/2020/2665 
 

Page 87

Agenda Item 10



 

 2 

Following approval, the Site was marketed for residential development by tender with 18 tenders 
submitted. The highest bid received on an unconditional basis with completion by the end of the 
Councils financial year end i.e. 31st March 2022 and “Preferred Developer” status was confirmed 
with the highest bidder. 
 
The offer for the Site has been approved by independent Chartered Surveyors LSH and by the 
Council’s Valuation Panel as representing “Best Consideration” and therefore satisfying the 
Council’s statutory responsibilities under Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
The capital receipt will contribute towards corporate resources.  
 
Recommendations: 
 
Cabinet are requested to: 

 
(1) Approve the disposal of the Site at Allard Way. 

 
(2) Delegate authority to the Director of Property Services and Development, following 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Jobs, Regeneration and Climate Change and the 
Director of Law and Governance, for any subsequent variation in terms. 

 
(3) Delegate authority to the Director of Property Services and Development, following 

consultation with the Director of Law and Governance Services and the Cabinet Member 
for Jobs, Regeneration and Climate Change, to:  

 

• negotiate, agree and complete all the necessary documentation for the freehold 
transfers of the Site and 
 

• take such necessary or ancillary steps or decisions to bring into effect the 
recommendations set out in this report. 

 
 
List of Appendices included: 
 
Appendix 1 - Site Plan – Allard Way/London Road 
 
Background papers: 
 
None 
 
Other useful documents: 
 
The Coventry Local Plan was adopted at full Council on the 5th December 2017, with adoption 
statements. The Local Plan can be viewed via the following link: 
www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/downloads/4881/adoption_statements  
 
The land at London Road / Allard Way is also identified as a housing site in the recently adopted 
Willenhall Neighbourhood Plan. This Plan is available via the following link: 
www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/27481/made_willenhall_neighbourhood_plan_june_2018 
 
Planning Application Reference Number OUT/2020/2665 – link to the planning committee report 
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=147&MId=12492&Ver=4  
 
 
 

Page 88

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/downloads/4881/adoption_statements
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/27481/made_willenhall_neighbourhood_plan_june_2018
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=147&MId=12492&Ver=4


 

 3 

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
 
No 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?  
 
No 
 
Will this report go to Council?  
 
No 
 
 

  

Page 89



 

 4 

Report title: Disposal of Land at Allard Way  
 
1. Context (or background) 
 

Land at Allard/London Road 
 

1.1 The land at Allard Way/London Road together with neighbouring land interests was 
allocated in the Coventry Local Plan policy H2:9, which came into effect on the 5th 
December 2017. The site is also identified for housing development within the adopted 
Willenhall Neighbourhood Plan. 
 

1.2 The site was previously situated in the Green Belt however within the adopted Coventry 
Local Plan, the boundary of the Green Belt was realigned 
 

1.3 The allocation in the Coventry Local Plan includes adjoining land previously owned by 
Severn Trent Water and now Homes England which accommodates the locally listed 
former Whitley pumping station and lodge. The Councils land is approximately 11acres 
within the total development site, outlined in red in the appendices.  

 
1.4 Working in collaboration with Homes England to ensure a comprehensive approach 

regarding the allocation in the Local Plan, both the Council and Homes England appointed 
a joint consultant Tetratech to prepare a joint masterplan for both sites. 

 
1.5 The advice throughout the process from the Planning Department was whilst both the 

Homes England site and the Councils interest were separate, they should be determined in 
parallel as per the allocation in the Local Plan due to issues that affected both sites, for 
example Highways, Bio Diversity and Open Space. Subsequently, both sites were listed for 
Planning Committee with a recommendation for approval on the 2nd September 2021.  

 
1.6 The application submitted by Homes England for their site which included the former 

Whitley Pumping Station was for 195 units and a full application for the conversion of the 
former pump house into one dwelling and for four flats. (ref Out/2020/2521).  This was 
approved by Planning Committee 

 
1.7 An Outline Planning Application was submitted by the Council’s for the erection of up to 

125 residential units (with all matters reserved except for access) on the part of the 
allocation within the Councils ownership. The application was also approved at Planning 
Committee on the 2nd September 2021.    
 

1.8 Following planning approval, the Site was marketed seeking the highest financial offer on 
an unconditional basis with the disposal to be completed by the end of the Councils 
financial year end i.e. 31st March 2022. A total of 18 bids were received and “Preferred 
Developer” status was confirmed with the highest bidder.  

 
1.9 The “Preferred Developer” have confirmed that their offer is a net figure and they have 

confirmed completion on an unconditional basis before the end of the Councils financial 
year end i.e. 31st March 2022 subject to Cabinet approval. 

 
1.10  The offer has been approved by independent Chartered Surveyors LSH and by the 

Council’s Valuation Panel as representing “Best Consideration” and being the best price 
reasonably obtainable under the requirements set out in S123 of the Local Government Act 
1972.   

 
1.11 The capital receipt will contribute towards the Council’s corporate resources.  

 

Page 90



 

 5 

 
2. Options considered and recommended proposal 
 
2.1 Accept the offer – The offer has been recommended as representing “Best Consideration” 

reasonably obtainable in accordance with the provisions under S123 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and approved by the Councils Valuation Panel. The offer is a net 
figure and any abnormals or S106 costs have already been deducted. 
 

2.2 The disposal of the Site to the “Preferred Developer” will see much needed housing being 
developed, which will support the growth of the City and ensure a choice of housing will be 
delivered to meet the needs of local people. 25% of the dwellings will be allocated as” 
affordable” housing i.e. 32 dwellings. 

 
2.3 The receipt will contribute towards corporate resources and it is expected that the capital 

receipt will be received by the end of the financial year. 
  

2.4 Decline the offer – The offer could be declined, and the Site could be remarketed, 
however, failure to accept an offer that has been recommended as best consideration 
would see the loss of a potential capital receipt to the Council. In addition, failure to 
approve the disposal would see the loss of housing and therefore not contributing to the 
delivery of housing targets in the Coventry Local Plan and for the city’s growth. The capital 
receipt has in principle already been allocated in the Council’s Medium-Term Financial 
Strategy and if this was not received, adjustments would have to be made to the Council’s 
financial budgets for forthcoming financial years. 
 

2.5 Remarket the Site – The Site could be reintroduced to the market at a later date, but any 
further delay would see the loss of the capital receipt, which is expected for this financial 
year 2021/2022. There would be further uncertainty regarding when to remarket this 
opportunity and the residential market may not be as buoyant in the future. 

 
2.6 The recommendation is to accept the offer submitted by the “Preferred Developer” as per 

paragraph 2.1 of the report. 
 
3. Results of consultation undertaken 
 
3.1 The site is allocated within the Coventry Local Plan for residential development. The 

Coventry Local Plan was subject to numerous rounds of consultation since 2014 including 
detailed consideration of the Site. The Coventry Local Plan was also subject to a period of 
public examination between July 2016 and January 2017. For each site, the Local Plan 
feedback was provided to the Council’s Scrutiny processes for information. Officers are 
advised that feedback from the consultation processes in relation to this site was limited. 
The primary point of discussion focused on the principle of removing land from the Green 
Belt which was a general point throughout as opposed to the subject Site in particular.  
 

3.2 The subject Site is also identified in the Willenhall Neighbourhood Plan which was also 
subject to various rounds of local consultation during its development between 2015 and 
2018. 
 

3.3 As part of the procedure for the outline planning application, consultation was undertaken 
prior to the submission of the application with the public and stakeholders informing them of 
the proposals.  The planning department also informed identified stakeholders of the 
application which resulted in 15 letters of objection, two online petitions with 315 and 78 
signatures respectively with one letter of support.  

 

Page 91



 

 6 

3.4 If approved by Cabinet, the “Preferred Developer” will submit a reserved matters planning 
application and will undertake further consultation with stakeholders to discuss and inform 
about their development proposals. 
 

4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 
4.1 Providing Cabinet approve the recommendations, the disposal of the Site and the delivery 

of the capital receipt will be completed by the end of this financial year.  
 
5. Comments from the Director of Finance and the Director of Law and Governance 
 
5.1 Financial implications 
 
 The sale of the Site will yield a capital receipt to the Council which will contribute to the 

Council’s corporate resources.    
 
5.2 Legal implications 
 
 The Council is under an obligation to obtain best consideration for land and property 

disposal transactions in accordance with the requirements set out in Section 123 of the 
Local Government Act 1972. 

 
 Officers within Legal Services will prepare and complete the necessary documentation in 

respect of the freehold disposal of the Site at Allard Way/London Road.  
 
6. Other implications 
 
6.1 How will this contribute to the Council’s Plan? 
 

The delivery of up to 125 new homes will help support the growth of the city and ensure 
that a choice of housing will be delivered to meet the needs of local people. 25% of the 
dwellings will be allocated as ‘affordable housing’. As the Site is identified as an allocated 
housing site in the Coventry Local Plan, the new homes will be well integrated into existing 
communities & infrastructure. 

 
 The net capital receipt will contribute towards corporate resources. 
 
6.2     How is risk being managed? 
 

The risks have been identified earlier in the report 
 
6.3    What is the impact on the organisation? 
 

The impact to the organisation will be minimal however it will generate additional work for 
officers within Property, Finance and Legal Services in processing the freehold transfer. 

 
6.4    Equalities / EIA  
 

An equality impact assessment was undertaken for the Coventry Local Plan however an 
EIA has not been undertaken by officers for the proposal set out in this report as it relates 
to the granting of or the creation of a legal interest in the land and does not constitute a 
change in service delivery policy or the exercise of a public function.  
 
 

 

Page 92



 

 7 

6.5    Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 
 
The subsequent impact on the environment through the redevelopment of the Site for 
housing will be in accordance with the Councils planning policies for sustainable 
development. 

 
6.6    Implications for partner organisations? 
 

There are no partner implications 
 

Page 93



 

 8 

Report author(s): 
 
Name and job title:   
James Grant 
Development Surveyor 
 
Service:  
Property Services and Development 
 
Tel and email contact:  
Tel: 024 7683 3674 
Email: james.grant@coventry.gov.uk 
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 
 
 

Contributor/approver 
name 

Title Service Date doc 
sent out 

Date response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors:     

Adam Hunt Strategic Lead  
Property and 
Development  

Property Services 
and Development 
  

12/11/21 
 
 

16/11/21 

Michelle Salmon Governance 
Services Officer 

Law and 
Governance  

29/11/2021 02/12/21 

Phil Helm Finance Manager Finance 24/11/21 30/11/21 

Names of approvers for 
submission: (officers 
and members) 

    

Helen Williamson Lead Accountant Finance 24/11/21 24/11/21 

Oluremi Aremu Major Projects Lead 
Lawyer 

Law and 
Governance 

16/11/21 23/11/21 

Richard Moon Director of Property 
Services and 
Development 

- 12/11/21 18/11/21 

Councillor O’Boyle  Cabinet Member for 
Jobs, Regeneration 
and Climate Change 

- 01/12/21 06/12/21 

 

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings  

Page 94

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings


2a

4
76.5m

4a

2

25
0

23
2

Shelter

LB

TCB

1a

1b

1

25
8

26
6

2

20

W
ard Bdy

204

22
0

6

1

20
8

Wa
rd B

dy

PINLEY

El Sub Sta

P
ath (um

)

81.8m

69.5m

Pumping
Station

Path (um)

Pa
th (

um
)

P
a
t h
 ( u
m
)

Resr (cov)

74.7m

1
3

2
78

Ruins

29
2

3
4
7

30
2

74.1m

2
90

H
a
ll

119

38

41

26

2
4

53

1
2

2
7

65

LB

52

115

77

182

Sub Sta

El

194

170

17

50

33

44

13

21

32

Drawn By: LB
Scale : 1:2500 @ A4
Date: 11/11/2020

PLACE DIRECTORATE
PROPERTY
ONE FRIARGATE
COVENTRY
CV1 2GN
Tel: 024 76972105

© Crown Copyright and database right 2020. Ordnance Survey 100026294
© Bluesky

Richard Moon - Director, Project Management & Property Services

Land at Allard Way  

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank




 

Public report 
Cabinet 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
A separate report is submitted in the private part of the agenda in respect of this item, as 
it contains details of financial information required to be kept private in accordance with 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  The grounds for privacy are that it 
contains information relating to the financial and business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information). The public interest in maintaining the 
exemption under Schedule 12A outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information. 
 
Cabinet 11th January 2022 
  
 
Name of Cabinet Member:  
Cabinet Member for Jobs, Regeneration and Climate Change - Councillor J O’Boyle 
 
Director(s) Approving Submission of the report: 
Director of Property Services and Development 
 
Ward(s) affected: 
St. Michael’s 
 
Title: 
City Centre South Land Acquisition and Compulsory Purchase Order 
 
 
Is this a key decision? 
Yes - the proposals involve financial implications in excess of £1m per annum 
 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
The City Centre South scheme (the Scheme) will deliver transformational improvements to 
Coventry city centre through new homes, jobs, commercial and leisure opportunities and high 
quality public spaces. In January 2017, Council and Cabinet took the key decisions to appoint 
SPG as preferred development partner, to accept £98.8m of grant funding from the WMCA and 
to approve, in principle, the use of compulsory purchase powers to deliver the Scheme. 
 
This report, therefore, seeks formal approval to make the necessary Compulsory Purchase Order 
(CPO) further to these previous decisions. It should be noted that the Council’s preference is to 
acquire the land and rights necessary for the delivery of the Scheme by negotiation rather than 
CPO and negotiations with landowners will, therefore, continue in parallel with the CPO process. 
 
Accordingly, the design of the Scheme also aims to minimise the extent of third party land 
required. The Council is the freeholder of the vast majority of the site, however, there is still a 
significant amount of the land required for the Scheme that is subject to leases or other interests 
granted to third parties. The Council requires ownership and control of these property interests in 
order for the City Centre South scheme to be delivered. 
 
 

Page 97

Agenda Item 11



  

 
Recommendations: 
 
Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
1) Resolve to make a Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) pursuant to powers under Section 

226(1)(a) Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 13 Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976), in accordance with the procedures in the Acquisition of 
Land Act 1981, for the acquisition of interests in the land coloured pink and for the creation 
and acquisition of new rights over the land coloured blue on the draft CPO map attached at 
Appendix 1 to the report (the proposed Order Land) in order to facilitate the delivery of the 
City Centre South Scheme (the Scheme).    

 
2)   Resolve to appropriate for planning purposes the land owned by the Council within the 

proposed redevelopment site shown on the plan at Appendix 9 pursuant to section 122 Local 
Government Act 1972 in order to facilitate the Scheme. 

 
3) Authorise the Director of Property Services and Development, following consultation with the 

Director of Law and Governance, the Chief Operating Officer and the Cabinet Member for 
Jobs, Regeneration and Climate Change,: 

 
a) To continue to negotiate terms to seek to acquire all the necessary interests and 

rights in the Order Land by agreement alongside progressing the CPO; 
 
(b) To take all necessary steps to secure the making, confirmation and implementation of 

the CPO including in relation to making continued satisfactory progress in regards the 
funding of the Scheme, the publication and service of all notices and the promotion of 
the Council's case at any public inquiry, including but not limited to the steps in (c) to 
(m) below; 

 
(c) To make any necessary amendments to the draft CPO Map (within the boundaries of 

the pink and the blue land on Appendix 1) and/or draft schedules to the CPO so as to 
include and describe all interests in the land and new rights required to facilitate the 
carrying out of the Scheme; 

 
(d) To finalise and seal the CPO Map and the Order and finalise the draft Statement of 

Reasons, certificates and other supporting documents, to publicise the making of the 
CPO and to submit the CPO (with supporting documents) to the Secretary of State 
for confirmation and thereafter to produce (and where appropriate publish and/or 
serve) all other documents required in connection with the CPO; 

 
(e) To acquire interests and new rights in the Order Land either by agreement or 

compulsorily (including pursuant to any blight notices as appropriate) including 
conduct of negotiations, making provision for the payment of compensation and, 
where appropriate, provision for temporary and/or permanent relocation of affected 
parties and/or for cases of exceptional hardship; 

 
(f) To negotiate, agree terms and enter into other agreements with interested parties 

including agreements for the withdrawal of blight notices and/or the withdrawal of 
objections to the CPO and/or undertakings not to enforce the CPO on specified 
terms, including where appropriate seeking the exclusion of land or rights from the 
CPO, making provision for the payment of compensation and/or for relocation; 

 
(g) To authorise entry onto land to undertake surveys under s172 Housing and Planning 

Act 2016 and/or other relevant powers; 

Page 98



  

 
(h) In the event that the CPO is confirmed by the Secretary of State (or the Council is 

authorised by the Secretary of State to confirm the CPO), to advertise and give notice 
of confirmation and thereafter to take all steps to implement the CPO and to secure 
possession of the Order Land including execution of General Vesting Declarations 
and/or service of Notices to Treat and Notices of Entry in respect of interests and 
rights in the Order Land and, where necessary, the appointment of High Court 
Enforcement Officers; 

 
(i) To settle claims for compensation under s204 Housing and Planning Act 2016 in 

respect of rights, interests or restrictions which are overridden and/or to reach 
agreement for the release of any such rights etc. by affected third parties; 

 
(j) To take all steps in relation to any legal proceedings relating to the CPO including 

defending or settling claims referred to the Lands Tribunal (Lands Chamber of the 
Upper Tribunal) and/or applications made to the courts and any appeals;  

 
(k) To retain and/or appoint external professional advisers and consultants to assist in 

facilitating the promotion, confirmation and implementation of the CPO, the 
settlement of compensation and any other claims or disputes;  

 
(l) To place statutory advertisements as required by section 122(2A) Local Government 

Act 1972 and section 233(4) Town and Country Planning Act 1990 of the Council’s 
intention to appropriate for planning purposes and thereafter to dispose of the open 
space land in the Council’s freehold ownership shown on the plan at Appendix 11 to 
the report; and 

 
(m) To consider any objections received in response to the statutory advertisements 

referred to in paragraph (l) above and to decide whether any such land should be 
appropriated for planning purposes and disposed of to facilitate the Scheme; and 

 
(n)     At the appropriate time, subject to (m) above, to complete disposal of land within the 

redevelopment site to the developer, pursuant to power under section 233 Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, in accordance with the terms of the development 
agreement. 

 
4) Delegate authority to the Director of Transportation and Highways to: 
 

(a)   Make an application under s.247 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to stop 
up areas of highway necessary to implement the proposals; and 

 
(b)   If required to facilitate the delivery of the Scheme, to take all necessary steps to 

commence the process of closure of Barracks Way and Market Way Car Parks and 
their removal from the Off-Street Parking Places Order 2005 

 
5) Resolve, where necessary in the absence of agreement, to exercise powers under ss 271 

and 272 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 in relation to the extinguishment of rights of 
statutory undertakers and electronic communications code network operators. 

 
6) Resolve, where necessary, to request the Secretary of State to exercise powers under s251 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (in accordance with regulation 15 of the Town and 
Country Planning Regulations 1992) to authorise the extinguishment of any public rights of 
way over land to be acquired or appropriated for the purposes of the Scheme. 

 

Page 99



  

7) Delegate authority to the Director of Property Services and Development, following 
consultation with the Director of Law and Governance, the Chief Operating Officer and the 
Cabinet Member for Jobs, Regeneration and Climate Change, to take all necessary, 
incidental or ancillary steps for the carrying into effect any of the recommendations set out in 
this report. 

 
 
List of Appendices included: 
 
Appendix 1:  Draft CPO map showing land and rights proposed to be acquired 
 
Appendix 2:  Plan showing proposed parameters of the Scheme 
    
Appendix 3: Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
Appendix 4: Draft Statement of Reasons 
 
Appendix 5: Draft Schedule of Interests 
 
Appendix 6:  Delivery Approach Report 
 
Appendix 7: Draft CPO 
 
Appendix 8: Draft Highways Order Land 
 
Appendix 9: Land within the Council’s freehold ownership proposed for appropriation for 

planning purposes excluding open space land  
 
Appendix 10: Open space land within the redevelopment site proposed for inclusion within the 

Order Land in respect of which a certificate under section 19 Acquisition of Land 
Act 1981 is to be sought 

 
Appendix 11: Open space land within the redevelopment site in respect of which public notice of 

intention to appropriate for planning purposes and/or dispose is proposed to be 
given  

 
Appendix 12:  Open space proposed to be provided within the Scheme 
 
Appendix 13:  Site Assembly Strategy - Information for Businesses 
 
Background papers: 
  
None 
 
Other useful documents: 
 

• Report to Cabinet and Council 24th January 2017 “City Centre South Development”  
 

• Report to Cabinet 28th November 2017 and Council 5th December 2017 “City Centre South 
– Early Acquisition of Aviva Long Leasehold Property Interests”  
 

• Report to Planning Committee 22nd April 2021 “City Centre South” 
 
 

 

Page 100



  

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
 
No 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?  
 
No 
 
Will this report go to Council?  
 
No 
 

Page 101



  

Title: City Centre South Land Acquisition and Compulsory Purchase Order 
 
1. Context (or background) 
 
1.1 The Scheme to redevelop the City Centre South (CCS) site (the Scheme) is the 

Council’s key regeneration priority for the city centre. Supported by the Council’s 
planning and regeneration policies, the Scheme will transform this part of the city centre 
through comprehensive redevelopment and improvement.   

 
1.2 Shearer Property Group (SPG) were appointed by the Council in 2017 to take forward 

development proposals for the site. Alongside this, £98.8m of grant funding from the 
West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) was secured by the Council to fund land 
acquisition, enabling works, demolition and other key development costs necessary to 
bring forward the Scheme. Since then, and through a period of unparalleled change and 
disruption on both the high street and the wider economy, the Council and SPG have 
been working together to bring forward proposals for a deliverable, residential led, mixed 
use city centre development scheme. This resulted in Planning Committee resolving to 
grant consent for the Scheme in April 2021.  

 
1.3 The Scheme will deliver a range of transformational benefits for the people of Coventry. 

At least 1,100 new homes will result in sustainable city centre living for our communities 
(as well as taking pressure off the need to develop in other areas). These homes will be 
accompanied by high quality retail, health, workspace and leisure facilities, as well as 
significantly improved public realm. It will create many hundreds of full-time jobs (as well 
as construction related jobs and apprenticeship opportunities for local people). The 
Scheme will also deliver a wide range of benefits but they will only be realised if the 
Scheme is able to be brought forward in a timely and efficient way. Key to this is gaining 
control and ownership of all the property interests in the area of land coloured pink on the 
draft CPO map at Appendix 1 (which is where physical development will occur) as well 
as the creation and acquisition of the necessary “new rights” to enable the Scheme to 
come forward (such as oversailing rights for cranes or where structural interfaces are 
required) in respect of the area of land coloured blue on Appendix 1. The proposed 
parameters of the Scheme are shown on Appendix 2.  

 
1.4 Whilst the Council is the freeholder of virtually all the land where the Scheme will be 

brought forward, a significant part of this freehold ownership is unregistered and there is 
also a strip of land along the north east boundary of the pink land whose ownership is 
unknown.  In addition, there are numerous leasehold and other property interests relating 
to third parties which are used as shops, food and drink establishments, offices and for 
other business and community uses. In terms of businesses and retailers, the Council 
has been working for a number of years to seek to agree with tenants the necessary 
lease agreements that will allow the Council, as landlord, to serve notice on these 
tenants at the appropriate time to end their tenancies. Whilst significant progress has 
been made, given the number of interests within the boundary of a scheme of this size, 
there are a number of interests (c.35) whose occupational lease interest expires after the 
date the Council requires possession of the site (January 2023) or those who have a 
long leasehold interest in properties within the site (c. 18 interests). The draft schedule of 
interests which the Council believes would need to be the subject of a CPO is attached 
at Appendix 5 and this will be confirmed and finalised before the CPO is made. 
Supported by our CPO advisors, Deloitte, the Council is, and will continue to, negotiate 
with these owners and occupiers and seek to acquire their interests by agreement where 
possible, in line with Government Guidance (see paras 1.12 to 1.15 below). A Site 
Assembly Strategy - Information for Businesses – is also in place (see Appendix 13) for 
affected occupiers. This includes, for businesses looking to relocate (either permanently 
or temporarily), commitments that: 

Page 102



  

▪ the Council and partners will keep an updated record of available units and will help 
those affected businesses that wish to relocate to do so as and when possible. 

▪ for businesses interested in relocating to the new centre once complete, there is the 
possibility of relocating to the new City Centre South scheme on market terms at the 
time. The offer of accommodation in the Scheme will be dependent on a variety of 
factors, including the planned retail mix within the development. Other available 
Council properties will also be looked at for relocation needs. 

▪ when relocation back into the new City Centre South scheme is not possible, or 
business owners do not wish to take space in the new scheme, they will be helped 
to relocate to alternative nearby premises. 

 
1.5 The Council will continue to use reasonable efforts to acquire all business and property 

interests by agreement and will use a range of approaches, including early acquisitions, 
options and conditional contracts. In order to assist businesses and traders who are 
required to vacate as a result of the scheme, the Council has instructed local property 
agents Holt Commercial Ltd to maintain a schedule of retail premises available to let in 
the local area. Depending on the circumstances a range of potential agreements are 
being explored with affected occupiers, for example: 

 
▪ a purchase price to enable the business to vacate at an agreed time without 

relocation 
▪ an early acquisition so that the business can relocate immediately to allow a lease 

to be surrendered 
▪ an option to relocate back into the new development in future on market terms 
▪ an arrangement where there is an extended notice period before the property is 

acquired 
▪ an acquisition conditional on confirmation of the CPO and/or other matters. 
 

1.6 The costs associated with gaining control and ownership of the land and property 
interests necessary to deliver the Scheme are currently being met through a capped 
grant from the WMCA. Notwithstanding this, the Development Agreement (DA) between 
the Council and SPG places an obligation on SPG to secure a private sector funding and 
delivery partner for the Scheme who will indemnify or meet all the costs associated with 
land assembly and a CPO (including all compensation costs associated with Rights to 
Light and Highways Orders) to the extent that those costs exceed the relevant WMCA 
grant. This requirement forms part of what is known within the DA as the “Funding 
Security Condition”.  

 
1.7 Since entering into the DA with the Council in March 2019, SPG has been progressing 

the steps to partner with a private sector funder and delivery partner to take forward 
scheme development and to provide this indemnity in relation to the potential costs of the 
CPO and other compensation matters. The DA anticipated that the Council would make 
a CPO only once this Funding Security Condition has been met but allowed for the ability 
for the Council to progress a CPO in advance of the discharge of the Funding Security 
Condition if it chose to do so. Other conditions include the grant of Planning Permission 
(which SPG will need to confirm is satisfactory), SPG having entered into a conditional 
funding agreement with an approved funder, a viability assessment having been 
undertaken and the Council having considered any additional financial requests from the 
developer. 

 
1.8 Over the first half of 2020, SPG advised the Council that feedback received from 

prospective funding partners included concerns regarding the time and cost associated 
with land assembly. This uncertainty was cited as being one of the key reasons why 
investors were reluctant to commit resources when delivery of the Scheme could still be 
a number of years off. A number of initiatives and principles were discussed between 

Page 103



  

SPG and the Council, to help inform an approach to securing a funding partner. This 
included adopting a parameter plan based planning approach, so as to allow flexibility for 
an incoming partner (or partners) to optimise the detailed design in response to their 
specific requirements and prevailing economic conditions. A further key component was 
for the Council to commit to accelerating the land assembly process to provide funding 
partner confidence. This would assist in demonstrating the Council’s commitment and 
proactive approach to facilitating the development. 

 
1.9 On this basis, the Council has advanced the preliminary stages of the CPO in parallel to 

SPG running a competitive process to secure a private sector funding and delivery 
partner. As matters currently stand, three prospective partners have been shortlisted by 
SPG, with a preferred party anticipated to be selected during Q1 2022. In order to 
maintain momentum, it is therefore recommended that the relevant approvals for the 
making of the CPO are sought at this point in the process and the CPO subsequently 
made so as to move this key regeneration project significantly forward.  

 
1.10 With the resolution to grant Planning Consent having been secured, the making of a 

CPO is the key next step as it will support the securing of the private sector funding and 
delivery partner and it will demonstrate the Council’s commitment to the removal of a key 
impediment to the delivery of the Scheme, namely the ability to secure the remaining 
land interests and rights required for the scheme. Making the CPO in advance of SPG 
securing a partner means that the Council would potentially be liable for any associated 
costs beyond the capped WMCA grant. It is important to note that the financial risk to the 
Council is largely mitigated as the costs and compensation associated with land 
assembly and CPO are currently estimated by our advisors Deloitte to be appropriately 
within the budget available (as set out in the Private element of this report). Furthermore, 
any obligation to pay compensation does not generally arise from the making of the 
CPO, rather the implementation of it (i.e. the taking possession of the property after 
service of statutory notices under the CPO), although the Council must be prepared to 
meet these costs. The exception to this is the service of “blight notices”, which can be 
served by certain owners if they meet certain criteria (such as their Rateable Value being 
less than £36,000; having been in occupation for six months; and with over three years 
on the lease outstanding). The estimated potential exposure to Blight Notices has been 
set out by Deloitte and is contained in the Private element of this report (this amount 
would be covered by the WMCA Grant). 

 
1.11 Whilst it is anticipated that a funding partner will be in place (and therefore the Funding 

Security Condition met and the indemnity to the Council in place) by the time the CPO is 
confirmed or earlier, if this is not the case then the Council would have the option to 
subsequently exercise its CPO powers and take on the full liability for all site assembly 
costs and compensation at that point – the Council would intend to effectively take on the 
role of master developer, as expanded upon below. 

 
1.12 Government Guidance 

 
1.13 In promoting a compulsory purchase order, acquiring authorities should have regard to 

government guidance and in particular “Guidance on Compulsory Purchase process and 
the Crichel Down Rules” published by MHCLG in July 2019 (“the Guidance”).  

 
1.14 Paragraph 12 of the Guidance sets out the overarching requirement for all CPOs: that 

there must be a compelling case in the public interest for making the order.  It states that 
the acquiring authority must be sure that the purposes for which a CPO is made justify 
interfering with the human rights of those with an interest in the land affected. Paragraph 
2 of the Guidance makes clear that acquiring authorities will be expected to demonstrate 
that they have taken reasonable steps to acquire the land and new rights included in a 

Page 104



  

CPO by agreement. Whilst the Guidance states that compulsory purchase is intended as 
a last resort to secure the assembly of land needed to implement projects, it also 
acknowledges that valuable time can lost if an acquiring authority waits for negotiations 
to break down before starting the compulsory purchase process. Dependent on when the 
land is required, the Guidance notes that it may often be sensible for local authorities to 
plan a compulsory purchase timetable and initiate formal procedures, in parallel with 
conducting negotiations. 

 
1.15 Section 1 of Tier 2 of the Guidance considers CPOs made under s226 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 and paragraph 106 of that Section identifies that the factors 
that the Secretary of State will take into account in deciding whether to confirm a CPO 
made under this section can be expected to include: 

 
▪ whether the purpose for which the land is being acquired fits in with the adopted 

Local Plan for the area or, where no such up to date Local Plan exists, with the draft 
Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

▪ the extent to which the proposed purpose will contribute to the achievement of the 
promotion or improvement of the economic, social or environmental wellbeing of the 
area. 

 
▪ whether the purpose for which the acquiring authority is proposing to acquire the 

land could be achieved by any other means.  This may include considering the 
appropriateness or any alternative proposals put forward by the owners of the land, 
or any other persons, for its reuse.  It may also involve examining the suitability of 
any alternative locations for the purpose for which the land is being acquired. 

 
▪ the potential financial viability of the scheme for which the land is being acquired.  A 

general indication of funding intentions, and of any commitment from third parties, will 
usually suffice to reassure the Secretary of State that there is a reasonable prospect 
that the scheme will proceed.  The greater the uncertainty about the financial viability 
of the scheme, however, the more compelling the other grounds for undertaking the 
compulsory purchase will need to be.  The timing of any available funding may also 
be important.  For example, a strict time limit on the availability of the necessary 
funding may be an argument put forward by the acquiring authority to justify 
proceeding with the order before finalising the details of the replacement scheme and 
/ or the statutory planning position.   

 
1.16 The draft Statement of Reasons, as attached at Appendix 4, sets out why and how the 

Council believes these factors have been addressed and why the making of the CPO 
should be authorised as summarised in this report. The draft Statement of Reasons set 
out in Appendix 4 should be read in full, alongside the other appendices to this report. 

 
2. Options considered and recommended proposal 
 
2.1 Option 1. Do nothing 

 
2.1.1 The Council could decide to not proceed with the making of the CPO and the associated 

decisions that are the subject of this report. Doing so would mean that the CCS scheme 
would not proceed. This is contrary to the Council’s well-established corporate objectives 
and planning policies for the city and is, therefore, not recommended. As set out earlier, 
the Council has previously taken (in January 2017), the “in principle” decision to exercise 
its CPO powers to bring forward the Scheme. Therefore, in terms of timing, i.e. when to 
proceed to make the CPO, there are two main options, as set out below. 

 

Page 105



  

2.2 Option 2. To wait until the Funding Security Condition is satisfied and make the CPO 
once the relevant indemnity regarding land assembly costs is met 

 
2.2.1 If the Council were to not proceed with the making of the CPO at this point then this 

could create a significant impediment to the delivery of the Scheme. All city centre 
schemes such as CCS are challenging to bring forward and, in the current economic 
climate, funders and development partners want to see as much of the preparatory 
stages prior to development either delivered or de-risked.  The Council’s commercial 
advisors, Deloitte, has advised that having a clear route through to the securing of the 
necessary property interests (via compulsory purchase in the absence of agreement with 
all affected owners) will help provide assurance to a funder/delivery partner that the 
Scheme can come forward in a timely manner and, therefore, taking forward a CPO is a 
key step in being able to secure the necessary partner. This is evidenced by the level of 
interest SPG has received from prospective funding and delivery partners, who are 
aware of the efforts the Council is making to assemble the site. Clearly, whilst the 
Council could try and continue to negotiate to acquire all necessary interests in the 
absence of a CPO, nothing would compel any third party to sell their interest to the 
Council and no certainty that all the necessary land and new rights could be assembled 
in a timely manner.  
 

2.2.2 As noted, the Government Guidance acknowledges that it may often be sensible, given 
the amount of time required to complete the compulsory purchase process, for the 
acquiring authority to plan a CPO timetable as a contingency measure and initiate formal 
procedures.  This will help to make the seriousness of the authority’s intentions clear 
from the outset, which in turn may encourage those whose land is affected to enter more 
readily into meaningful negotiations and prevent any potential “ransom” situations 
arising. This part of the Guidance acknowledges the challenge for acquiring authorities 
that in order to be able to demonstrate a route map to viability a funding partner is 
required but, often, a funding partner will only enter into the scheme once a CPO process 
has been sufficiently progressed.  
 

2.2.3 Clearly, if the Funding Security Condition is met, that would maximise the ability for the 
Scheme to proceed as quickly as possible and this is the preferred position. However, a 
further reason to not wait until the Funding Security Condition is met before making the 
CPO relates to timing. The Council, as landlord to a significant number of tenants within 
the Scheme area, has been working and engaging with these business to try and secure 
the necessary agreements via negotiation that would allow for the vacant possession 
date of January 2023 to be met, in line with the CPO process.  Furthermore, given the 
length of time the regeneration plans for CCS have formed such a critical part of the 
Council’s regeneration plans for the city centre, further delay would create more 
uncertainty in relation to wider business investment in the city, given the importance the 
CCS Scheme has for the city. There would also be no guarantee that a comprehensive 
scheme could come forward in the absence of a CPO. The way the property interests are 
located would not allow for a sufficiently significant development scheme to come 
forward in the absence of the acquisition of all interests to achieve a transformation of 
this part of the city centre. Whilst it might be possible for land to be acquired that could 
enable some small scale development to occur, this would not bring forward the 
transformational change required and would not be as envisaged in the WMCA grant 
agreement which relates to a comprehensive scheme.  
 

2.2.4 In the event that the Funding Security Condition is not met by SPG and any further 
funder/development partner, the Council itself would intend to progress the Scheme as 
its own master developer, procuring sub-development partners as set out below. 
 

Page 106



  

2.2.5 Given the Council’s overall vision and planning, regeneration and growth objectives for 
the city and its economic development and well-being ambitions for its residents, not 
facilitating the Scheme through the making of a CPO at this point in time would run 
contrary to the Council’s objectives for the city centre. For these reasons, this option 2 is 
not recommended.   

 
2.3 Option 3. To agree to the making of a CPO now to support the delivery of the Scheme 

 
2.3.1 Given the advice from our commercial advisors Deloitte that delay in making the CPO is 

likely to make the Scheme less attractive to potential funders, the alignment with the 
relevant Government Guidance and the clarity it will provide to businesses and investors 
in relation to the Council’s commitment to realising positive improvement for the wider 
city centre, it is recommended that the option to authorise the making of the CPO and 
then subsequently make the CPO is agreed. If this option is approved, it will help to 
provide the best possible opportunity for the Scheme to come forward and to help meet 
the Council’s economic development, regeneration and well-being objectives for 
Coventry. The draft Statement of Reasons, included as Appendix 4, sets out the 
rationale and detailed justification for the making of the CPO and should be read in 
conjunction with this report, alongside the other appendices.  

 
2.3.2 The making of the CPO provides the opportunity for the key benefits for Coventry as set 

out in section 2.4 below to be delivered as part of the Scheme: 
 

2.4 Key benefits for the city 
 

2.4.1 Regeneration: The Scheme is at the heart of the city’s regeneration ambitions. CCS will 
transform almost seven hectares of the city centre making it work for the way people 
want to use and enjoy city centres today.  With over a thousand new homes the scheme 
will help to create a new community in the city centre alongside all the benefits that 
brings. Recent investment in the public realm has shown how spaces can be 
transformed with high quality materials, water features and art. These important factors 
will also be at the heart of CCS and we expect lots of new jobs to be created. The 
Scheme will also fit with our wider ambitions for the Friargate area of the city which is 
only five minutes’ walk away.  
 

2.4.2 The Scheme will also play an important role in delivering a key objective for the city, 
namely the provision of a range of housing options which will help to create thriving, 
vibrant and diverse communities. This includes the retention of graduates and the role 
they play in attracting high value businesses. A young talented pool of labour is one of 
the most important considerations for businesses when deciding to relocate. CCS will 
play an important role if Coventry is to achieve its wider economic goals. With a 
significantly improved city centre, Coventry can expect to retain more graduates and 
attract more high value businesses – helping to close the City’s productivity gap. 
 

2.4.3 Financial: It is anticipated that the Scheme will provide significant increases in Council 
Tax revenue and business rates growth, as well as potentially New Homes Bonus, once 
development is completed.  
 

2.4.4 New homes: The Scheme has the potential to provide at least 1100 new homes in the 
city centre. As well as making a positive contribution to local housing supply, the new 
homes built on existing brownfield land will help make the city centre a location of choice 
for new and existing residents of Coventry.   
 
 
 

Page 107



  

2.4.5 Enhancing the city’s reputation and offer: Alongside the Friargate scheme and the 
works to transform the rail station, the making of the CPO and then delivery of the 
Scheme will help to provide market confidence that Coventry should be a destination of 
choice for business investment. 
 

2.4.6 The Scheme will support the diversification of the city centre’s residential, retail, leisure 
and community offer to attract increased footfall throughout the daytime and into the 
evening, supporting the viability of businesses within City Centre South and the wider city 
centre. 
 

2.4.7 Health and well-being: The Scheme will deliver a larger area of public realm of a higher 
quality, providing a significant amount of public open space for residents and visitors to 
socialise, relax and dwell, supporting improved health and wellbeing. There will also be 
significant improvements to the permeability and legibility of this key city centre location 
through enhancing the historically important north-south connectivity along Hertford 
Street and Market Way, as well as creating new east-west connectivity which will 
improve the community’s use of this part of the city. 
 

2.4.8 Environmental: The Scheme will bring underutilised land in a city centre location back 
into productive use, maximising the use of brownfield land in a way which will enhance 
the quality of the built environment to the benefit of existing and new residents in 
Coventry. 
 

2.4.9 The Scheme will also realise large improvements to the quality of the built environment, 
through the removal of poor quality buildings and the replacement of the current public 
realm with new, high quality public spaces as well as an enhanced setting for the Grade 
II listed Coventry Market, making the building more prominent at ground floor level and 
enabling its architectural and communal values to be experienced in a more open 
manner. 

 
2.4.10 The Scheme will also encourage sustainable modes of travel by removing surplus car 

parking capacity in the city centre and there is the potential for biodiversity net gain, 
through the creation of new planting, green and brown roofs at detailed design stage. 

 
2.5 Planning Policy 

 
2.5.1 The Scheme is supported by national, regional and local policy and guidance and a 

resolution to grant Planning Permission was achieved in April 2021. The National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPFF) includes a number of policies which support 
developments of this nature, including:  
▪ Paragraph 60 of the NPPF highlights the importance of significantly boosting the 

supply of homes and the supply of land coming forward accordingly;  
▪ Paragraph 81 states that planning decisions should help create the conditions in 

which businesses can invest, expand and adapt; significant weight should be placed 
on the need to support economic growth and productivity; 

▪ Paragraph 86 states that planning decisions should support the role that town 
centres play at the heart of their communities and take a positive approach to their 
growth and adaptation, including the promotion of their vitality and viability, allowing 
them to diversify in a way that can respond to rapid changes in the retail and leisure 
industries, allowing for a suitable mix of uses, including housing; 

▪ Paragraph 92 requires planning decisions to aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and 
safe places, which promote social interaction, including mixed-use developments. 
Places should be safe and accessible, with clear and legible pedestrian routes and 
high-quality public spaces. 

 

Page 108



  

2.5.2 The report to planning committee in relation to the resolution to grant planning permission 
contains a more detailed summary of the planning considerations of the Scheme. This is 
included in the “Background Papers” section of this report.  

 
2.5.3 The Development Plan for Coventry consists of the Local Plan and City Centre Area 

Action Plan 2017 (CCAAP) which were both adopted in December 2017. These set out 
the development strategy for Coventry city centre and state that the city centre will 
continue to be developed and regenerated to ensure it is a truly world class city centre, 
leading in design, sustainability and culture. The CCAAP promotes the regeneration of 
the southern part of the Primary Shopping Area, which comprises City Centre South. In 
accordance with the Development Plan (particularly Policies D1, R2, CC1, CC11 and 
CC19 regarding redevelopment), the delivery of City Centre South will facilitate the 
regeneration of the city centre, delivering new housing as part of a sustainable mixed-use 
neighbourhood, supporting Coventry’s economic vitality. Whilst the consented Scheme 
that forms the basis of the CPO provides for a greater level of residential development 
than that originally envisaged by the planning policy framework, the proposed mix of uses 
aligns with the realities of contemporary city centre regeneration priorities. 

 
2.6 Delivery and funding 
 
2.6.1 As set out above, in considering whether or not to confirm the CPO, the Secretary of 

State can be expected to consider (amongst other things) the potential financial viability 
of the Scheme being considered and whether there is a reasonable prospect of delivery.  
To date, it has been anticipated that the Scheme would be delivered by SPG and its 
funder / delivery partner in accordance with the DA. The DA places obligations on SPG to 
secure this private sector funding and delivery partner with the expectation that the 
funder would then provide the necessary finance to cover the costs of getting to a start on 
site (what is called an “Unconditional Date” in the DA). These costs will include preparing 
detailed scheme design plans, reserved matters planning applications, the procurement 
of a main contractor to build the Scheme and indemnifying the Council regarding land 
assembly costs above the relevant capped WMCA grant figure. As set out above, SPG’s 
process of selecting a funding and delivery partner, which is capable of meeting these 
obligations, is ongoing.  SPG is, however, making good progress in this regard, with three 
prospective partners having been shortlisted. Information regarding these potential 
partners’ track record; funding resources; and specific scheme proposals, including 
design, programme and financial viability information, has been shared with the Council. 
The information shared to date means that the Council remains confident that this 
process will bring forward a funding and delivery partner who can demonstrate a clear 
route map to deliverability (please see appendix 6 for more information). 

 
2.6.2 It is currently anticipated that a preferred funder and delivery partner will be identified 

during the first quarter of 2022 and further information on the anticipated process is 
contained in the Private element of this report.  

 
2.6.3 If the proposed partner is unacceptable to the Council because such a partner seeks 

additional financial commitments from the Council or they are not able to fund and deliver 
the Scheme required by the terms of the DA then it is possible the DA could be 
terminated. In this event, it remains the Council’s intention to continue to bring forward 
the Scheme. In such circumstances, the Council would effectively assume the role of the 
‘master developer’ of the Scheme and take responsibility for overseeing the completion 
of land assembly, utilising the WMCA grant (subject to the WMCA’s approval) to deliver 
enabling and infrastructure works and then, ultimately, release enabled development 
platforms / plots to third party developers to deliver a scheme that is aligned with the 
existing planning permission. This is an approach that is being used successfully by 
other local authorities, such as Sheffield City Council’s “Heart of the City II” scheme. This 

Page 109



  

scheme is delivering significant mixed-use redevelopment of Sheffield City Centre, with 
the Council having taken responsibility for enabling the site and subsequently delivering 
multiple phases, either directly or with private sector investment.   

 
2.6.4 Further information regarding potential alternative delivery arrangements are set out in 

the Private element of this report.  
 
2.6.5 The principle of a local authority taking responsibility for the early delivery phases of an 

urban centre scheme if required is an increasingly established one. The Council has an 
established track record of delivering major works and developments and overseeing the 
delivery of high-quality public realm works around the city centre.   

 
2.7 Highways Order 

 
2.7.1 There are three areas of publicly maintained adopted highway within the boundary of the 

Scheme and these will need to be stopped up before the Scheme can be fully 
implemented.  These areas are shown at Appendix 8.  Applications to allow these areas 
of highway to be stopped up to facilitate delivery of the Scheme will be made pursuant to 
section 247 of the 1990 Act.  It is intended that any objections to these applications 
would be heard at a conjoined public inquiry with any objections to the making of the 
Order. 

 
2.8 Open Space 
 
2.8.1 Section 19 of the Acquisition of Land Act 1981 defines “open space” as any land laid out 

as a public garden, or used for the purposes of public recreation, or land being a disused 
burial ground”.  It is similarly defined for the purpose of Local Government Act 1972 and 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1972 which are also relevant here.  

 
2.8.2 The land required for the Scheme includes four areas that potentially fall within the 

statutory definition of “open space” as set out below: 
 

 Description Current area Proposed area 

Area 1 Top of Hertford Street 1,518m2 1,537m2 

Area 2 Shelton Square 1,438m2 1721m2 

Area 3 Area near to Beauchamp 
House 

220m2 - 

Area 4 Bull Yard/ Bottom of Hertford 
Street 

1280m2  1285m2 

Total  4456m2 4543m, the title to 
which is part 

registered and part 
unregistered. 

 

2.8.3 The children’s playground by Bull Yard also sits within the planning application boundary 
for the Scheme, however, it will not be redeveloped, will continue in its present use and 
will be retained by the Council.   

2.8.4 All the areas of land listed in the table are understood to be in the freehold ownership of 
the Council. However, the title to some of the land is unregistered, and there is a potential 
possibility that some third-party land interests may exist in parts of the open space land, 
though there is no evidence that is the case. 

Page 110



  

2.8.5 The area of existing open space at the top of Hertford Street (Area 1) is 1,518 square 
metres in area and located to the northern end of the site. The area is currently hard 
landscaped and used for access between Hertford St and Broadgate Square as well as to 
surrounding retail properties. Following implementation of the scheme, this area of open 
space will increase to approximately 1,537 square metres and will be re-paved to provide 
an area of high-quality public realm. 

2.8.6 Shelton Square (Area 2) is mostly enclosed to the south by a two-storey block, which 
wraps around to adjoin the entrance to City Arcade.  The Square serves as a link between 
Bull Yard, City Arcade, Market Way and the eastern entrances of Coventry Market. The 
square is predominantly hard landscaped with some areas of soft landscaping and public 
seating. The existing open space area is 1,438 square metres.  The land is required for 
the scheme for the construction of new blocks C and E.  A new public square is proposed 
to be provided to the west of the existing Shelton Square area and will be approximately 
1,721 square metres. The new space will be an area of high-quality public realm.  The 
open space area near to Beauchamp House (Area 3) is located adjacent to the residential 
car park entrance for the property. The size of the existing area is 220 square metres and 
is currently covered by grass. The area is required in order to create a new servicing route 
into the proposed scheme from the south, linking with the existing junction off Greyfriars 
Road. 

2.8.7 The existing open space at Bull Yard (Area 4) takes the form of a square which currently 
provides an entrance into the southern part of the existing retail core. The eastern side is 
open to the junction of Hertford and New Union Streets.  The square provides pedestrian 
links between Hertford Street, Warwick Row and Shelton Square and provides access to 
surrounding retail units. The area is hard landscaped and its current size being 1,280 
square metres.  The area is required by the scheme to provide space for new improved 
retail and residential space and also to improve the entrance to the southern part of the 
proposed scheme. There will be a new area of high-quality public realm provided within 
this space which will be approximately 1,285 square metres. 

2.8.8 The total area of potential “open space” within the Order Land is 4,456 sqm. The total 
area of land within the Scheme that will be re-provided as open space is 4,543 sqm.  The 
total area of open space to be re-provided within the Scheme therefore exceeds that 
being acquired pursuant to the Order and will be equally advantageous as the land taken. 
The open space to be re-provided is shown on Appendix 12. 

2.8.9 To the extent that there are any interests in the open space land affected by the 
redevelopment which are not already owned by the Council, those interests may be 
included within the CPO and, if so, an application will be made at the same time as the 
submission of the Order for a certificate pursuant to section 19(1)(a) of the 1981 Act. The 
extent of this land is shown on Appendix 10. 

2.8.10 To the extent that interests in the open space land affected by the redevelopment are in 
the ownership of the Council (the extent of which is shown, so far as understood, on the 
plan at Appendix 11), then it is proposed that the Director of Property Services and 
Development and the Director of Law and Governance, following consultation with the 
Chief Operating Officer and the Cabinet Member for Jobs, Regeneration and Climate 
Change be given delegated authority to give notice by advertisement of the Council’s 
intention to appropriate for planning purposes and thereafter dispose of the open space 
land shown on this plan and thereafter to consider any objections received before 
deciding whether or not this land should be appropriated for planning purposes and / or 
disposed of in order to facilitate the Scheme. 

 

Page 111



  

2.9  Statutory Undertaker and Electronic Code Operator Interests 

2.9.1 The statutory undertakers and electronic communications code network operators who 
have operational land and / or  apparatus within the site have been identified and have 
been contacted in relation to the effect of the Scheme and prospective CPO in terms of 
the proposed acquisition of land and/or diversion of statutory undertaker and electronic 
code operator apparatus by agreement. To the extent that agreements are not reached by 
the time the CPO is made, then these statutory undertaker and electronic code operator 
interests will need to be included in the CPO and, if there are objections which cannot be 
resolved, the acquisition of those interests compulsorily certified by the appropriate 
minister. Where necessary in the absence of agreement, approval is sought to exercise 
powers under ss 271 and 272 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 in relation to the 
extinguishment of rights of statutory undertakers and electronic communications code 
network operators. However, it is hoped and anticipated that agreement and appropriate 
protections will be reached in due course.  

2.10 Listed Building Consents 

2.10.1 Alongside the grant of planning permission, Listed Building Consent (ref LB/2020/2857) 
was granted on 24 June 2021 for the removal of the bridge link between the roof top car 
park of the Market and the roof top parking over the existing retail units on Market Way 
together with associated reinstatement works to the roof top car park surface and 
balustrade, the removal of the existing Market basement ramp from Rover Road and 
associated infilling and reinstatement works, works to the retaining wall to the north-east 
of the Market, the removal of the existing pedestrian ramp into the Market off of Rover 
Road, the creation of a new Market basement ramp from Queen Victoria Road and 
associated works to the Market basement.  

2.10.2 Listed Building Consent (ref LB/2020/2860) was also granted on 24 June 2021 for the 
removal and relocation of the Grade II listed William Mitchell Mural from the front 
elevation to a new location to be agreed in writing with the local planning authority in 
consultation with Historic England.   

2.11 Traffic Regulation Orders 

2.11.1 Traffic regulation orders may be required in due course.  The details of any necessary 
traffic regulation orders will be agreed with the local highway authority following reserved 
matters approval has been obtained in relation to access for the Scheme. 

2.12 Private third party rights, interests and restrictive covenants 
 

2.12.1 To the extent any rights to light, or other private rights, interests or restrictions on use of 
land, are interfered with or breached as a consequence of the development of the 
Scheme, appropriate mechanisms for overriding those rights and compensating those 
affected would be available as described below.   

 
2.12.2 Given the complexity of the title to the redevelopment site, which has been assembled by 

the Council over the years from a number of different parties and is surrounded by built 
development, it is possible that there are third party rights and interests which burden the 
site and which could restrict its development for the Scheme.  The types of third party 
rights potentially affected by the proposed redevelopment include rights of access and 
rights of way, potential unknown rights reserved in ancient deeds, rights to air and light 
(including prescriptive rights) and any restrictive covenants which may benefit 
neighbouring land.  Those potential adverse private rights which have been identified are 
listed in Table 2 in the draft Schedule to the CPO (Appendix 5), although the extent to 

Page 112



  

which any individual rights will be affected by the Scheme and / or remain enforceable 
cannot be ascertained at this stage. 

 
2.12.3 As explained below, subject to satisfaction of certain other conditions, private rights may 

be overridden in the case of (a) land which is acquired compulsorily or by agreement for 
the purposes of the Scheme; and (b) land which is already in the Council’s ownership 
which has been appropriated “for planning purposes”.   

 
2.12.4 It is intended that all the land interests with the redevelopment site will either be acquired 

by agreement or compulsorily under planning powers (if not currently owned by the 
Council) or appropriated for planning purposes (if currently in the Council’s ownership).   

 
2.12.5 As explained below, there are special requirements which must be complied with in 

respect of any proposed appropriation or disposal of open space land before any 
decision on this land can be reached. 

 
2.12.6 The following paragraphs 2.13 to 2.16 set out the powers available to the Council for the 

acquisition and appropriation of land for planning purposes together with the 
consequential powers to override existing third party rights and restrictions over such 
land and the availability of compensation to affected parties. 

 
2.13 Power to acquire land for planning purposes 

2.13.1 The expression  “planning purposes” is defined in s246(1) of the T&CPA 1990 as 
including land which has either been acquired under s226 or s227 of the T&CPA 1990, 
or has been appropriated for purposes for which land could be acquired under those 
sections. 

2.13.2 The Council has power to acquire land under s226 (compulsorily) or s227 (by 
agreement): 

▪ if the authority thinks that the acquisition will facilitate the carrying out of 
development, re-development or improvement on or in relation to the land, or 

▪ which is required for a purpose which it is necessary to achieve in the interests of the 
proper planning of an area in which the land is situated. 

2.13.3  Where land is proposed to be acquired to facilitate development, redevelopment or 
improvement in line with the above, the authority must also think that that the 
development etc. is likely to contribute to the promotion or improvement of the 
economic, social and/or environmental well-being of its area. The considerable well-
being benefits of the scheme proceeding are referred to above and set out in further 
detail in the Statement of Reasons. It is clear that the Council has power to acquire land 
by agreement for the scheme under s227 of the T&CPA 1990. 

2.14 Power to appropriate land for planning purposes 

2.14.1 The land in the Council’s ownership within the redevelopment site predominantly 
comprises tired and out-dated buildings that are in use for retail, food and drink and other 
commercial purposes, together will a small number of community uses, car parking and 
public roads and walkways and open space.  It also includes, a ramp connecting the 
grade two listed Coventry Market roof top car park with the Market Way car park and a 
grade two listed mural.  The land shown on Appendix 9 which is proposed for 
appropriation includes all the land in the Council’s ownership which is to be redeveloped 
with the exception of the open space land (which is referred to be below).  It includes the 

Page 113



  

subsoil of the public highway land within the land shown on Appendix 9 only to the extent 
that it is proposed that the highway be stopped up. 

2.14.2 The land proposed for appropriation for planning purposes shown on Appendix 9 was 
acquired by the Council from various parties over a number of years dating back to 1898, 
but with the majority of the land having been acquired by the Council in the 1930s and 
1960s.  As noted, much of the land is unregistered (including that acquired in the 1930s) 
and there are some unknown interests.  So far as can be ascertained, the various 
parcels of land were originally acquired for a range of statutory purposes including 
general land holding powers, street works and redevelopment.  The statutory powers 
under which all the land is currently held cannot be fully identified.  However, none of the 
land is known to be held for housing, school or other purposes to which special or 
additional powers of appropriation would apply.  (As noted, the open space land to which 
special provisions apply is excluded from the land shown on Appendix 9, as are areas of 
land which will continue to form part of the public highway.) 

 
2.14.3 In so far as any of the land shown on the plan at Appendix 9 is still held by the Council 

for planning purposes, the effect of the appropriation decision recommended in this 
report would be to re-affirm the appropriation for planning purposes in respect of the 
current redevelopment proposals.  Practice and case law indicate that there is nothing to 
prevent a local authority “re-appropriating” its land for a different planning purpose.  It is 
considered that the general power of appropriation under s122 LGA 1972 applies to the 
Council land within the redevelopment site shown on Appendix 9. 

 

2.14.4 In relation to the power to appropriate land under s122 of the LGA 1972 there are two 
basic statutory requirements: 

▪ the land is no longer required for the purpose for which it is held immediately before 
the appropriation; and 

▪ the Council would (in principle) have power to acquire land by agreement for the 
"new" purpose. 

2.14.5 In respect of the first of the above requirements, the Council must give specific 
consideration to the question of whether the land proposed for appropriation (as shown in 
Appendix 9) continues to be required for its existing purposes and in doing so, it must 
consider the comparative needs in the public interest for the existing use and the 
proposed new use.  If the Council is satisfied that there is a greater need in the local 
public interest for the scheme as opposed to the current uses of the land that condition 
would be satisfied.   

2.14.6 In respect of the second requirement, as explained above, it is clear that the Council 
would (if it did not already own the land) have power to acquire the land shown in 
Appendix 9 for planning purposes by agreement under s227 of the T&CPA 1990 in order 
to facilitate the Scheme.  Both requirements are considered to be satisfied with respect to 
the Council’s interests in that part of the site shown on the plan at Appendix 9. 

2.14.7 In addition to the specific requirements of section 122, case law indicates that where third 
parties are known to have rights which may be affected by the appropriation, a local 
authority should not use its powers unless it has good reason to believe that the 
interference with their rights is necessary.  The Human Rights implications of the 
proposals are referred to in section 6.4 below. 

 

Page 114



  

2.15 Power to override easements and other rights 

2.15.1 Section 203 of the H&PA 2016 authorises development even if it involves infringing 
certain third-party rights, subject to payment of compensation. The kinds of rights that 
can be overridden under s203 comprise: 

▪ a “relevant right or interest” i.e. “any easement, liberty, privilege, right or advantage 
annexed to land and adversely affecting other land (including any natural right to 
support)”; and  

▪ a restriction as to the user of land arising by virtue of a contract. 

2.15.2 The first category above would include easements and other rights which burden the 
development site and benefit other land.  The second category would include restrictive 
covenants. 

2.15.3 In the case of a site of the size and complexity of that needed for the scheme which has 
been in various ownerships and developed over a number of years it is possible that such 
third party rights may exist, albeit that there may be doubts as to the enforceability of 
certain ancient rights and covenants. 

2.15.4 Certain third-party rights cannot be overridden under s203, in particular “protected rights” 
of statutory undertakers and electronic communication code operators. In addition, rights 
and interests which benefit the Crown and its land, or rights enjoyed by the public, could 
not be overridden under s203. 

2.15.5 The application of section 203 is dependent on satisfaction of certain conditions.  (The 
amendments made to the conditions by the Environment Act 2021 are not relevant for 
present purposes and are not referred to below.) 

2.15.6 The four conditions for the application of s203 as they apply to the Council are, in 
summary: 

2.15.7 Planning permission: there must be planning permission for the building or maintenance 
works and/or the use that causes the interference with or breach of the third-party rights. 

2.15.8 Subject land: the building or maintenance works and/or the use that causes the 
infringement/breach must be undertaken on land that at any time: 

▪ before 13 July 2016 was acquired or has been appropriated by the Council for 
planning purposes (as defined in s246 T&CPA 1990);  

▪ on or after 13 July 2016 has been: 

- appropriated by the Council for planning purposes or 

- acquired by the Council for a purpose for which a power to acquire land 
compulsorily exists. 

2.15.9 Compulsory acquisition: The Council could (in theory) have acquired the land 
compulsorily for the purposes of the building or maintenance work and/or use. The 
explanatory notes to the H&PA 2016 refer to this requirement as involving the need for 
the authority to have an appropriate compulsory purchase enabling power. 

Page 115



  

2.15.10 Purpose of acquisition or appropriation: the purpose of the building or maintenance work 
and/or use must be related to the purpose for which the land was acquired or 
appropriated. 

2.15.11 Provided the four criteria for the application of s203 are met, it is irrelevant who carries 
out the development. 

2.15.12 Consequently, if land needed for the scheme is acquired under planning powers and the 
Council resolves to appropriate the land already in its ownership for planning purposes 
all the conditions for the application of s203 will be satisfied: 

a) planning permission – planning permission for the scheme will be available before 
development is carried out; 

b) subject land – the development would be undertaken on land acquired by the Council 
after 13 July 2016 or appropriated by it for planning purposes; 

c) compulsory purchase enabling power – the Council would, at least in theory, have power 
to acquire land compulsorily for the scheme (under s226 T&CPA 1990); and 

d) purpose of acquisition or appropriation – it is clear that the scheme development is 
related to the purposes for which land for that scheme is proposed to be acquired or 
appropriated as recommended in this report. 

2.16 Compensation for affected third parties 

2.16.1 Where s203 applies, when development is carried out, any person who suffers loss in 
terms of a reduction in the value of their land on account of an infringement of their rights 
would be entitled to claim statutory compensation under s204 of the H&PA 2016 from the 
person who carries out the development.  If the developer does not pay the 
compensation, the Council must do so, but has a statutory right to recover any payment 
from the developer. 

2.16.2 Compensation under s204 is calculated on the same basis as compensation payable 
under s7 and s10 of the Compulsory Purchase Act 1965.  It is generally based on the 
reduction in the value of the claimant’s land (rather than any “ransom value”) and is 
sometimes calculated on a “before and after” assessment of what their land was worth 
before and after the infringement. 

2.16.3 At this stage it is not possible to assess whether any valid claims under s204 will be 
made or the extent of any liability for compensation, but a reasonable allowance has 
been included within the overall budget to cover this potential liability.  

2.17 Appropriation of Open Space Land Held by the Council 

2.17.1 In relation to land identified as potential open space (Appendix 11), the requirements of 
s122(2A) of the LGA 1972 and s233(4) T&CPA 1990 apply.  Those provisions require 
notice to be given of any intended appropriation or disposal of open space land in two 
consecutive weeks of a local newspaper and any objections must be considered before 
any decision is reached.  It is proposed that officers be given delegated authority to 
advertise the Council’s intention to appropriate the open space land it owns within the 
redevelopment site for planning purposes and to dispose of it and to consider any 
objections before deciding whether or not to appropriate and dispose of this land.  

 
 
 

Page 116



  

2.18 Next steps 
 
2.18.1 If Cabinet resolves to make a CPO, it is anticipated that all the necessary preparatory 

work will have been completed and the CPO will be made and submitted to the Secretary 
of State during the first quarter of 2022. If objections are made to the CPO, and these are 
not resolved by agreement, a public inquiry will be held and it is anticipated that this would 
be held later in 2022. During this time, as well as continuing to negotiate with all relevant 
land interests in the Scheme to seek to acquire by negotiation, the Council will continue to 
work with SPG and any potential funding and delivery partner to take forward the 
preferred delivery approach outlined above, whilst also ensuring that the necessary 
groundwork is put in place to enable the alternative delivery approach of the Council 
being master developer if required.  

 
3. Results of consultation undertaken 

 
3.1 Ahead of the Scheme’s Planning Application submission, SPG carried out a public 

consultation exercise between June – July 2020 which focused on understanding the 
community’s and stakeholders’ views on the vision and themes of the proposed scheme. 
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and related restrictions, the consultation was primarily 
digital, with paper copies of information sent where requested. Eight webinars were held 
for stakeholders and local people 

 
3.2 The consultation was promoted in local press via adverts and press releases, through the 

Council and SPG’s websites and social media and through direct messaging to 
stakeholders and local groups.  

 
3.3 A total of 2,700 people visited the consultation webpage and 281 online feedback forms 

were completed with additional feedback received via the Freepost address provided. 
 
3.4 From the feedback received, 62% of people strongly agreed or agreed with the City 

Centre South vision. Respondents were keen to see the indoor market and the post war 
masterplan protected. There was clear support for green and open space and a desire for 
support for cultural and minority groups as part of the plan. 88% of respondents either 
strongly agreed or agreed that they would like to see improved pedestrian links and public 
spaces in this part of the city centre. 66% indicated that they liked the use of materials 
and outline design principles shown in the images provided.  There was also support for 
the community uses. Throughout the feedback there was a clear desire to see something 
different or special added to ensure Coventry has a USP that celebrates its thriving art 
scene and heritage. This feedback has informed the development of the Scheme and will 
continue to inform final detailed designs going forwards. 

 
4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 
4.1 Subject to Cabinet approval and the finalisation of the necessary documentation, it is 

anticipated that the CPO order making will occur in the first quarter of 2022. It is 
anticipated that a CPO Inquiry (if needed) would take place later in 2022 and, if 
confirmed, that vacant possession would occur in early 2023.  

 
5. Comments from Director of Finance and Director of Law and Governance 
 
5.1 Financial implications 
 
5.1.1 Details of the financial implications of this transaction are contained within the private 

element of this report. 
 

Page 117



  

5.2 Legal implications 
 

Legal Power for CPO 
 

5.2.1 The making of a CPO is an executive function by virtue of section 9D of the Local 
Government Act 2000 and the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) 
(England) Regulations 2000. Pursuant to section 9E(2) of the Local Government Act 
2000, the Cabinet may also arrange for the discharge of an executive function by an 
officer of the authority. Furthermore, the making of a CPO must follow the statutory 
process set down in the Acquisition of Land Act 1981 (as amended). 

 
5.2.2 Subject to authorisation by the Secretary of State, Local Authorities have power under 

section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) to acquire 
compulsorily land in their area to facilitate the carrying out of development, re-
development or improvement on or in relation to the land, provided that the authority 
thinks that the development, redevelopment or improvement is likely to contribute to the 
achievement of any one or more of the following objectives: the promotion or 
improvement of the economic well-being of their area; the promotion or improvement of 
the environmental well-being of its area; the promotion or improvement of the social well-
being of its area.   

 
5.2.3 The enabling power in Section 226(1) (a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, 

and in respect of new rights, Section 13 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 is being used in resolving to make a CPO. The City Council as 
Acquiring Authority believes the Scheme will improve the economic, social and 
environmental well-being of the area (see above in this report and Appendix 4 for details). 
Accordingly, the Acquiring Authority believes that there is a compelling case in the public 
interest to make a compulsory purchase order which outweighs the loss of the third-party 
landholdings.  The implications as regards human rights and consideration of the Public 
Sector Equality Duty are addressed under separate headings below. 

 
5.2.4 In considering whether to make a CPO, the rights of the property owners affected have 

been considered and the impact on third-party land required minimised as far as 
reasonably practicable.  

 
5.2.5 Compensation will be payable in accordance with the Compulsory Purchase 

Compensation Code. 
 
5.2.6 In respect of land which is acquired by the Council by agreement for the purposes of the 

Scheme, the Council has power under section 227 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 for equivalent purposes to those referred to above in connection with section 226 of 
the 1990 Act and subject to the same proviso regarding well-being objectives. 

 
5.2.7 Other relevant statutory provisions, including ss 203 and 204 of the Housing and Planning 

Act (authorising certain private third party rights to be overridden) and the powers to 
appropriate land for planning purposes, are referred to in the body of this report.    

 
5.2.8 Officers must ensure that any processing of personal data in connection with the CPO 

complies with the provisions of the Data Protection Act 2018. 
 
5.2.9 All legal documents to be entered into in connection with the subject matter of this report 

will be approved in advance by Legal Services on behalf of the Director of Law and 
Governance. 

 
 

Page 118



  

6. Other implications 
 

 Any other specific implications 
 
6.1 How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)?  
 
6.1.1 The delivery of the proposal outlined in this report will help deliver a range of housing, 

economic development, regeneration and wellbeing objectives that will help to realise the 
Council’s strategic ambitions for a more vibrant and economically prosperous city.  

 
6.2 How is risk being managed? 
 
6.2.1 Due diligence and process: The Council is being supported by an expert professional 

team to support the land assembly and CPO process for CCS. This includes: Land 
Referencing Services (LRS), who are undertaking the necessary land referencing work to 
ensure a fully accurate position regarding property ownership; Deloitte, who are 
undertaking the role of CPO surveyors and are negotiating with key strategic property 
owners to secure their interest through negotiation; and Pinsent Masons, who are 
providing expert legal advice on all aspects of the CPO process.  
 

6.2.2 Land assembly costs: as set out above, if SPG are not able to secure a partner to meet 
the Funding Security Condition in the DA then the Council will be responsible for meeting 
all the costs of land assembly and associated with a CPO. The Council’s advisors, 
Deloitte, estimate that the current costs of securing the necessary property interests can 
be funded by the WMCA grant, with an adequate buffer in place against any unanticipated 
costs. If this budget proves to be insufficient then further funding will be required or the 
Council may need to terminate or amend the CPO process or not exercise the CPO 
powers and vest/take possession of the land interests pursuant to a confirmed CPO.  

 
6.2.3 WMCA assurance: the Council is engaging regularly with the WMCA to ensure they are 

kept updated as to the direction of travel in relation to all elements of this Scheme and to 
ensure that the Council is aligned with the WMCA’s Assurance Framework process. 

 
6.3 What is the impact on the organisation? 
 
6.3.1 The impact to the organisation will be primarily on officers within the Property and 

Development, Finance and Legal Services divisions who will be responsible for 
undertaking the due diligence and negotiations to conclude the necessary legal 
documentation and prepare for a CPO Inquiry.  

6.4 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 

6.4.1 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 requires the Council in the exercise of its functions to 
have due regard to the need to:  

 
▪ eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other form of conduct 

prohibited under the act; and 
▪ advance equality of opportunity and to foster good relations between persons 

who share a relevant protected characteristic (age, disability, gender re-
assignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion and belief, sex, and sexual 
orientation) and persons who do not share it. 

 
6.4.2 Having regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity between persons who share 

relevant protected characteristics and persons who do not share it involves having due 
regard in particular, to the need to:  

Page 119

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


  

 
▪ remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;  
▪ take steps to meet the needs of the persons who share that characteristic that are 

different from the needs of persons who do not share it; and  
▪ encourage persons of the relevant protected characteristic to participate in public 

life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is 
disproportionately low. 

 
6.4.3 An EqIA has been prepared and is attached at Appendix 3 for Members’ consideration, 

to assist them in discharging the public sector equality duty under section 149 (an 
Equalities and Communication Survey was also sent to businesses in the Scheme area 
during Summer 2021).  Points of particular note in relation to specific Protected 
Characteristics are that:  

▪ Age 0-18: Some 16-18 year-olds who work in businesses in the red line area 
maybe impacted by the CPO process but the Scheme will offer new jobs and 
training opportunities, including for those aged 16-18 years.  

▪ Age 19-64: Most of the business occupiers or their staff who may be affected by a 
CPO are within this age range and there is the potential for these individuals to 
be negatively impacted due to business loss or relocation. The EqIA sets out the 
actions to mitigate any potential negative impact. 

▪ Age 65+: The Scheme area currently has a poor-quality environment, restricted 
pedestrian flow and poor signage which has a negative impact on older people. 
The Scheme will include positive accessibility principles to benefit this particular 
age group. 

▪ Disability: The new scheme will have a positive impact on disabled people by 
offering tactile paving at crossing points, sloped pavements for wheelchair and 
mobility scooter accessibility, at grade access and an uncluttered public realm. 

▪ Gender reassignment; Marriage and Civil Partnership; and Religion and Belief: no 
specific impacts on these groups. 

▪ Pregnancy and maternity: a positive impact has been identified due to 
accessibility improvements the Scheme can deliver. 

▪ Race:   None of the businesses contacted via the Equalities and Communication 
Survey indicated that they provide goods or services to a specific background but 
as part of the Survey, we have established those businesses that require 
communication in an additional language. 

▪ Sex: The scheme will open up the area, improve lighting and improve community 
safety.  

▪ Sexual orientation: One of the affected businesses has customers predominantly 
from the LGBTQ+ community. We will work with the business and other 
representatives of this community to ensure that their requirements for a safe 
space to socialise are met.  

6.4.4 The EqIA will be kept under review and updated as the Scheme progresses to assist in all 
future decision making. 

 
 

Page 120



  

6.4.5 Human Rights 

6.4.6 Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits a public authority from acting in a way 
which is incompatible with the rights and fundamental freedoms set out in specified 
provisions of the European Convention on Human Rights ("Convention Rights"). 

6.4.7 Convention Rights likely to be engaged in the process of considering, making, confirming 
and implementing a compulsory purchase order include those under Article 6 (right to a 
fair and public hearing to determine a person's civil rights), Article 1 of the First Protocol 
(right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions) and Article 8 (right to respect for private and 
family life including a person's home – please note that no homes will be acquired through 
the CPO).  In addition, in effect, Article 14 prohibits discrimination, on any grounds, in the 
way public authorities secure enjoyment of the rights protected by the European 
Convention on Human Rights. 

6.4.8 Any interference with a Convention Right must be necessary and proportionate.  
Compulsory purchase and overriding private rights must be justified by sufficiently 
compelling reasons in the public interest and must be a proportionate means of achieving 
the objectives of the CPO. 

6.4.9 As set out in this report, third parties whose rights may be infringed by the CPO or 
extinguished under by s236 Town and Country Planning 1990 or overridden by s203 of 
the Housing and Planning Act 2016 include owners and tenants, including occupational 
tenants, of the CCS site and owners of neighbouring properties with the benefit of rights 
over the site. No residential properties are proposed to be acquired or otherwise affected 
by the redevelopment. 

6.4.10 It is considered that the principles of case law and the CPO Guidance in relation to the 
need to demonstrate a compelling case in the public interest to justify compulsory 
purchase satisfy the requirements of proportionality and fair balance in relation to 
interference with human rights.  For the reasons set out in this report (and in the draft 
Statement of Reasons) it is considered that there is a compelling case for the making and 
confirmation of a CPO to facilitate the Scheme.  

6.5 Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 
 

6.5.1 The overall development will be in accordance with the Council’s planning policies for 
sustainable development. 

 
6.6 Implications for partner organisations? 
 
6.6.1 There are no implications for any partner organisations. 
 

Page 121



  

Report author(s):  
Adam Hunt 
Strategic Lead Property and Development  
 
Service: 
Property Services and Development 
 
Tel and email contact: 
 
Tel: 02476 831812 
Email: Adam.Hunt@coventry.gov.uk   
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person(s). 
 

Contributor/approver 
name 

Title Service Date doc 
sent out 

Date 
response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors:     

Aimee Proctor Programme 
Manager - Finance 

Finance 09/11/21 26/11/21 

Faye Griffiths Engagement 
Manager 

Property and 
Development 

18/11/21 23/11/21 

Rob Back Strategic Lead - 
Planning 

Planning 09/11/21 23/11/21 

Oluremi Aremu  Major Projects Lead 
Lawyer  

Law and 
Governance 

09/11/21 18/11/21 

Michelle Salmon  Governance 
Services Officer 

Law and 
Governance 

26/11/21 02/12/21 

Names of approvers 
for submission:  
(Officers and Members) 

    

Julie Newman  Director of Law and 
Governance  

- 26/11/21 01/12/21 

Colin Knight Director of 
Transportation and 
Highways 

- 11/11/21 11/11/21 

Barry Hastie Chief Operating 
Officer 

- 26/11/21 06/12/21 

Richard Moon Director of Property 
Services and 
Development 

- 26/11/21 29/11/21 

Councillor J O’Boyle  Cabinet Member for 
Jobs, 
Regeneration and 
Climate Change  

-  02/12/21 06/12/21 

 
This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings   
 
 
 
 
 

Page 122

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings


Sheet No. 1 of 2COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVENTRY (CITY CENTRE SOUTH) COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDER 2022
DRAFT CPO MAP

Scale 1:750 at A1

Key:

Where applicable the plot boundaries show the general  boundary of the registered
land, it does not show the exact line of the boundaries. Measurements scaled from
this plan may not match measurements between the same points on the ground.

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance
Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Unauthorised

reproduction infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil
proceedings. Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey.

Licence number: 0100031673

Version No.

PLOTS TO BE ACQUIRED

PERMENANT RIGHTS TO BE ACQUIRED

PERMENANT ACQUISITION AND PERMENANT RIGHTS TO BE 
ACQUIRED

V2.3 - DRAFT

See Inset A and B

All Inset Scale 1:250

(Barracks W
ay, 

Underpass Below
)

(P
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

Pa
ss

ag
ew

ay
, G

ro
un

df
lo

or
)

33

218221

38

220
32

219

38a

84

55

35

37

34

78a

60

39

59

56

58

615739a

58c

1

220a 217

58b 39
56a56b

39b

58a

76

46 64

79

43
72

40 77

47

75

73

54
74

48
52

53 62
5150 6349

41 4544 31 7165
42 9268 102

66
10131

19 103a18 6717 20 1001615

184

1

30

28

31a

98

178177

99
69

116

102a
103

175

109

105

115
104

112

111

182

180

110

113

114

176

106

25

29a

27
26

23

24

21

2

4 3

22
5

6

179

185

8 9 11

3a
116a

12 13 14

182

108

107

119

1

70

7
10

29

139

80

97

123

96

88

88d95

83

89

124

94

91

82
81

90

78

121

128a

120

93

79a

88b

135

138

140

152

122

148

213

209
147a

136

144

127

130

88a

142

141

143

137

132

88e

215

214

216

134
129

125

131

128

85a

133

86

88c

88c

85

145

147

146

151a

150

205
206

208

210

211

148a

204
118 149 153

151154 151b
157

168155 158159
117

156 160
161126

189

166

172

169125

186

163

116

192

194

200

191

190 196 197

162

198

193

187
195

171a

167a

165

164
167

188

171

199

12

5

214

9
7

1315

11

Ramp

Shelter

10
3 t

o 1
37

9

1 to
 24

25 to 46

7

Bank

5

Church

Beauchamp House

Warwick Road

1

15
16

4

19

17

18

Q
U

EEN
 VIC

TO
R

IA R
O

AD

17

Court

20
21

22
23

24
26

25

Shelters

5 to 54

Vicroft

56 5558

TCB

CROFT ROAD

Shelter

Shelter

C
O

R
PO

R
ATIO

N
 STR

EET

3537

SM

41
31

33

29 27 25 23

68
 to

 10
2

El Sub Sta

47 to 67

The Litten TreeThe Litten Tree

PH

The Litten TreeThe Litten Tree

PH
3

4

5

6

9

5

9

3

17
1315

1a

11

1 719

The Arcade
7

21
11

26

8

34

28

101010101012
1416

24

32

1820

30

22

38
36

40

Shelter

Albert Buildings

Coventry Retail Market

El Sub Sta

PC

Roof Car Park

ROVER ROAD

Roof Car Park PC
6

5

3

15

8

13

1

2

19

17Walk

Greyfriars4

21

(a
bo

ve
)

12

M
ar

ke
t C

ha
m

be
rs10

14 Shelton Square

8
6

4 23

412

28

39

16
20

30

24

27

22
14

12

35

M
ar

ke
t W

ay

18

26

1

to

141
133  to  139

149

145
143

151

153
to

161

The
 S

qu
irre

l

(P
H)

38

42 40

1

2

W
ARW

IC
K R

OAD (B
45

44
)

1

9

TCB s

Grey Friars Gate

11

10

Bull Yard

YARD

12

(s ite  o f)

PH

163

Shelters

Place

(Franciscan, founded

Friary

circa AD 1234)

Dresden

Rem a ins o f

LBs Christ Church House

Methodist Central Hall

49

48

51

47 WARWICK LANE

40

44

BARRACKS W
AY

45

42

43

84.1m

46

54
 to

 57

41

58
23

Barracks Car Park

21
19

61

60

38

37

Tunnel

59

39

36

64

62

33
 to

 35

He
rtf

or
d 

Ho
us

e

66

65

(a
bo

ve
) 32

Hert
for

d S
tre

et31

30

El Sub Sta

28

PH

27

25
26

24
23

22

The Wave

G
R

EY
FR

IA
R

S 
LA

N
E

(Swimming Pool)

Cas
se

lde
n

33

Hou
se

G
R

EY
FR

IA
R

S 
LA

N
E

24

Eventide

Homes

Ford's Hospital

Telephone Exchange

Shrub Walk

(A lm shouses, founded  AD  1529)

El Sub

Stas

Multi-storey Car Park

SALT LAN
E

67

68

Bank

Penny Black

House

69

70

University

Coventry
88.1m21

71
a

TCBs

76

75

20
21

72

Car Park

House

Greyfriars

Court

Waters

31

G
R

EY
FR

IA
R

S 
LA

N
E

201

Bank

Bank 16
25

22
Bank

Te
le

ph
on

e 
Ex

ch
an

ge

15

16

LI
TT

LE
 P

AR
K 

ST
R

EE
T

Coventry Magistrates Court

9

PH

7

Shelter

TCB

3

17 1

18

The Council House

PH

PH

C
O

R
PO

R
ATIO

N
 STR

EET

85  to  101

182

3d

14

79.6m

13

2

1
 to

 9
69

House1112

Car Park Place

1 Lidice

TCBs

FLEET STREET(s ite  o f)

1

188

3

Spon Gate

190

St John the

Baptist's Church

3c

3a

75a77

18

75

2 
to

 4
8 

to
 1

6

Sh
er

bo
ur

ne
 A

rc
ad

e

15
13

11
9

7
5

3
1

63 to 73

1918

10
8

36
 to

 5
2

House

Broadgate

6

15

to

41
25

31

4

to 5 to 1113
1

27

329

43

2

49

1

47 45

59 61

51 to 57

39

Upper PrecinctTCBs

Lower Precinct

8

4

Stas

6

Mercia

10

80

10
2a

78
82  to  96

2

10
0

El Sub

68

60  to  64

66

50

56 to 58

52

22

58
56

4

54

54
40 to 44 38

48

M
ar

ke
t W

ay

46

28
8

2

24 12

10

The Precinct

TCBs
El Sub Sta

66

4

Mercia Lodge

17

PC

8
6

13 O
rc

ha
rd

 L
in

k 
(a

bo
ve

)

15

Library

House (above)
32

79

34

Broadgate 25

Cathedral Lanes
Lady Godiva

Shopping Centre

26

Broadgate

30

Bank
24

78

30

29

5

HIGH STREET

15

7 to 11

H
AY

 L
AN

E

10a

14

2

10

Bank
6

3
 to

 6

Bank

(PH)

8

El Sub Sta

7

LB

The Golden Cross
PEPPER LANE

County Hall
(dis)

90.2m

37

Bollards

1
3

5

Retail UnitC
ro

ss
 C

he
ap

in
g

Rising

TR
IN

IT
Y

 LA
N

E

Holy Trinity

Church

Trinity Churchyard

1 to 12

3

Rising Bollards

2
1

Castle Yard

24
22

23

St
 M

ar
y'

s 
H

al
l

El Sub Sta

6

8
PRIORY ROW

7

CU
CK

O
O

 L
AN

E

Posts

Post
9

10

Retail unit

11

10a

Metres

500 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 455

Inset D Underpass Level

See Sheet 2

(P
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

Pa
ss

ag
ew

ay
, G

ro
un

df
lo

or
)

193

190 191a

192

25

31

to

27

29

(Barracks W
ay, 

Underpass Below
)

209

211

210a

148a

BARRACKS W
AY

61

Tunnel

64

62

(P
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

Pa
ss

ag
ew

ay
, G

ro
un

df
lo

or
)

193

190 191

192

25

31

to

27

29

(Barracks W
ay, 

Underpass Below
)

150

209

211

210

148a

BARRACKS W
AY

61

Tunnel

64

62

Inset A Ground Floor Level

Inset C Ground Floor Level

Inset B First Floor Level

See Inset C and D

P
age 123



V1.4

ROVER ROAD

Shelter

Roof Car Park

El Sub Sta

PC
PC

30

28

26
24

22
20

16

14
18

Coventry Retail Market

Roof Car Park

ROVER ROAD

Shelter

Roof Car Park

El Sub Sta

PC
PC

30

28

26
24

22
20

16

14
18

BASEMENT LEVEL

GROUND LEVEL

ROOF TOP LEVEL

All Insets Scale:
 1: 400 @ A1

PERMENANT RIGHTS TO BE ACQUIRED

PERMANENT ACQUISITION

Sheet 2 of 2

Version No.

Where applicable the plot boundaries show the general  boundary of the registered
land, it does not show the exact line of the boundaries. Measurements scaled from
this plan may not match measurements between the same points on the ground.

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance
Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Unauthorised

reproduction infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil
proceedings. Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey.

Licence number: 0100031673

DRAFT

www.land-referencing.co.uk

183

183d183c

183b

183a

3b

104a

105a

105c

105b

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVENTRY (CITY CENTRE SOUTH) COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDER 2022
DRAFT CPO MAP - (COVENTRY RETAIL MARKET)

Metres

500 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 455

Page 124



Boro Const & Ward Bdy

L Twr

B

Memorial

83.8m

87.5m

R
EG

EN
T 

ST
R

EE
T

T

STREET

MEADOW

TREET

CR

84.1m

87.5m

80.2m

84.4m

83.2m

82.9m

90.2m

84.1m

84.4m

86.6m

84.4m

86.9m

79.6m

80.2m

84.7m

HERTFORD ST.

Q
U

EE
N

 V
IC

TO
R

IA
 R

O
AD

M
AR

KE
T 

W
AY

A4035

B4544

GOSFORD STREET

CROFT ROAD

GREYFRIARS ROAD

W
AR

W
IC

K 
RO

W

COVENTRY 
RAIL STATION 
380m

A1

A2

C

E
(PAVILION)

REFORM 
CLUBBEAUCHAMP 

HOUSE

FORMER 
WOOL-

WORTHS
BUILDING

FORMER 
BHS

BUILDINGLOWER 
PRECINCT 
CAR 
PARK

LOWER PRECINCT 
SHOPPING CENTRE UPPER PRECINCT CATHEDRAL

LANES

THE
WAVE

D

B

COVENTRY
MARKET

ROVER ROAD

Application Boundary

Proposed Development Plots

250M20
1 : 2500

100 200
Scale                      @A3

KEY:

N

FOR APPROVAL

17
/0

3/
20

2 1
 1

0:
23

:4
9

REVISION:01

Coventry City Centre South

PROJECT REFERENCE: 764-COS
DRAWING No.: 0450

ISSUE DATE: MAR 2021

SITE CONTEXT PLAN

P
age 125



M
AR

KE
T 

W
AY

B4544

THE WAVE

METHODIST
HALL

HER
TF

ORD S
T.

Q
U

EE
N

 V
IC

TO
R

IA
 R

O
AD

COVENTRY 
MARKET

FORMER 
WOOLWORTHS

BUILDING FORMER 
BHS

BUILDING

BROADGATE 
HOUSE

MAR
KE

T 
W

AY

IKEA

LOWER 
PRECINCT CAR 

PARK

SH
ER

BO
U

R
N

E 
AR

C
AD

E

REFORM 
CLUB

CATHEDRAL 
LANES

BEAUCHAMP 
HOUSE

CROFT ROAD

ROVER ROAD

GREYFRIARS ROAD

W
AR

W
IC

K 
RO

W

BLOCK 
A1

BLOCK 
A2

BLOCK C

BLOCK E
(PAVILION)

DRAWING REPRESENTS ILLUSTRATIVE BUILDING LINE

FOR DEVELOPMENT DEVIATION ZONES REFER TO 
DRAWINGS 764-COS-0402 TO 764-COS-0406

REMOVAL & 
RELOCATION OF 
WILLIAM MITCHELL 
MURAL FROM FRONT 
ELEVATION OF 
FORMER THREE 
TUNS MURAL PUBLIC 
HOUSE BUILDING
REFER TO DRAWING 
764-CCS-0910 

BLOCK
D

BLOCK
B

REMOVAL OF RETAINING WALL 
TO NE OF COVENTRY MARKET
REFER TO DRAWINGS 
764-CCS-0908 & 764-CCS-0909

REMOVAL OF BRIDGE LINK 
BETWEEN COVENTRY 
MARKET ROOFTOP CAR PARK 
& ROOFTOP CAR PARKING 
OVER MARKET WAY
REFER TO DRAWINGS 
764-CCS-0900 & 764-CCS-0901

REMOVAL OF EXISTING RAMP 
INTO COVENTRY MARKET 
BASEMENT
REFER TO DRAWINGS 
764-CCS-0902 & 764-CCS-0903

REMOVAL & REPLACEMENT 
OF PEDESTRIAN RAMP INTO 
COVENTRY MARKET
REFER TO DRAWINGS 
764-CCS-0906 & 764-CCS-0907

REPLACEMENT RAMP INTO 
COVENTRY MARKET BASEMENT
& BASEMENT ALTERATIONS
REFER TO DRAWINGS 
764-CCS-0904 & 764-CCS-0905
& TRANSPORT PLANNING PRACTICE 
DRAWING 31176/AC/054

Application Boundary

Outline Part - All Matters Reserved

Outline Part  - Appearance, Access, Landscaping Reserved - Refer to 
drawings 764-COS-0800 TO 764-COS-0815 For Details

Full Application Part  - Refer to drawings 764-COS-0900 TO 764-COS-0910 
For Details

125M10
1 : 1250

50 100
Scale                      @A3

KEY:

N

FOR APPROVAL

17
/0

3/
20

2 1
 1

0:
24

:0
2

REVISION:01

Coventry City Centre South

PROJECT REFERENCE: 764-COS
DRAWING No.: 0451

ISSUE DATE: MAR 2021

APPLICATION BOUNDARY AREAS

P
age 126



M
AR

KE
T 

W
AY

B4544

THE WAVE

METHODIST
HALL

HER
TF

ORD S
T.

Q
U

EE
N

 V
IC

TO
R

IA
 R

O
AD

COVENTRY 
MARKET

FORMER 
WOOLWORTHS

BUILDING FORMER 
BHS

BUILDING

BROADGATE 
HOUSE

MAR
KE

T 
W

AY

IKEA

LOWER 
PRECINCT CAR 

PARK

SH
ER

BO
U

R
N

E 
AR

C
AD

E

REFORM 
CLUB

CATHEDRAL 
LANES

BEAUCHAMP 
HOUSE

CROFT ROAD

ROVER ROAD

GREYFRIARS ROAD

W
AR

W
IC

K 
RO

W

BLOCK 
A1

BLOCK 
A2

BLOCK C

PAVILION

ACCESS RAMP TO MARKET HALL 
BASEMENT TO BE COMPLETED AS 
PART OF PHASE 1 WORKS WITH 
TEMPORARY GUARDING. REFER 
TO SHEETS 764-COS-904 & 
764-COS-905 FOR DETAILS

DRAWING REPRESENTS ILLUSTRATIVE BUILDING LINE

FOR DEVELOPMENT DEVIATION ZONES REFER TO 
DRAWINGS 764-COS-0402 TO 764-COS-0406

PEDESTRIAN RAMP TO MARKET HALL 
GF TO BE COMPLETED AS PART OF 
PHASE 1 WORKS. REFER TO SHEETS 
764-COS-906 & 764-COS-907 FOR 
DETAILS

BLOCK
D

BLOCK
B

Application Boundary

Proposed Development Plots

Phase 1 Proposed Development Blocks

Phase 1 Public Realm works

Phase 2 Proposed Development Blocks125M10
1 : 1250

50 100
Scale                      @A3FOR INFORMATION

KEY:

N

17
/0

3/
20

2 1
 1

0:
31

:3
2

REVISION:01

Coventry City Centre South

PROJECT REFERENCE: 764-COS
DRAWING No.: 0452

ISSUE DATE: MAR 2021

ILLUSTRATIVE PHASING PLAN

P
age 127



T
his page is intentionally left blank



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA) 

1 

 

 

 

 

EIA Author Name Faye Griffiths 

 Title Engagement Manager 

Date of 
completion 

08/10/2021 

Head of Service Name Adam Hunt 

 Title Strategic Lead - Property and Development 

Cabinet Member Name Cllr Jim O’Boyle 

 Portfolio Jobs, Regeneration and Climate Change 

 

 

 
1.1 What is the area of work for the EIA? 

The EIA is being undertaken to inform decision making regarding the making of a Compulsory 
Purchase Order (CPO) (including the appropriation of land for Planning purposes, applications for 
relevant Highways Orders and the extinguishment of Rights of Way and Rights of Statutory 
Undertakers) by the Council to support the delivery of the Council’s key regeneration project for 
the city, City Centre South (CCS). 

 

A CPO will authorise the Council to acquire the land and create new rights in order to bring forward 
the CCS site for a comprehensive mixed-use development of up to 1300 new homes, new 
commercial premises and leisure facilities and new public spaces. 

EIA 

•Having identified an EIA is required, ensure that the EIA form is completed before any work is started. 

•Any advice or guidance can be obtained by contacting Jaspal Mann (Equalities) or Hannah Watts 
(Health Inequalities) 

•Brief the relevant Head of Service/Elected Member(s) for sign off 
•Have the EIA Form ready for consultation if it is required 

Sign Off •Amend according to consultation feedback and brief decision makers of any changes 

Action 

•Implement project / changes or finalise policy/strategy/contract 

•Monitor equalities impact and mitigations as evidence of duty of care 

 
SECTION 1 – Context & Background 

Page 129



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA) 

2 

 

 

 

 
 

1.2 In summary, what is the background to the planned change? Why is this change 
being considered? 

 
The CCS scheme will transform (through demolition of existing buildings and new development) 
seven hectares of the city centre. The existing site where the CCS scheme will come forward is 
currently home to c.150 existing businesses and property interests. The Council is negotiating with 
these businesses and property owners to acquire their interest by agreement but a CPO is 
considered very likely to be still required in order to ensure all land required for the scheme is 
brought into the Council’s control as well as all new rights that the Council needs in order to see 
the scheme implemented. 

 

The CCS scheme received a resolution to grant outline Planning Consent in April 2021. Once 
further relevant Reserved Matters Planning Consents are obtained and funding secured, the 
scheme will be able to proceed (this is likely to be from 2023 onwards). 

 

1.3 Who has primary responsibility for delivery? 

On the Council side, the Property and Development Service. 

1.4 Who are the main stakeholders? Who will be affected? 

 

21st Century Society 
Access Development Group 
Aviva 
Bus operators 
Businesses and landowners being Compulsory 
Purchased 
City Centre residents 
Coventry and Warwickshire LEP 
Coventry BID 
Coventry Chamber of Commerce 
Coventry Society 
Coventry University 
Disability Equality Action Partnership 
Elected Members 
Federation of Small Businesses 
Local Media 

Local Members of Parliament 
Local People 
Lower Precinct Shopping Centre 
Methodist Hall 
Landlords 
Nearby businesses 
Planning Authority 
Retail Market Traders 
Royal London Asset Management 
Shearer Property Group 
Shopmobility 
Statutory Undertakers 
Student Accommodation 
Transport for West Midlands 
West Midlands Combined Authority 
West Orchards Shopping Centre 

Page 130



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA) 

3 

 

 

 

 

 
 

2.1 In order to assess your area of work for relevance to the Equality Act 2010 and the Public 
Sector Equality Duty, please answer the following questions: 

 
Does this are of work have due regard to the need to: - 

 
(a) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conflict that is prohibited 

by the Equality Act 2010 
 

(b) Advance equality of opportunity between two persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not 

 
(c) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 

those who do not 

 
Yes ( x ) No ( ) 
If No please explain your reasons reason/s below: 

 

 

2.2 Baseline data and information (sources and dates if applicable and relevant to the area of 
work/changes outlined in the EIA only. This data is needed to help decision makers understand 
more clearly the purpose of the EIA, so it needs to be simple and specific to the EIA being 
considered) 

 
 

SECTION 2 – Consideration of Impact 

Cabinet Report – January 2017 
 
The report sought approval to appoint SPG following a formal tender process, accept funding 
from West Midlands Combined Authority and to approve the principle that a Compulsory 
Purchase Order may be required (i.e. first resolution to grant). These recommendations were 
approved with no equalities issues raised. 

 

Public Consultation 26 June – 17 July 2020 
 

Ahead of the scheme’s Outline Planning Application Submission, Shearer Property Regen 
carried out a public consultation exercise which focused on the vision and themes of the proposed 
scheme. Due to the COVID -19 pandemic and related restrictions, the consultation was primarily 
digital, with paper copies of information sent where requested. There were a number of webinars 

Page 131

https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/g11140/Public%20reports%20pack%2024th-Jan-2017%2014.00%20Council.pdf?T=10
https://www.coventrycitycentresouth.co.uk/


EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA) 

4 

 

 

 

 

for stakeholders and local people. A webinar and question and answer session also took place 
for traders who may be affected by the scheme. 

 
There were 282 responses to the consultation survey with 62% of these supporting the vision for 
City Centre South and 88% wanting to see improved pedestrian links and public spaces in the 
city centre. 

 
Responses relating to equalities issues included: 

 

• Maintain walkable scale and navigable layout 

• City Centre South should be accessible for vulnerable groups 

• A desire for increased leisure and recreation activities, with an emphasis on delivering a 
variety of leisure facilities to serve the diverse demographics within the city 

• Housing should support the local population, with a proportion for affordable housing 

• Ensure access for those with mobility issues 

• Culture can bring communities together and keen to see the scheme promote this 

• Would like to see facilities for step-free access in the city centre 

Outline Planning Application – Resolution to Grant Consent April 2021 

Planning Committee resolved to grant planning permission and noted the following equalities 
implications: 

 
The Development Principles Document secures positive accessibility principles, including the 
mandatory principle to mitigate existing steep gradients on Hertford Street. 

 
A condition will be imposed to require the Shopmobility facility in Barracks Car Park to be replaced 
to a suitable location within the city centre prior to the demolition of this building to ensure that 
the Shopmobility service is not disrupted. 

 
The applicant notes that any works to be undertaken to Coventry Market will be phased to ensure 
that there is continuous pedestrian and servicing access into Coventry Market. This and phasing 
of the wider development will also be secured by condition. 

 
The Council’s Property Team are liaising separately with existing businesses within the CCS site 
to ensure that they are fully supported through the transition period. 

 
Equalities and Communication survey – May 2021 

 

An equalities and communication survey was sent to approx. 130 businesses and property 
owners who may be impacted by the City Centre South Scheme. Due to a low response initially, 
this was sent to businesses on two separate occasions. In total, thirteen businesses responded 
and gave us information about their demographics and any specific needs they had regarding 
how we communicate with them. This includes two businesses who require information in a 
second language and seven businesses who require written information in a larger font. Within 

Page 132

https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=147&MId=12441
https://letstalk.coventry.gov.uk/businesscommunication


EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA) 

5 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

2.3 On the basis of evidence, has the potential impact of the area of work been judged to 
be positive (+), neutral (=) or negative (-)  (+&-) Positive and negative impacts for 
each of the protected groups below and in what way? 

 
Please outline any impact on the Council workforce in question 2.8 – not below 

 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Impact 
type 

+, =, - or 
+&- 

Nature of impact 
(A brief description of impact as more detailed mitigation to be 
included in 2.7) 

 
 
 
 
 

Age 0-18 

 
 
 
 
 

+ 

There aren’t any people within this age group who are directly 
impacted by the CPO process. 

 
The City Centre South scheme will offer jobs and training 
opportunities, including for those age 16-18 years. These will include 
construction apprenticeships and employment opportunities in retail 
and leisure. 

 
The scheme will include leisure facilities, for example a cinema, 
cafes and restaurants, giving social opportunities for young people. 

 

Improved green space and places to socialise will give parents and 
carers space for younger children to enjoy. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Age 19-64 

 
 
 
 
 
 

- 

Most of the business occupiers or their staff which may be affected by 
a CPO are within this age range and there is potential for these 
individuals to be negatively impacted due to business loss or 
relocation, depending on their own circumstances. For those 
individuals subject to a CPO we will: 

 

• Communicate clearly and effectively. We have asked all 
potentially affected businesses to complete an equalities and 
communication survey so that we know where alternate 
approaches to communication are needed 

• Work with the business to establish their preferred next steps 
and how we can support them with this 

• Offer business support and relocation where possible 

• Pay legal and surveyor fees 

• Signpost those who need any employment or career support 
to the Council’s “Job Shop” service or DWP services 

the survey, a question was asked regarding whether customers of the business are 
predominantly from a particular group or community, so that we could measure impact on 
customers and not just the businesses affected. Two businesses responded that they are and 
this is included in the information below. 

Page 133



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA) 

6 

 

 

 

 
   

We know there is a need for additional housing in the city as the 
population has and continues to grow, particularly for those aged 19- 
64. New housing provision within the scheme will offer a mix of much 
needed high-quality housing. 

 
In January 2021 there was a 6% unemployment rate for those of 
working age. The CCS scheme will offer over 1,000 new jobs as well 
as 620 new construction jobs. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Age 65+ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
+ 

None of the respondees to the Businesses Equalities and 
Communication survey were within this age range. 

 
The scheme area currently has a poor quality environment, restricted 
pedestrian flow and confusing and poor signage, which has a 
negative impact on older people. The incidences of disability 
including physical mobility and sight impairments increases with age 
and there is a need for walkable, uncluttered and safe public realm 
where hazards are removed. The new scheme will include at grade 
access, meaning older people do not have to struggle with gradients, 
improved and more accessible public realm. Seating styles will cater 
for a range of needs, including some with arms and backrests to 
support this age group. 

 

The scheme will include positive accessibility principles, including the 
mandatory principle to mitigate existing steep gradients on Hertford 
Street. 

 
There will be a courtyard area for rest and relaxation and space for 
community use. The community use space can support opportunities 
to get involved in social activities, which may have positive health 
impacts and reduce loneliness in this group. The availability of 
accessible health facilities will also positively impact this age range. 

 

Access to essential services including chemists may be disrupted 
during construction 

 
 
 

 
Disability 

 
 
 

 
+ 

None of the respondees to the Businesses Equalities and 
Communication survey considered themselves to be disabled. 
However one business responded that their customers were 
predominantly disabled or have mobility issues. Seven respondees 
requested information in large font and this has been arranged. 

 
A condition of approval of the Outline Planning Application requires 
that the Shopmobility facility in Barracks Car Park to be replaced to a 
suitable location within the city centre prior to the demolition of this 
building to ensure that the Shopmobility service is not disrupted. 

Page 134



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA) 

7 

 

 

 

 
  The new scheme will have a positive impact on disabled people by 

offering tactile paving at crossing points, sloped pavements as well 
as stairs for wheelchair and mobility scooter accessibility, at grade 
access and an uncluttered public realm. All aspects of the scheme 
will meet the required accessibility standard and will be legally 
compliant 

 
The courtyard for rest and relaxation and health facilities will also 
benefit this group, as well as the opportunities to be involved in 
community activities and events. 

 
The developer will work with local disability groups as designs 
progress to ensure that the scheme is accessible. 

 

Access to essential services including chemists may be disrupted 
during construction. 

 
 
 
Gender 
reassignment 

 
 

 
= 

There are no specific impacts on this group, however the community 
spaces do offer opportunities for inclusivity events. 

 
One respondent of the Businesses Equalities and Communication 
survey indicated that the the gender they identify with is not the 
same as they were assigned at birth. 

 
One of the businesses affected is considered to be a safe space for 
the trans community. 

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership 

= 
There are no specific impacts on this group 

 
Pregnancy and 
maternity 

 

+ 

The new scheme will have a positive impact on pregnant women in 
terms of better accessibility in the city centre. A new city centre 
health facility could be used by this group and better seating and 
public realm will also be beneficial, whether it’s to rest or to use as a 
space to feed or sit with babies and young children. 

 
 
 

 
Race (Including: 
colour, nationality, 
citizenship ethnic 
or national origins) 

 
 
 
 
 

= 

Respondees of the business Equalities and Communication survey 
describe their ethnic background as: 

 
Asian/Asian British Indian – 4 respondees 
Asian/Asian British other – 1 respondee 
Asian/ Asian British – Chinese – I respondee 
Black/Black British African – 1 respondee 
White English, Welsh, Scottish, Northern Irish, British – 6 
respondees 

 
Of these two respondees indicated that they would like 
correspondence in an alternative to English and this has been 
arranged. 

Page 135



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA) 

8 

 

 

 

 
  None of the businesses indicated that they provide goods or services 

to a specific shared background. 
 
As part of the equalities and communication survey, we have 
established those businesses that require communication in an 
additional language. 

 
 
 
 

Religion and belief 

 
 
 
 

= 

Although very close to the affected area, there is no impact on the 
Central Methodist Hall other than slight potential disruption during 
the work. We will work closely with representatives of the church to 
ensure this is kept to a minimum and doesn’t affect services, 

 
One business who responded to the Equalities and Communication 
Survey indicated that they offer Christian education, training 
and healthcare services. 

 
No specific impact, however, the community spaces may offer 
opportunities for inclusivity events and activities 

 

Sex 

 

+ 

Women often feel vulnerable accessing some parts of the scheme 
area currently. The scheme will open up the area and improve 
community safety. There will be a considered approach to lighting 
which will have a significant impact on orientation, security and visual 
quality. This will impact crime and the fear of crime. 

 
 

 
Sexual orientation 

 
 

 
- 

The community spaces may offer opportunities for inclusivity events 
and activities. 

 
One of the affected businesses has customers predominantly from 
the LGBTQ+ community. We will work with the business and other 
representatives of this community to ensure that their requirements 
for a safe space to socialise are met. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

2.4 Health inequalities (HI) are unjust differences in health and wellbeing between different 
groups of people which arise because of the conditions in which we are born, grow, live, 
work and age. These conditions influence our opportunities for good health, and result in 
stark differences in how long we live and how many years we live in good health. 

 
Many issues can have an impact: income, unemployment, work conditions, education and 
skills, our living situation, individual characteristics and experiences, such as age, gender, 
disability and ethnicity 

Page 136



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA) 

9 

 

 

 

 
 A wide range of services can make a difference to reducing health inequalities. Whether 

you work with children and young people, design roads or infrastructure, support people 
into employment or deal with welfare benefits – policy decisions and strategies can help to 
reduce health inequalities 

 
Please answer the questions below to help identify if the area of work will have any 
impact on health inequalities, positive or negative. 

 
If you need assistance in completing this section please contact: Hannah Watts 
(hannah.watts@coventry.gov.uk) in Public Health for more information. More details 
and worked examples can be found at … 

 

Question Issues to consider  

2.4a What HIs exist 
in relation to your 
work / plan / 
strategy 

• Explore existing data sources on the distribution of health across 
different population groups (examples of where to find data to be 
included in support materials) 

• Consider protected characteristics and different dimensions of HI such 
as socio-economic status or geographical deprivation 

 • Socio economic status and deprivation 

• Vulnerable groups (e.g. homeless and rough sleepers) and 
geographical location 

• Disability and access to services 

2.4b How might 
your work affect HI 
(positively or 
negatively). 

 

How might your 
work address the 
needs of different 
groups that share 
protected 
characteristics 

Consider and answer below: 

• Think about whether outcomes vary across groups and who benefits the 
most and least, for example, the outcome for a woman on a low income 
may be different to the outcome for a woman a high income 

• Consider what the unintended consequences of your work might be 

  

Response: 

• Increased access to affordable housing for those with lower incomes 

• Effects on mental and physical health resulting from new 
employment opportunities, but also potential end of 
business/business relocation 

Page 137

mailto:hannah.watts@coventry.gov.uk


EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA) 

10 

 

 

 

 

 

 
2.5 Next steps - What specific actions will you take to address the equality impacts and 

health inequalities identified above? 

• We distributed an equalities and communications survey to each of the potentially impacted 
businesses. This told us the equalities demographics for each of the businesses and whether 
they had any specific accessibility needs when we communicate with them. We will continue to 
support these requests. 

 
At the appropriate stage of the planning, development or construction process: 

 

• The Council and the developer will consider social value and impact on local supply chain when 
procuring a contractor for construction, development or service. The Council and Developer will 
also consider a clause in the development agreement/contract to monitor for a workforce that is 
made up of a proportion of local people and for a workforce that reflects the ethnic profile of the 
city 

 

• The Council and developer will work with the Disability Equality Action Partnership (DEAP), 
Access Development Group and other disability groups to ensure the scheme is accessible 

 

• The Council and developer will work with the Central Methodist Hall to minimise disruption to 
religious services and other sensitive events. 

 

• The Council and developer will work with representatives of the LGBTQ+ community (and 
relevant existing businesses in the red line area) in to ensure there is sufficient safe space to 
socialise in the city 

 

• The Council and developer will work with Steps for Change to ensure there is sufficient support 
for homeless people and rough sleepers. We will also ensure that the support services are aware 
of demolition timetables so they can support anyone who may be sleeping in affected areas 

• Changes to social capital. Effects are likely to be beneficial but 
dependent on the quality and timing of measures introduced to 
encourage social cohesion and build social capital, particularly for 
older people, younger people and people with disabilities 

• During construction – access to essential services such as banks 
and chemists for older people and people with disabilities 

• Impact of noise disruption during construction for those that live in 
the area, particularly homeworkers 

• Loss of perceived safe spaces for homeless and rough sleepers 
during demolition and construction 

• Steps for Change – support service for homeless people is located 
in the affected area 

Page 138



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA) 

11 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

2.6 How will you monitor and evaluate the effect of this work? 

• We will continue to communicate efficiently and clearly with those businesses impacted and ensure 
any equalities issues are responded to 

 

• We will be advised and respond to feedback from representatives of protected characteristic 
Groups 

 

• The developer will engage with accessibility consultants on the design of the scheme 
 

• The Council and development and construction partners will implement effective equalities 
monitoring so that outcomes proposed can be verified and based on clear equalities evidence 

 
 

2.8 Are there any potential impact(s) of this area of work on Council staff from protected 
groups? Please summarise: 

 

 

 
 

 

• The Council and developer will work with any essential services (banks, chemists, healthcare) 
that may be relocated or closed during demolition/construction to ensure that vulnerable groups 
are aware of changes and know how to access services during demolition/construction 

 

• The Council and developer will work with partner organisations including the Job Shop, Chamber 
of Commerce and the Federation of Small Businesses to offer support for affected businesses. 
This will include opportunities to relocate businesses as well as support for those who no longer 
wish to run a business or whose business is unviable in a new location. Further information is 

available at www.coventry.gov.uk/ccsbusinessinfo 
 

• The Council and developer will offer affected businesses the opportunity to pre-register for 
marketing information about new business space within the development area. 

No 

You should only include the following data if this area of work will potentially have an 
impact on Council staff. This can be obtained from: andy.hyland@coventry.gov.uk 

Page 139

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/ccsbusinessinfo
mailto:andy.hyland@coventry.gov.uk


EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA) 

12 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Headcount: 
 
 

Sex: 
 

Female  

Male  

 
 

Age: 
 

16-24  

25-34  

35-44  

45-54  

55-64  

65+  

 
 

Disability: 
 

Disabled  

Not Disabled  

Prefer not to state  

Unknown  

 
Ethnicity: 

 
White  

BAME  

Prefer not to state  

Unknown  

 
Sexual Orientation: 

 

Heterosexual  

LGBT+  

Prefer not to state  

Unknown  

Page 140



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA) 

13 

 

 

 
 

Religion: 
 

Any other  

Buddhist  

Christian  

Hindu  

Jewish  

Muslim  

No religion  

Sikh  

Prefer not to state  

Unknown  

 
 

2.9 Completion Statement. Put an X in the appropriate box 
 

NOTE: (to be completed after the EIA is completed but, before the area of work 
commences) 

 

Negative impact has been identified for one or more equality groups ☐ 

Both positive and negative impact has been identified for one or more equality groups ☒ 

☐ Positive impact has been identified for one or more equality groups 

☐ No impact has been identified for one or more equality groups 

As the appropriate Head of Service for this area, I confirm that in this EIA the potential 
equality impact is: 

Page 141



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA) 

14 

 

 

 

 

Signed Head of Service: Adam Hunt 
(Strategic Lead – Property and Development) 

 

 
 

Date: 09/11/2021 

If applicable complete information below:  

Name of Lead Elected Member: Cllr O’Boyle 
(Cabinet Member for Jobs, Regeneration and 
Climate Change) 

 

 
 

Date sent to Councillor: 15/11/2021 

Name of Director: Richard Moon 
(Director of Property Services and Development) 
 

 

Date sent to Director: 09/11/2021 

 

Page 142



 

128281665.1\603111 1 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVENTRY 

 

 

THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVENTRY (CITY CENTRE SOUTH) COMPULSORY PURCHASE 

ORDER 2022 

SECTION 226(1)(a) OF THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 

AND 

SECTION 13 THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 AND THE 

ACQUISITION OF LAND ACT 1981 

 

 

 

 

STATEMENT OF REASONS 

OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVENTRY  

FOR MAKING THE COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDER 

  

Page 143



 

128281665.1\603111 2 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1. INTRODUCTION 3 

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE ORDER LAND 3 

3. ENABLING POWERS FOR THE CPO AND RELATED STATUTORY PROVISIONS 11 

4. BACKGROUND 13 

5. DESCRIPTION OF THE SCHEME  19 

6. THE COUNCIL'S PURPOSE AND JUSTIFICATION FOR MAKING THE ORDER 25 

7. THE PLANNING POSITION AND EXTENT TO WHICH THE PURPOSE FOR ACQUISTION 
FITS WITH THE [LOCAL PLAN] PLANNING FRAMEWORK 25 

8. CONTRIBUTION TO WELL-BEING AND OTHER BENEFITS 39 

9. ALTERNATIVES TO COMPULSORY PURCHASE 42 

10. MEANS OF DELIVERY, POTENTIAL VIABILITY AND FUNDING 43 

11. IMPEDIMENTS TO DELIVERY AND WHETHER THE SCHEME HAS A REASONABLE 
PROSPECT OF GOING AHEAD 44 

12. STEPS TAKEN BY THE COUNCIL TO ACQUIRE LAND BY AGREEMENT 44 

13. HUMAN RIGHTS CONSIDERATIONS 47 

14. THE PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY 48 

15. SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS AFFECTING THE ORDER LAND 50 

16. RELATED ORDERS AND CONSENTS 51 

17. VIEWS EXPRESSED BY GOVERNMENT DEPARTMENTS ABOUT THE PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT OF THE ORDER LAND ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFINED. 

18. LEGAL STATUS OF THIS STATEMENT OF REASONS 51 

19. CONTACTS FOR FURTHER INFORMATION AND NEGOTIATION 52 

20. INSPECTION OF THE ORDER, MAP AND OTHER DOUMENTS 52 

21. DOCUMENTS TO BE REFERRED TO OR PUT IN EVIDENCE IN THE EVENT OF AN 
INQUIRY 52 

 

  

Page 144



 

128281665.1\603111 3 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 This document is the non-statutory Statement of Reasons prepared by the Council of the City of 
Coventry (the “Council") to set out the background to and the reasons for making the Council of the 
City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 (“Order"), which has been 
submitted to the Secretary of State for Levelling-Up, Housing and Communities (“Secretary of 
State") for confirmation.  The Council is the acquiring authority for the purpose of the Order.  The 
Order was made by the Council [on XXXXX 2022] pursuant the resolution of Cabinet on [XXXXXXX 
2022]. 

1.2 The Council made the Order pursuant to powers in section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 ("1990 Act") and section 13 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976 ("1976 Act").  These powers are explained later in this Statement of Reasons. 

1.3 The land and new rights included in the Order which are the subject of the proposed acquisition are 
referred to as the "Order Land" and are described in the next section.  The Council is the local 
planning authority and the highway authority for the Order Land. 

1.4 The Order has been made to authorise the acquisition of the land and the creation of the new rights 
to facilitate the delivery of the scheme described in Section 5 below (“Scheme") and which, if 
implemented, will facilitate regeneration of one of the most tired and outdated areas of Coventry city 
centre.  The Scheme has been designed to transform the land with a vibrant mix of uses including 
new homes, a hotel, shops, food and drink establishments, commercial workspace, leisure and 
community uses, new open space, new pedestrian and vehicular access and car parking and will 
further improve the setting of nearby listed buildings. 

1.5 The schedule to the Order ("Schedule") lists the owners, lessees, tenants and occupiers of the Order 
Land.  In addition, it lists all those other parties that have been identified as having a qualifying 
interest in the Order Land as defined by section 12(2) Acquisition of Land Act 1981, including 
neighbouring owners with the benefit of rights or interests over the Order Land.   

1.6 The Council recognises that a compulsory purchase order should only be made if there is a 
compelling case in the public interest (paragraph 12 of the Ministry of Housing Communities and 
Local Government Guidance on Compulsory Purchase Process and the Crichel Down Rules, July 
2020 (“CPO Guidance")) which justifies interfering with the human rights of those with an interest in 
the affected land.  The Council considers that a clear and compelling case in the public interest exists 
for making the Order, as described in the following sections of this Statement of Reasons. 

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE ORDER LAND 

2.1 The extent of the land proposed to be acquired, and over which new rights are proposed, is shown 
on the map which accompanies the Order (“Order Map").  The land proposed to be compulsorily 
acquired pursuant to the Order is shown coloured pink on the Order Map ("Pink Land").  The land 
over which new rights are proposed to be created and acquired is shown coloured blue on the Order 
Map ("Blue Land"). 

2.2 The Order Land is situated in the southern part of the city centre about 600 metres north of Coventry 
mainline railway station.  It forms the main part of the area bordered by Upper Precinct and Broadgate 
to the north, Hertford Street to the east, Warwick Row and Greyfriars Road to the south and Queen 
Victoria Road to the west.  It is mainly pedestrianised.  

2.3 The need for each plot of land, or rights over the land, to facilitate the Scheme has been carefully 
assessed.  As already noted, the Schedule lists the owners, lessees and occupiers of the Order Land 
and those other parties who may have a qualifying interest in the Order Land where known after 
reasonable enquiry.  The Schedule has been based on information gathered through site inspections 
and enquiries, responses to notices issued under section 16 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 and inspection of Land Registry documents.  There has been extensive enquiry 
to identify land interests, but it is recognised that the Order includes a number of interests where it 
has not been possible to identify the current owner. 

Page 145



 

128281665.1\603111 4 

2.4 The conservation areas surrounding the Order Land and the heritage assets around and within the 
Order Land are described in further detail in Sections 2, 4 and 7.  

Land to be acquired – the Pink Land 

2.5 The Pink Land proposed to be compulsorily acquired comprises an area of some 6.36 hectares and 
has been land referenced as comprising [173] plots.   

2.6 The Pink Land forms a substantial part of the city centre's post-war retail core. It encompasses 
Market Way, Shelton Square, the City Arcade, Rover Road, Hertford Street (other than properties on 
its eastern side) and the City Arcade and Barracks Multistorey Car Parks ("MSCP").  The Pink Land 
also includes the ramp from the roof top car park above Market Way which connects to the car park 
of the Grade II listed Coventry Retail Market ("Market"), the basement ramp between the Market and 
Rover Road, associated changes to the basement of the Market, a small number of external facing 
ground floor units of the Market which need to be acquired to enable the scheme to be constructed 
delivered and operate efficiently in terms of servicing and access arrangements, and certain other 
incidental features adjoining the Market building. The vast majority of the above ground extent of the 
Market building itself is not included in the Pink Land and the Market can continue trading throughout 
and after the Scheme works.     

2.7 The Pink Land is dominated by buildings constructed in the 1950s and 1960s during the city's post 
war reconstruction. The ground and first floors of the buildings are mainly in retail use or are vacant.  
There are a number of other town centre uses within the Pink Land including: offices, mainly at upper 
levels of the buildings, some [1,233] car parking spaces, servicing areas, food and drink 
establishments and mixed community uses including social enterprises and the Shop Front Theatre. 

2.8 The Council owns the freehold interest in approximately 99% of the Pink Land.  However, the land 
is subject to a number of leasehold and occupational interests of premises used as shops, food and 
drink establishments, offices and for other business and community uses. The leases of 4 of these 
premises will expire prior to the anticipated date for commencement of development, with 63 leases 
that can be brought to an end by contractual notice prior to the anticipated date for development to 
begin.  However, there are 18 leasehold interests within the Order where the lease will not expire 
prior to the anticipated date for development to begin. The Council has engaged with the current 
owners and occupiers of each of these leasehold interests with a view to seeking to reach a suitable 
form of agreement with them to ensure vacant possession of the interest before commencement of 
development. This engagement and associated negotiations will continue throughout the compulsory 
purchase process. 

2.9 There are two Grade II listed structures within the Pink Land.  The first is the Grade II listed William 
Mitchell Mural at the Former Three Tuns Public House building in Bull Yard which is to be relocated 
as part of the Scheme. The second is the Grade II listed Coventry Market which is affected as 
described above. In addition, there are a number of examples of public art and commemorative 
plaques at various locations within the Pink Land.  These assets are referred to further in Section 7. 

2.10 The Pink Land sits within and forms the major part of the land for which outline planning permission 
for the Scheme was granted by the Council on [XX 2022] pursuant to a hybrid planning application 
reference: OUT/2020/2876 ("2021 Permission"). The redline boundary of the 2021 Permission is 
referred to in this Statement as the "Development Site" or "City Centre South".   

2.11 A plan showing the Pink Land overlaid by the Scheme is provided at Appendix 1 to this Statement 
which demonstrates the need for each plot within the Pink Land to be included within the Order. 

2.12 The progress made by the Council in seeking to acquire the Pink Land by agreement is described in 
Section 12. 

Land over which new rights are to be created and acquired – the Blue Land 

2.13 The Blue Land over which new rights are to be created and acquired pursuant to section 13 of the 
1976 Act ("New Rights") surrounds parts of the Pink Land and is in a number different uses but 
predominantly retail and commercial. One residential building is included in part within the Blue Land.  

Page 146



 

128281665.1\603111 5 

2.14 The Blue land encompasses the Lower Precinct Multi-storey car park, land at Upper Precinct, land 
at Broadgate, land at Hertford Street, land at Warwick Row, land at Market Way, and land at Queen 
Victoria Road as more particularly set out in the table below.   

Plot 
number 

Description of the land Owner 

37 Approximately 5 square metres of land forming 
section of residential building known as 103-107 
Beauchamp House 
 

(i) Richard Thomas Blanchard 

(ii) Derek Edwin Miles 

(iii) David Charles Lathbury 

(iv) David William Jones 

 

175 Approximately 11 square metres of land being 
part of adopted highway between Queen Victoria 
Road and Lower Precinct Car Park 
 

Council 

176 Approximately 319 square metres of land, 
covered walkways and section of adopted 
highway known as Queen Victoria Road 

Council 

177 Approximately 56 square metres of land being 
part of adopted highway between Queen Victoria 
Road and service yards and part of buildings 
known as 91-101 Lower Precinct 

Council 

178 Approximately 94 square metres of land being 
part of adopted highway between Queen Victoria 
Road and service yards and part of buildings 
known as 91-101 Lower Precinct 

Council 

179 Approximately 261 square metres of multi-storey 
car park known as Lower Precinct Car Park 
 

Council 

180 Approximately 1624 square metres of multi-
storey car park known as Lower Precinct Car 
Park 
 

Council & unknown 

182 Approximately 2304 square metres of land being 
service access and loading bays, car parking 
spaces and dustbins, excluding footbridge, 
situated to the north of Coventry Retail Market 
 

Council & unknown 

183, 183a, 
183b, 183d 

Approximately 5039 square metres of land being 
Coventry Retail Market with roof-top car park and 
ramp used as a walkway to Coventry Retail 
Market and roof top car park. 
 

Council 

184 Approximately 1603 square metres of land being 
ground floor commercial premises with office 
building above situated to the west of Market Way 
 

Council 

185 Approximately 135 square metres of land being 
paved public pedestrianised area with benches, 

Council 

Page 147



 

128281665.1\603111 6 

dustbins, trees, street food vendors, phone boxes 
and a post box 
 

186 Approximately 201 square metres of land being 
ground floor commercial premises and 
unoccupied office premises on the first floor, 
situated to the south of Upper Precinct and to the 
west of Market Way  

Council 

187 Approximately 2721 square metres of land being 
ground floor commercial premises known as 43-
47 The Precinct and unoccupied office premises 
on the first floor, situated to the south of Upper 
Precinct and to the west of Market Way 
 

Council 

188 Approximately 227 square metres of land being 
ground floor commercial premises and 
unoccupied office premises on the first floor, 
situated to the south of Upper Precinct 
 

Council 

189 Approximately 211 square metres of land being 
ground floor commercial premises known as 35-
37 The Precinct and unoccupied office premises 
on the first floor, situated to the south of Upper 
Precinct 
 

Council 

190 Approximately 270 square metres of land being 
ground floor commercial premises known as 29 – 
31 The Precinct and unoccupied office premises 
on the first floor, situated to the south of Upper 
Precinct 

Council 

191a Approximately 138 square metres of land being a 
public covered walkway, situated to the south of 
Upper Precinct 
 

Council 

192 Approximately 70 square metres of land being 
unoccupied commercial premises on the first floor 
situated to the south of Upper Precinct 
 

Council & unknown 

193 Approximately 193 square metres of land being 
ground floor commercial premises situated to the 
south of Upper Precinct 
 

Council & unknown 

194 Approximately 184 square metres of land being 
ground floor commercial premises and 
unoccupied office premises on the first floor, 
situated to the south of Upper Precinct 
 

Council & unknown 

195 Approximately 35 square metres of land being 
loading bays situated to the rear of Upper 
Precinct 
 

Council & unknown 

196 Approximately 220 square metres of land being 
ground floor commercial premises known as 17-
19 The Precinct and unoccupied office premises 
on the first floor, situated to the south of Upper 
Precinct 
 

Council & unknown 

Page 148



 

128281665.1\603111 7 

197 Approximately 210 square metres of land being 
ground floor commercial premises known as 13-
15 The Precinct and unoccupied office premises 
on the first floor, situated to the south of Upper 
Precinct 
 

Council & unknown 

198 Approximately 35 square metres of land being 
loading bays situated to the rear of Upper 
Precinct 
 

Council & unknown 

199 Approximately 425 square metres of land being 
ground floor commercial premises and 
unoccupied office premises on the first floor, 
situated to the south of Upper Precinct 
 

Council & unknown 

200 Approximately 1440 square metres of land being 
commercial premises and office building known 
as Broadgate House, situated to the west of 
Broadgate 

Council & unknown 

204 Approximately 117 square metres of land being 
commercial premises known as 69 Hertford 
Street 
 

Yorkshire Building Society 

205 Approximately 90 square metres of land being 
commercial premises known as 68 Hertford 
Street 
 

Paramount Holdings (UK) 
Limited 

206 Approximately 97 square metres of land being 
commercial premises known as 67 Hertford 
Street 
 

(i) Sunil Parekh 
(ii) Pratiksha Parekh 
(iii) Manjulben Vasantlal Parekh 
 

208 Approximately 178 square metres of land being 
commercial premises known as 65 Hertford 
Street 
 

A.D.P Properties Limited 

209 Approximately 622 square metres of land being 
commercial premises known as 64 Hertford 
Street 
 

Warwick Land Limited 

210 Approximately 262 square metres of land being 
ground floor commercial premises known as 62 
Hertford Street to 

Glamis Estates Limited 

211 Approximately 147 square metres of land being 
commercial premises known as 61 Hertford 
Street 
 

Glamis Estates Limited 

217 Approximately 499 square metres of land being 
commercial premises known as 5 Warwick Row 
 

Greenman Homes Limited 
 

Page 149



 

128281665.1\603111 8 

218 Approximately 251 square metres of land being 
commercial premises known as 6 Warwick Row 
 

KHJ Investments Ltd 
 

219 Approximately 248 square metres of land being 
commercial premises known as 7 Warwick Row 
 

Age Concern Coventry 
 

220 Approximately 90 square metres of land being 
residential apartment building known as 
Beauchamp House, situated to the north of 
Greyfriars Road 
 

(i) Richard Thomas Blanchard 

(ii) Derek Edwin Miles 

(iii) Roger Sterndale Greenwood 

(iv) Graham Wallace Page 

(v) Colin Arthur George Enstone 

(vi) Ruth Christine Mohomed 

(vii) Kevin Green 

(viii) David Charles Lathbury 

(ix) David William Jones 

 
 

220a Approximately 28 square metres of land being 
residential apartment building known as 
Beauchamp House, situated to the north of 
Greyfriars Road 
 

(i) Richard Thomas Blanchard 

(ii) Derek Edwin Miles 

(iii) Roger Sterndale Greenwood 

(iv) Graham Wallace Page 

(v) Colin Arthur George Enstone 

(vi) Ruth Christine Mohomed 

(vii) Kevin Green 

(viii) David Charles Lathbury 

(ix) David William Jones 

 

221 Approximately 5 square metres of land being 
residential apartment building known as 
Beauchamp House, situated to the north of 
Greyfriars Road 
 

(i) Council 
(ii) Richard Thomas Blanchard 

(iii) Derek Edwin Miles 

(iv) Roger Sterndale Greenwood 

(v) Graham Wallace Page 

(vi) Colin Arthur George Enstone 

(vii) Ruth Christine Mohomed 

(viii) Kevin Green 

(ix) David Charles Lathbury 

(x) David William Jones 

 

 

2.15 The Council is the freehold owner of a significant proportion of the blue land, with some areas of land 
held under registered titles and other areas unregistered, There are a variety of leasehold interests 
and occupations and other interests of retail and commercial properties.   

2.16 There is one residential building, Beauchamp House, within the blue land.  The rights sought in 
relation to Beauchamp House pertain to crane oversailing and the right to undertake protective 
works, scaffolding and boundary treatment.  The residential occupiers will be able to continue in 
occupation throughout the works. 

2.17 The Blue Land includes eight Grade II listed buildings:  

Plot number Description of listed building 

183 Coventry Retail Market 

Page 150



 

128281665.1\603111 9 

184 The former Woolworth Building, Upper Precinct 

186 and 187 Former British Home Stores Building and Carphone Warehouse 

188 - 199 Upper Precinct, North and South Link Blocks and Piazza  

(Note – the blue land only encompasses part of the buildings included in the listing) 

200 Broadgate House 

217 5 Warwick Row 

218 6 and 7 Warwick Row 

219 Warwick Road United Reformed Church 

 

Nature of rights sought and land affected 

2.18 A summary of New Rights sought is set out below.  Not all rights are required in respect of each plot 
within the Blue Land.  The Schedule provides full details of the rights to be acquired with respect to 
each plot, including:   

2.18.1 to enter and remain on land for general construction, maintenance, repair and renewal 
purposes; 

2.18.2 to erect scaffolding and/or hoardings; 

2.18.3 to swing the jib of a crane loaded or unloaded through the airspace over properties; 

2.18.4 to carry out surveys of buildings and land; 

2.18.5 to enter onto land to make good and carry out protective works; 

2.18.6 to carry out boundary treatment works; 

2.18.7 to modify service media and other utilities; 

2.18.8 to alter and/or remove fire escapes (either on a temporary or permanent basis) and install 
fire escapes and to grant rights for owners and occupiers of land to use fire escapes; 

2.18.9 to carry out accommodation and reconfiguration works to properties where buildings will in 
whole or in part be demolished or accesses reconfigured in order to modify the retained 
properties so that they can be brought back into beneficial use; and 

2.18.10 to provide service access. 

2.19 The extent of rights required, and the works to be undertaken pursuant to such rights, varies between 
properties and the Council will seek to reach agreement with landowners and occupiers.  A broad 
summary of why the rights are needed is set out below: 

2.19.1 to enable access to land adjoining the Scheme site for the purposes of demolition, 
construction and future activities such as maintenance and renewal. Scaffolding will need 
to be placed on such land in some cases. Rights to oversail with cranes a number of 
properties neighbouring the Scheme site are also required; 

2.19.2 to carry out boundary treatment works to certain properties that abut the Scheme. This is 
to ensure that boundary treatments of adjoining land and buildings are well maintained; 

Page 151



 

128281665.1\603111 10 

2.19.3 to carry out works on land outside the Scheme site where existing buildings will be affected 
by the Scheme. This includes situations where existing buildings will in whole or in part be 
demolished and/or accesses or fire escapes and service media will be affected by the 
Scheme. Consequential modification works are required to such property outside of the 
Scheme to enable it to remain in beneficial use. Such works include removal of canopies, 
modification of service media and creation of new (temporary and/or permanent) fire 
escapes, including the right to grant rights over fire escapes to owners and occupiers of 
neighbouring land. Rights to carry our protective works to such affected properties are also 
required and in this context the right to enter land to survey is also required; and 

2.19.4 to carry out works to Coventry Retail Market to demolish the connecting ramp at roof top 
car park level; to carry out modifications to the service access ramp at basement level and 
to have appropriate rights to undertake works of painting, decorating and repair to the 
exterior of the market to ensure these such works can be carried out over the long as well 
as short term. These rights are accompanied by rights to enter and survey, rights of access, 
rights to oversail the market with cranes and rights to erect scaffolding.  

Beauchamp House 

2.20 In respect of Beauchamp House, rights are required to facilitate construction of the Scheme by the 
oversailing of cranes over the property. 

Queen Victoria Road 

2.21 In respect of Queen Victoria Road, rights of access are required to facilitate the construction, 
maintenance, repair and renewal of the scheme. 

Lower Precinct Car Park 

2.22 In respect of Lower Precinct Car Park, rights are required to facilitate the construction, maintenance, 
repair and renewal of the Scheme.  This includes rights for the purposes of access, survey, erection 
of scaffold, carrying out of protective works and making good and the right to alter servicing accesses 
to existing premises. 

Coventry Retail Market 

2.23 In respect of Coventry Retail Market, rights are required to facilitate the construction, maintenance, 
repair and renewal of the Scheme.  These include rights at all levels for the purposes of access, 
survey, erection of scaffold, carrying out of protective works and making good, carrying out of 
painting, decoration and repair to external walls, and oversailing with cranes.  Rights are also 
required to modify service media. 

2.24 At rooftop level, rights are required to demolish the existing ramp to the market from the adjacent 
City Arcade Car Park, which is proposed to be demolished as part of the Scheme, and to make good 
the roof top car park surfacing in that location. 

2.25 At basement level, rights are required to carry out works to tie in with the provision of a new basement 
access ramp to the Coventry Retail Market, and to make consequential modifications to service 
media. 

Upper Precinct 

2.26 In respect of Broadgate House, rights are required to facilitate the construction, maintenance, repair 
and renewal of the Scheme. These include rights on or over the land for the purposes of access, 
erection of scaffold, carrying out protective works and making good, carrying out boundary treatment 
works and oversailing with cranes. Rights are sought to alter vehicular and servicing access 
arrangements (temporarily during the works, and permanently). 

Broadgate House 

Page 152



 

128281665.1\603111 11 

2.27 In respect of Broadgate House, rights are required to facilitate the construction, maintenance, repair 
and renewal of the Scheme. These include rights on or over the land for the purposes of access, 
erection of scaffold, carrying out protective works and making good, carrying out boundary treatment 
works and oversailing with cranes. 

In addition, rights are required to carry out works to modify the property by the removal of an existing 
access into the Barracks Car Park (which is proposed to be demolished as part of the Scheme) to 
Broadgate House.  

Hertford Street 

2.28 In respect of the above properties on Hertford Street, rights are required to facilitate the construction, 
maintenance, repair and renewal of the Scheme. These include rights on or over the land for the 
purposes of access, erection of scaffold, carrying out protective works and making good, carrying 
out boundary treatment works and oversailing with cranes. 

2.29 In addition, in respect of some of the above properties, rights to carry out works to modify properties 
and carry out boundary treatment works to external walls that will be affected by the Scheme where 
the current canopy which stretches between properties on either side of Hertford Street is proposed 
to be removed.  

Warwick Row 

2.30 In respect of the above properties on Warwick Row, rights are required to facilitate the construction, 
maintenance, repair and renewal of the Scheme. These include rights on or over the land for the 
purposes of access, erection of scaffold, carrying out protective works and making good, carrying 
out boundary treatment works and oversailing with cranes. 

2.31 In addition, rights to carry out works to modify properties that will be affected by the Scheme to enable 
the property to continue in beneficial use are also required. This includes rights to alter and install 
fire escapes, modify service media, and in some cases consequential modification works to existing 
buildings. 

Summary 

2.32 In summary, the New Rights are required to facilitate the construction, use and maintenance of the 
Scheme and/or to carry out consequential modification works to properties affected by the Scheme 
and will only be exercised to the extent necessary for such purposes.  The Council is seeking to 
secure such rights by agreement with the owners and occupiers of the land over which the rights are 
required as described in Section 12. 

3. ENABLING POWERS FOR THE CPO AND RELATED STATUTORY PROVISIONS 

CPO Enabling Powers 

3.1 The Council has made the Order pursuant to its powers under section 226(1)(a) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and section 13 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976. 

3.2 Section 226(1)(a) of the 1990 Act enables the compulsory acquisition of land where an acquiring 
authority thinks the acquisition will facilitate the carrying out of development, redevelopment, or 
improvement on or in relation to land and where the acquiring authority thinks the development, 
redevelopment or improvement is likely to contribute to the achievement of the promotion or 
improvement of the economic and/or, social, and/or environmental well-being of the authority's area.  
The Council is satisfied for the reasons set out below that the purpose of the Order falls within the 
powers set out above and that the Order may lawfully be made. 

3.3 The Council is exercising its powers under section 226(1)(a) because it has not been possible to 
acquire by agreement all the interests that are required for the Scheme and it is not certain it will be 

Page 153



 

128281665.1\603111 12 

able to acquire all the remaining land by agreement.  The Council's purpose in seeking to acquire 
the land and using section 226(1)(a) is set out in detail in section 6 below. 

3.4 Section 13 of the 1976 Act enables the Council to purchase rights which are not in existence when 
the Order is made and which are specified in the Order.  The New Rights to be created and acquired 
are reasonably required for the reasons set out above, including to enable entry onto the land for 
construction, maintenance, repairs, carrying out of surveys, modifying service media and other 
utilities and carrying out consequential modifications to properties affected by the Scheme. 

3.5 The CPO Guidance provides guidance to acquiring authorities on the use of compulsory purchase 
powers and sets out the overarching consideration in paragraph 12 that there must be a compelling 
case in the public interest for making a compulsory purchase order.  The Council has taken full 
account of this overarching consideration in making this Order.  The CPO Guidance states that 
compulsory purchase is intended as a last resort to secure the assembly of land needed to implement 
projects.  It makes clear that acquiring authorities will be expected to demonstrate that they have 
taken reasonable steps to acquire the land and new rights included in an Order by agreement.  
However, the CPO Guidance also notes that if an acquiring authority waits for negotiations to break 
down before starting the compulsory purchase process valuable time will be lost.  Dependent on 
when the land is required, the CPO Guidance acknowledges that it may often be sensible for local 
authorities to plan a compulsory purchase timetable and initiate formal procedures, in parallel with 
conducting negotiations (paragraph 2 of the CPO Guidance). 

3.6 In summary, in exercising its powers of compulsory purchase the Council is satisfied that it may 
lawfully do so under the powers set out above and there is a compelling case in the public interest 
for such exercise and that the public interest is sufficiently important to justify the interference with 
private rights. 

Other relevant statutory provisions 

3.7 The Acquisition of Land Act 1981 sets out the process for compulsory acquisition and applies to the 
Order. 

3.8 Section 203 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 ("2016 Act") authorises building works to be 
carried out and use of land even if the works or use would infringe a "relevant right or interest" as 
defined for the purposes of that provision to include, for example, easements and restrictive 
covenants, provided that the conditions for the application of that section are met.  In the present 
case those conditions are that: 

3.8.1 there is planning consent for the work and/or use; 

3.8.2 the land has either been acquired by the Council (whether by agreement or compulsorily), 
or the Council has appropriated the land for planning purposes;  

3.8.3 the Council could acquire the land compulsorily for the works/use (whether or not it in fact 
did so); and 

3.8.4 the work/use relates to the purposes for which the land was acquired or appropriated.   

3.9 The Council is the freeholder of the vast majority of the Site. However, there are a number of third-
party rights and interests which burden the site and would restrict development of the Site for 
planning purposes. Therefore, the Council is intending to appropriate the Council’s land required for 
the scheme for planning purposes. The Council’s freehold interest in the Site will be excluded from 
the CPO but is intended to be appropriated for planning purposes to override such third-party rights 
and interests and allow the Scheme to proceed. ‘Planning purposes’ is defined in section 246(1) of 
the TCPA 1990 as including land which has either been acquired under section 226 or section 227 
of the TCPA 1990, or has been appropriated for purposes for which land could be acquired under 
those sections. The appropriation of Council owned land within the Site and the CPO will effect an 
acquisition of land for planning purposes.  

Page 154



 

128281665.1\603111 13 

3.10 In so far as any of the land within the Site is already held by Council for planning purposes, the effect 
of the appropriation will be to re-affirm the appropriation in light of the current redevelopment 
proposal. 

3.11 In the event the Order is confirmed, and the Scheme proceeds pursuant to planning permission, the 
building works and use will be authorised by section 203 of the 2016 Act.  Any private landowner 
who benefits from a relevant right or interest over the Order Land, such as an easement or restrictive 
covenant, which is interfered with or breached will be entitled to claim statutory compensation 
pursuant to section 204 of the 2016 Act when the redevelopment is carried out.  

3.12 The duties on local planning authorities in relation to conservation areas and listed building consents 
created by section 66 and section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 are addressed in Section 7 below 

3.13 The public sector equality duty created by section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 is addressed in 
Section 14 below. 

4. BACKGROUND  

Coventry city centre as a whole 

4.1 The origins of Coventry are understood to date back to a Saxon village.  By the middle ages Coventry 
had grown to become one of the most important cities in England based on its wool, weaving and 
textile trade.  From the late 18th Century until the mid-1970s, Coventry was known for its booming 
and prosperous industries ranging from sewing machines, clocks and watches to textiles, 
engineering, cycle making and in particular, the motor industry. With industrialisation came a rapid 
increase in population and a need for new housing in the city as well as industrial premises.  Despite 
those developments, as late as the 1920's, Coventry was described as still being the best-preserved 
medieval city in England. But by the 1930's, many of the older roads had been cleared away to 
provide wider streets to accommodate cars.  During the devastation of the city centre in World War 
II, in addition to the loss of lives and historic buildings, in a single night over 4,300 city centre homes 
were destroyed and thousands more were damaged. 

4.2 Today Coventry is the 11th largest city in the UK with the fastest rate of population growth of any UK 
city recorded between 2012 and 2019 at around 1.8% per annum (ONS and Statista).  Although it is 
an important sub-regional centre, the City Centre's retail and leisure offer lags behind that of other 
cities of similar or smaller size. Analysis from the Local Data Company (measuring a range of indices) 
shows that the overall “health” of the City Centre is consistently below the West Midlands and GB 
average over the past seven years and is not on par with comparator locations such as Nottingham, 
Reading and Solihull.  Similarly, the vacancy rates for retail and leisure uses in the City Centre has 
been higher than the West Midlands and GB averages over since 2013 (15.9% in Coventry in 2021 
compared with 15.5% across the West Midlands and 13.8% across Great Britain) (Source: Local 
Data Company 2021). There have been a number of major retailers in the City Centre that have 
closed, including British Homes Stores, Debenhams and IKEA. This performance demonstrates the 
need to improve the quality of Coventry’s retail offer and deliver the Scheme.  

4.3 Coventry's strategic location at the centre of the West Midlands motorway network and railway 
network brings a number of competing centres within easy access, notably Birmingham.  Other 
centres such as Leamington Spa, Solihull, and Stratford-upon-Avon also provide an attractive 
alternative location for shopping and leisure, with a range of speciality and high-quality independent 
retailers. 

4.4 Coventry has a population of some 316,900 with an estimated spending power of £1,200 million per 
annum.  However only a third of this spending is currently drawn to the City Centre.  

4.5 The City Centre as a whole has a relatively low level of homes (indeed there are not any within the 
red line Scheme boundary) and therefore misses out on the vibrancy and spending power of a 
resident population. Cities and places that have experienced recent economic success, such as 
Birmingham, Manchester, Sheffield and Leeds, have all benefited from significant housing growth, 
which is a key enabler for creating a diverse, growing local economy. 

Page 155



 

128281665.1\603111 14 

City Centre South – the Development Site 

4.6 The major post-war redevelopment of City Centre South primarily involved the provision of new retail 
and office units, the Market and public spaces, but no new homes.  The original street pattern was 
swept away and this part of the city became one of the first, if not the first, pedestrianised shopping 
precinct in the United Kingdom. 

4.7 The Development Site sits at the southern part of the City Centre’s Primary Shopping Area 
comprising some 6.36 hectares and is predominantly occupied by 1950’s and 1960’s buildings that 
formed part of Coventry’s post-war reconstruction. 

4.8 To the north the Development Site bounds the Lower Precinct Shopping Centre, the former 
Woolworths building (Grade II listed), the former BHS building (Grade II listed), the south link building 
within Upper Precinct (Grade II listed) and Broadgate House (Grade II listed). This group of adjoining 
listed buildings all form part of Donald Gibson’s post-war redevelopment of Coventry City Centre and 
were listed by Historic England in 2018 (Broadgate House was listed in 2013).  

4.9 The eastern boundary of the Development Site is formed by Hertford Street. Its broad northern 
square links directly into Broadgate Square via pedestrian routes beneath Broadgate House. Historic 
buildings falling within the High Street Conservation Area, including the Grade II listed NatWest Bank 
building adjoin the eastern boundary.  Hertford Street falls towards the south, with changes in level 
accommodated by a series of steps and ramps. Buildings on the eastern side of Hertford Street either 
fall outside the Development Site or are proposed to be treated following removal of the canopy. 
Buildings on the western side of Hertford Street are proposed to be demolished, including the vacant 
6-storey Hertford House office block and Barracks Way multi-storey car park to the rear. 

4.10 Hertford Street leads down to Bull Yard, which is a public square within the Development Site formed 
by two-storey post war development on three sides with the south eastern end open to the junction 
of Hertford Street, New Union Street and Warwick Row. The Litten Tree Public House is a four-storey 
building occupying the corner of Bull Yard and fronting Warwick Row. The Litten Tree adjoins The 
Reform Club (No.5 Warwick Row) which is a Grade II listed building (within a run of historic listed 
buildings on Warwick Row) that falls outside of the Development Site boundary. The western side of 
Bull Yard includes the Grade II Listed William Mitchell mural which forms the concrete façade of 
raised ‘Aztec style’ symbols to the former Three Tuns Public House, which will be removed and 
relocated as part of the Scheme.  

4.11 The western end of Bull Yard also provides a pedestrian route through beneath a six-storey 
commercial/office building into Shelton Square. Market Way is located to the north of Shelton Square 
formed by two-storey commercial buildings with roof top parking.  City Arcade, incorporating Argos, 
is located to the south of Shelton Square and is also formed by two/three-storey buildings with roof 
top parking accessed from Greyfriars Road, which forms the southern extremity of the Development 
Site boundary.  Beauchamp House residential apartments are located outside the Development Site 
to the southeast.  

4.12 The western boundary of the Development Site adjoins Queen Victoria Road and is formed by the 
City Arcade, the Iceland store, a vacant plot adjoining Coventry Market and the Lower Precinct multi-
storey car park, which is proposed to be retained. The Iceland store and vacant plot in this section 
of Queen Victoria Road are within Flood Zone 2/3.  Residential apartments and the former IKEA 
building are located on the opposite side of the road.  

4.13 Set between Iceland and the vacant plot is Rover Road, which has a taxi rank and provides 
pedestrian and vehicular access to the Grade II Listed Coventry Market and its service 
yard/basement ramp. The rotunda design of Coventry Market provides several pedestrian entrances 
into the building, from Rover Road and the service yard and into Sherbourne Arcade/Lower Precinct. 
There are pedestrian links from the service yard beneath buildings back into Shelton Square and 
Market Way. Coventry Market’s roof top car park, one of the features of its design also recognised 
as being one of the first examples of roof-top parking in the country, will remain accessible via the 
Lower Precinct multi-storey car park.  

Page 156



 

128281665.1\603111 15 

4.14 At present there are a mix of commercial uses within the Development Site. As of March 2020, 
existing floorspace (gross internal area) (excluding Coventry Point) was estimated to comprise: 

4.14.1 31,340 square metres of retail floorspace (note that circa. 7,240 sqm of this includes 
Coventry Market ground floor and basement, which is to be retained);  

4.14.2 7,300 square metres of office floorspace; 

4.14.3 160 square metres of storage floorspace; 

4.14.4 4,030 square metres of other uses, including Use Class F.1 Non-Residential Institutions 
including social enterprises and the Shop Front Theatre and Sui Generis floorspace; and, 

4.14.5 1,233 public car parking spaces accommodated in multi-storey car parks including City 
Arcade and Barracks MSCPs. 

4.15 In total there are around 155 commercial units within the Development Site.  The ground floor and 
basement of the Market comprises some 7,240 square metres of retail floor space.  However, while 
the redline boundary of the Planning Application was drawn around the Market, no internal alterations 
are proposed beyond the removal of the bridge link to the rooftop car park on Market Way, the 
removal and replacement of the ramp into the Market basement from Rover Road, works to the 
retaining wall to the north-east of the Market and associated basement configuration works. 

4.16 Today, the general appearance of the existing buildings on the Development Site is tired and 
outdated.  The area suffers from poor permeability and legibility with views through the Site blocked 
by tall buildings (although that situation has improved with the demolition of Coventry Point in 2020 
as an enabling project for the CCS scheme).  It also has poor linkages into the remainder of the City.   

4.17 The existing public realm suffers from a lack of distinctive arrival points to draw people into the area, 
poor linkages between spaces. The Market is situated within a poor quality and untidy urban 
environment, mostly comprising servicing and circulation space to the rear of commercial properties 
at Lower Precinct and Market Way and City Arcade. There is a vacant plot to the south-west of the 
Coventry Market (south of the Lower Precinct MSCP and north of Rover Road) which has been 
derelict for several years and is now overgrown in appearance, following the demolition of the former 
Victoria Buildings. Many of the buildings within the Development Site are also of a generally poor 
design quality, where none have been listed by Historic England.  

4.18 The Council has invested significantly in public realm improvements throughout the City Centre. This 
includes improvements to parts of the northern end of Hertford St (including resin bonded surfacing), 
new surfacing and a playground in a key area adjacent to the Site and opposite The Wave and a 
transformational set of improvements in the Upper Precinct, Market Way and Smithford Way (areas 
adjacent to the Site). 

4.19 A historic area assessment covering the City Centre was undertaken by Historic England to outline 
the heritage significance.1 The Site can be seen to comprise four main character areas, which are 
summarised below.   Photographs of the key areas within the Development Site are provided at 
Appendix 2 to this Statement. 

Hertford Street 

4.20 Hertford Street rises in level from south west to north east. Changes in level within the public realm 
area are accommodated by a series of steps and ramps. A roof structure (canopy) also spans the 
middle section of Hertford Street. 

4.21 Buildings on the western side of Hertford Street are mainly two storey retail-type units, although 
heights generally increase within the northern part of Hertford Street. This includes Hertford House, 

 
1 Historic England, Report Number: 4/2020 
https://research.historicengland.org.uk/Report.aspx?i=16510&ru=%2FResults.aspx%3Fp%3D1%26n%3D10%26t%3Dcoventry%2520cit
y%2520centre%26ns%3D1 

Page 157



 

128281665.1\603111 16 

a five storey vacant office block, which is located on top of units on the western side of Hertford 
Street. 

4.22 At the north eastern end of Hertford Street is Hertford Square, which is enclosed on three sides. 
Broadgate House (Grade II listed) forms the northern termination point of Hertford Street and 
provides a pedestrian link through to the Broadgate area beyond. 

4.23 To the rear of buildings on the western side of Hertford Street is the Barracks Lane MSCP, which is 
surrounded by circulation and servicing space to the rear of surrounding commercial properties. 
Vehicular access to the car park and service area is achieved via the Barracks Way tunnel, which 
runs beneath Hertford Street and connects to Greyfriars Lane to the east. The Shopmobility facility 
in Barracks MSCP is to be replaced to a suitable location within the City Centre prior to the demolition 
of this building, to ensure that the Shopmobility service is not disrupted. 

Bull Yard 

4.24 Bull Yard is a square, which provides an entrance into the southern part of the existing retail core. 
The eastern side is open to the junction of Hertford and New Union Streets. Other sides of Bull Yard 
are formed by two storey blocks of a similar ‘contemporary’ design, where the first floor on all three 
sides of the square also overhangs the ground floor to form a canopy. 

4.25 The western side of Bull Yard includes the Grade II listed William Mitchell mural which forms the 
façade to the former Three Tuns Public House. This designated heritage asset is formed of pre-cast 
concrete and is in an ‘Aztec-style’ with raised symbols. 

4.26 Immediately to the south of Bull Yard is the four storey brick-built building occupied by the Litten Tree 
Public House. Adjacent to the Litten Tree building (outside of the Site) are a number of listed buildings 
along Warwick Row, including Grade II listed 5 Warwick Row (‘the Reform Club’). 

4.27 Bull Yard also contains existing public art; the Thread Through Time Sculpture, the Phoenix 
Sculpture and the Dun Cow Relief. 

Shelton Square and City Arcade 

4.28 The western side of Shelton Square is three storeys in height. The northern side of the Square is 
similarly treated, but with a rooftop car park (part of Barracks Lane MSCP) projecting out over the 
ground and first floor retail frontage, forming a canopy for this retail frontage. The eastern side of the 
Square differs in appearance, comprising a ground floor and first floor retail frontage, with a further 
four storeys of office space above. The first floor retail frontage is accessed via a walkway which is 
accessed by stairs from ground floor level. 

4.29 The Square is mostly enclosed to the south by a two storey block, which wraps around to adjoin the 
entrance to City Arcade. 

4.30 City Arcade comprises an arcade of one and two storey retail units, which is mostly enclosed by a 
vaulted double-height ceiling, on top of which the City Arcade MSCP rooftop car parking is located. 
Pedestrian access to the City Arcade MSCP can be achieved by stairs in the main glass atrium at 
the Sheldon Square end of City Arcade. City Arcade opens out onto Queen Victoria Road. To the 
north of this entrance, there is further retail frontage onto Queen Victoria Road in the Albert Buildings 
(currently occupied by Iceland Foods). 

Coventry Market and its Surroundings 

4.31 Coventry Market (‘the Market’) was designed as a rotunda to maximise the circulation within the 
building and to enable several entrances to be provided. Entrances include a ramped access to the 
south-west, which leads onto Rover Road and Queen Victoria Road, accessed onto the service yard 
south of the Market, and access to the north-east which provide pedestrian access from Market Way. 

4.32 The Market is Grade II listed and recognised as being important due to its level of originality and 
completeness, whilst also being one of the few remaining post-war markets in the country to survive 

Page 158



 

128281665.1\603111 17 

relatively unaltered. The roof-top car park, one of the features of its design, is also recognised within 
the Listing Description as being one of the first examples of roof-top parking in the country. 

4.33 Access to the rooftop car park is obtained off Corporation Street as part of the Lower Precinct MSCP 
to the north west of the market building (this access will not be affected by the Development and 
hence, the rooftop car park over the Market will be able to remain in operational use). 

4.34 There is also an existing bridge linking the rooftop car parking on top of the Market to rooftop car 
parking located on top of existing units on the western side of Market Way. 

4.35 The Market is situated within a poor quality and untidy urban environment, mostly comprising 
servicing and circulation space to the rear of commercial properties at Lower Precinct and Market 
Way and City Arcade. There is a vacant plot to the south-east of the Coventry Market (south of the 
Lower Precinct MSCP and north of Rover Road) which has been derelict for many years and is now 
overgrown in appearance, following the demolition of the former Victoria Buildings. 

4.36 Vehicular access to the Market basement, which is only used for servicing, is obtained via a ramp 
located within the service area to the south of the Market, which is accessed via Rover Road, which 
connects to Queen Victoria Road. 

The Development Site 

4.37 As at March 2020, the vacancy rate on the Development Site was estimated to be around 26%.  That 
proportion may well increase with the continuing structural changes in the retail market and the 
impact of Covid 19. Retail vacancy rates across the city centre are monitored by the Council for the 
via a visual inspection of a defined set of 372 shop units in the prime retail area of the city centre. 
There are currently 49 permanently vacant units. During 2020 there were varying numbers of units 
closed on a temporary basis (23 in Q2 and 5 in Q3) as a result of Covid 19 restrictions. The 10 year 
average number of vacant units is 46.95. The vacancy number is thus currently above average, with 
the vacancy rate is still expected to remain high even where the general market improves post Covid 
19 disruption. 

4.38 As noted, the area is pedestrianised, with vehicular access to car parks and for servicing.  The land 
is well served by public transport: Coventry mainline station lies some 600 metres to the south and 
there are bus stops nearby on Queen Victoria Road and Warwick Road.  The Development Site also 
has good access to the strategic road network via Junctions 7 and 9 on the A4053 ring road. 

4.39 Levels within the Development Site generally fall by around 7 metres from the north east corner of 
the Site at the top of Hertford Street in a south westerly direction towards the junction of Queen 
Victoria Road and Greyfriars Road. 

Wider proposals for the regeneration of Coventry City Centre 

4.40 Since at least 2008 the Council has been planning the transformation of the Coventry city centre.  In 
November 2009 the Council published a City Centre Area Action Plan for public consultation, but the 
plan was not progressed due to changes in national planning policy at that time.  Building on this 
initial work, the Council prepared an updated City Centre Area Action Plan 2011 – 2031 ("CCCAAP") 
which was subject to public consultation and independent examination and adopted by the Council 
on 6 December 2017 at the same time as the Coventry Local Plan 2011-2031.   

4.41 The CCCAAP identifies key areas for regeneration, important heritage assets that must be preserved 
and areas of opportunity for a range of uses including employment, housing, culture, tourism and 
leisure.  The CCCAAP provides a framework for the transformation of the city centre over a 15 year 
period, whilst ensuring the appropriate level of new residential, office and retail floor space is 
delivered. CCCAAP Policy CC19 specifically identifies Primary Shopping Area – South (i.e. City 
Centre South) for comprehensive redevelopment. The aim is to enhance the vitality and viability of 
the city as whole.  The redevelopment of City Centre South together with the Friargate Scheme 
described below are seen as a flagship developments which will act as catalysts for further high 
quality development in the city. Although some of the retail assumptions must be considered in the 

Page 159



 

128281665.1\603111 18 

light of events even since its adoption, it provides a helpful policy framework for the city centre going 
forward.   

4.42 Key schemes supporting the regeneration of Coventry city centre include: 

4.43 Friargate: the Friargate scheme, adjacent to Coventry railway station and consented in 2011, will 
deliver over 3 million square feet of mixed use space across 15 hectares of brownfield land over a 
twenty year programme of development, including up to 14 new office buildings, homes, two new 
hotels, leisure facilities, convenience retail, restaurants and bars and high quality public realm linking 
together the development plots with the rail station and the city centre. To date, the scheme has 
delivered transformational infrastructure to “deck” across the ring road and provide a simple, 
landscaped route between the city centre, Friargate and the railway station and the completion of 
One Friargate in 2017 which has provided c.120,000 sqft of high quality commercial space occupied 
by public sector bodies. The next commercial office building, Two Friargate, providing 134,000 sqft 
of grade A office space, started on site in November 2020 and will be completed in Autumn 2022. 
The Council has an Agreement for Lease in place with a developer to realise the delivery of a new 
high quality 100 bedroom hotel adjacent to One Friargate, which is due to be completed in 2023. 

4.44 Coventry Station Masterplan: the station is being transformed through a £82m investment to create 
a new station building, bus interchange and multi-storey car park befitting the fastest growing station 
outside of London (source) and providing a fitting arrival point for visitors to Coventry. The works are 
due to complete in late 2021.  

4.45 Broadgate and Cathedral Lanes: following the Council’s transformation of a busy road thoroughfare 
and bus interchange into the city’s key public square, further investment followed by SPG to 
transform Cathedral Lanes into the food and leisure destination for Coventry in 2015. Further to that, 
the Council has invested in a key scheme to demolish the old Nationwide building to bring back the 
historic route into Broadgate Square.  

4.46 Upper Precinct: The Council, working with its partners SPG and JP Morgan, has invested over £10m 
in transforming the main retail street in the city centre, Upper Precinct, into a genuine heart of the 
city. This has included high quality landscaping and lighting improvements, the demolition of the 
Ernest Jones store to restore legibility and permeability into Broadgate Square and new physical 
development works to restore this area to its previous standing.  

4.47 The Wave is an indoor water park, with a 600 person capacity, situated on New Union Street in 
Coventry City Centre. The water park currently holds the record for the largest wave pool in the UK, 
at a capacity of 20 million litres. The park also contains a lazy river, a splash zone and six slides of 
varying intensity. In addition, there are state-of-the-art fitness facilities, including a 25m pool, squash 
courts, and the Mana Spa - which includes treatment rooms and heat experiences. The facilities also 
include a Bistro with alfresco dining area The water park at The Wave opened on 21 October 2019, 
while the gym and the spa opened in July 2019. The building cost £36.7 million to build The Wave 
has won an award from the World Waterpark Association. 

4.48 Belgrade Plaza: is a key mixed use scheme in Coventry. The development generated close to 200 
new permanent service sector jobs in the bars, restaurants, hotels and car park as well as 500 
construction jobs during the building period. The first phase of development involved the creation of 
a 1091 space car park, a 119-bed Premier Inn hotel, three high street restaurants, JD Gym complex 
and 64 residential apartments. The development includes a 600 room, 20 storey student scheme 
which will include 6,000 sq. ft of ground floor leisure use and 40 apartments. 

4.49 Coventry Telegraph: Opened 17th May 2021, in the historic former premises of the Coventry Evening 
Telegraph newspaper, the all-new Telegraph Hotel has 88 air-conditioned bedrooms including 
penthouse suites, an all-day restaurant, large, flexible events space and a rooftop bar overlooking 
Belgrade Square.– it comprises a range of bedrooms and suites to suit couples, families and groups. 
6 Freedom bedrooms with enhanced accessibility. 24-hour room service ‘Forme & Chase’ all-day 
dining and bar in a glazed courtyard ‘Generators’ – seasonal rooftop bar overlooking ‘Belgrade 
Square Editors’ – events suite with capacity for 12 to160 delegates or guests, with a range of spaces, 
lounge area and bar. It is Coventry's first boutique hotel. The hotel invokes the famed mid-century 
architecture of the city, and reflects the building's former life as a newspaper and print works. 

Page 160



 

128281665.1\603111 19 

4.50 Co-op: Located on Corporation Street in Coventry City Centre, the 1950’s Co-Operative department 
store building was sold by Mid Counties Co-Operative in 2015 and has been transformed into a 
mixed-use destination development to include a collection of high-specification apartments with a 
private internal resident’s park and members’ lounge. The ground floor has attracted a range of 
independent restaurant operators including Café Morso, Rodizio Rico, Franzos and Heavenly 
Desserts. 

4.51 Collections Centre: following Ikea’s closure in March 2020, rather than leaving over 500,000 sqft of 
retail property to remain vacant adjacent to the CCS scheme, the Council has purchased the Ikea 
building and site and is working with a range of partners to create a Collections Centre for nationally 
significant arts, historical and artefact collections.  This will bring new life and focus to this key part 
of the city and ensure a sustainable use for this key city centre asset.    

5. DESCRIPTION OF THE SCHEME  

5.1 The principle of comprehensive mixed-use development of the Development Site was established 
by the outline planning permission granted by the Council on 31 May 2012 in respect of application 
reference OUT/2012/0575 (the 2012 Permission). That permission and the changes in the retail 
market since it was granted are referred to later in this Statement of Reasons. 

5.2 A number of changes have already taken place to transform Coventry’s public spaces. This includes 
completing the demolition of Coventry Point.  

5.3 A new planning permission for the Scheme was resolved to be granted by the Council in 2021, 
subject to the completion of a s106 Agreement. The S106 Agreement was completed on [XX] and 
planning permission formally issued on that date (the 2021 Permission). The application for the 
2021 Permission was a hybrid application in three parts. The first part sought full planning permission 
for works affecting listed structures, specifically the Market and the relocation of the mural in Bull 
Yard. Separate listed building consent applications for these works have also been granted 
(LB/2020/2857 and LB/2020/2860). The second and third element sought outline permission for the 
remaining elements of the Scheme as further described below.   

5.4 Full permission and listed building consent relates to the following works: 

"removal of bridge link between Coventry Market roof top car park and roof top parking over existing 
retail units on Market Way and associated reinstatement works to roof top car park surface and 
balustrade, removal of existing Coventry Market basement ramp from Rover Road and associated 
infilling and reinstatement works, works to retaining wall to north-east of Coventry Market, removal 
of existing pedestrian ramp into Coventry Market off Rover Road, creation of new Coventry Market 
basement ramp from Queen Victoria Road and associated works to Coventry Market basement, and 
removal and relocation of William Mitchell mural from front elevation of the former Three Tuns Public 
House building in Bull Yard".   

5.5 The areas of land subject to full permission are shown outlined in solid red on the plan which appears 
below. 

5.6 The two outline elements of the 2021 Permission relate to demolition of all the buildings on the 
Development Site and redevelopment of the land for: 

"Mixed use redevelopment comprising the provision of up to 1,300 residential units (Class C3), up to 
150 hotel rooms (Class C1), up to 37,500 sqm of mixed-use non-residential floorspace including 
Class E Commercial, Business and Service uses, Class F.1 Learning and Non-Residential 
Institutions, and Sui Generis Pub or Drinking Establishment / Hot Food Takeaway /Cinema uses, 
hard and soft landscaping and new public open spaces including sustainable urban drainage 
systems, car parking provision and formation of new pedestrian and vehicular access and stopping 
up of existing highway." 

5.7 The first of the two outline elements includes permission for details of layout and scale (access, 
appearance and landscaping reserved) so that the planning authority has certainty as to of the scale 
and layout of Block A1, the majority of Block A2 (close to the Market which sits outside the 

Page 161



 

128281665.1\603111 20 

Development Site), part of Block C which faces the Grade II listed Reform Club which sits outside 
the Development Site at 5 Warwick Row, and parts of Block B, which face the Grade II listed former 
BHS Building and Grade II listed Broadgate House, both of which sit outside of the Development 
Site.  The areas subject to this element of the outline permission are hatched / edged in pink on the 
plan which appears below.  

5.8 The Scheme includes the demolition of the existing two-storey commercial building (14-30 Market 
Way), and the associated roof top car park and link ramp, to facilitate the construction of the new 
commercial / residential Block A2. The ground surface water and combined water sewers within the 
service area west of the market will be diverted to Block A2 to ensure that they will be outside the 
footprint of the new block. The demolition will also impact on the delivery, servicing and safe passage 
of customers to the external units. 

5.9 During the demolition of the existing two-storey commercial building (14-30 Market Way), site 
hoardings will be required to fully enclose the site boundary to allow for the safe demolition. Due to 
the proximity of the hoarding to the adjacent external market units, noise levels will be high at times 
and therefore it is proposed that they are relocated internally to allow a more suitable trading and 
shopping environment.  

5.10 The external market units will be unable to operate and will need to be relocated. Further planning 
details as part of the Detailed Design are required to assess whether the units will recommence 
trading in their current location. 

5.11 The second element of the outline part of the 2021 Permission relates to the remainder of the 
Development Site and has all matters reserved.  The land subject to this part of the outline permission 
in hatched in green on the plan below. 

5.12 The Scheme envisages a comprehensive new mixed use regeneration scheme within the city centre, 
including a greater variety of uses to reinforce the existing city centre retail and leisure offer and 
create a distinctive part of the city in which to live, work and play. 

5.13 Core elements of the Scheme include: 

5.13.1 Between 900 and 1,300 new homes (Class C3); 

5.13.2 An hotel with up to 150 bedrooms (Class C1);   

5.13.3 Mixed non-residential uses totalling between 22,000 and 37,500 square metres Gross 
Internal Area ('GIA') of floorspace, including retail, food and beverage, leisure, office and 
community uses (Class E), learning and non-residential institutions (Class F.1) and 
pub/drinking establishment, hot food and takeaway and cinema uses (sui generis);  

5.13.4 Between 90 and 300 car parking spaces; and 

5.13.5 Some 2 hectares of open space including: two new public squares east of the Market and 
to the south east of the Development Site, pedestrian priority boulevards and 
enhancements to Market Way and Hertford Street. 

5.14 The scope and extent of the Scheme has been considered carefully and has been the subject of a 
long period of design evolution in discussion with the Council as local planning authority, as well as 
with other key stakeholders such as Historic England. This process has included the assessment of 
a number of design iterations and alternatives. In defining the Scheme, including the extent of the 
Site, regard has been had to the Development Plan, including Policy CC19 of the City Centre Area 
Action Plan, as well as to a number of other design, technical and commercial considerations. This 
process was adopted to ensure a comprehensive and integrated approach to the regeneration of this 
part of the City Centre to deliver the economic, social and environmental benefits listed at Section 8 
and also the key Scheme objectives listed below. 

5.15 The boundaries of the Site reflect the OJEU process for the developer selection and also reflect the 
site boundaries of the 2012 Permission. 

Page 162



 

128281665.1\603111 21 

5.16 The western boundary of the Scheme is bordered by Queens Victoria Road and Corporation Street. 
To the north, the Site extends around the southern and eastern side of the Listed Market adjacent to 
the former Woolworths building and to the rear of the Precinct Shopping Centre. The Scheme is 
looking to secure rights over the Lower Precinct Service yard, north of the Market, in order to provide 
future servicing for Block A2. 

5.17 To the East the Scheme takes in the properties on the western side of Hertford Street from Broadgate 
House down to Bull Yard. This allows the new scheme to accommodate the existing level change 
within this area. 

5.18 The southern part of the proposed scheme incorporates the existing entrance off Greyfriars Road 
and is bordered in part by the exiting residential units at Beauchamp House. The Scheme re-uses 
part of the existing service yard area to the rear of the Litten Tree PH so as to maintain future 
servicing for the retained units on Warwick Row who utilise this area and Blocks C and D. 

5.19 The proposals include the removal of Bull Yard so as to improve the pedestrian flow and sightlines 
around the city and to encourage footfall into this area from the Warwick Row Side of the scheme. 
This will also improve view of The Wave from the Market Area. 

5.20 The key objectives of the Scheme are as follows: 

5.20.1 To create a 21st century regional ‘destination’ capable of retaining graduates and attracting 
new visitors and tourists from a wider catchment area; 

5.20.2 To develop a ‘whole-place’ approach to urban design, acknowledging the aspirations of the 
Government’s High Streets Task Force; 

5.20.3 To bring together a range of uses for a new city centre community (for live, work and play) 
collectively creating a ‘lifestyle’, promoting footfall and the evening economy; 

5.20.4 To develop a series of new urban blocks with improved legibility and permeability; 

5.20.5 To tailor the massing to respect of view corridors across Coventry city centre, including 
views of Coventry’s three historic spires) as well as Listed Buildings and heritage assets 
within or adjacent to the application site; 

5.20.6 To develop a range of new character areas, with associated high quality public realm;  

5.20.7 To develop strategies for servicing, parking, safety, security, and vehicular access;  

5.20.8 To contribute to the delivery of Coventry’s Housing and Homelessness Strategy through 
the delivery of at least 900 new homes;  

5.20.9 To improve the quality of the retail and leisure offer through the provision of modern, flexible 
and sustainable spaces aligned with contemporary city centre economic and living 
requirements; and 

5.20.10 To secure delivery of economic benefits through the delivery of around 1,700 full time jobs. 

5.21 The key objectives of the Scheme align with the principle aims of the AAP of regenerating and 
developing the city centre, which involves new homes, employment space, new retail provisions and 
leisure, social and community provisions. The objectives help to achieve CCCAP Policy CC19, which 
specifically identifies the regeneration of the Southern part of the Primary Shopping Area. 

5.22 In addition, the objectives align with Local Plan Policy R2, such as improving accessibility and the 
enhancement of the area as a national and international destination to live, work and play. 

Page 163



 

128281665.1\603111 22 

 

5.23 The design and content of the Scheme has been informed by comprehensive pre-application 
engagement with the Council as local planning authority and a wide range of consultees including 
local business and residents.  In devising the Scheme full account has been taken of changes which 
have occurred since the 2012 Permission was granted.  In particular, those changes include the 
significant and continuing structural changes in high street retail, the shifts towards city centre living 
and reduced reliance on the private car in favour of more sustainable modes of transport, and the 
desire for more varied leisure experiences.   

5.24 Consequently, the Scheme proposes residential, leisure and commercial uses, as well as on-site 
parking.  The Scheme incorporates many of the key urban design features of the 2012 scheme, 
including enhancement of the public realm, improving the setting of the Market and creating a more 
legible and permeable area within the city centre, with better linkages to the remainder of the city.  

5.25 The Scheme is likely to be delivered in phases but adopts a comprehensive approach. The outline 
permission is based on approved parameter plans which allow for a degree of flexibility to 
accommodate further changes in demand and other conditions over the life of the 2021 Permission.  
Furthermore, the 2021 Permission is subject to planning conditions requiring all details to comply 
with the submitted and approved “Parameter Plans Document” and also to demonstrate accordance 
with the provisions of the “Development Principles Document”.   

5.26 The Development Principles Document sets out the mandatory and recommended development 
principles on a site wide and block-specific basis. Future applications for reserved matters approvals 
will be accompanied by a statement setting out how the detailed design accords with the mandatory 
and recommended development principles, using a ‘comply or justify’ approach. Mandatory 
development principles must be followed at detailed design stage. Recommended development 
principles comprise design guidance which should be followed unless it can be demonstrated that 
there are satisfactory reasons not to comply with the guidance. 

5.27 The site wide development principles include architectural diversity and forms, active frontages, mix 
of uses, scale, height and roofscape, materials, elevational character, public realm, green 
infrastructure, access strategy and public art strategy.  

Page 164



 

128281665.1\603111 23 

5.28 The block specific development principles consider the surrounding urban context of the 
development plot and applies additional control to horizontal and vertical massing to protect the 
setting of adjacent buildings, to ensure appropriate height transitions and to protect the amenities of 
existing and future occupiers. Control is also applied to Block B and D ‘zones’, requiring a mandatory 
central space or courtyard. 

5.29 Both the Parameter Plans Document and Development Principles Document have been developed 
with careful consideration of the following key matters: 

5.29.1 The heights of buildings around the application site’s perimeter; 

5.29.2 The height and mass in relation to the city centre’s topography; 

5.29.3 The setting of the Grade II Listed Coventry Market, as well as other designated heritage 
assets including Grade II Listed former Woolworths, former BHS Building and Broadgate 
House; 

5.29.4 The desire and need to maintain and enhance the setting of other designated and non-
designated heritage assets and, taking into account other important features of the city 
centre such as Broadgate, the Precincts and the original Gibson Plan for the post-war 
reconstruction of the city centre; 

5.29.5 Respect for key urban design principles, including views of the ‘Three Spires’ (Christ 
Church, Holy Trinity Church and St. Michaels); 

5.29.6 The need to restore permeability and connectivity by creating legible and attractive north-
south and east-west pedestrian routes across the Site; 

5.29.7 The need to ensure the adjacent commercial properties and Coventry Market can continue 
to be efficiently serviced, alongside the servicing needs arising from the Development; and 

5.29.8 Seeking to safeguard the amenity of neighbouring occupiers in the context of urban design, 
deliverability and other considerations. 

5.30 The 2021 Permission splits the Development Site into six distinct development blocks, which are as 
follows:  

5.30.1 Block A1 is located on a vacant plot fronting Queen Victoria Road and adjoining Lower 
Precinct multi-storey car park to the north and the Grade II listed Coventry Market to the 
east. This block will include a new basement ramp access into Coventry Market from 
Queen Victoria Road and has fixed vertical and horizontal parameters.  

5.30.2 Block A2 is located adjacent to the eastern elevation of Grade II listed Coventry Market and 
south of the former Grade II listed Woolworths building. This block has fixed vertical 
parameters and horizontal parameters; however, the southern end of the building has 
flexible horizontal parameters.  

5.30.3 Block B will span from Market Way to Hertford Street and is described as a development 
‘Zone’ within the parameter plans, as a number of different building arrangements can be 
accommodated around a publicly accessible central space. The northern end of the 
building has fixed horizontal and vertical parameters where adjacent to the Grade II listed 
former BHS and Broadgate House buildings.  

5.30.4 Block C will front Warwick Row adjoining the Grade II listed Reform Club and project to a 
similar depth as the Beauchamp House apartment building to the southwest. The southeast 
section of the block has fixed horizontal and vertical parameters including fenestration and 
roof detail to ensure the established building line on Warwick Row is followed and massing 
is appropriate adjoining to the Grade II listed Reform Club building and wider listed building 
group.  

Page 165



 

128281665.1\603111 24 

5.30.5 Block D is located immediately south of Coventry Market and will front Queen Victoria Road 
extending southwards to Greyfriars Road. Block D is described as a development ‘Zone’ 
within the parameter plans, as a number of different building arrangements can be 
accommodated around a mandatory central open space. Flexible building heights have a 
mandatory requirement for a gradual transition of three steps from the taller northern 
element of Block D to the lower element of Block D on Greyfriars Road. 

5.30.6 The Pavilion is a detached two-storey building sitting between Block B and C. 

5.31 An Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) was volunteered by the applicant and carried out in 
accordance with the Town and Country Planning (EIA) Regulations 2017 (as amended).  

5.32 The 2021 Permission provides for an overall maximum parameter of up to up to 1300 new homes 
within Use Class C3 and 37,500sq.m of non-residential mixed uses: 

5.32.1 Residential: the residential dwellings may be brought forward as a combination of open 
market sale and Build to Rent accommodation.  This will be established at Reserved 
Matters stage for each development block. 

5.32.2 Retail: the Scheme will include a variety of uses falling within Use Class E, which can 
include retail shops, services, restaurants and cafes, commercial workspace and 
community uses.   

5.32.3 Office: workspace is to be provided in a variety of sizes and formats, which will be able to 
meet the diverse requirements of businesses, including small-scale start-ups. The 
provision of high quality, flexible workspace in an attractive mixed-use setting as part of 
City Centre South will support the creation of new, high quality jobs in Coventry and 
contribute to a vibrant city centre. 

5.32.4 Leisure:  the development will include the ability to provide a cinema, bars and public 
houses and hot food takeaways.  These uses will contribute to an enhanced leisure and 
evening economy offer in the city centre, providing leisure opportunities outside of working 
and normal shopping hours. 

5.32.5 Open Space and Public Realm: substantial areas of paved and landscaped open spaces 
are proposed within the Scheme.  The total amount of proposed publicly accessible open 
space comprises of approximately two hectares and includes a new public square to the 
frontage of Coventry Market and south of Market Way and a new public square to the 
south-east of the Development Site, adjacent to the public realm improvements already 
undertaken to the west of the Wave. 

5.32.6 The Pavilion: the proposed ‘Pavilion’ is designed to create a nodal point in the Scheme to 
mark a transition between periods of development of the city. 

5.32.7 Market and MSCP: the Market contains a range of stalls selling groceries, household 
goods, takeaway food and other products.  It is to be retained on Site together with the 
Lower Precinct MSCP.  The Market comprises some 7,240 square metres GIA of retail 
floor space and Lower Precinct MSCP provides parking for 584 cars. The Scheme will 
result in the removal of the existing Barracks Lane MSCP and other areas of car parking 
within the Site, but also provides for the provision of up to 300 new parking spaces. 

5.32.8 Servicing and Vehicular Access: the proposed servicing strategy uses existing points of 
access from the local highway network where possible. A key point of access for delivery 
vehicles will be via Lower Market way off Greyfriars Road, with egress for delivery vehicles 
via the new access road, Rover Way (south of Coventry Market) onto Queen Victoria Road. 
Existing access points via Barracks way underpass (off Greyfriars Lane) and off Queen 
Victoria Road via the Royal London Service Yard will also be utilised. Vehicular access 
within the public realm area will generally be limited to emergency vehicles and delivery 
access to the south of the Market which will take place outside of core shopping hours. 
Access will be controlled by the provision of automated barriers at key locations. 

Page 166



 

128281665.1\603111 25 

6. THE COUNCIL'S PURPOSE AND JUSTIFICATION FOR MAKING THE ORDER 

6.1 The purpose of the Council in making the Order is to secure the acquisition of all relevant interests 
in and rights over the Order Land to facilitate the vital redevelopment of City Centre South through 
comprehensive redevelopment of the Development Site. The aim is to achieve substantial 
improvement in the mix of uses currently on the land, to improve the quality of commercial space, to 
provide new homes and introduce a residential population to the city centre and to improve the 
environment of the area and its permeability and connectivity.  The Council considers that the 
residential, commercial (including retail and workspace), leisure, food and beverage and hotel uses 
comprised in the Scheme, including the public spaces, pedestrian linkages and community facilities, 
will meet the purpose for which the CPO is being made.  The Council considers that the Order and 
the Scheme will facilitate the improvement of the economic, social and environmental well-being of 
its area.   

6.2 The overarching consideration for the Secretary of State in deciding when an Order should be 
confirmed, which is of equal relevance to the Council in reaching its decision to make the Order, is 
set out in paragraph 12 of the CPO Guidance which states: 

"A compulsory purchase order should only be made where there is a compelling case in 
the public interest.   

An acquiring authority should be sure that the purposes for which it is making a compulsory 
purchase order sufficiently justify interfering with the human rights of those with an interest 
in the land affected.  Regard should be had, in particular, to the provisions of Article 1 of 
the First Protocol to the European Convention on Human Rights and, in the case of a 
dwelling, Article 8 of the Convention." 

6.3 In the context of that overarching consideration, paragraphs 12 -14 of the CPO Guidance and in 
particular paragraph 106 in Section 1 (regarding orders made under s226 of the 1990 Act) give 
relevant guidance on issues which should be considered: 

6.3.1 whether the purpose for which the land is being acquired fits with the adopted Local Plan 
for the area; 

6.3.2 the extent to which the Scheme will contribute to the achievement of the promotion and/or 
improvement of the economic, and/or social, and/or environmental well-being of the 
Council's area; 

6.3.3 whether the purposes for which the proposed Order Land is to be acquired could 
reasonably be achieved by any other means within a reasonable timeframe; 

6.3.4 the potential financial viability of the Scheme, general funding intentions and the timing of 
available funding, sufficient to reassure the Secretary of State that there is a reasonable 
prospect that the Scheme will proceed; and 

6.3.5 any impediments to the Scheme going ahead. 

6.4 Each of these factors is addressed in a separate section below. 

7. THE PLANNING POSITION AND EXTENT TO WHICH THE PURPOSE FOR ACQUISTION FITS 
WITH THE PLANNING FRAMEWORK 

The Planning Policy Framework 

7.1 Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) require that planning applications should be 
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 

Page 167



 

128281665.1\603111 26 

7.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (published July 2021) reconfirms the statutory 
requirement set out in Section 38(6) relating to the determination of planning applications and also 
confirms that the NPPF must be taken into account as a material planning consideration in planning 
decisions (paragraphs 2 and 218).  

7.3 Although not part of the statutory Development Plan, the NPPF sets out Government policy and 
should be considered in the determination of planning applications.  

7.4 The presumption in favour of sustainable development is at the heart of the NPPF. Paragraph 8 sets 
out the economic, social and environmental objectives of sustainable development, which are 
interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways, so that opportunities can be 
taken to secure net gains across the objectives.  

7.5 The NPPF states that: "…decisions should play an active role in guiding development towards 
sustainable solutions, but in doing so should take local circumstances into account, to reflect the 
character, needs and opportunities of each area." 

7.6 Paragraph 11 sets out that local planning authorities should approve development proposals that 
accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay; or where there are no relevant 
development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for determining the application 
are out-of-date, granting permission unless any adverse benefits of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the NPPF as a whole.  

7.7 The Government has also published National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) notes to support 
the NPPF, providing high level guidance on specific planning issues and processes. NPPG notes 
are referenced where applicable in this Statement.  

The Development Plan  

7.8 Section 38(3) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) defines the 
Development Plan as: − the Development Plan documents (taken as a whole) which have been 
adopted or approved in relation to that area; and − b) the neighbourhood development plans which 
have been made in relation to that area.  

7.9 In this instance, the current adopted Development Plan for the Site comprises: 

7.9.1 Coventry City Council Local Plan adopted December 2017 (the Local Plan); and 

7.9.2 Coventry City Council City Centre Area Action Plan adopted December 2017 (the 
CCCAAP). 

7.10 There are no emerging local plan documents to be considered. 

Coventry City Council Local Plan 

7.11 The Local Plan provides the overarching policy context for Coventry as a whole, as well as providing 
detailed policies and standards against which planning applications will be assessed.  

Coventry City Council City Centre Area Action Plan 

7.12 The CCCAAP provides a framework for the future growth and regeneration of Coventry city centre. 

Other Material Policy Considerations 

7.13 There are a number of adopted Supplementary Planning Guidance ('SPG') and Supplementary 
Planning Documents ('SPD') which are material policy considerations in the determination of the 
Development: 

7.13.1 Air Quality SPD adopted Aug 2019; 

Page 168



 

128281665.1\603111 27 

7.13.2 Coventry Connected (Transport and Accessibility) SPD adopted Jan 2019; 

7.13.3 Delivering a More Sustainable City SPD adopted Jan 2009; 

7.13.4 Design Guidance for New Residential Development SPG adopted Jan 1991; 

7.13.5 Green Space Strategy 2019-2024 SPD; and 

7.13.6 Health Impact Assessment SPD. 

7.14 Whilst not carrying the same weight as an adopted SPD, the Coventry View Management Framework 
forms part of the Development Plan evidence base and is therefore a material consideration, 
specifically informing Development Plan policies in relation to key views across the city centre of the 
Three Spires of St Michael, Christ Church and Holy Trinity.  

7.15 In addition, the One Coventry Plan Annual Performance Report 2020-2021 provides that the Scheme 
is a key regeneration priority for the city centre and will transform seven hectares of the city.  Whilst 
this does not carry the same weight as other policy considerations, it helps to shape the way the 
Council works to improve the city and people’s lives.  

Ensuring the Vitality of Town Centres 

7.16 Paragraph 86 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should support the role that town centres 
play at the heart of their communities and take a positive approach to their growth and adaptation, 
including the promotion of their vitality and viability, allowing them to diversify in a way that can 
respond to rapid changes in the retail and leisure industries, allowing for a suitable mix of uses, 
including housing.  

7.17 Planning decisions should recognise the role of residential development in ensuring the vitality of 
centres and encourage residential development on appropriate sites. 

7.18 Local Plan Policy R2: ‘Coventry City Centre – Development Strategy’ is reflected in the CCCAAP 
Policy CC1 and states that the city centre will continue to be developed and regenerated to ensure 
it is a truly world class city centre, leading in design, sustainability and culture. This will be achieved 
by: 

a) Enhancement of its position as a focus for the entire sub-region and as a national and international 
destination to live, work and play; 

b) Enhancement of its retail and leisure offer to strengthen the city’s sub regional role; 

c) Provision of high-quality office space; 

d) Becoming a hub for education; 

e) Including a variety of places to live which cater for different needs; 

f) Preserving or enhancing the character and setting of the historic built landscape and the 
archaeological environment; 

g) A connected public realm including public squares and green spaces, easily accessible through 
the creation of desirable and legible pedestrian routes; 

h) Accessible for all; 

i) Providing an attractive and safe environment for pedestrians, cyclists and motorists; 

j) Provide a high-quality public transport system that benefits from seamless integration and is well 
connected to existing and new infrastructure 

Page 169



 

128281665.1\603111 28 

k) High quality sustainable built design; 

l) Continuing to develop a vibrant and attractive night-time economy; 

m) Providing opportunities to improve health and wellbeing; 

n) Continuing to support greater integration of the university within the wider city centre in accordance 
with the policies in the Area Action Plan; 

o) Recognising and preserving key views to the iconic three spires of St Michaels, Holy Trinity and 
Christchurch; and 

p) Supporting the reintroduction of green and blue infrastructure throughout the city centre, including 
opportunities for de-culverting wherever possible. 

7.19 Policy CC19 ‘Primary Shopping Area regeneration – South’ is a policy specific to the Development 
Site and states that the regeneration of the Southern part of the Primary Shopping Area for 
predominantly comparison shopping will be promoted, encouraged and supported. This will provide 
for: 

7.19.1 An increase of at least 10,000 sq.m gross retail floor space; 

7.19.2 A range of shop sizes that reflect market requirements; 

7.19.3 High quality entrances from the Precinct, Queen Victoria Road and Bull Yard; 

7.19.4 The redevelopment of the Barracks car park and the relocation of the parking spaces as 
part of a new multi storey car park incorporated within the development; 

7.19.5 The relocation of the listed mural situated in Bull Yard to a new and prominent site situated 
within the new development;  

7.19.6 The retention of the listed market building, with improvements made to its setting and 
connectivity to Queen Victoria Road and Market Way; 

7.19.7 Associated residential provision of at least 40 homes as part of upper floors above retail 
uses; and 

7.19.8 Complementary leisure, office and hotel uses as part of upper floors above retail uses. 

7.20 Local Plan Policy JE6 ‘Tourism/Visitor Related Development’ states that proposals for development 
within Coventry City Centre, which would contribute towards the city’s role as a tourist destination 
will be supported, subject to compatibility with other Local Plan Policies. 

7.21 A mixed-use development is appropriate within this sequentially preferable, sustainable City Centre 
location. Specific uses are considered in greater detail below. 

Retail, Community & Leisure 

7.22 Local Plan Policies R2 and CC1 identify that that the regeneration of the city centre will be achieved 
by enhancing its retail and leisure offer to strengthen the city’s sub-regional role. Policy CC19 seeks 
to deliver approximately 10,000sq.m of additional retail floor space.  

7.23 As part of the overall maximum parameter of up to 37,500sq.m of non-residential mixed uses, the 
Scheme will include a variety of uses falling within Use Class E, which can include retail shops, 
services, restaurants and cafes, commercial workspace and community uses. 

7.24 The Scheme will create high quality ground floor commercial spaces that can respond to both current 
and future market dynamics due to their inherent flexibility and simplicity. These spaces will enable 
both shorter term, incubation type spaces to support local business growth as the City Centre evolves 

Page 170



 

128281665.1\603111 29 

and changes as well as higher value, more conventional food and beverage, leisure and retail 
businesses who will be attracted to the new city centre offer being created. New units will sit within 
new, high-quality public realm spaces that remove the existing poor linkages between spaces and 
improve pedestrian movement and accessibility into the area.  

7.25 The degree of structural change that has taken place in town centres in the intervening period is 
highlighted in the House of Commons - Housing, Communities and Local Government Committee 
report ‘High Streets and Town Centres in 2030’ February 2019, which states:  

‘An enormous change has taken place in retail in recent years. The traditional pattern of making 
purchases in physical stores, both in and out-of-town, has been profoundly disrupted by the growth 
of online shopping. The impact of this on our high streets and town centres in the form of store 
closures, persistently empty shops and declining footfall is clear for all to see’. 

7.26 The report does however envisage a positive future for the role of town centres and the summary 
conclusion states:  

‘We firmly believe that our high streets and town centres can have a better and more balanced future 
ahead of them if our recommendations are followed. This will require a shift from the retail focused 
activities of high streets and town centres today to new uses and purposes which foster greater social 
interaction, community spirit and local identity and characteristics. With a properly planned strategic 
intervention led by the local authority, with the backing of local stakeholders and the wider 
community, we can redefine our high streets and town centres and ensure their long-term 
sustainability for future generations to come’. 

7.27 This is reflected in the Scheme with flexible uses and a mixed-use approach in order to create a 
sustainable new piece of city that is attractive to visitors with a broader range of food and beverage 
and leisure uses, as well as bringing a substantial number of new residents into the city centre, to 
support the vitality and vibrancy of the retail.  Use Class E includes retail, food and drink, financial 
services, professional services, indoor sport and recreation, medical or health services, creches, day 
nurseries or day centres, office/research and development facilities and industrial processes (light 
industry with no noise/smell/fumes etc.). 

7.28 The flexibility afforded by Class E will enable a variety of appropriate city centre uses to be brought 
forward, responding to the requirements of future phases. Retail remains an essential component of 
the Scheme and the Parameter Plans identify active frontages at ground floor to ensure shopfronts 
or similar onto the street which create interest and activity.  

7.29 In terms of office space, the 2021 Permission allows for workspace to be provided in a variety of 
sizes and formats, which will be able to meet the diverse requirements of businesses, including small-
scale start-ups. The provision of high quality, flexible workspace in an attractive mixed-use setting 
as part of City Centre South will support the creation of new, high quality jobs in Coventry and 
contribute to a vibrant city centre. 

7.30 As part of the overall maximum parameter of up to 37,500sqm of non-residential mixed uses, the 
development will include the ability to provide a cinema, bars and public houses and hot food 
takeaways. These are ‘Sui Generis’ uses with no use class specified in the Use Class Order. These 
uses will contribute to an enhanced leisure and evening economy offer in the city centre, providing 
leisure opportunities outside of working and normal shopping hours. 

7.31 The scheme will secure the positive enhancement of the city centre’s retail and leisure offer to 
strengthen the city’s sub regional role and its position as a focus for the entire sub-region and as a 
national and international destination to live, work and play in accordance with the aims and 
objectives of Local Plan Policy R2, CCCAAP Policy CC1 and the NPPF. 

Residential 

7.32 NPPF paragraph 60 highlights the Government's objective of significantly boosting the supply of 
homes and states the importance of a sufficient amount and variety of land being able to come 
forward where it is needed.  

Page 171



 

128281665.1\603111 30 

7.33 Local Plan Policy H3 ‘Provision of New Housing’ states that new residential development must 
provide a high-quality residential environment, which assists in delivering urban regeneration or 
contributes to creating sustainable communities and which overall enhances the built environment. 
A suitable residential environment will be within a sustainable location and will include safe and 
appropriate access, have adequate amenity space and parking provision and be safe from 
environmental pollutants such as land contamination, excessive noise and air quality issues. 

7.34 Policy H4 of the Local Plan requires proposals for residential development to include a mix of market 
housing which contributes towards a balance of house types and sizes across the city. 

7.35 Policy R2 of the Local Plan requires focus for the entire sub-region as a national and international 
destination to live, work and play. It states that this includes a variety of places to live which cater for 
different needs. 

7.36 Compared with other cities, Coventry has a relatively low level of city centre living, and therefore 
misses out on the vibrancy generated by a city centre residential population, as well as the benefits 
of capturing residents’ local spending. Within the whole of the Development Site there is currently no 
residential development. The Scheme proposes up to 1300 new homes within Use Class C3. 

7.37 CCCAP Policy CC19 requires associated residential provision of at least 40 homes as part of the 
upper floors above the retail uses. Whilst the Scheme comprises a much larger number of proposed 
homes, this addresses the shift in retail and office demand and provides for the increasing housing 
demands. The conflict in this regard is limited; the Scheme is compliant with the wider objectives of 
CCCAP (including Policy CC19) and the Local Plan regarding the regeneration and development of 
the City Centre and Local Plan Policy H3 in that the Scheme assists in delivering urban regeneration 
and contributes to creating sustainable communities. 

7.38 Paragraph 119 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should promote the effective use of land 
in meeting the needs for homes and other uses. Strategic policies should set out clear strategies for 
accommodating objectively assessed needs in a way that makes as much use as possible of 
previously developed or brownfield land.  

7.39 The Development Site is located within a highly sustainable city centre location, with excellent access 
to shops, services and public transport options.  Although the scheme is in Outline form, the proposed 
‘Development Principles Document’ shows that the Scheme has significant potential to provide a 
high-quality residential environment, including private communal courtyard spaces, that are safe from 
any environmental pollution issues. The Development Principles Document provides for the Scheme 
to deliver a series of external private communal amenity spaces that will provide sociable amenity 
spaces for the occupants of the Scheme. Future residents will also benefit from the proposed public 
realm, including the two proposed public squares. 

7.40 The residential dwellings may be brought forward as a combination of open market sale and Build to 
Rent accommodation; this will be established at Reserved Matters stage for each development block.  
The residential accommodation complies with Local Plan Policies H3, H4, H5 and H6. 

Hotel 

7.41 Hotels are a main town centre use (as identified in the NPPF) and will be acceptably located within 
the city centre providing a sustainably located facility with excellent access to the city centre’s shops, 
services and public transport links in accordance with Local Plan Policies R2, JE6 and City Centre 
AAP Policy CC19. 

7.42 The Scheme proposes a hotel of up to 150 bedrooms. Flexibility in the location of the potential hotel 
has been sought, with several potential locations proposed in the Land Use Parameter Plans.  

7.43 The hotel use accords with Policy R2 and CC1 and CCAAP Policy CC19. If a hotel is not brought 
forward in the Development Blocks identified, other approved uses are permitted instead. 

Open Space and Public Realm 

Page 172



 

128281665.1\603111 31 

7.44 The spaces created between the development blocks are highly important and Local Plan Policy R2 
seeks to secure a connected public realm including public squares and green spaces, easily 
accessible through the creation of desirable and legible pedestrian routes. Local Plan Policy DE1 
seeks to provide attractive, safe, uncluttered, active and easily identifiable, high-quality public 
spaces, make places that inter-connect and are easy to move through and ensure places are easily 
understood by users, with clear routes and distinct physical features. 

7.45 Substantial areas of paved and landscaped open spaces are proposed within the Scheme.  As the 
horizontal parameters of development blocks are flexible, the Parameter Plans set minimum and 
maximum street widths to achieve new pedestrian priority boulevards through the site with space to 
accommodate tables and chairs and support the café culture. The total amount of proposed publicly 
accessible open space comprises of approximately two hectares and includes a new public square 
to the frontage of Coventry Market and south of Market Way and a new public square to the south-
east of the Site, adjacent to the public realm improvements already undertaken to the west of the 
Wave. 

7.46 Located adjacent to the existing Coventry Market will be public square No.1, which is an important 
nodal point in the Scheme and one which formally marks a transition between periods of development 
of the city. The Development Design Principles require accessibility for all needs to be considered 
carefully at reserved matters stage for this important space given the level changes around Coventry 
Market.   

7.47 Public square No.2 forms a key arrival point into the city centre on approach from the railway station 
and Greyfriars Green area. Several mandatory principles are included in the Development Principles 
Document which seek to ensure flexibility of use and management of pedestrian flows. 

7.48 The open space and public realm proposed accords with Policy R2, DE1 and CC1 and will overall 
provide a net gain and substantial enhancements. Specific hard and soft landscaping details, as well 
as public art provision would be secured at Reserved Matter stage by condition. 

Urban Design/Impact on visual amenity 

7.49 Policy DE1 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure high quality design and development proposals must 
respect and enhance their surroundings and positively contribute towards the local identity and 
character of an area. Policy R2 reflects CCCAAP Policy CC1 and seeks to secure a high-quality 
sustainable built design. Policy R2 states that high quality sustainable built design and recognising 
and preserving key views to the iconic three spires is required to achieve the development strategy. 

Achieving Well-Designed Places 

7.50 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that “Planning policies and decisions should ensure that 
developments: 

7.50.1 will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but 
over the lifetime of the development; 

7.50.2 are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective 
landscaping; 

7.50.3 are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built environment 
and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or 
change (such as increased densities); 

7.50.4 establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces, 
building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, 
work and visit; 

7.50.5 optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and 
mix of development (including green and other public space) and support local facilities 
and transport networks; and 

Page 173



 

128281665.1\603111 32 

7.50.6 create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-
being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where crime and 
disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion 
and resilience.” 

7.51 Paragraph 134 of the NPPF requires that great weight should be given to proposals which help raise 
the standard of design more generally in an area, so long as they fit with the overall form and layout 
of their surroundings.  

7.52 The Outline element of the 2021 Permission seeks to enable a flexible scheme where future 
applicants can submit an application for reserved matters approval providing full design details that 
will sit within the agreed height and massing set out in the Parameters Plan Document and 
Development Principles Document that form part of the Scheme. The information provided in these 
documents will form a positive base on which architectural designs can evolve in an appropriate 
manner. Site wide and development block specific considerations are identified below: 

7.52.1 Architectural Diversity: The Development Principles Document has a mandatory 
requirement that proposed buildings must incorporate diversity in their form, roofscape, and 
create legible blocks to ensure visual interest and richness in townscape as detailed 
applications are submitted.  

7.52.2 Active Frontages:  The Development Principles Document addresses the need to provide 
active frontages in prominent pedestrian locations across the Development Site with a 
mandatory provision being indicated for buildings fronting Market Way and Hertford Street, 
the two proposed new public squares and the Pavillion building. This provision is beneficial 
in providing a positive relationship between the buildings and public realm creating 
dynamism and animation to the blocks with improved passive surveillance capacity and 
would therefore be supported through Local Plan Policy CC3.   

7.52.3 Mix of Uses:  The Development Principles Document has a mandatory requirement that 
the Scheme must consist of a mix of uses to create a sustainable community and to achieve 
active frontage at the base of buildings. 

7.52.4 Scale, Height, Roofscape: There is a mandatory requirement that the visibility of rooftop 
plant must be screened from street-level view, using setbacks and well-considered 
screening. This is important for minimising massing impact of such elements and also 
protecting the appreciation of important viewpoints through the city. 

7.52.5 Materials: There is a mandatory requirement for building material selection to exhibit 
weight, permanence and solidity with material colours and tones required to contribute to 
variety in the appearance of individual and groups of buildings. It is a recommendation that 
brick should be considered as the default material, in a variety of tones and colours, 
alongside stone, metal (painted, corten, steel, profiled sheeting, copper and bronze) and 
limited areas of render.  Although building materials will not be considered until reserved 
matters stage for each phase of the Scheme, these mandatory and recommended 
requirements will assist in providing a variety and interest to the street scene through a 
varied tonal pallet either as individual plots or as groups of buildings. 

7.52.6 Site-wide Elevational Character: Elevational character within the Development Principles 
Document delivers aspirations of the designing of street rhythm, promoting clear divisions 
in the facade to create verticality and variety and also ‘tripartite’ design principles for 
buildings with a distinct base, middle and cap.   

7.52.7 Public Realm: Quality of public realm is key to the successful delivery of the Scheme and 
as such a number of mandatory principles within the Development Principles Document 
are established that form a sound base on which reserved matters proposals will come 
forward. These include requiring high-quality, well-designed public realm spaces that are 
accessible to all and well connecting to adjacent areas, with prioritisation of pedestrian 
movement, but with allowance for service and emergency vehicle access on a controlled 
basis. 

Page 174



 

128281665.1\603111 33 

7.52.8 Accessibility:  A notable challenge in level change in the Scheme is that of Hertford Street. 
Given this challenge and the primacy of the route toward Broadgate, the Development 
Principles Document states as a mandatory requirement that particular attention will be 
paid to mitigate existing steep gradients on Hertford Street within the constraints of existing 
retained shop frontages and the Barracks Way service tunnel access. 

7.52.9 Green Infrastructure: The inclusion of green and brown roofs is a recommended principle 
in the Development Principles Document and therefore justification will need to be provided 
for not accommodating these elements at the reserved matters detailed design stage.  

7.52.10 Public Art Strategy: CCAAP Policy CC4 states that established public art shall be retained 
in redevelopment proposals unless the benefits of its removal outweigh the harm of its loss. 
Where public art is lost replacement works shall be incorporated into new development 
unless robust justification is provided highlighting that this it is not viable.  The Development 
Principles Document recognised the important pieces of non-designated public art within 
the application site and set the following requirements for the relocation of these public art 
pieces: 

(a) The Phoenix sculpture by George Wagstaffe: The asset must be relocated to a 
prominent location in the public realm within or immediately adjacent to the 
Development Site, in order to maintain or enhance the significance of the asset. 
The 2021 Permission identifies a potential location for The Phoenix within Public 
Square No.2 close to its existing location. 

(b) Sir Guy and the Dun Cow Relief: The Development Principles Documents 
provides that this asset should be relocated to a prominent location within the 
Development Site. 

(c) Thread Through Time sculpture by Robert Conybear and Uta Molling: The asset 
must be relocated to a prominent location in the public realm within or 
immediately adjacent to the Development Site, in order to maintain or enhance 
the significance of the asset. The 2021 Permission has identified a potential 
location for the ‘Thread through Time’ sculpture within Public Square No.1 
between the proposed Pavilion and Coventry Market. 

(d) Peeping Tom Wood Carving: The Development Principles Documents provides 
that asset should be relocated to a prominent location within the Development 
Site. 

(e) Two Tone and Shelton Square plaques:  The Development Principles Documents 
provides that consideration should be given to the relocation of the in closest 
possible proximity to the geographic location from which they originate. 

(f) The William Mitchell fibreglass decorative panels on Hertford Street; and the 
concrete panels to rear of 26-48 Hertford Street:  The Development Principles 
Documents provides that incorporation of a sample of the following existing 
architectural elements in the proposed development must be considered. 

(g) Non-designated William Mitchell mural located within Hertford House: although 
this is not a public art piece, as it is located within a private space, it is still 
intended to secure the careful removal of this valued mural prior to demolition of 
the building, so that it can be suitably relocated. 

(h) The Three Tuns Mural by William Mitchell is a Grade II listed designated heritage 
asset.  The 2021 Permission secures the removal and relocation of this asset 
which is considered further at section 7 of this Statement of Reasons. 

Heritage character of the area and Heritage Assets 

Page 175



 

128281665.1\603111 34 

7.53 Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 1990 imposes a duty when 
exercising planning functions to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing 
the character of a Conservation Area.  Section 66 of the same Act imposes a duty to have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting when considering whether to 
grant a planning permission which affects a listed building or its setting. 

7.54 NPPF Paragraph 199 states that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation.  

7.55 NPPF Paragraph 201 advises that where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to 
(or total loss of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse 
consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss is necessary to achieve 
substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss, or all of the following apply: 

7.55.1 the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; and 

7.55.2 no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term through 
appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and 

7.55.3 conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit, charitable or public ownership 
is demonstrably not possible; and 

7.55.4 the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use. 

7.56 NPPF Paragraph 202 indicates that where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial 
harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the 
public benefits of the proposal. 

7.57 NPPF Paragraph 203 states that the effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated 
heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing applications 
that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a 
balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss 
and the significance of the heritage asset. 

7.58 Local Plan Policy HE2 reflects NPPF policy and states that development proposals involving heritage 
assets in general and listed buildings in particular, should acknowledge the significance of the 
existing building and the area by means of their siting, massing, form, scale, materials and detail.  

7.59 Policy R2 states the preservation and enhancement of the character and setting of the historic built 
landscape and the archaeological environment. 

7.60 The CCCAAP Policy CC2 ‘Enhancement of Heritage Assets’ states, amongst other things, that all 
development relating to heritage assets shall be undertaken sympathetically and seek to preserve 
or enhance their setting.  

7.61 The CCCAAP Policy CC19 provides for the relocation of the listed Three Tuns mural situated in Bull 
Yard and the retention of the listed market building. 

7.62 Careful assessment was given to the impacts on individual designated heritage assets as part of the 
determination of the 2021 Permission.   

7.62.1 Substantial harm was identified to the Three Tuns Mural (Grade II Listed). The identified 
adverse impacts seriously affect key elements of the asset’s special architectural and 
historic interest. Specifically, the total loss of its original designed context and its existing 
relationships to the post-war modernist townscape. The Development Principles Document 
provided four potential locations for the replacement of the mural within the Scheme to add 
certainty as to the viability and design of the artwork’s reintegration into the new Scheme.  

7.62.2 Substantial harm was identified to the Upper Precinct, North and South Links Blocks and 
Piazza, Broadgate House, Former British Home Stores Building and Carphone 

Page 176



 

128281665.1\603111 35 

Warehouse, Marks and Spencer and 4-10 Smithford Way, The former Woolworth Building, 
Upper Precinct’ (all Grade II Listed buildings forming a post-war building group).  

7.62.3 Less than substantial harm was identified to Coventry Market, the listed buildings fronting 
Warwick Row, including The Reform Club adjoining The Litten Tree Public House, the 
Library (former Locarno) and Mercia House (former Leofric Hotel) forming the other part of 
the post war (Donald Gibson) building group.  

7.62.4 Less than substantial harm is also identified for the Greyfriars Green Conservation Area.  

7.62.5 Less than substantial harm is also identified to The Grade I Listed spires of St. Michael's 
Cathedral, Holy Trinity Church, and the Grade II* Listed Christchurch spire. The Spires are 
experienced from many viewpoints across the city and whilst the proposed development 
block positions and building heights set within the Parameters Plans Document have been 
carefully considered they seek to replace existing, generally low-rise buildings and will 
inevitably have a greater degree of harm upon view cones.  

7.63 Non-designated heritage assets are not subject to the tests established by NPPF in respect of 
‘substantial harm’ and ‘less than substantial harm’. Nevertheless, NPPF Paragraph 203 is clear that 
a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the 
significance of the heritage asset. The scheme will involve the total loss of non-designated heritage 
assets, which include: Bull Yard, City Arcade, Market Way, Shelton Square, Hertford House, 26-48 
Hertford Street, Hertford Street north, west side, Hertford Street shops east side, Barracks Car Park 
and The Litten Tree public house. As previously noted, Historic England has determined that these 
buildings are not suitable for Listing due to their lesser architectural quality and level of alteration.  

7.64 The impacts on the designated and non-designated heritage assets were carefully considered when 
determining the 2021 Permission and associated listed building consents in light of the requirements 
of the NPPF and the Local Plan.  In applying the policies regard was had to the public benefits of the 
Scheme (details of which are set out below) together with the following heritage benefits: 

7.64.1 Enhancements to the experience of the heritage significance of the Grade II Listed Natwest 
Bank on Hertford Street through improved public realm within its immediate setting; 

7.64.2 Enhancements to the experience of the heritage significance of non-designated Methodist 
Central Hall through improved public realm within its immediate setting; 

7.64.3 Securing the optimum viable use of the Grade II listed Coventry Retail Market through 
development within its immediate setting that will likely improve its viability as a commercial 
marketplace by improving its setting/footfall. 

7.64.4 Proposed mitigations incorporated into the Scheme including the relocation of the Three 
Tuns Mural and other non-designated public art within the new Scheme.  

7.65 Overall the Scheme was considered to provide substantial widespread and long-lasting public 
benefits to Coventry’s citizens at a multi-generational level. The local planning authority concluded 
that the substantial harm to certain designated heritage assets was necessary to achieve the 
substantial public benefits that outweigh that substantial harm; and that in the case where less than 
substantial harm was identified, on balance, the public benefits of the Scheme will outweigh the less 
than substantial harm identified to designated heritage assets in accordance with NPPF paragraphs 
201 and 202.  

7.66 Additionally, having considered the significance of the non-designated heritage assets and the scale 
of harm identified, it is concluded, on balance, the benefits delivered by the proposed Scheme will 
outweigh the potential harm to the identified non-designated heritage assets in accordance with 
NPPF paragraph 203. 

7.67 NPPF Paragraph 204 advises that Local planning authorities should not permit the loss of the whole 
or part of a heritage asset without taking all reasonable steps to ensure the new development will 
proceed after the loss has occurred. The 2021 Permission has consequently been granted subject 

Page 177



 

128281665.1\603111 36 

to conditions to control phasing of the development and to restrict demolition until reserved matters 
applications have been submitted that demonstrate a high-quality replacement Scheme.  

Promoting Sustainable Transport 

7.68 NPPF Paragraph 104 requires transport issues to be considered in development proposals, so that 
opportunities from existing or proposed infrastructure can be realised in the scale, location and 
density of development that can be accommodated. Opportunities to promote walking, cycling and 
public transport use should be pursued, with patterns of movement, streets, parking and other 
considerations being integral to scheme design.  

7.69 NPPF Paragraph 111 states that development should only be refused on highways grounds if there 
would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road 
network would be severe.  

7.70 NPPF Paragraph 112 requires that developments should give priority to pedestrian and cycle 
movements, within the scheme and with surrounding areas; address the needs of people with 
reduced mobility; create places that are safe, secure and attractive; allow for the efficient delivery of 
goods and access by service and emergency vehicles; and, be designed to enable charging of ultra-
low emission vehicles.  

7.71 Local Plan Policy AC1 ‘Accessible Transport Network’ states that development proposals which are 
expected to generate additional trips on the transport network should: 

7.71.1 Integrate with existing transport networks including roads, public transport and walking and 
cycling routes to promote access by a choice of transport modes; 

7.71.2 Consider the transport and accessibility needs of everyone living, working or visiting the 
city;  

7.71.3 Support the delivery of new and improved high-quality local transport networks which are 
closely integrated into the built form; and 

7.71.4 Actively support the provision and integration of emerging and future intelligent mobility 
infrastructure. 

7.72 Local Policy AC3: Demand Management states that “Proposals for the provision of car parking 
associated with new development will be assessed on the basis of parking standards set out in 
Appendix 5”. With regard to the provision of car parking within the City Centre, Appendix 5 states 
that “The level of privately allocated car parking for applications within the City Centre will be 
determined on a site by site basis on the merits of the application and criteria in the NPPF”. AC3 
acknowledges that the incorrect provision of car parking can influence occurrences of inappropriate 
on-street parking which can block access routes for emergency, refuse and delivery vehicles, block 
footways preventing access for pedestrians, reduce visibility at junctions and impact negatively on 
the street scene.   

7.73 Appendix 5 also states that 5% of all new parking spaces should include provision for electric car 
charging points. Where this is demonstrated to be impractical, 5% of spaces should have the capacity 
to be easily retrofitted for the provision of electric car charging points; including provision of ducting 
to accommodate a suitable power supply which facilitates high speed charging. 

7.74 Policy AC4: Walking and Cycling states that “Development proposals should incorporate appropriate 
safe and convenient access to walking and cycling routes. Where these links do not exist, new and 
upgraded routes will be required and these must appropriately link into established networks to 
ensure that routes are continuous. The expected type of provision will depend on the scale, use and 
location of the site. For larger developments, financial contributions may be required to support 
improved pedestrian and /or cycling routes on the wider network”.  

Page 178



 

128281665.1\603111 37 

7.75 Policy R2 encourages provision of a high-quality public transport system that benefits from seamless 
integration and is well connected to existing and new infrastructure. It also states to provide an 
attractive and safe environment for pedestrians, cyclists and motorists.  

7.76 City Centre AAP Policy CC11(e) encourages proposals for the redevelopment of the Barracks Multi 
Storey Car Park (“MSCP”) and City Arcade MSCP as part of the wider regeneration of the city centre. 
Policy CC11 requires that any change in the provision of public car parking spaces must be clearly 
justified as part of an on-going review process and be shown to have an acceptable impact on the 
performance and accessibility of the city centre and overall car parking provision. 

7.77 Policy CC11: Accessibility states that “Development proposals should support the needs of 
pedestrians and cyclists by incorporating new dedicated safe and direct pedestrian and cycle routes 
which integrate seamlessly into established networks including connecting to the public transport 
network, interchanges and stops to deliver seamless integration together with provision of high 
quality cycle parking”. The enhancement of the permeability of the Development Site and its 
pedestrian linkages with the surrounding area is a core principle of the Scheme. The Access and 
Movement Parameter Plan approved pursuant to the 2021 Permission defines the proposed 
vehicular and pedestrian/cycle access points into the Development Site. 

7.78 The approved Access and Movement Parameter Plan identifies areas of the Development Site which 
will prioritise pedestrian movement in the public realm, with limited access for service vehicles during 
off-peak hours, and allowing for emergency vehicle access, as necessary. It is envisaged that the 
majority of the pedestrian priority space will encompass public realm, reflecting recent investment in 
public realm improvements within the Precinct’s area. In the case of the existing service yard to the 
north of Coventry Market, this area will remain a service yard, meeting the needs of Coventry Market, 
Lower Precinct and City Centre South. 

7.79 Short-stay cycle parking for visitors and long-stay cycle parking for residents of the Scheme will be 
provided in subsequent reserved matters applications in accordance with the relevant policy 
requirements. In March 2021, the West Midlands Cycle Hire scheme commenced operations within 
Coventry, with docking stations for bikes being located throughout the city centre, and it is anticipated 
that provision for further docking stations will be made within the City Centre South development to 
reflect the site’s potential to attract cycle trips. 

7.80 In terms of car parking, a minimum of 90 and maximum of 300 car parking spaces will be delivered 
for future residential development, all of which will be able to accommodate electric vehicles.  There 
will also be the opportunity for future residents to purchase season tickets for parking spaces within 
the city centre’s public car parks.  With the loss of the Barracks MSCP and City Arcade MSCP there 
will be an overall reduction in car parking spaces available for public use. Nevertheless, the new Salt 
Lane MSCP opened in 2020, and reports have confirmed that there will still be sufficient capacity to 
meet demand for public car parking within the city centre even allowing for the loss of these, and 
other, car parks. Disabled parking and parking for delivery vehicles for the residential properties will 
be developed at reserved matters stage for each phase. 

7.81 Vehicular access will be from existing accesses from Barrack Street, City Arcade existing car park 
access and the existing service access to the north of Coventry Market off Queen Victoria Road. 
These will be retained for service and operational vehicles only with some provision for car park 
spaces. At Reserved Matters stage, further details must be provided on access in terms of the type 
of vehicles anticipated to use each access point with vehicle tracking evidence to ensure that there 
is adequate space for service vehicles to turn around safely to exit in a forward gear whilst not 
impacting on any customer parking provided. 

7.82 Pedestrian/cycle access is proposed to be via existing routes through the site such as Market Way, 
Hertford Street and Warwick Road/New Union Street. It is also proposed to amend Rover Way (via 
Queen Victoria Rd) to allow for pedestrian/cycle access only. A relocated pedestrian crossing will be 
configured into the proposed signalised Queen Victoria Rd/Croft Rd/Rover Rd junction, linking into 
proposed enhanced pedestrian and cycle routes into the city centre from Spon End and Coundon 
(currently under construction with completion due during 2023). 

Page 179



 

128281665.1\603111 38 

7.83 A detailed Travel Plan is required to be submitted for approval at the reserved matters stage to outline 
implementation of sustainable travel measures and a detailed action plan of delivery to capitalise 
upon the city centre location of the development.  The site is well served by bus services operating 
along Queen Victoria Road and Greyfriars Road, and Coventry’s proposed Very Light Rail scheme 
will also be routed along these streets.  The railway and bus stations are both around 600 metres 
from the site, with bus services connecting to both from Queen Victoria Road. 

7.84 A construction travel plan must also be submitted to detail construction traffic demands, routes, 
mitigation etc. These will be conditioned as part of the outline planning permission. 

Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal Change 

7.85 NPPF Paragraph 157 sets out that new development should be expected to comply with any 
development plan policies on local requirements for decentralised energy supply, unless it can be 
demonstrated that this is not feasible or viable. The Scheme will make a positive contribution to the 
city’s efforts to deal with the climate emergency largely through a significant energy efficiency 
improvements. The Scheme will connect to the city’s District Heating scheme in its entirety. This 
comprehensive approach, compared to a piecemeal approach where individual buildings get 
connected (and an approach based on the refurbishment of existing buildings would still likely result 
in gas usage), allows for a much more cost effective and deliverable approach to energy efficiency. 
More broadly, integrating low carbon and net zero ambitions is much easier to do in a new 
development scheme compared with attempting to retrofit existing buildings. 

7.86 NPPF Paragraph 159 states that development should be directed away from areas at highest risk of 
flooding.  

7.87 NPPF Paragraph 167 requires that flood risk is not increased elsewhere, as demonstrated in a site-
specific flood risk assessment.  

7.88 NPPF Paragraph 169 requires major developments to incorporate sustainable drainage systems 
unless there is clear evidence this would be inappropriate.  

7.89 Local Plan Policy EM4 states that all major developments must be assessed in respect of the level 
of flood risk from all sources.  If development in areas at risk of flooding is the only option following 
the application of the sequential test, it will only be permitted where the criteria set out in Policy EM4 
are met. 

7.90 City Centre AAP Policy CC9 ‘Drainage & Flood Risk’ states that development shall be designed and 
located to minimise the risk of flooding and if permitted development, development should be resilient 
to flooding. 

7.91 The majority of the Development Site is within Flood Zone 1; however, part of Block A1 and Block D 
adjacent to Queen Victoria Road and Rover Road are within Flood Zone 2. The Scheme is supported 
by a Flood Risk Assessment and includes, through consultation with the Environment Agency, a 
flood attenuation scheme that will both protect future occupiers of the buildings without increasing 
flood risk elsewhere. The 2021 Permission include conditions to secure agreed flood attenuation. 

Contaminated Land 

7.92 Policy EM6 seeks to ensure that redevelopment of previously developed land does not have a 
negative impact on water quality, either directly through pollution of surface or ground water or 
indirectly through the treatment of wastewater by whatever means. 

7.93 Due to the location and site history there is an increased risk of unexploded ordnance being found 
within the site; however, conditions have been imposed on the 2021 Permission to secure the 
recommendations within the supporting unexploded ordnance (UXO) assessment.  Standard land 
contamination conditions and associated remediation requirements have also been applied to 
safeguard health, safety and the environment in accordance with Policy EM6 of the Local Plan.  

Page 180



 

128281665.1\603111 39 

7.94 Policy EM7 states that major development schemes should promote a shift to the use of sustainable 
low emission transport to minimise the impact of vehicle emissions on air quality.  Air quality 
mitigation measures will be determined once the final site layout is known at reserved matters stage 
to support the aims of Policy and avoid any negative air quality impacts. A condition has been 
imposed on the 2021 Permission to secure these measures for each phase at the reserved matters 
stage. 

7.95 The Scheme is located within a highly sustainable location where future residents will have excellent 
access to shops and services and public transport options. The provision of electric vehicle charging 
points and a maximum dry NOx emissions rate of 40mg/kWh for (low emission) gas boilers have 
been secured by condition. 

Ecology and Green Infrastructure 

7.96 Policy GE3 of the Local Plan states that proposals for development will be expected to ensure that 
they lead to a net gain of biodiversity, protect or enhance biodiversity assets and secure their long 
term management and maintenance, avoid negative impacts on existing biodiversity, and preserve 
species which are legally protected, in decline, are rare within Coventry. 

7.97 Policy GE4 ‘Tree Protection’ notes that trees make a valuable contribution to the city’s green 
landscape. New developments should seek to retain existing trees and other landscape features, 
incorporating them into a high-quality design and landscape proposals where possible. 

7.98 Policy R2 encourages the reintroduction of green and blue infrastructure throughout the city centre, 
including opportunities for de-culverting wherever possible. 

7.99 City Centre AAP Policy CC8 ‘Green and Blue Infrastructure’ states that new development will be 
expected to maintain the quantity, quality and functionality of existing green and blue infrastructure 
and that development proposals should enhance blue and green infrastructure, and create and 
improve linkages between the areas. 

7.100 The proposal will not impact on any statutory or non-statutory wildlife sites and there are no records 
of notable wildlife from the area. Bats (Pipistrelles) are recorded generally within the city centre and 
Peregrine Falcon nests within the centre. The existing site is largely buildings and hardstanding with 
relatively low biodiversity value, although the site does include an undeveloped plot (Block A1) which 
has established as ruderal, urban habitat and has value within the urban centre. 

7.101 The Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment submitted in support of the 2021 Permission suggests that 
the Scheme will lead to a net gain in biodiversity. The net gain depends upon the delivery of 
significant areas of green and brown roofs.  Conditions have been imposed on the 2021 Permission 
to secure details of soft landscaping, green and brown roofs, tree planting and biodiversity features, 
such as bat and bird boxes at the reserved matters stage. 

7.102 Accordingly the Council is satisfied that the purpose for which the Order Land is being acquired fits 
with the adopted Local Plan for the area. 

8. CONTRIBUTION TO WELL-BEING AND OTHER BENEFITS 

Economic Benefits 

8.1 The average economic activity amongst the working-age population is significantly lower at the local 
neighbourhood (52.8%) and local authority (72.4%) levels than the national average of 76.8% (2011 
Census).  The Council’s Economic Development service has undertaken analysis to show that the 
Scheme has the potential to deliver the following economic benefits (however, the actual level of 
economic benefits will be dependent upon the final scheme design implemented): 

8.1.1 £1.1bn in total economic benefits: CCS represents an investment of £350m in Coventry, 
which will deliver transformational benefits for local people and businesses and generate 
over £1.1bn in economic benefits over 25 years. 

Page 181



 

128281665.1\603111 40 

8.1.2 £583m in net additional overall GVA: The economic output of CCS is at least double that 
which could reasonably be expected to occur if the status quo is maintained, with the 
construction and operation of CCS contributing at least £583m in net additional Gross 
Value Added (GVA) to the Coventry and West Midlands economy by 2045. 

8.1.3 1,700 full time jobs on completion: the existing Development Site is characterised by a high 
level of vacancy in the retail and office units representing a lost opportunity to support 
economic activity and jobs. As at March 2020, the estimated vacancy rate was 26%. Given 
the on-going structural changes which have been exacerbated by the COVID pandemic, it 
is likely that this level of vacancy is higher and existing jobs supported is lower. On 
completion, the proposed Retail/Leisure, Office, Healthcare and Hotel accommodation is 
expected to provide employment for around 1,700 full time equivalent (FTE) workers, with 
a mix of Full and Part Time positions at varying skill levels expected to be available. 

8.1.4 620 full time construction jobs over three years: Construction of CCS is expected to require 
1,857 person years of labour – supporting the equivalent of 620 full time construction jobs 
sustained for the entire anticipated 3 year duration of the build. It will also create a minimum 
of 70 apprenticeship opportunities, alongside other training and skills development 
opportunities, helping local young people to learn a trade for life. 

8.1.5 Growth in tax base: These new homes will generate an estimated £1.6m per annum in 
Council Tax, the commercial uses are also expected to generate around £0.75m per annum 
in business rates and the new homes up to £9.8m per annum in New Homes Bonus over 
six years. 

8.1.6 Growth in a sustainable city centre community: as well as delivering a £33.5m pa increase 
in household expenditure the city centre resident population will increase by 24%.  

8.1.7 New retail, office, leisure and hotel accommodation:  the Scheme will support a broader 
range of employment opportunities than currently supported by the existing Development 
Site, which predominantly comprises low-quality retail and office floorspace, which does 
not meet modern occupier requirements. 

8.1.8 Improved employment opportunities: the creation of high-quality office accommodation 
aimed at smaller office typologies such as co-working space will support inward investment 
and high employment opportunities accessible to the local population will be created, 
particularly in retail, leisure and hotel uses. 

Social Benefits 

8.2 The Scheme will deliver the following social benefits: 

8.2.1 Provision of new high-quality homes in a sustainable city centre location: 
The Development Site currently provides no housing and the wider city centre’s housing 
offer predominantly comprises purpose-built student accommodation. 

8.2.2 The Scheme will deliver up to 1,300 new high-quality homes as part of a sustainable 
mixed-use neighbourhood. If this maximum parameter of residential development was 
delivered, it would enable Coventry to meet over 5% of its minimum housing target defined 
in Local Plan Policy DS1. 

8.2.3 The current MHCLG Standard Method to calculating Local Housing Need is substantially 
higher than the Local Plan Policy DS1 requirement of 1,230 homes per annum, at 1,722 
homes per annum. The Scheme will contribute substantially to Coventry’s ability to 
increase its housing delivery above its current three-year average of 1,154 homes per 
annum and contribute to addressing its substantially higher quantum of unmet need.  The 
delivery of this number of new homes is significant in both the city-wide and city centre 
context. The Scheme will increase the variety of provision in the local housing market. 

Page 182



 

128281665.1\603111 41 

8.2.4 Improved pedestrian environment and public safety: the environmental benefits also 
identify an improvement in quality and quantity of the public realm more generally, whilst 
the text below focusses on the benefits to pedestrians travelling through the site and wider 
city centre. 

8.2.5 The Scheme significantly improves the permeability of the Development Site by reinstating 
the two historic north-south routes along Market Way and Hertford Street and creating new 
east-west linkages across the Site, to overcome the existing fragmented and illegible urban 
design. These east-west linkages would complement planned investment in improved 
pedestrian and cycle routes into the city centre from the Spon End area, with the re-
modelling of Junction 7 on the ring road as part of the Council’s approved Local Air Quality 
Action Plan. 

8.2.6 Improved surveillance: As secured by the Parameter Plans Document and Development 
Principles Document, the Scheme will improve passive surveillance through the removal of 
inactive frontages and ill-defined servicing areas and through the introduction of a new 
residential population on-site, thereby benefitting public safety. 

Environmental Benefits 

8.3 The Scheme will deliver the following environmental benefits: 

8.3.1 Provision of new high-quality homes in a sustainable city centre location: The Scheme will 
deliver up to 1,300 new high-quality homes as part of a sustainable mixed-use 
neighbourhood, this maximises the use of previously developed brownfield land within the 
existing urban area of Coventry, thereby minimising the requirement to deliver an 
equivalent number of homes on greenfield land, with its associated loss of biodiversity and 
amenity value. 

8.3.2 Creation of a larger amount and better quality of public space: The Development Site’s 
current layout hinders pedestrian connectivity through the site and into Coventry City 
Centre, with an illegible mixture of servicing areas, pedestrian precincts and lower-quality 
public spaces. It is currently estimated that the total area of publicly accessible space totals 
1.6 hectares, including the service areas associated with the Market. A comprehensive 
approach to the redevelopment of the Development Site will enable the delivery of a legible 
and attractive public realm, including soft landscaped areas and planting with their 
associated biodiversity and amenity benefits. As well as the significant qualitative 
improvement in public realm, the Scheme will increase the area of public realm by circa. 
40% to a total of 2 hectares.  

This public realm will be well-defined and well-designed as a place to pass through and a 
place to dwell, centred on two new public squares. The layout of public realm within the 
Scheme has sought to maximise the benefits of recent or on-going public realm 
improvements immediately adjacent to the Development Site, such as the new children’s 
play area and water feature adjacent to the Wave and Christchurch Spire. 

Alongside the biodiversity and amenity benefits, the combined qualitative and quantitative 
improvement in public realm will likely support health and wellbeing benefits for existing 
local residents and future residents of the Development, given the improved opportunities 
for walking and socialising. 

8.3.3 Potential for net biodiversity gain: Whilst landscaping is a reserved matter for the majority 
of the Scheme, an indicative Net Biodiversity Gain Assessment was produced to inform the 
application for the 2021 Permission.  This assessed the likely biodiversity net gain that 
could be achieved on-site, based on the illustrative landscape masterplan and potential 
green and brown roof areas.  The Assessment demonstrated the potential to achieve a net 
biodiversity gain of circa. 67% compared to the existing site characteristics, which 
significantly exceeds the 10% improvement enshrined in the Environment Act 2021. 

Page 183



 

128281665.1\603111 42 

The Development Principles Document for approval, alongside the Preliminary 
Environmental Assessment and Net Biodiversity Gain Assessment, provides 
recommendations in relation to green and brown roof areas and soft landscape design, 
which will be incorporated in the detailed design of landscape proposals to be submitted at 
reserved matters stage. 

8.3.4 Positive townscape effects:  The Scheme will deliver: 

(a) Beneficial townscape effects of major-to-moderate significance within the 
Coventry Central Retail townscape character area, with the re-introduction of 
historic north-south routes across the site (Market Way and Hertford Street) and 
creation of new east-west routes, improving the permeability and legibility of 
pedestrian circulation; 

(b) Beneficial townscape effects of moderate-to-minor significance on the adjacent 
Greyfriars Green townscape character area, with the introduction of varied 
rooflines and façade treatment and use of high-quality materials; and 

(c) Beneficial effects of minor significance in the Coventry West and Coventry South 
Mixed Use townscape character area south and west of the Development Site, 
with the removal of the inactive frontage associated with City Arcade and its multi-
storey car park and replacement with high-quality buildings with active street 
frontages set within a high-quality public realm. 

8.3.5 Enhancement of setting of designated heritage assets:  at present, the Grade II Listed 
Coventry Retail Market is relatively obscured from public view situated to the rear of the 
primary pedestrian thoroughfare along Market Way and is surrounded by vehicle parking 
and servicing areas, in a poor-quality setting. The Scheme will enhance the situation of the 
Market relative to the retail circuit and public realm; the southern Market frontage will face 
onto one of the two new public squares highlighting the prominence of the Market as a 
retail destination and enabling its architectural and communal values as a designated 
heritage asset to be experienced in a more open manner. 

8.4 The Council is therefore satisfied that the Scheme will deliver significant contributions to the 
achievement of the promotion and/or improvement of the economic, and/or social, and/or 
environmental well-being of the Council's area. 

9. ALTERNATIVES TO COMPULSORY PURCHASE 

9.1 Paragraph 106 of the CPO Guidance states that, amongst the factors which the Secretary of State 
can be expected to consider when determining whether to confirm an order made under section 
226(1)(a), is “whether the purpose for which the acquiring authority is proposing to acquire the land 
could be achieved by any other means”.  This may include considering the appropriateness of any 
alternative proposals put forward by the owners of the land, or any other persons, for its reuse. It 
may also involve examining the suitability of any alternative locations for the purpose for which the 
land is being acquired. 

9.2 Here, there are no reasonable alternatives to the Scheme. There is no alternative location for the 
delivery of the Scheme, and there is no evidence that piecemeal redevelopment is likely to come 
forward sufficiently to meet policy objectives nor, indeed, would it be consistent with the planning 
framework.   

9.3 The comprehensive regeneration of the City Centre South cannot be achieved without the wholesale 
regeneration of the Order Lands.  Policy CC19 of the CCCAP clearly prioritises comprehensive 
redevelopment over a piecemeal approach. The Council is the freehold owner of the majority of the 
Site.  As a result, there are no other landowners within the Site with land interests sufficient to deliver 
competing proposals. In any event, any theoretical alternative to the Scheme would not of itself be 
sufficient to prevent there being a compelling case for CPO as there are good reasons for the option 
pursued in the CPO. In this case, no alternative proposals to the Scheme have been promoted. 

Page 184



 

128281665.1\603111 43 

10. MEANS OF DELIVERY, POTENTIAL VIABILITY AND FUNDING 

10.1 A Development Agreement (“DA”) between the Council and SPG places an obligation on SPG to 
secure private sector funding and a delivery partner for the Scheme. 

10.2 The DA places obligations on SPG to secure this private sector funding and delivery partner with the 
expectation that the funder would then provide the necessary finance to cover the costs of getting to 
a start on site (what is called an “Unconditional Date” in the DA). These costs will include preparing 
detailed scheme design plans, reserved matters planning applications, the procurement of a main 
contractor to build the Scheme and indemnifying the Council regarding land assembly costs above 
the relevant capped WMCA grant figure. 

10.3 The scheme has been the subject of a number of viability and delivery challenges during its evolution, 
as summarised in the Deloitte Potential Means of Funding and Delivery Report (December, 2021). 
This has not been unusual in relation to schemes over the last few years. The project currently sits 
in a strong position, reflective of the efforts made by the Council and SPG to de-risk its delivery 
through planning and advancing land assembly, as well as the Council having originally secured 
WMCA grant funding. The profile of the rest of Coventry city itself has also grown in recent years, 
helped by factors such as the City of Culture designation; the growth and success of the two 
universities; and investment into the automotive sector, particularly linked to the development of 
battery electric vehicles. The evolution of the scheme, from one that was originally retail and leisure 
led through to one which is a residential led mixed use development, aligns well with wider market 
trends and Government direction to encourage city centre living. The response SPG has received to 
its Joint Venture Funding and Delivery Partner process is very encouraging, with three shortlisted 
parties all having a strong track record of working on complex regeneration schemes and having 
access to internal resources to be able to drive forward a project of the scale of the Scheme. There 
appears a good prospect that SPG will be able to secure a partner, who in turn SPG will propose as 
the ‘Approved Funder’ under the terms of the DA and invite to take control of the SPV, which has 
been established to deliver the Scheme. Furthermore, the proposals received from SPG’s proposed 
JV funding and delivery partners all indicate a deliverable and viable project. The analysis of these 
proposals remains ongoing but the initial indications are that this viability position has been arrived 
at through optimisation of the masterplan (both in terms of block design and use mix), the ability of 
at least two of the bidders to undertake construction works themselves at a competitive price, and a 
general confidence in the end values which could be realised. All three parties have set out a 
commitment to fund the costs SRPL is responsible for up to the unconditional date, such as detailed 
design and reserved matters planning applications. The approval of the ‘funder’ and any change of 
control of SPRL will remain subject to the Council’s agreement pursuant to the DA.  

10.4 Notwithstanding the encouraging progress SPG is making, it is important that the Council is able to 
satisfy itself that it has an alternative means of delivery approach as a fallback position. The Council 
and Deloitte consider that there are reasonable grounds to conclude that in such circumstances, a 
Council led delivery approach could be achieved within financial parameters similar to the proposals 
which SPG has received from prospective JV Funding and Delivery Partners. This is an approach 
that is being used successfully by other local authorities, such as Sheffield City Council’s “Heart of 
the City II” scheme which is a scheme which is delivering significant mixed use redevelopment of 
Sheffield City Centre, with the Council having taken responsibility for enabling the site and 
subsequently delivering multiple phases, either directly or with private sector investment. Any 
proposal for the Council to put additional funding into the scheme (whether pursuant to a request 
from SPRL or as part of an alternative delivery approach) would be subject to Cabinet and Full 
Council approval. The DA incorporates provision for the developer to seek an additional ‘Viability 
Amount’ if that was ever required.  

10.5 Overall, there is a reasonable prospect of scheme delivery by SPG and an appointed delivery and 
funding partner within the DA period. In the event that this process was not for some reason 
satisfactorily concluded during the DA period, it would be, subject to appropriate approvals, the 
Council’s anticipated intention to continue to bring forward the Scheme as the ‘master developer’ 
and take responsibility for overseeing the completion of land assembly, application of the WMCA 
grant funding towards enabling works and releasing enabled development plots itself to third party 
developers to deliver. The MHCLG Guidance on Compulsory Purchase Process and the Crichel 

Page 185



 

128281665.1\603111 44 

Down Rules guidance in relation to potential financial viability and funding as set out in this report is 
thus considered satisfied in this regard. 

11. IMPEDIMENTS TO DELIVERY AND WHETHER THE SCHEME HAS A REASONABLE 
PROSPECT OF GOING AHEAD 

11.1 Paragraph 15 of the CPO Guidance confirms that an acquiring authority will need to show that the 
scheme is unlikely to be prevented by any physical or legal impediments to implementation. 

11.2 As described above, the Council has considered the means of delivery, potential viability and funding 
of the Scheme and is satisfied that there are no resulting impediments to delivery.  In addition, the 
Council is also satisfied that there are no physical or legal impediments to the Scheme proceeding. 

11.3 Investigations undertaken to date have not revealed any physical factors which would impede 
development. 

11.4 The Order Land includes areas of open space as considered below. To the extent that there are any 
interests in the open space land affected by the Scheme, which are not already owned by the Council, 
those interests may be included within the Order. If so, an application may be made at the same time 
as the submission of the Order for a certificate pursuant to section 19(1)(a) of the 1981 Act. The total 
area of open space to be re-provided within the Scheme will exceed that being acquired pursuant to 
the Order and will be equally advantageous as the land taken.  

11.5 There is some operational land of statutory undertakers. All statutory undertakers have been 
identified and discussions are progressing with them.  No interests within the Order Land fall within 
the definition of “Crown Land” as confirmed below. 

11.6 There are a number of electricity substations within the Order Lands.  In addition, there are leasehold 
interests which encompass telecommunication apparatus and masts operated by 
telecommunications companies.  SPG has been engaging with relevant operators.  It is considered 
likely that agreement will be reached in all cases.  In addition, there a number of statutory undertakers 
who operate apparatus within the Order Land.  SPG are also in discussions with all of those 
undertakers regarding diversion of the apparatus. 

11.7 As described above, Planning Permission has been granted for the scheme and reserved matters 
applications will be submitted in respect of the detailed design of the Scheme.  As a result, it is 
considered that there are no planning impediments that would prevent implementation of the 
Scheme. 

11.8 Applications for three orders under section 247 of the 1990 Act are being made in respect of the 
stopping up of three small areas of public highway that sit within the boundary of the Scheme as 
further set out at paragraph 16 below.  It is intended that if objections to the application for stopping 
up order are made, any inquiry will be co-joined with the Inquiry relating to the Order. 

11.9 In summary, the Council is satisfied that there are no financial, physical, planning or legal 
impediments to the Scheme proceeding and that there is a reasonable prospect that it will proceed. 

12. STEPS TAKEN BY THE COUNCIL TO ACQUIRE LAND BY AGREEMENT 

12.1 The Council owns the freehold of the majority of the Pink Land.  This land is subject to various long-
leasehold, short-leasehold and other occupational interests that need to be acquired for the Scheme 
to proceed.  The occupational interests are mostly held by retail occupiers in respect of individual 
unit shops, although there are a small number of office and licenced premises occupiers.   

12.2 Since 2013 the Council has actively sought to acquire the long-leasehold interests in this land. 

12.3 The long-leasehold interest acquired by the Council since this date are: 

Page 186



 

128281665.1\603111 45 

12.3.1 Coventry Point – a 14 storey office building.  The long leasehold interest in Blocks 1 and 
2 Coventry Point, Market Way was acquired by the Council on 6 April 2018.  Building 
demolished by the Council in 2020. 

12.3.2 21-25 Hertford Street – retail parade, long leasehold acquired by the Council on 6th April 
2018.  Comprises cinema and shops on the North West side of Hertford Street together 
with the basement bar below these addresses. 

12.3.3 26-48 Hertford Street and part of 12 Bull Yard – retail parade, long leasehold acquired by 
the Council on 6th April 2018. 

12.3.4 14-16 Market Way – two retail units.  Long leasehold was acquired by the Council on 
28th November 2017. 

12.3.5 1-23 Shelton Square & 1A City Arcade – retail parade.  Long leasehold acquired by the 
Council on 6th April 2018. 

12.3.6 1-11 (odd numbers) Shelton Square and 1a City Arcade was acquired by the Council on 
13th September 2013. 

12.4 The remaining leasehold and other occupational interests are summarised in Table 1 below. 

Table 1 

Category Type Number of Interests 

2 Occupational leases with expiry or break dates that fall before 
31 January 2023, and provide the tenant  with security of 
tenure under the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954.  

30 

3 Occupational leases with expiry or break dates that fall before 
31 January 2023 and are excluded from the security of tenure 
provisions of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954. 

67 

All  97 

 

12.5 In September 2019, the Council established a “Land Assembly Group” (LAG).  The LAG comprises 
officers from the Council, the Council’s development partner, the Council’s appointed compulsory 
purchase surveyor, Deloitte, and the Council’s appointed solicitors, Pinsent Masons.  The LAG meets 
on a two weekly basis to consider and agree the action required to ensure that engagement with 
existing interests is appropriate and in accordance with the CPO Guidance, and to monitor progress 
with that action. 

12.6 The activity of the LAG is aligned to the Council’s Site Assembly Strategy. A copy of this strategy 
has been issued to leaseholders and occupiers within the Pink Land and is published on the Council’s 
website. 

12.7 In the absence of agreement, compulsory purchase will be required to acquire the Category 1a and 
Category 1b interests in Table 1. Where appropriate, unconditional offers have been made for the 
acquisition of these interests, and some of these negotiations are at an advanced stage.  In the case 
of existing tenants who are seeking relocation premises, the Council has offered flexibility on the 
timing of both the surrender of existing leases, and of the calculation and payment of compensation.  
In some cases, this includes the offer of lease surrender and/or the grant of mutually flexible leases 
to enable the Council to secure possession without the need to use compulsory purchase powers.  
This flexibility has enabled constructive dialogue to take place with all interests in Category 1a and 
Category 1b, and this engagement will continue in parallel with the statutory process. 

Page 187



 

128281665.1\603111 46 

12.8 It is not expected that compulsory purchase will be required to acquire the Category 2 and Category 
3 interests. The Council has served the necessary notices, under section 25 of the Landlord and 
Tenant Act 1954 (“the 1954 Act”), to bring the Category 2 leases to an end.  This action will require 
the Council to pay compensation to these tenants in accordance with section 37 of the 1954 Act.  
The Council will determine the Category 3 leases as necessary to enable the Scheme to proceed. 

12.9 In addition to the interests set out in Table 1, 37 properties (principally retail units) within the Pink 
Land are currently vacant.  Any new leases granted by the Council over these properties will be 
short-term and provide the ability to obtain possession before the development start date at nil cost.   

12.10 Where appropriate, the Council has also sought to engage with landowners with an interest in the 
Blue Land, who might be affected by the acquisition of new rights required to build and maintain the 
Scheme.  This has included engagement with the owners and occupiers of Beauchamp House, the  
residential block located to the southeast of the Development Site.  In July 2020, Deloitte undertook 
a virtual presentation to these owners and occupiers, and a recording of this presentation, and copy 
of the slide deck presented was subsequently been circulated.  

12.11 Affected parties have also been invited to attend two CPO “surgery” events, on 4 and 10 August 
2021, at which representatives from the Council and Deloitte were available to discuss the timing 
and impact of the Scheme with individual owners and occupiers.        

Proposals for relocating businesses 

12.12 The Council has prepared and published a Site Assembly Strategy for businesses which provides a 
range on information for those affected by the proposals including how those with interests in the 
Pink Land will be contacted to discuss the acquisition of their properties and available assistance to 
help with relocations.  This Site Assembly Strategy is available on the Council’s website which 
additionally includes information on the background to the Scheme, explains the compulsory 
purchase and compensation process, where to find further information and resources and contact 
details for further queries. This can be viewed at:  
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/372/city_centre_developments/3921/city_centre_south/2. 

12.13 The Council has instructed a local property agent, Holt Commercial Ltd, to maintain a schedule of 
retail premises available to let in the local area (the “Availability Schedule”). The Availability Schedule 
is updated on a two monthly basis and copies of this schedule have been provided to those occupiers 
looking for assistance in relocating to alternative premises. The October 2021 update of the 
Availability Schedule includes up to 29 units (with some larger units being capable of sub-division) 
which are currently vacant and to let in Coventry City Centre.  These vacant units have a total floor 
area of 6,479 sq m.  The total floor area of the units in Category 1a of Table 1 is 6,127 sq m (or 3,731 
sq m excluding the Coventry Empire). The Council owns the majority of these units. 

12.14 The Availability Schedule demonstrates there are a range of suitable available properties within the 
local area. Given this, and the time available before vacant possession is required, and taking into 
account the Council’s knowledge of occupiers’ preferences obtained from engagement to date, the 
Council is confident that all viable businesses that wish to relocate should be able to do so locally. 

On-going engagement 

12.15 In accordance with the CPO Guidance and the Council’s Site Assembly Strategy, engagement by 
the Council and Deloitte will continue in parallel with all stages of the compulsory purchase process.  
The Council remains committed to acquire all interests by agreement, although in order to mitigate 
the impact on some of the occupiers it may be beneficial for many occupiers to remain in occupation 
until physical possession is required. Discussions with affected parties will continue with a view to 
securing the acquisition of interests by agreement where appropriate and reducing the number of 
interests that need to be acquired compulsorily. 

Page 188

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/372/city_centre_developments/3921/city_centre_south/2


 

128281665.1\603111 47 

13. HUMAN RIGHTS CONSIDERATIONS 

13.1 Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits a public authority from acting in a way which is 
incompatible with the rights and fundamental freedoms set out in specified provisions of the 
European Convention on Human Rights ("Convention Rights"). 

13.2 Convention Rights likely to be engaged in the process of considering, making, confirming and 
implementing a compulsory purchase order include those under Article 6 (right to a fair and public 
hearing to determine a person's civil rights), Article 1 of the First Protocol (right to peaceful enjoyment 
of possessions) and Article 8 (right to respect for private and family life including a person's home).  
In addition, in effect, Article 14 prohibits discrimination, on any grounds, in the way public authorities 
secure enjoyment of the rights protected by the European Convention on Human Rights. 

13.3 In relation to the rights protected under Article 1 of the First Protocol (right to peaceful enjoyment of 
possessions) the European Court has recognised that "regard must be had to the fair balance that 
has to be struck between the competing interests of the individual and of the community as a whole".  
Both public and private interests are to be taken into account in the exercise of the Council's powers 
and duties. Any interference with a Convention Right must be necessary and proportionate.  
Compulsory purchase and overriding private rights must be justified by sufficiently compelling 
reasons in the public interest and must be a proportionate means of achieving the objectives of the 
Order.  Similarly, any interference with rights under Article 8 (right to home life) must be "necessary 
in a democratic society" and proportionate.  The requirements under the Convention are accurately 
reflected in paragraphs 12 and 13 of the CPO Guidance: 

"A compulsory purchase order should only be made where there is a compelling case in the public 

interest.   

An acquiring authority should be sure that the purposes for which it is making a compulsory 

purchase order sufficiently justify interfering with the human rights of those with an interest in the 

land affected.  Particular consideration should be given to the provisions of Article 1 of the First 

Protocol to the European Convention on Human Rights and, in the case of a dwelling, Article 8 of 

the Convention. 

The minister confirming the order has to be able to take a balanced view between the intentions 

of the acquiring authority and the concerns of those whose interest in the land it is proposing to 

acquire compulsorily and the wider public interest.  The more comprehensive the justification 

which the acquiring authority can present, the stronger its case is likely to be. However, the 

confirming minister will consider each case on its own merits and this guidance is not intended to 

imply that the confirming minister will require any particular degree of justification for any specific 

order.  It is not essential to show that land is required immediately to secure the purpose for which 

it is to be acquired, but a confirming minister will need to understand, and the acquiring authority 

must be able to demonstrate, that there are sufficiently compelling reasons for the powers to be 

sought at this time." 

13.4 If a compelling case in the public interest can be demonstrated, as the Council considers here, then 
this will meet the requirements of the Convention. In making this Order, the Council has carefully 
considered the balance to be struck between individual rights and the wider public interest.  Having 
regard to the matters set out above a compelling case in the public interest exists for the making and 
confirmation of the Order. Interference with Convention Rights, to the extent that there is any, is 
considered to be justified in order to secure the benefits which the Scheme will bring including the 
economic, social and environmental well-being improvements referred to above. Appropriate 
compensation will be available to those entitled to claim it under the relevant statutory provisions. 

Page 189



 

128281665.1\603111 48 

13.5 In relation to the requirements of Article 6 (right to a fair and public hearing), these are satisfied by 
the statutory procedures which include rights to object and to be heard at any public inquiry and by 
the right to statutory challenge under the Acquisition of Land Act 1981. 

14. THE PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY 

14.1 In discharging all its functions, the Council (and the Secretary of State) has a statutory duty under 
section149 of the Equality Act 2010 ("2010 Act"), "the public sector equality duty", to have due regard 
to the need to: 

14.1.1 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited 
by or under the Act; 

14.1.2 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; and 

14.1.3 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
persons who do not share it. 

14.2 Section 149 of the 2010 Act gives greater detail of what each of the above matters involves which 
the Council has taken into account.  The "relevant protected characteristics" are age; disability; 
gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation. 

14.3 An Equality Impact Assessment ("EqIA") has been undertaken to assess the impact on protected 
groups of the making of the Order and implementation of the Scheme, to assist decision-makers in 
discharging the public sector equality duty.  The EqIA includes consideration of the impact upon 
protected groups whose lives may be affected by the acquisition of land and rights, by the 
construction of the Scheme and/or by the completed Scheme.   

14.4 In preparing the EqIA, an equalities and communication survey was sent to approximately 130 
businesses and property owners who may be impacted by the making of the Order and the 
implementation of the Scheme. Due to an initial low response, the survey was sent out twice. Those 
businesses that responded provided information about their demographics and any specific needs 
they had regarding communications.  Within the survey, a question was asked regarding whether 
customers of the business are considered to be predominantly from a particular group or community 
to allow possible impacts on customers to be measured in addition to the owners and staff of the 
businesses affected.   

14.5 The EqIA for the proposed Order identifies that the wider community potentially affected would 
include: 

14.5.1 those who currently own or occupy land within and around the affected area including 
business and land owners; 

14.5.2 current visitors as well as future visitors to the affected area for work or leisure and to use 
the retail and other City Centre South facilities; and 

14.5.3 those who live around the Order Land now and those who will live within or around the land 
in the future. 

14.6 The potential impact on each of the protected groups is examined in detail within the EqIA. 

14.7 The EqIA notes that the implementation of the Council’s published Site Assembly Strategy, taken 
together with the statutory compensation code, will ensure that fair and non-discriminatory processes 
are in place.  Those responsible for disposing of the completed retail and residential phases will be 
required, by Part 4 of the 2010 Act, to ensure that they do not discriminate against protected groups 
when selecting tenants and purchasers, in the terms they offer and when managing the completed 
development. 

14.8 The EqIA identifies the following potential negative impacts on protected groups: 

Page 190



 

128281665.1\603111 49 

14.8.1 Most of the business occupiers and their staff fell within the 19-64 year age group giving 
rise to a potential for this age group to be disproportionately impacted by business loss or 
relocation.  However, business and relocation support is being provided together with 
assistance for those who may need employment or career support through connection to 
local services. 

14.8.2 Access to essential services, including banks and chemists, may be disrupted during 
construction which may result in a temporary adverse impact on protected groups based 
on age and disability as well as pregnancy and maternity due to disruption in this part of 
the city centre environment during the construction phase.  However, suitable mitigation 
measures would be put in place during the construction process to reduce the adverse 
effects on these groups. 

14.8.3 The Barracks Car Park is due to be demolished leading to a potential adverse impact on 
those in protected groups based on disability due to the disruption to the Shopmobility 
facility.  However, a condition of the Planning Permission requires the Shopmobility facility 
in Barracks Car Park to be replaced to a suitable location within the City Centre prior to the 
demolition of this building to ensure that the Shopmobility service is not disrupted. The 
Council is taking forward work to explore the option of locating the facility near to the new 
Salt Lane car park (less than 150 metres away from the existing location for Shopmobility). 
If this location is not possible then another suitable alternative location will be provided. 

14.8.4 One of the affected businesses has customers predominantly from the LGBTQ+ 
community. The Council will work with the business and other representatives of this 
community to ensure that their requirements for a safe space to socialise are met.  

14.8.5 There will be an adverse impact resulting from construction noise and traffic for local 
residents, in particular homeworkers. 

14.8.6 There is a potential perceived loss of safe spaces for homeless and rough sleepers during 
demolition and construction.  Steps for Change – the local support service for homeless 
people - are located in the affected area. When the development works begin, the Council 
will work with Steps for Change to ensure there is sufficient support for homeless people 
and rough sleepers. The Council will also ensure that the support services are aware of 
demolition timetables so they can support anyone who may be sleeping in affected areas. 

14.8.7 Although very close to the affected area, there is no impact on the Central Methodist Hall 
other than slight disruption during the construction phase. The Council will work closely 
with representatives of the church to ensure this is kept to a minimum and doesn’t affect 
religious services and other sensitive events. 

14.9 The EqIA additionally identifies the following positive impacts on protected groups: 

14.9.1 The Scheme will offer jobs and training opportunities, including for those age 16-18 years. 
These will include construction apprenticeships and employment opportunities in retail and 
leisure.  

14.9.2 The Scheme will include leisure facilities, for example a cinema, cafes and restaurants, 
giving social opportunities for young people.  

14.9.3 Improved green space and places to socialise will give parents and carers space for 
younger children to enjoy. 

14.9.4 New housing provision within the scheme will offer a mix of much needed high-quality 
housing of particular benefit for the 19-64 age group. The Scheme will also provide 
increased access to affordable housing for those with lower incomes. 

14.9.5 The Scheme has the potential to offer over 1,000 new full-time jobs as well as 620 new 
construction related jobs. 

Page 191



 

128281665.1\603111 50 

14.9.6 The Scheme will include positive accessibility principles, including the mandatory principle 
to mitigate existing steep gradients on Hertford Street. Tactile paving will be provided at 
crossing points, together with sloped pavements as well as stairs for wheelchair and 
mobility scooter accessibility, at grade access and an uncluttered public realm. All aspects 
of the Scheme will meet the required accessibility standard and will be legally compliant.  
Seating styles will cater for a range of needs, including some with arms and backrests to 
support the 65+ year age group.  

14.9.7 There will be a courtyard area for rest and relaxation and space for community use. The 
community use space can support opportunities to get involved in social activities, which 
may have positive health impacts and reduce loneliness in the 65+ year age group. The 
availability of accessible health facilities will also positively impact this age range. 

14.9.8 There will be a considered approach to lighting which will have a significant impact on 
orientation, security and visual quality. This will impact crime and the fear of crime and is 
of benefit for a number of protected groups including those based on sex. 

14.9.9 It is considered that once the redevelopment proposals have been completed, all groups 
would benefit from the improved physical environment in City Centre South as well as the 
wider economic benefits stemming from the proposals.  The proposed new, well-connected 
and well-designed public spaces would create quality meeting places which would help to 
foster good relations between all members of the community.  The new public spaces 
together with the safe improved public links will also help to mitigate crime and the fear of 
crime, of particular benefit to vulnerable members of protected groups. 

14.10 The EqIA will be monitored and reviewed throughout the progress of the proposals in order to ensure 
that any future impact can be measured and mitigated against as necessary. 

14.11 To conclude, steps are being taken to ensure that the acquisition and relocation processes are 
applied in a fair and non-discriminatory manner.  Steps will also be taken to minimise the adverse 
effects on protected groups during construction.  The proposals will bring a range of benefits to 
disabled and other protected groups including in relation to enhanced access, housing provision, 
employment and training opportunities and public realm improvements.  These features of the 
proposals will assist in ensuring that protected groups have equal access to the new jobs, facilities 
and homes in a major growth area. 

15. SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS AFFECTING THE ORDER LAND 

15.1 Section 19 of the Acquisition of Land Act 1981 defines “open space” as any land laid out as a public 
garden, or used for the purposes of public recreation, or land being a disused burial ground”.  The 
Order Land includes four areas that potentially fall within the statutory definition of “open space” as 
set out below: 

Table 2 

Area 1 Top of Hertford Street Currently 1,518m2 Proposed 1,537m2 

Area 2 Shelton Square Currently 1,438m2 Proposed 1,721m2 

Area 3 Area near to Beauchamp House 220m2 - 

Area 4 Playground by Bull Yard 1,280m2 1,285m2  

 

15.2 The total area of “open space” within the Order Land is 4,456 sqm.  The total area of land within the 
Scheme that will be re-provided as open space is 4,543 sqm. The total area of open space to be re-
provided within the Scheme therefore exceeds that being acquired pursuant to the Order and will be 
equally advantageous as the land taken.  To the extent that there are any interests in the open space 
land which are not already owned by the Council, an application will be made at the same time as 
the submission of the Order for a certificate pursuant to section 19(1)(a) of the 1981 Act. 

Page 192



 

128281665.1\603111 51 

15.3 There is no other land within the Order Land that falls within the scope of sections 16, 17, 18 or 19 
of the 1981 Act. 

15.4 No interests within the Order Land fall within the definition of “Crown Land” as defined in section 
293(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, section 82C of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and section 31 of the Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990 
(as amended). 

16. RELATED ORDERS AND CONSENTS 

16.1 There are three areas of publicly maintained adopted highway within the boundary of the Scheme 
and which will need to be stopped up before the Scheme can be fully implemented.  These areas 
are as follows: 

Highway 
Area  

Description of highway land 

1 Part of adopted highway known as Rover Road 

2 Part of adopted highways known as Queen Victoria Street 

3 Pedestrianised area at Bull Yard  

 

16.2 Applications to allow these areas of highway to be stopped up to facilitate delivery of the Scheme 
have been made pursuant to section 247 of the 1990 Act.  It is intended that any objections to these 
applications will be heard at a conjoined public inquiry with any objections to the making of the Order. 

16.3 As set out in detail at section 5 above, the Scheme benefits from the 2021 Planning Permission which 
takes the form of a hybrid permission in which the details for the layout and scale for areas of the 
Scheme (being those needed to assess the impacts of the Scheme on heritage assets) are already 
approved, with the remainder in outline with all matters reserved.  The Council is not aware of any 
reason why the necessary reserved matters approvals will not be granted in due course. 

16.4 Listed Building Consent (ref LB/2020/2857) was granted on 24th June 2021 for the removal of the 
bridge link between the roof top car park of the Market and the roof top parking over the existing 
retail units on Market Way together with associated reinstatement works to the roof top car park 
surface and balustrade, the removal of the existing Market basement ramp from Rover Road and 
associated infilling and reinstatement works, works to retaining wall to north-east of the Market, 
removal of existing pedestrian ramp into the Market off Rover Road, the creation of a new Market 
basement ramp from Queen Victoria Road and associated works to the Market basement.  

16.5 Listed Building Consent (ref LB/2020/2860) was also granted on 24th June 2021 for the removal and 
relocation of the Grade II listed William Mitchell Mural from the front elevation to a new location to be 
agreed in writing with the local planning authority in consultation with Historic England.   

16.6 Traffic regulation orders may be required in due course.  The details of any necessary traffic 
regulation orders will be agreed with the local highway authority following reserved matters approval 
has been obtained in relation to access for the Scheme. 

16.7 The Council is not aware of any reason why all necessary orders required for the implementation of 
the Scheme will not be obtained in due course. 

17. LEGAL STATUS OF THIS STATEMENT OF REASONS 

17.1 This Statement of Reasons is not a statement under Rule 7 of the Compulsory Purchase (Inquiries 
Procedure) Rules 2007. 

Page 193



 

128281665.1\603111 52 

18. CONTACTS FOR FURTHER INFORMATION AND NEGOTIATION 

18.1 Parties affected by the Order who wish to discuss matters with a representative of the Council should 
contact: 

Name Role Contact Details 

Adam Hunt Strategic Lead – Property 
and Development 
 

Adam.Hunt@coventry.gov.uk  
Tel: 07525 234968 
 

Richard Moon Director – Property Services 
and Development 
 

Richard.Moon@coventry.gov.uk  
Tel: 02476 972338 

 

18.2 Owners and tenants of properties affected by the Order who wish to negotiate a sale and/or relocation 
or discuss matters of compensation should contact: 

19. INSPECTION OF THE ORDER, MAP AND OTHER DOUMENTS  

19.1 A copy of the Order and of the Order map and other documents may be seen at:  

19.1.1 The Council House, CV1 5RR between the hours of 9:00-17:00 Monday to Friday (please 
ask at reception to see the documents); and 

19.1.2 on the Council's website at: www.coventry.gov.uk /[XX] 

20. DOCUMENTS TO BE REFERRED TO OR PUT IN EVIDENCE IN THE EVENT OF AN INQUIRY 

20.1 Documents and plans may be inspected at the same venues and times as the Order, identified 
above. 

20.2 List of Documents 

20.2.1 The Order and Order Map 

20.2.2 Delegated Authority Report dated [XX] 

20.2.3 The 2012 Permission 

20.2.4 The 2021 Permission 

20.2.5 National Planning Policy Framework  

20.2.6 The Government Guidance on Compulsory Purchase Process dated October 2015 

20.2.7 Equality Impact Assessment 

20.2.8 Relevant planning policy extracts from the Local Plan 

 

APPENDICES 

1. Appendix 1: Plan showing the Pink Land overlaid by the Scheme 

2. Appendix 2: Photographs of the key areas within the Development Site 

Page 194

mailto:Adam.Hunt@coventry.gov.uk
mailto:Richard.Moon@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov/


Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

1 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 

approximately 1649 square metres of land, bus shelters, fire escape from the 

multistorey carpark known as Lower precinct Car Park, adopted highway known as 

Rover Road, pedestrian ramp leading to Coventry Retail Market, taxi rank, parking 

meter, electric vehicle charging points, footpath forming part of adopted highways 

known as Corporation Street, Rover Road and Queen Victoria Street, situated to 

the west and south of Coventry Retail Market. 

 

2 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 

approximately 1496 square metres of demolished land, situated to the west of 

Coventry Retail Market and east of Corporation Street. 

 

3 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 2378 square metres of land, service area, car parking for market 
users, taxi rank, disabled parking, access ramp leading to underground market 
space for loading and unloading. Adopted highway known as Rover Road, 
walkways situated to the south of Coventry Retail Market 
 

3a 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 

approximately 56 square metres of land and Electricity substation (42D0859 

93/1029) situated to the south of Coventry Retail Market. 

 

3b 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 19 square metres of land being external market stall forming part of 
Coventry Retail Market situated to the east of Rover Road and to the west of Market 
Way. 
 

4 
 
 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 1320 square metres of land, building known as Albert Buildings, 
store known as Iceland Foods, situated to the east of Queen Victoria Road and the 
south of Rover Road. 
 

5 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 247 square metres of land, commercial premises known as 38-40 
City Arcade, situated to the east of Queen Victoria Road. 
 

6 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 61 square metres of commercial premises known as 36 City Arcade 
below upper level car park, situated to the east of Queen Victoria Road. 
 

7 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 58 square metres of commercial premises known as 34 City Arcade, 
situated to the east of Queen Victoria Road. 
 

8 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 61 square metres of commercial premises known as 32 City Arcade, 
situated to the east of Queen Victoria Road. 

 

9 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 58 square metres of commercial premises known as 30 City Arcade, 
situated to the east of Queen Victoria Road. 
 

10 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 60 square metres of commercial premises known as 28 City Arcade, 
situated to the south of Rover Road. 

 

11 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 58 square metres of commercial premises known as 26 City Arcade, 
situated to the south of Rover Road. 
 

Page 195



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

12 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 58 square metres of commercial premises known as 24 City Arcade, 
situated to the south of Rover Road. 
 

13 All interests except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 62 square metres of commercial premises known as 22 City Arcade, 
situated to the south of Rover Road. 

 

14 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 58 square metres of commercial premises known as 20 City Arcade, 
situated to the south of Rover Road. 
 

15 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 61 square metres of commercial premises known as18 City Arcade, 
situated to the south of Rover Road. 

 

16 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 61 square metres of commercial premises known as 16 City Arcade, 
situated to the south of Rover Road. 
 

17 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 57 square metres of commercial premises known as 14 City Arcade, 
situated to the south of Rover Road. 
 

18 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 57 square metres of commercial premises known as 12 City Arcade, 
situated to the south of Rover Road. 
 

19 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 61 square metres of commercial premises known as 10 City Arcade, 
situated to the south of Rover Road. 
 

20 All interests except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 176 square metres of commercial premises known as 8 City Arcade, 
situated to the south east of Rover Road. 
 

21 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 110 square metres of commercial premises known as 6 City Arcade, 
situated to the south east of Rover Road. 
 

22 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 49 square metres of commercial premises known as 4 City Arcade, 
situated to the south east of Rover Road. 

 

23 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 80 square metres of commercial premises known as 2 City Arcade, 
situated to the south west of Shelton Square. 
 

24 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 47 square metres of commercial premises known as 14 Market 
Chambers, situated to the south east of Rover Road. 

 

25 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 43 square metres of commercial premises known as 12 Market 
Chambers, situated to the south west of Shelton Square. 
 

26 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 84 square metres of commercial premises known as 10 Market 
Chambers and ATM, situated to the west of Shelton Square. 

 

Page 196



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

27 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 89 square metres of commercial premises known as 8 Market 
Chambers, situated to the west of Shelton Square. 
 

28 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 244 square metres of commercial premises known as 4-6 Market 
Chambers, situated to the west of Shelton Square. 

 

29 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 182 square metres of commercial premises known as 2 Market 
Chambers, situated to the north west of Shelton Square. 
 

29a All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 8 square metres open space land being covered walkway at Bull 
Yard 
 

30 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 76 square metres of covered walkway between Rover Road and City 
Arcade and rooftop car park. 

 

31 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 1174 square metres of covered walkways, stairways and alleyways 
around City Arcade and rooftop car park, between Queen Victoria Road and Market 
Way 

31a All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 87 square metres of open space land covered walkway at Bull Yard 
 

32 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 1373 square metres of land, forming commercial premises known as 
39-41 City Arcade, store known as Argos and rooftop car park, to the east of Queen 
Victoria Road 
 

33 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 75 square metres of land forming walkway and advertising screen to 
the east of Queen Victoria Road and the north of Greyfriars Road 
 

34 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 465 square metres of land forming ramp to City Arcade Car Park, 
wooded area and paved area to the north east of Greyfriars Road 
 

35 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 234 square metres of land forming walkways and wooded area to 
the north east of Greyfriars Road and City Arcade access road 
 

36 
 

Number not in use 
 

37 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests, 
excluding the acquiring authority, in approximately 5 square metres of land forming 
section of residential building known as 103-107 Beauchamp House to: 
 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land 

 

38 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 241 square metres of land forming part of City Arcade access road 
and walkways, situated to the north east of Greyfriars Road. 
 

38a All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 45 square metres of land being open space, situated to the west of 
Beauchamp House and City Arcade 

Page 197



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

39 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 3165 square metres of land forming part of City Arcade access 
roads, car parking spaces and loading areas between City Arcade and Greyfriars 
Road 
 

39a All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 2 square metres of land being open space, situated between City 
Arcade and the north of Beauchamp House 
 

39b All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 103 square metres of land being open space, situated between City 
Arcade and the north east of Beauchamp House 
 

40 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 122 square metres of land forming part of commercial premises 
known as 35-37 City Arcade and rooftop car park, situated to the east of Queen 
Victoria Road 
 

41 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 139 square metres of land forming part of commercial premises 
known as 35-37 City Arcade and rooftop car park, situated to the east of Queen 
Victoria Road 
 

42 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 48 square metres of commercial premises known as 31 Arcade, 
situated to the east of Queen Victoria Road 

 

43 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 47 square metres of commercial premises known as 33 Arcade, 
situated to the east of Queen Victoria Road 
 

44 
 

 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 87 square metres of commercial premises known as 29 Arcade, 
situated to the east of Queen Victoria Road 
 

45 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 179 square metres of commercial premises known as 27 Arcade, 
situated to the east of Queen Victoria Road 
 

46 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 179 square metres of commercial premises known as 23-25 Arcade, 
situated to the south of Rover Road 
 

47 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 86 square metres of commercial premises known as 21 Arcade, 
situated to the south of Rover Road 

 

48 All interests in approximately 88 square metres of commercial premises known as 
19 Arcade, situated to the south of Rover Road 

 

49 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 89 square metres of commercial premises known as 17 Arcade, 
situated to the south of Rover Road. 
 

50 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 84 square metres of commercial premises known as 15 Arcade, 
situated to the south of Rover Road. 

51 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 90 square metres of commercial premises known as 13 Arcade, 
situated to the south of Rover Road. 

 

Page 198



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

52 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 5square metres of commercial premises known as 11 Arcade, 
situated to the south of Rover Road. 
 

53 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 45 square metres of commercial premises known as 9 Arcade, 
situated to the south of Rover Road. 

 

54 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 245 square metres of commercial premises known as 7 Arcade, 
situated to the south east of Rover Road. 
 

55 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 14 square metres of land forming loading area outside of commercial 
premises known as 7 Arcade, situated to the south east of Rover Road. 

 

56 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 46 square metres of open space, situated between City Arcade and 
Beauchamp House.  

56a All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 2 square metres of open space land, situated between City Arcade 
and Beauchamp House. 

56b All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 3 square metres of open space land, situated between City Arcade 
and Beauchamp House. 

57 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 8 square metres of land, situated between City Arcade and 
Beauchamp House 
 

58 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 122 square metres of land forming an electricity substation 
between City Arcade and Beauchamp House. 

 

58a All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 1 square metres of open space between City Arcade and 
Beauchamp House.  
 

58b All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 20 square metres of open space between City Arcade and 
Beauchamp House.  
 

58c All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 1 square metres of open space between City Arcade and 
Beauchamp House.  
 

59 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 37 square metres of hardstanding and electricity substation between 
City Arcade and Beauchamp House.  

 

60 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 159 square metres of derelict building between Beauchamp House 
and Warwick Row 
 

61 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 170 square metres of land forming hardstanding and the rear of 
commercial premises between Beauchamp House and Warwick Row 
 

62 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 90 square metres of commercial premises forming 5 City Arcade 
 

Page 199



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

63 
 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 92 square metres of commercial premises forming 3 City Arcade 
 

64 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 102 square metres of commercial premises forming 1 City Arcade 
 

65 
 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 78 square metres of commercial premises forming 1A City Arcade 
 

66 
 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 106 square metres of commercial premises forming 1 Shelton 
Square 
 

67 
 

 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 19 square metres of open space and canopy in front of 1 Shelton 
Square 
 

68 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 153 square metres of commercial premises forming 3-5 Shelton 
Square 

 

69 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 26 square metres of canopy and open space only in front of 3-5 
Shelton Square 
 

70 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 12 square metres of covered walkway and open space in front of 7 
Shelton Square 
 

71 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 73 square metres of commercial premises forming 7 Shelton Square 
 

72 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 76 square metres of commercial premises forming 9 Shelton Square 

 

73 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 92 square metres of commercial premises forming 11 Shelton 
Square 
 

74 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 19 square metres of land, private fenced access way to the rear of 
11 Shelton Square 
 

75 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 57 square metres of land being access for the rear of commercial 
premises on Bull Yard 
 

76 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 109 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 6 
Bull Yard 
 

77 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 53 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 5 
Bull Yard 
 

78 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 6 square metres of open space land being covered walkway at Bull 
Yard 
 

Page 200



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

78a All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 21 square metres land being c being commercial premises at Bull 
Yard 

79 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 60 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 4 
Bull Yard  
 

79a All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 16 square metres of open space land known as Bull Yard  
 

80 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 92 square metres of land being an access yard for commercial 
premises 
 

81 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 61 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 3 
Bull Yard 
 

82 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 58 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 2 
Bull Yard 
 

83 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 189 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 1 
Bull Yard 
 

84 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 809 square metres of land being commercial premises known as The 
Litten Tree, Bull Yard 
 

85 
 

 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 638 square metres of land being pedestrianised area, grassed area 
and post box at Bull Yard 
 

85a All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 47 square metres of open space land being pedestrianised area at 
Bull Yard 
 

86 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 34 square metres of land being pedestrianised area at Bull Yard 

 

87 Number not in use 

88 
 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 1183 square metres of open space land being pedestrianised areas 
known as Bull Yard and Hertford Street, connecting stairways, ATM and three 
public telephone boxes 
 

88a All interests in approximately 7 square metres of land being an electrical substation 
situated between Hertford Street and Warwick Lane 
 

88b 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 360 square metres of land being pedestrianised areas known as 
pedestrianised area at Hertford Street and Hertford Street and connecting stairways 
 

88c All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 1076 square metres of land being pedestrianised areas known as 
being pedestrianised area at Bull Yard and covered walkway at Hertford Street 
 

Page 201



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

88d All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 28 square metres of land being pedestrianised area and covered 
walkway situated between the Bull Yard and Barracks Service Road 
 

88e All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 48 square metres of land being pedestrianised areas and covered 
walkway known as Warwick Row 
 

89 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 111 square metres of land being commercial premises 
 

90 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 102 square metres of land being commercial premises 

 

91 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 59 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 8 
Bull Yard 
 

92 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 103 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 7 
Bull Yard 
 

93 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 42 square metres of walkway covered by commercial premises 
leading from Bull Yard to Shelton Square 
 

94 
 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 97 square metres of land being access between commercial 
premises 
 

95 
 

All interests, excluding the acquiring authority, in approximately 44 square metres 
of land being commercial premises 

 

96 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 55 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 21 
Shelton Square 
 

97 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 28 square metres of land being access entrance 
 

98 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 45 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 19 
Shelton Square 
 

99 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 46 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 17 
Shelton Square 

 

100 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 47 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 15 
Shelton Square 
 

101 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 46 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 13 
Shelton Square 
 

102 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 66 square metres of land being a walkway covered by commercial 
premises leading to Bull Yard 
 

Page 202



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

102a All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 108 square metres of open space land being covered walkway 
known as Shelton Square 
 

103 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 759 square metres of open space land being a pedestrianised area 
known as Shelton Square and advertising screen 
 

103a All interests, excluding the acquiring authority, in approximately 130 square metres 
of pedestrianised walkway known as City Arcade 
 

104 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 146 square metres of land being loading bays and access road 
known as Rover Road 
 

104a All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 12 square metres of land, building known as Coventry Retail Market, 
market stall 29b 
 

105 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 784 square metres of land being loading bays and access road 
known as Rover Road 
 

105a All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 19 square metres of land, building known as Coventry Retail Market, 
market stall 19 and 20. 
 

105b All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 19 square metres of land, building known as Coventry Retail Market, 
market stall 21 and 22 
 

105c All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 18 square metres of land, building known as Coventry Retail Market, 
market stall 25 and 26. 
 

106 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 165 square metres of land being a walkway leading to Rover Road 
 

107 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 227 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 14 
Market Way 
 

108 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 211 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 16 
Market Way 

 

109 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 128 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 18 
Market Way 
 

110 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 114 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 20 
Market Way 
 

111 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 113 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 22 
Market Way 
 

112 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 113 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 24 
Market Way 

Page 203



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

113 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 128 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 26 
Market Way 
 

114 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 114 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 28 
Market Way 

 

115 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 138 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 30 
Market Way 
 

116 
 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 3663 square 
metres of land being a pedestrianised area known as Market Way leading to 
Shelton Square and post box 

 

116a All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 421 square metres of open space known as Shelton Square 
 

117 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 278 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 19 
Market Way 
 

118 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 333 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 21 
and 23 Market Way 
 

119 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 56 square metres of land being a walkway covered by commercial 
premises leading to Barracks Way Service Road 
 

120 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 252 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 27 
Market Way 
 

121 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 138 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 35 
Market Way 
 

122 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 131 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 37 
Market Way 

 

123 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 129 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 39 
Market Way 
 

124 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 396 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 23 
Shelton Square and ATM 

 

125 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 7555 square metres of land being a multiple storey car park, loading 
bays, footpaths and road known as Barracks Service Road 
 

126 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 65 square metres of land being a multiple storey car park and 
electricity substation lying to the North West of Hereford Street 

 

Page 204



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

127 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 217 square metres of land being a road known as Barracks Service 
Road 
 

128 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 64 square metres being a covered walkway to Barracks Service 
Road  

 

128a All interests, excluding the acquiring authority, in approximately 33 square metres 
of open space land being covered walkway at Bull Yard 
 

129 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 44 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 9 
Bull Yard 

 

130 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 34 square metres of land at the rear of 9 Bull Yard being a road 
known as Barracks Service Road 
 

131 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 64 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 10 
Bull Yard 
 

132 
 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 164 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 11 
and 12 Bull Yard 
 

133 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 417 square metres of land being public adopted road known as 
Barracks Service Road 
 

134 
 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 103 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 48 
Hertford Street 

135 
 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 102 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 47 
Hertford Street 
 

136 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 210 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 45 
and 46 Hertford Street 

 

137 
 

 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 112 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 44 
Hertford Street 
 

138 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 94 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 43 
Hertford Street 

 

139 
 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 100 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 42 
Hertford Street 
 

140 
 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 100 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 41 
Hertford Street 
 

141 All interests, excluding the acquiring authority, in approximately 100 square metres 
of land being commercial premises known as 40 Hertford Street 

 

Page 205



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

142 
 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 100 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 39 
Hertford Street and ATM 
 

143 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 110 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 38 
Hertford Street 

 

144 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 111 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 37 
Hertford Street 
 

145 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 112 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 36 
Hertford Street 

 

146 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 171 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 33 
to 35 Hertford Street 
 

147 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 16 square metres of land being a covered walkway known as 
Hertford Street 
 

147a All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 47 square metres of land being a covered walkway known as 
Hertford Street 
 

148 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 256 square metres of land being road tunnel known as Barracks Way 
situated underneath commercial premises known as 33 to 35 Hertford Street 
 

148a All interests in approximately 73 square metres of land being road tunnel known as 
Barracks Way situated underneath commercial premises known as 33 to 35 
Hertford Street 
 

149 
 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 59 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 33 
to 35 Hertford Street 

 

150 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 31 square metres of land being a canopy situated above a covered 
walkway known as Hertford Street 

151 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 155 square metres of land being a covered walkway known as 
Hertford Street 

 

151a All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 239 square metres of land being a covered walkway known as 
Hertford Street 

151b All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 8 square metres of open space land being covered walkway known 
as Hertford Street 
 

152 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 157 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 32 
Hertford Street 

 

153 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 324 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 30 
and 31 Hertford Street 

Page 206



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

154 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 122 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 29 
Hertford Street 
 

155 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 77 square metres of land being commercial premises at the rear of 
29 Hertford Street 

 

156 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 28 square metres of land being commercial premises at the rear of 
28 Hertford Street 
 

157 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 107 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 28 
Hertford Street 

 

158 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 17 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 27 
Hertford Street 
 

159 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 125 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 26 
Hertford Street 
 

160 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 71 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 25a 
Hertford Street 
 

161 
 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 265 square metres of land being multi floored property containing 
ground floor commercial premises known as 24-25 Hertford Street, HMV Empire 
theatre on the above levels and nightclub in the basement 

 

162 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 161 square metres of land being multi floored property containing 
ground floor commercial premises known as 23 Hertford Street, HMV Empire 
theatre on the above levels and nightclub in the basement 
 

163 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 161 square metres of land being entrance to HMV Empire theatre 
situated at 22 Hertford Street, with the theatre above 
 

164 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 170 square metres of land being multi floored building containing 
commercial premises known as 21 Hertford Street, HMV Empire theatre on the 
above levels and nightclub in the basement 
 

165 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 133 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 20 
Hertford Street 
 

166 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 140 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 18-
19 Hertford Street 
 

167 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximate134 206 square metres of open space land and covered walkways 
known as Hertford Street and an unnamed section of walkway to the south of 
Broadgate 

 

Page 207



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

167a All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 73 square metres of covered walkway between Hertford Street and 
Barracks Way 
 

168 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 11 square metres of open space land forming a small section of 
covered walkway known as Hertford Street 
 

169 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 303 square metres of open space land, trees and courtyard in 
between two sections of Hertford Street 
 

170 
 

Number not in use 

171 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 786 square metres of open space land forming covered walkway 
known as Hertford Street and courtyard 

 

171a All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 296 square metres of open space land forming covered walkway 
known as Hertford Street and courtyard 
 

172 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 10 square metres of open space land being an area of courtyard, 
situated to the south of 30 Broadgate 
 

173 
 

Number not in use 

174 
 

Number not in use 

175 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 11 square metres of land being part of adopted highway between 
Queen Victoria Road and Lower Precinct Car Park 
 

176 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 319 square metres of land, covered walkways and section of 
adopted highway known as Queen Victoria Road to: 
 

• pass and re-pass across the land at all times with or without vehicles, 
machinery, equipment and materials for all purposes in connection with 
the [demolition, construction], maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property, structures and 
buildings and service media adjacent to or abutting the land [and the right 
from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working 
practices] 

 

177 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use approximately 
56 square metres of land being part of adopted highway between Queen Victoria 
Road and service yards and part of buildings known as 91-101 Lower Precinct to: 
 

• pass and re-pass across the land at all times with or without vehicles, 
machinery, equipment and materials for all purposes in connection with 
the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property, structures and 
buildings and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and the right 
from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working 
practices; 

 

Page 208



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

178 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use approximately 
94 square metres of land being part of adopted highway between Queen Victoria 
Road and service yards and part of buildings known as 91-101 Lower Precinct to: 
 

• pass and re-pass across the land at all times with or without vehicles, 
machinery, equipment and materials for all purposes in connection with 
the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property, structures and 
buildings and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and the right 
from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working 
practices; and 
 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses (either on a 

temporary or permanent basis) forming part of or used by the land taking 

steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 

servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 

access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices. 

 

179 The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use in 
approximately 261 square metres of multi-storey car park known as Lower Precinct 
Car Park to: 
 

• pass and re-pass across the land at all times with or without vehicles, 
machinery, equipment and materials for all purposes in connection with 
the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property, structures and 
buildings and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and the right 
from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working 
practices; and 
 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses (either on a 

temporary or permanent basis) forming part of or used by the land taking 

steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 

servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 

access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices. 

 

180 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these, to enter upon and use all interests 
(except those owned by Western Power Distribution (East Midlands) Plc in respect 
of the electricity substation) in approximately 1624 square metres of multi-storey 
car park known as Lower Precinct Car Park to: 
 

• pass and re-pass across the land at all times with or without vehicles, 
machinery, equipment and materials for all purposes in connection with 
the [demolition, construction], maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property, structures and 
buildings and service media adjacent to or abutting the land [and the right 
from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working 
practices] 
 

• erect, secure, use and take support for scaffolding and/or hoardings on 
the land or land adjoining or abutting the boundaries of the land for the 
purpose of demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property, structures and 
buildings and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and the right 
from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working 
practices 

 

Page 209



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

180 
(cont’d) 

 
 
 

• carry out works to protect and make good buildings on the land (including 
the temporary removal or replacement of non-structural parts of such 
buildings, chattels and/or fixtures) as necessary in connection with the 
demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time 
to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working practices  

 

• carry out boundary treatment works to external walls and boundary 
structures or buildings on the land as necessary in connection with the 
demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and thereafter to inspect 
and maintain such works and the right from time to time to manage access 
to the land to accord with safe working practices  

 

• alter and/or remove fire escapes (either on a temporary or permanent 
basis) forming part of or used by the land taking steps to ensure that 
such land retains an alternative means of escape during such works 
and/or to construct and install fire escapes upon the land and to grant 
rights for owners and occupiers of land, property and buildings adjacent 
to and/or neighbouring the land to use such fire escapes and to carry out 
any necessary reinstatement works  
 

• carry out surveys and site inspections on the land as necessary in 
connection with the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, 
repair, reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and 
buildings and service media on the land or land adjacent to or abutting the 
land  

 

181 Number not in use 
 

182 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 2304 square metres of land being service access and loading bays, 
car parking spaces and dustbins, excluding footbridge, situated to the north of 
Coventry Retail Market to: 
 

• erect, secure, use and take support for scaffolding and/or hoardings on 
the land or land adjoining or abutting the boundaries of the land for the 
purpose of demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property, structures and 
buildings and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and the right 
from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working 
practices 

 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land 
 

• carry out works to protect and make good buildings on the land (including 
the temporary removal or replacement of non-structural parts of such 
buildings, chattels and/or fixtures) as necessary in connection with the 
demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time 
to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working practices 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 210



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

182  
(cont’d) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• carry out boundary treatment works to external walls and boundary 
structures or buildings on the land as necessary in connection with the 
demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and thereafter to inspect 
and maintain such works and the right from time to time to manage access 
to the land to accord with safe working practices  

 

• carry out surveys and site inspections on the land as necessary in 
connection with the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, 
repair, reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and 
buildings and service media on the land or land adjacent to or abutting the 
land 

 

183 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use approximately 
[5129] square metres of land being the ground floor of Coventry Retail Market to 
 

• carry out surveys and site inspections on the land as necessary in 
connection with the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, 
repair, reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and 
buildings and service media on the land or land adjacent to or abutting the 
land (including any levels above or beneath the land)  
 

• erect, secure, use and take support for scaffolding and/or hoardings on 
the land or land adjoining or abutting the boundaries of the land for the 
purpose of demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property, structures and 
buildings and service media adjacent to or abutting the land (including any 
levels above or beneath the land)  and the right from time to time to 
manage access to the land to accord with safe working practices pass and 
re-pass across the land at all times with or without , machinery, equipment 
(whether fixed or moveable) and materials for all purposes in connection 
with the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property, structures and 
buildings and service media adjacent to or abutting the land (including any 
levels above or beneath the land)  and the right from time to time to 
manage access to the land to accord with safe working practices 
 

• to carry out accommodation, reconfiguration and/or other consequential 
modification and/or reinstatement works to buildings, property and/or 
structures on the land where necessitated by or in consequence of the 
demolition and/or construction maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
adjacent to or abutting the land and to facilitate the beneficial occupation 
and use of the land and the right from time to time to manage access to 
the land to accord with safe working practices; 

 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses (either on a 

temporary or permanent basis) forming part of or used by the land taking 

steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 

servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 

access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices; 

 

• carry out painting, decorating, repair and treatment works to the exterior 
of the external walls of boundary structures or buildings on the land as 
necessary] and thereafter to inspect and maintain such works and the right 
from time to time to manage access to the land for such works and 
inspection and maintenance thereafter to accord with safe working 
practices  

Page 211



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

183 
(cont’d) 

 
 

 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land; carry out works to disconnect, alter, divert, relocate and reconnect 
service media in, over or under the land as necessary in connection with 
the construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, reinstatement, 
removal and replacement of land, property and buildings and service 
media adjacent to or abutting the land (including above and below) and 
the right from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with 
safe working practices  

 

183a 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use approximately 
30 square metres of land being ramp used as a walkway to Coventry Retail Market 
and roof-top car park to: 
 

• carry out surveys and site inspections on the land as necessary in 
connection with the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, 
repair, reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and 
buildings and service media on the land or land adjacent to or abutting the 
land (including any levels beneath the land) 
  

• erect, secure, use and take support for scaffolding and/or hoardings on 
the land or land adjoining or abutting the boundaries of the land for the 
purpose of demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property, structures and 
buildings and service media adjacent to or abutting the land (including any 
levels above or beneath the land)  and the right from time to time to 
manage access to the land to accord with safe working practices 
 

• pass and re-pass across the land at all times with or without vehicles, 
machinery, equipment (whether fixed or moveable) and materials for all 
purposes in connection with the demolition, construction, maintenance, 
use, renewal, repair, reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, 
property, structures and buildings and service media adjacent to or 
abutting the land (including any levels above or beneath the land)  and the 
right from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe 
working practices 

 

• to carry out accommodation, reconfiguration and/or other consequential 
modification and/or reinstatement works to buildings, property and/or 
structures on the land where necessitated by or in consequence of the 
demolition and/or construction maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
adjacent to or abutting the land and to facilitate the beneficial occupation 
and use of the land and the right from time to time to manage access to 
the land to accord with safe working practices; 

 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses (either on a 

temporary or permanent basis) forming part of or used by the land taking 

steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 

servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 

access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices; 

 

• carry out painting, decorating, repair and treatment works to the exterior 
of the external walls of boundary structures or buildings on the land as 
necessary and thereafter to inspect and maintain such works and the right 
from time to time to manage access to the land for such works and 
inspection and maintenance thereafter to accord with safe working 
practices  

 
 
 
 

Page 212



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

183a 
(cont’d) 

 
 
 
 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land; carry out works to disconnect, alter, divert, relocate and reconnect 
service media in, over or under the land as necessary in connection with 
the construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, reinstatement, 
removal and replacement of land, property and buildings and service 
media adjacent to or abutting the land (including above and below) and 
the right from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with 
safe working practices  

 

183b 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 

assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use approximately 

5185 square metres of land being the roof top car park of Coventry Retail Market 

to: 

 

• carry out surveys and site inspections on the land as necessary in 
connection with the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, 
repair, reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and 
buildings and service media on the land or land adjacent to or abutting the 
land (including any levels above or beneath the land); 
 

• erect, secure, use and take support for scaffolding and/or hoardings on 
the land or land adjoining or abutting the boundaries of the land for the 
purpose of demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property, structures and 
buildings and service media adjacent to or abutting the land (including any 
levels above or beneath the land) and the right from time to time to 
manage access to the land to accord with safe working practices; 

 

• to carry out accommodation, reconfiguration and/or other consequential 
modification and/or reinstatement works to buildings, property and/or 
structures on the land where necessitated by or in consequence of the 
demolition and/or construction of land, property and buildings adjacent to 
or abutting the land and to facilitate the beneficial occupation and use of 
the land and the right from time to time to manage access to the land to 
accord with safe working practices 

 

• carry out painting, decorating, repair and treatment works to the exterior 
of the external walls of boundary structures or buildings on the land as 
necessary and thereafter to inspect and maintain such works and the right 
from time to time to manage access to the land for such works and 
inspection and maintenance thereafter to accord with safe working 
practices  

 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land;  

 

• carry out works to disconnect, alter, divert, relocate and reconnect service 
media in, over or under the land as necessary in connection with the 
construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, reinstatement, removal 
and replacement of land, property and buildings and service media 
adjacent to or abutting the land (including any levels above or beneath the 
land)  and the right from time to time to manage access to the land to 
accord with safe working practices  

 

• pass and re-pass across the land at all times with or without vehicles, 
machinery, equipment and materials for all purposes in connection with 
the demolition, of land, property, structures and buildings and service 
media adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time to time to 
manage access to the land to accord with safe working practices 

 

Page 213



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

183b 
(cont’d) 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses (either on a 

temporary or permanent basis) forming part of or used by the land taking 

steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 

servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 

access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices; 

 

183c All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 162 square 
metres of land at basement level within the Coventry Retail Market 

183d 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use approximately 
2631 square metres of land at basement level within the Coventry Retail Market  
 

• carry out surveys and site inspections on the land as necessary in 
connection with the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, 
repair, reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and 
buildings and service media on the land or land adjacent to or abutting the 
land (including any levels above or beneath the land)   
 

• erect, secure, use and take support for scaffolding and/or hoardings on 
the land or land adjoining or abutting the boundaries of the land for the 
purpose of demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property, structures and 
buildings and service media adjacent to or abutting the land (including any 
levels beneath the land) and the right from time to time to manage access 
to the land to accord with safe working practices 

 

• carry out works to disconnect, alter, divert, relocate and reconnect service 
media in, over or under the land as necessary in connection with the 
construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, reinstatement, removal 
and replacement of land, property and buildings and service media 
adjacent to or abutting the land (including any levels beneath the land) and 
the right from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with 
safe working practices; 

 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land;  

 

• to carry out accommodation, reconfiguration and/or other consequential 
modification and/or reinstatement works to buildings, property and/or 
structures on the land where necessitated by or in consequence of the 
demolition and/or construction of land, property and buildings adjacent to 
or abutting the land and to facilitate the beneficial occupation and use of 
the land and the right from time to time to manage access to the land to 
accord with safe working practices 

 

• pass and re-pass across the land at all times with or without vehicles, 
machinery, equipment and materials for all purposes in connection with 
the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property, structures and 
buildings and service media adjacent to or abutting the land (including any 
levels beneath the land) and the right from time to time to manage access 
to the land to accord with safe working practices 

 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses (either on a 
temporary or permanent basis) forming part of or used by the land taking 
steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 
servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 
access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices; 

Page 214



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

184 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 1603 square metres of land being ground floor commercial premises 
with office building above situated to the west of Market Way to: 
 

• carry out surveys and site inspections on the land as necessary in 
connection with the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, 
repair, reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and 
buildings and service media on the land or land adjacent to or abutting the 
land;   
 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land; 
 

• alter and/or remove fire escapes (either on a temporary or permanent 
basis) forming part of or used by the land taking steps to ensure that such 
land retains an alternative means of escape during such works and/or to 
construct and install fire escapes upon the land and to grant rights for 
owners and occupiers of land, property and buildings adjacent to and/or 
neighbouring the land to use such fire escapes and to carry out any 
necessary reinstatement works  

 

185 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 135 square metres of land being paved public pedestrianised area 
with benches, dustbins, trees, street food vendors, public telephone boxes and a 
post box to: 
 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land 
 

186 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 201 square metres of land being ground floor commercial premises 
and unoccupied office premises on the first floor, situated to the south of Upper 
Precinct and to the west of Market Way to: 
 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses (either on a 
temporary or permanent basis) forming part of or used by the land taking 
steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 
servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 
access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices 

 

187 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the acquiring authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 2721 square metres of land being ground floor commercial premises 
known as 43-47 The Precinct and unoccupied office premises on the first floor, 
situated to the south of Upper Precinct and to the west of Market Way to: 
 

• carry out surveys and site inspections on the land as necessary in 
connection with the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, 
repair, reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and 
buildings and service media on the land or land adjacent to or abutting the 
land 
 

• pass and re-pass across the land at all times with or without vehicles, 
machinery, equipment and materials for all purposes in connection with 
the [demolition, construction], maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property, structures and 
buildings and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and the right 
from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working 
practices; 

Page 215



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

187 
(cont’d) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

• erect, secure, use and take support for scaffolding and/or hoardings on 
the land or land adjoining or abutting the boundaries of the land for the 
purpose of demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property, structures and 
buildings and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and the right 
from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working 
practices; 
 

• carry out boundary treatment works to external walls and boundary 
structures or buildings on the land as necessary in connection with the 
demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and thereafter to inspect 
and maintain such works and the right from time to time to manage access 
to the land to accord with safe working practices  

 

• alter and/or remove fire escapes (either on a temporary or permanent 
basis) forming part of or used by the land taking steps to ensure that such 
land retains an alternative means of escape during such works and/or to 
construct and install fire escapes upon the land and to grant rights for 
owners and occupiers of land, property and buildings adjacent to and/or 
neighbouring the land to use such fire escapes and to carry out any 
necessary reinstatement works  
 

• the right from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with 
safe working practices 
 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses [(either on a 
temporary or permanent basis)] forming part of or used by the land 
taking steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of 
access and servicing during such works and the right from time to time to 
manage access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working 
practices; 
 

• carry out works to disconnect, alter, divert, relocate and reconnect service 
media in, over or under the land as necessary in connection with the 
construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, reinstatement, removal 
and replacement of land, property and buildings and service media 
adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time to time to manage 
access to the land to accord with safe working practices  

 

188 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 227 square metres of land being ground floor commercial premises 
and unoccupied office premises on the first floor, situated to the south of Upper 
Precinct to: 
 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land 
 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses [(either on a 
temporary or permanent basis)] forming part of or used by the land taking 
steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 
servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 
access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices 

 

189 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 211 square metres of land being ground floor commercial premises 
known as 35-37 The Precinct and unoccupied office premises on the first floor, 
situated to the south of Upper Precinct to: 

Page 216



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

189  
(cont’d) 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land 
 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses [(either on a 
temporary or permanent basis)] forming part of or used by the land taking 
steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 
servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 
access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices 

 

190 The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use All interests in 
approximately 270 square metres of land being ground floor commercial premises 
known as 29 – 31 The Precinct and unoccupied office premises on the first floor, 
situated to the south of Upper Precinct to: 
 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land 
 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses [(either on a 
temporary or permanent basis)] forming part of or used by the land taking 
steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 
servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 
access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices 

 

191 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 138 square metres of land being First Floor office space, situated to 
the south of Upper Precinct to: 
 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land 
 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses [(either on a 
temporary or permanent basis)] forming part of or used by the land taking 
steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 
servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 
access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices 

 

•  

191a All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 138 square metres of land being a public covered walkway, situated 
to the south of Upper Precinct 
 

192 The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 70 square metres of land being unoccupied commercial premises on 
the first floor situated to the south of Upper Precinct to: 
 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses (either on a 
temporary or permanent basis) forming part of or used by the land taking 
steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 
servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 
access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices 

•  

193 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 193 square metres of land being ground floor commercial premises 
situated to the south of Upper Precinct to: 
 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land 

Page 217



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

193  
(cont’d) 

 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses (either on a 
temporary or permanent basis) forming part of or used by the land taking 
steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 
servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 
access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices 

 

194 The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 184 square metres of land being ground floor commercial premises 
and unoccupied office premises on the first floor, situated to the south of Upper 
Precinct to: 
 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses (either on a 
temporary or permanent basis) forming part of or used by the land taking 
steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 
servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 
access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices 
 

195 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 35 square metres of land being loading bays situated to the rear of 
Upper Precinct to: 
 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land 
 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses (either on a 
temporary or permanent basis) forming part of or used by the land taking 
steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 
servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 
access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices 
 

196 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 220 square metres of land being ground floor commercial premises 
known as 17-19 The Precinct and unoccupied office premises on the first floor, 
situated to the south of Upper Precinct to: 
 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land 
 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses (either on a 
temporary or permanent basis) forming part of or used by the land taking 
steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 
servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 
access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices 

 

197 The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 210 square metres of land being ground floor commercial premises 
known as 13-15 The Precinct and unoccupied office premises on the first floor, 
situated to the south of Upper Precinct to: 
 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses (either on a 

temporary or permanent basis) forming part of or used by the land taking 

steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 

servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 

access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices 

 

Page 218



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

198 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 35 square metres of land being loading bays situated to the rear of 
Upper Precinct to: 
 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land 
 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses (either on a 

temporary or permanent basis) forming part of or used by the land taking 

steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 

servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 

access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices 

 

199 The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 425 square metres of land being ground floor commercial premises 
and unoccupied office premises on the first floor, situated to the south of Upper 
Precinct to: 
 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land 
 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses (either on a 

temporary or permanent basis) forming part of or used by the land taking 

steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 

servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 

access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices 

 

200 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 1440 square metres of land being commercial premises and office 
building known as Broadgate House, situated to the west of Broadgate to: 
 

• carry out surveys and site inspections on the land as necessary in 
connection with the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, 
repair, reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and 
buildings and service media on the land or land adjacent to or abutting the 
land  
 

• erect, secure, use and take support for scaffolding and/or hoardings on 
the land or land adjoining or abutting the boundaries of the land for the 
purpose of demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property, structures and 
buildings and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and the right 
from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working 
practices 
 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land 

 

• carry out works to protect and make good buildings on the land (including 
the temporary removal or replacement of non-structural parts of such 
buildings, chattels and/or fixtures) as necessary in connection with the 
demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time 
to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working practices 

 
 

Page 219



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

200 
(cont’d) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• carry out accommodation, reconfiguration and/or other consequential 
modification and/or reinstatement works to buildings, property and/or 
structures on the land where necessitated by the demolition and/or 
construction of land, property and buildings adjacent to or abutting the land 
and to facilitate the continued beneficial occupation and use of the land 
and the right from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with 
safe working practices 

 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses (either on a 

temporary or permanent basis) forming part of or used by the land taking 

steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 

servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 

access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices 

 

201 
 

Number not in use 

202 
 

Number not in use 

203 Number not in use 

204 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 117 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 69 
Hertford Street to: 
 

• carry out surveys and site inspections on the land as necessary in 
connection with the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, 
repair, reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and 
buildings and service media on the land or land adjacent to or abutting the 
land  
 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land 
 

• carry out accommodation, reconfiguration and/or other consequential 
modification and/or reinstatement works to buildings, property and/or 
structures on the land where necessitated by the demolition and/or 
construction of land, property and buildings adjacent to or abutting the land 
and to facilitate the continued beneficial occupation and use of the land 
and the right from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with 
safe working practices 

 

• carry out works to protect and make good buildings on the land (including 
the temporary removal or replacement of non-structural parts of such 
buildings, chattels and/or fixtures) as necessary in connection with the 
demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time 
to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working practices  
 

• carry out boundary treatment works to external walls and boundary 
structures or buildings on the land as necessary in connection with the 
demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and thereafter to inspect 
and maintain such works and the right from time to time to manage access 
to the land to accord with safe working practices  

 
 
 

Page 220



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

204 
(cont’d) 

 
 
 
 

• carry out works to disconnect, alter, divert, relocate and reconnect service 
media in, over or under the land as necessary in connection with the 
construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, reinstatement, removal 
and replacement of land, property and buildings and service media 
adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time to time to manage 
access to the land to accord with safe working practices  

 

205 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 90 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 68 
Hertford Street to: 
 

• carry out surveys and site inspections on the land as necessary in 
connection with the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, 
repair, reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and 
buildings and service media on the land or land adjacent to or abutting the 
land  
 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land 

 

• carry out works to protect and make good buildings on the land (including 
the temporary removal or replacement of non-structural parts of such 
buildings, chattels and/or fixtures) as necessary in connection with the 
demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time 
to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working practices  

 

• carry out boundary treatment works to external walls and boundary 
structures or buildings on the land as necessary in connection with the 
demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and thereafter to 
inspect and maintain such works and the right from time to time to 
manage access to the land to accord with safe working practices;  
 

• carry out accommodation, reconfiguration and/or other consequential 
modification and/or reinstatement works to buildings, property and/or 
structures on the land where necessitated by the demolition and/or 
construction of land, property and buildings adjacent to or abutting the land 
and to facilitate the continued beneficial occupation and use of the land 
and the right from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with 
safe working practices 
 

• carry out works to disconnect, alter, divert, relocate and reconnect service 
media in, over or under the land as necessary in connection with the 
construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, reinstatement, removal 
and replacement of land, property and buildings and service media 
adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time to time to manage 
access to the land to accord with safe working practices  

 

206 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 97 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 67 
Hertford Street to: 
 

• carry out surveys and site inspections on the land as necessary in 
connection with the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, 
repair, reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and 
buildings and service media on the land or land adjacent to or abutting the 
land  

Page 221



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

206 
(cont’d) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 

land 
 

• carry out works to protect and make good buildings on the land (including 
the temporary removal or replacement of non-structural parts of such 
buildings, chattels and/or fixtures) as necessary in connection with the 
demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time 
to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working practices  

 

• carry out boundary treatment works to external walls and boundary 
structures or buildings on the land as necessary in connection with the 
demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and thereafter to inspect 
and maintain such works and the right from time to time to manage access 
to the land to accord with safe working practices; 

 

• carry out accommodation, reconfiguration and/or other consequential 
modification and/or reinstatement works to buildings, property and/or 
structures on the land where necessitated by the demolition and/or 
construction of land, property and buildings adjacent to or abutting the land 
and to facilitate the continued beneficial occupation and use of the land 
and the right from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with 
safe working practices 
 

• carry out works to disconnect, alter, divert, relocate and reconnect service 
media in, over or under the land as necessary in connection with the 
construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, reinstatement, removal 
and replacement of land, property and buildings and service media 
adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time to time to manage 
access to the land to accord with safe working practices  

 

207 
 

Number not in use 

208 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 178 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 65 
Hertford Street to: 
 

• carry out surveys and site inspections on the land as necessary in 
connection with the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, 
repair, reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and 
buildings and service media on the land or land adjacent to or abutting the 
land  

 
• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 

land 

 

• carry out works to protect and make good buildings on the land (including 
the temporary removal or replacement of non-structural parts of such 
buildings, chattels and/or fixtures) as necessary in connection with the 
demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time 
to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working practices  
 

• carry out boundary treatment works to external walls and boundary 
structures or buildings on the land as necessary in connection with the 

Page 222



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

208 
(cont’d) 

 
 
 
 

demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and thereafter to inspect 
and maintain such works and the right from time to time to manage access 
to the land to accord with safe working practices; 
 

• carry out accommodation, reconfiguration and/or other consequential 
modification and/or reinstatement works to buildings, property and/or 
structures on the land where necessitated by the demolition and/or 
construction of land, property and buildings adjacent to or abutting the land 
and to facilitate the continued beneficial occupation and use of the land 
and the right from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with 
safe working practices 
 

• carry out works to disconnect, alter, divert, relocate and reconnect service 
media in, over or under the land as necessary in connection with the 
construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, reinstatement, removal 
and replacement of land, property and buildings and service media 
adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time to time to manage 
access to the land to accord with safe working practices  

 

209 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 622 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 64 
Hertford Street to:  
 

• carry out surveys and site inspections on the land as necessary in 
connection with the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, 
repair, reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and 
buildings and service media on the land or land adjacent to or abutting the 
land  
 

• carry out works to protect and make good buildings on the land (including 
the temporary removal or replacement of non-structural parts of such 
buildings, chattels and/or fixtures) as necessary in connection with the 
demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time 
to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working practices  
 

• carry out boundary treatment works to external walls and boundary 
structures or buildings on the land as necessary in connection with the 
demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and thereafter to inspect 
and maintain such works and the right from time to time to manage access 
to the land to accord with safe working practices 

 

• carry out accommodation, reconfiguration and/or other consequential 
modification and/or reinstatement works to buildings, property and/or 
structures on the land where necessitated by the demolition and/or 
construction of land, property and buildings adjacent to or abutting the land 
and to facilitate the continued beneficial occupation and use of the land 
and the right from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with 
safe working practices 
 

• carry out works to disconnect, alter, divert, relocate and reconnect service 
media in, over or under the land as necessary in connection with the 
construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, reinstatement, removal 
and replacement of land, property and buildings and service media 
adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time to time to manage 
access to the land to accord with safe working practices  

Page 223



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

210 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 262 square metres of land being ground floor commercial premises 
known as 62 Hertford Street to: 
 

• carry out surveys and site inspections on the land as necessary in 
connection with the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, 
repair, reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and 
buildings and service media on the land or land adjacent to or abutting the 
land  
 

• carry out works to protect and make good buildings on the land (including 
the temporary removal or replacement of non-structural parts of such 
buildings, chattels and/or fixtures) as necessary in connection with the 
demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time 
to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working practices  

 

• carry out boundary treatment works to external walls and boundary 
structures or buildings on the land as necessary in connection with the 
demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and thereafter to inspect 
and maintain such works and the right from time to time to manage access 
to the land to accord with safe working practices  

 

• carry out accommodation, reconfiguration and/or other consequential 
modification and/or reinstatement works to buildings, property and/or 
structures on the land where necessitated by the demolition and/or 
construction of land, property and buildings adjacent to or abutting the land 
and to facilitate the continued beneficial occupation and use of the land 
and the right from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with 
safe working practices 
 

• carry out works to disconnect, alter, divert, relocate and reconnect service 
media in, over or under the land as necessary in connection with the 
construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, reinstatement, removal 
and replacement of land, property and buildings and service media 
adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time to time to manage 
access to the land to accord with safe working practices 

 

210a 
 

All interests in approximately 262 square metres of land being an underpass 
containing adopted highway known as Barracks Way 
 

211 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use All interests in 
approximately 147 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 61 
Hertford Street to: 
 

• carry out surveys and site inspections on the land as necessary in 
connection with the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, 
repair, reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and 
buildings and service media on the land or land adjacent to or abutting the 
land  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 224



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

211  
(cont’d) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• carry out works to protect and make good buildings on the land (including 
the temporary removal or replacement of non-structural parts of such 
buildings, chattels and/or fixtures) as necessary in connection with the 
demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time 
to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working practices  

 

• carry out boundary treatment works to external walls and boundary 
structures or buildings on the land as necessary in connection with the 
demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and thereafter to inspect 
and maintain such works and the right from time to time to manage access 
to the land to accord with safe working practices  

 

• carry out accommodation, reconfiguration and/or other consequential 
modification and/or reinstatement works to buildings, property and/or 
structures on the land where necessitated by the demolition and/or 
construction of land, property and buildings adjacent to or abutting the land 
and to facilitate the continued beneficial occupation and use of the land 
and the right from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with 
safe working practices 

 

• carry out works to disconnect, alter, divert, relocate and reconnect service 
media in, over or under the land as necessary in connection with the 
construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, reinstatement, removal 
and replacement of land, property and buildings and service media 
adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time to time to manage 
access to the land to accord with safe working practices  

 

212 Number not in use 

213 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 

approximately 225 square metres of land being underground tunnel containing a 

road known as Barracks Way 

 

214 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 7 square metres of land being paved public pedestrianised area with 
benches, street lighting and trees 
 

215 All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 24 square metres of land paved public pedestrianised area with 
benches, street lighting and trees 

 

216 
 

All interests, except those already owned by the Acquiring Authority, in 
approximately 79 square metres of land being paved public pedestrianised area 
with benches, street lighting and trees 
 

217 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 499 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 5 
Warwick Row to: 
 

• carry out surveys and site inspections on the land as necessary in 
connection with the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, 
repair, reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and 
buildings and service media on the land or land adjacent to or abutting the 
land  
 

Page 225



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

217  
(cont’d) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• pass and re-pass across the land at all times with or without vehicles, 
machinery, equipment and materials for all purposes in connection with 
the [demolition, construction], maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property, structures and 
buildings and service media adjacent to or abutting the land [and the right 
from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working 
practices] 
 

• erect, secure, use and take support for scaffolding and/or hoardings on 
the land or land adjoining or abutting the boundaries of the land for the 
purpose of demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property, structures and 
buildings and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and the right 
from time to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working 
practices 

 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land 

 

• carry out works to protect and make good buildings on the land (including 
the temporary removal or replacement of non-structural parts of such 
buildings, chattels and/or fixtures) as necessary in connection with the 
demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, 
reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and buildings 
and service media adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time 
to time to manage access to the land to accord with safe working practices 

 

• alter and/or remove fire escapes (either on a temporary or permanent 
basis) forming part of or used by the land taking steps to ensure that such 
land retains an alternative means of escape during such works and/or to 
construct and install fire escapes upon the land and to grant rights for 
owners and occupiers of land, property and buildings adjacent to and/or 
neighbouring the land to use such fire escapes and to carry out any 
necessary reinstatement works  

 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses [(either on a 

temporary or permanent basis)] forming part of or used by the land taking 

steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 

servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 

access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices 

 

• carry out works to disconnect, alter, divert, relocate and reconnect service 
media in, over or under the land as necessary in connection with the 
construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, reinstatement, removal 
and replacement of land, property and buildings and service media 
adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time to time to manage 
access to the land to accord with safe working practices  

 

218 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 251 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 6 
Warwick Row to: 
 

• carry out surveys and site inspections on the land as necessary in 
connection with the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, 
repair, reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and 
buildings and service media on the land or land adjacent to or abutting the 
land  

 
 

Page 226



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

218 
(cont’d) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• alter and/or remove fire escapes (either on a temporary or permanent 
basis) forming part of or used by the land taking steps to ensure that such 
land retains an alternative means of escape during such works and/or to 
construct and install fire escapes upon the land and to grant rights for 
owners and occupiers of land, property and buildings adjacent to and/or 
neighbouring the land to use such fire escapes and to carry out any 
necessary reinstatement works  

 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses [(either on a 

temporary or permanent basis)] forming part of or used by the land taking 

steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 

servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 

access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices 

 

• carry out works to disconnect, alter, divert, relocate and reconnect service 
media in, over or under the land as necessary in connection with the 
construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, reinstatement, removal 
and replacement of land, property and buildings and service media 
adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time to time to manage 
access to the land to accord with safe working practices  

 

219 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 248 square metres of land being commercial premises known as 7 
Warwick Row to: 
 

• carry out surveys and site inspections on the land as necessary in 
connection with the demolition, construction, maintenance, use, renewal, 
repair, reinstatement, removal and replacement of land, property and 
buildings and service media on the land or land adjacent to or abutting the 
land  

 
• alter and/or remove fire escapes (either on a temporary or permanent 

basis) forming part of or used by the land taking steps to ensure that such 
land retains an alternative means of escape during such works and/or to 
construct and install fire escapes upon the land and to grant rights for 
owners and occupiers of land, property and buildings adjacent to and/or 
neighbouring the land to use such fire escapes and to carry out any 
necessary reinstatement works  
 

• alter and/or remove vehicular and servicing accesses [(either on a 

temporary or permanent basis)] forming part of or used by the land taking 

steps to ensure that such land retains an alternative means of access and 

servicing during such works and the right from time to time to manage 

access and servicing to the land to accord with safe working practices 

 

• carry out works to disconnect, alter, divert, relocate and reconnect service 
media in, over or under the land as necessary in connection with the 
construction, maintenance, use, renewal, repair, reinstatement, removal 
and replacement of land, property and buildings and service media 
adjacent to or abutting the land and the right from time to time to manage 
access to the land to accord with safe working practices  

 

220 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 90 square metres of land being residential apartment building known 
as Beauchamp House, situated to the north of Greyfriars Road to: 
 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land 

 

Page 227



Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022 
Table 1 

 

 

Number on 
map  
(1) 

Extent, description and situation of the land 
(2) 

220a 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 28 square metres of land being residential apartment building known 
as Beauchamp House, situated to the north of Greyfriars Road to: 
 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land 

 

221 
 
 
 
 
 

The right for the Acquiring Authority and its lessees, licensees, successors in title, 
assigns and those authorised by any of these to enter upon and use all interests in 
approximately 5 square metres of land being residential apartment building known 
as Beauchamp House, situated to the north of Greyfriars Road. to: 
 

• swing the jib of a crane, loaded or unloaded, through the airspace over the 
land 

 

 

Page 228



Coventry | City Centre South  
Potential Means of Funding and Delivery  
7 December 2021 
Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services  – For Approved External Use Only  

Page 229



01 

Contents 

1. Introduction 4

2. Project Background Summary 6

3. Scheme Proposals 9

4. Funding and Delivery Approach 16

5. Conclusions 19

Page 230



Deloitte LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC303675 and its registered office at 1 New Street Square, London, 

EC4A 3HQ, United Kingdom. 

Deloitte LLP is the United Kingdom affiliate of Deloitte NSE LLP, a member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, a UK private company limited by guarantee (“DTTL”). 

DTTL and each of its member firms are legally separate and independent entities. DTTL and Deloitte NSE LLP do not provide services to clients. Please see 

www.deloitte.com/about to learn more about our global network of member firms. Real Estate Services regulated by RICS. 

© 2021 Deloitte LLP. All rights reserved. 

Deloitte LLP
1 New Street Square
London
EC4A 3HQ

Phone: +44 (0)20 7936 3000 
Fax: +44 (0)20 7583 1198 
www.deloitte.co.uk/realestate 

Direct phone: +44 207 303 3884 
richardowen@deloitte.co.uk   

7 December 2021 

Coventry City Council 
One Friargate 
Coventry  
CV1 2GN 

FAO: Richard Moon, Director of Project Management & Property Services 

Dear Sirs 

CITY CENTRE SOUTH 
POTENTIAL MEANS OF FUNDING AND DELIVERY  REPORT 

Please find enclosed our report in respect of the above, which we understand is to form a public appendix to the 
Council’s report to Cabinet in respect of the proposed making of a Compulsory Purchase Order (‘CPO’) for City Centre 
South (‘the Scheme’).  

This report has been prepared in accordance with the terms of the CCS Management Consultancy Framework (RM3745) 
Call Off Order Form, dated 1st July 2019 between Deloitte LLP and Coventry City Council (‘the Contract’) and further to 
your instructions of 10 June 2021.  

This report is confidential to the addressees and prepared solely for the purpose of assisting the Council in considering 
the proposed means of Funding and Delivering the Scheme. It is subject to the restrictions on use specified in the 
Contract.  

This report includes information provided by you, your development partner Shearer Property Group, your legal 
advisors Pinsent Masons, your cost consultants, namely WT Partnership, and our sub-consultants KLM Real Estate and 
Leonard Design Architects. For the purposes of this report, we have assumed that the information disclosed to us is 
reliable and complete and therefore has not been verified.  

This document, and any reference to or use of our name therein, must not, save as expressly provided for in the 
Contract, be recited or referred to in any prospectus or other document, or copied or made available (in whole or in 
part) to any other person without our express prior or written consent. No other party is entitled to rely on this 
document for any purpose and Deloitte UK accept no responsibility or liability or duty of care to any other party 
whatsoever in respect of the contents of this document. 

Error! No text of specified style in document. | Error! No text of specified style in document.

Page 231



03 

All copyright and other proprietary rights in the Report remain the property of Deloitte LLP and any rights not expressly 
granted in these terms or in the Contract are reserved. This Report and its contents do not constitute financial or other 
professional advice. Specific advice should be sought about your specific circumstances. To the fullest extent possible, 
both Deloitte LLP and the Client disclaim any liability arising out of the use (or non-use) of the Report and its contents, 
including any action or decision taken as a result of such use (or non-use). 

Yours faithfully 

Deloitte LLP

Page 232



4 

1. Introduction 

1.1. Synopsis 

Coventry City Council (“the Council”) has longstanding ambitions to bring forward a mixed use development 
project within Coventry City Centre, known as City Centre South (“CCS”). 

A public procurement process commenced in late 2015, with final tenders received at the end of July 2016.  

The Council selected Shearer Property Group (‘SPG’) as its ‘Preferred Bidder’ in January 2017 and subsequently 
entered into detailed Heads of Terms which informed an initial period for SPG to secure an ‘anchor store 
tenant’, which at the time was envisaged to be a department store operator such as House of Fraser or 
Fenwick.  

In parallel to this, the Council also advanced an application to the West Midlands Combined Authority 
(‘WMCA’) for grant funding to help facilitate the development. This resulted in up to £98.8m of WMCA Grant 
being awarded and a Grant Agreement being entered into on 8 February 2018. 

SPG concluded over the course of 2018 that the market for a traditional department store was weakening and 
agreed with the Council to promote an alternative approach. This concept reflected a Covent Garden style 
development with a Pavilion building situated within a large piazza which would link the Indoor Market to the 
west and The Wave to the east.  The Pavilion was   intended to offer flexible space for a range of retail, food and 
beverage (‘F&B’) and leisure uses. 

These concept proposals were then taken forward as an illustrative scheme, which is referred to within the 
Development Agreement (‘DA’). The DA was entered into in March 2019, with the parties being Coventry City 
Council and Shearer Property Regeneration (‘SPRL’), a Special Purchase Vehicle (‘SPV’) established for the 
purpose of delivering the project. The DA is guaranteed by SPG, who also owns the shares in SPRL.  

Following exchange of the DA, SPRL advanced scheme design proposals for the purposes of submitting an 
Outline Planning Application, which adopted a parameter plan based approach, not relying on but consistent 
with the illustrative scheme. The rationale for this was to allow appropriate flexibility with the scheme design, 
use mix and configuration at Reserved Matters stage.  

The Council’s Planning Committee resolved to grant planning permission in April 2021. 

During June 2021, SPG commenced a marketing campaign for the purposes of finding a JV 
Development/Funding and Delivery  Partner.  

1.2. Instructions 

Deloitte was instructed on 10 June 2021 to support with the preparation of the Funding and Delivery section of 
the Statement of Reasons for the CPO. Through further discussion with the Council and its legal advisors, 
Pinsent Masons, these instructions were broadened on 17 June 2021 to include the preparation of a ‘Means of 
Funding and Delivery Report’, which was required as an appendix to the Council’s report to Cabinet, seeking 
authority for the making of the CPO.  

In preparing this report, Deloitte has been asked to review SPG’s proposed means of funding and delivering the 
Scheme, having regard to relevant provisions of the DA, resolution to grant outline planning permission and 
ongoing efforts by SPG to secure a JV Development/Funding and Delivery  Partner.  

Page 233



5 

Our instructions are to solely consider how the Scheme could potentially be delivered. We therefore do not 
consider the case for making the CPO within this report, nor any procurement issues, UK subsidy control and/or 
the requirements to achieve best consideration, which will need to be separately considered by the Council. 

1.3. Purpose of this Report 

Under the terms of the DA, responsibility for securing Vacant Possession of the CCS site resides with the 
Council. The Council has been making efforts to acquire the required interests by agreement and is now making 
a CPO to ensure the development is able to proceed.  

In making a CPO, the Council has had regard to Government Compulsory Purchase guidance, as contained 
within the MHCLG  Guidance on Compulsory Purchase Process and the Crichel Down Rules1. 

This guidance includes reference to the matter of financial viability, as follows: 

The factors which the Secretary of State can be expected to consider include: 
…. 
the potential financial viability of the scheme for which the land is being acquired. A general indication of funding 
intentions, and of any commitment from third parties, will usually suffice to reassure the Secretary of State that there is a 
reasonable prospect that the scheme will proceed.  
The greater the uncertainty about the financial viability of the scheme, however, the more compelling the other grounds 
for undertaking the compulsory purchase will need to be. The timing of any available funding may also be important. For 
example, a strict time limit on the availability of the necessary funding may be an argument put forward by the acquiring 
authority to justify proceeding with the order before finalising the details of the replacement scheme and/or the statutory 
planning position. 

The purpose of this report is to address these viability considerations and in particular to: 

(a) provide a commentary on the progress that has been made with regard to the financial and funding 
proposals for the CCS development (“the Scheme”); and  

(b) provide our conclusions on the reasonable prospects of delivery, in the context of Government guidance.  

1.4. Report Structure 

This report is structured as follows: 

 A background summary to SPG’s selection and its work undertaken to date; 

 A summary of the DA and WMCA Grant Agreement provisions, in the context of funding and viability 
matters; 

 A summary of SPG’s current efforts to secure a funding and delivery JV partner; and 

 Our conclusions in the context of the Government Compulsory Purchase guidance.    

1 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/964686/CPO_guidance_-
_with_2019_update.pdf 

Page 234



6 

2. Project Background 
Summary 

2.1. The Site 

The Scheme comprises approximately 6.36 hectares and is situated in the southern part of the city centre, 
about 600 metres north of Coventry mainline station.   

The Scheme boundary is indicated within the red line planning boundary on the plan (Figure 1) below, noting 
that Coventry Market and the Lower Precinct Car Park are excluded from the development proposals.  

Figure 1: Red Line Planning Boundary 

The site currently comprises a number of post-war commercial buildings, which are predominantly used for 
retail and leisure purposes at ground floor, with storage and generally redundant office space provided on 
upper floors. The site also includes 1,233 public car parking spaces, accommodated in multi-storey car parks 
(‘MSCPs’), including City Arcade and Barracks MSCPs. 

Page 235



7 

The total quantum of existing floorspace within the site is summarised as follows: 

Use Estimated GIA (sqm) 

Use Class E – Retail 31,340 (circa. 7,240 sqm of which comprises the 
Coventry Market ground floor and basement, which 
is to be retained) 

Use Class E – Office 7,300 

Use Class B8 – Storage 160 

Other Uses (Use Class F.1 Non-Residential 
Institutions, Sui Generis floorspace to be 
demolished) 

4,030 

Total estimated floorspace to be demolished 35,590 

Source: City Centre South Planning Statement  (November 2020), prepared by CBRE 

2.2. Planning and Procurement Background 

2.2.1. Original Masterplan  

The masterplan principles for CCS were originally derived from the Coventry City Centre Master Plan produced 
by Jerde in 2008/2009 and subsequently incorporated into an outline planning application on behalf of the 
Council and Aviva (who at the time, had a significant property interest within the scheme boundary). Outline 
planning permission was granted in May 2012 (OUT/2012/0575).  

Following grant of outline planning permission, the Council undertook a developer selection process. That 
process resulted in the selection of Queensberry Real Estate in 2014. Following an exclusivity period, both the 
Council and Queensberry concluded that the development could not be delivered without public sector 
financial support. 

2.2.2. Revised Procurement 

Based upon previous viability studies and feedback and dialogue with previous development partners, the 
Council anticipated that it would be required to participate financially in the project. On the basis that financial 
support was not envisaged in the original developer selection process, the Council ran a new procurement 
process.  

On 8 September 2015, Full Council endorsed Cabinet’s recommendation to proceed with a procurement for 
CCS, predicated upon the following financial commitment: 

Subject to the Cabinet and Full Council reviewing the bids it receives, it is the Council’s intention to appoint a lead 
development partner, who is able to demonstrate the delivery of a transformative scheme and on satisfactory financial 
terms.  
On this basis, the Council will consider taking responsibility for the following:- 

 Seeking to acquire third party interests and rights by agreement where it is unviable in the context of the scheme 

for the developer to do so and if necessary, by promoting a Compulsory Purchase Order; and 

 Funding the costs associated with gaining vacant possession of the sites, including CPO promotion and inquiry 

costs; professional fees and compensation payments where it is unviable in the context of the scheme for the 

developer to do so. 

Page 236



8 

The Council formally commenced the procurement process on 6 November 2015, with a Contract Notice being 
advertised within the Office Journal of the European Union (OJEU). Final Tenders were received on 29 July 
2016.  

2.2.3. SPG Preferred Bidder Status 

Following a period of evaluation and clarification, SPG was provisionally selected as the Council’s preferred 
bidder in November 2016, with Full Council confirming this in February 2017. 

SPG and the Council subsequently entered into detailed Heads of Terms in June 2017. These Heads of Terms 
provided SPG with an initial 12 month period to secure an anchor store tenant (assumed at Final Tender to be 
one of House of Fraser or Fenwick), with a further 6 month period to then enter into a funding agreement. 
Subject to both a department store and a funder being secured, the intention was for the parties to enter into 
a development agreement, with obligations upon the Council to secure vacant possession and for SPG to 
advance a new planning application.  

During autumn 2017 it became increasingly evident that anchor store interest was waning; with House of 
Fraser experiencing financial difficulties and Fenwick was undergoing an internal restructure.  

Over the course of 2018, the retail environment became increasingly challenging, with House of Fraser having 
entered into a Company Voluntary Arrangement (CVA) before being purchased by Mike Ashley, and others 
announcing store closure programmes.  

SPG thus proposed the concept of a ‘pavilion’ building in spring 2018. The Pavilion was proposed as an 
alternative to a traditional anchor store, with the concept for the building being to provide a ground floor 
comprising smaller retail stores with a food & beverage offering located on the first floor. 

The scheme remained broadly retail, commercial leisure and residential uses.  

2.3. Development Agreement 

 Following the presentation of the Forum scheme, the Council agreed with SPG that this would be used as the 
illustrative scheme proposals for the Development Agreement (‘DA’).  

The DA was advanced in accordance with the detailed Heads of Terms referred to above and was entered into 
on 21st March 2019.  

The parties to the DA are as follows: 

1) The Council of the City of Coventry (‘the Council’); 
2) Shearer Property Regen Limited (‘the Developer’); and 
3) Shearer Property Group Limited (‘the Guarantor’). 

The Development Agreement is subject to a number of standard pre-conditions, which are to be met before 
the Agreement goes unconditional. 

2.4. WMCA Grant Agreement 

The WMCA Grant Agreement (‘GA’) provides for multiple funding streams to be deployed for facilitation of the 
Scheme. Each funding item is subject to caps under the GA.  

The Council is responsible for the management of the GA, which to date has been utilised for initial demolition 
works, preparation of the hybrid planning application and various land assembly activities. 

Page 237



9 

3. Scheme Proposals 

3.1. Hybrid Planning Application 

SPG submitted a hybrid application on 23 November 2020 (Ref: OUT/2020/2876) for: 

‘Hybrid planning application for: Full application: A. Full Application for removal of bridge link between Coventry 
Market roof top car park and roof top parking over existing retail units on Market Way and associated 
reinstatement works to roof top car park surface and balustrade, removal of existing Coventry Market 
basement ramp from Rover Road and associated infilling and reinstatement works, works to retaining wall to 
north-east of Coventry Market, removal of existing pedestrian ramp into Coventry Market off Rover Road, 
creation of new Coventry Market basement ramp from Queen Victoria Road and associated works to Coventry 
Market basement, and removal and relocation of William Mitchell mural from front elevation of the former 
Three Tuns Public House building in Bull Yard; Outline application: B. For part of the site (Parameters Plans 
Document March 2021 Revision B) for the demolition of all existing buildings and redevelopment of the land for 
mixed uses, including details of the layout and scale of new development, with details of access, appearance 
and landscaping reserved; and C.  

For part of the site for the demolition of all existing buildings and the redevelopment of the land for mixed use, 
with details of access, layout, scale, appearance and landscaping reserved. The scheme comprises a mixed use 
redevelopment of up to 1,300 residential units (Class C3), up to 150 hotel rooms (Class C1), up to 37,500 sqm of 
mixed-use non-residential floorspace including Class E Commercial, Business and Service uses, Class F.1 Learning 
and Non-Residential Institutions, and Sui Generis Pub or Drinking Establishment / Hot Food Takeaway / Cinema 
uses, hard and soft landscaping and new public open spaces including sustainable urban drainage systems, car 
parking provision and formation of new pedestrian and vehicular access and stopping up of existing highway.’ 

The Council’s Planning Committee subsequently resolved to grant planning permission for the Hybrid Planning 
application on 22 April 2021, with the S106 expected to be finalised shortly. 

A summary of the hybrid application is set out in the following sections. 

Page 238



10 

3.1.2. Extent of Planning Boundary 

The site boundary for the hybrid planning application is shown on Figure 2 below:  

Figure 2: Hybrid Planning Boundary 

The site area expands 6.36 hectares and comprises a large section of Coventry’s post-war retail core. The 
application site is bound by Upper Precinct and Broadgate to the north, Hertford Street to the east, Warwick 
Road and Greyfriars Road to the south and Queen Victoria Road to the west. 

3.1.3. Parameter Based Approach 

As stated, the application is a hybrid planning application. Part A of the application related to the full planning 
component. The full/detailed planning element is for the following components: 

 Removal of the bridge link between Coventry Market roof top car park and roof top parking over 
existing retail units on Market Way.  

 Reinstatement to the roof top car park.  

 Removal of the existing Coventry Market basement servicing ramp from Rover Road. 

 Works to retaining the wall to the north-east of Coventry Market. 

 Removal of existing pedestrian ramp from Queen Victoria Road. 

 Works to Coventry Market Basement. 

 Removal and relocation of William Mitchell mural from the front elevation of the former Three Turns 
Public House building in Bull Yard.  

Part B of the proposal was an outline application, which had scale and layout fixed, with access, appearance 
and landscaping reserved. The following elements are included within Part B: 

 Demolition of all existing buildings 

 Redevelopment of the land for mixed use 

Part C of the proposal was also in outline and had all maters reserved. This was to establish the principle of 
development. Part C included: 

 Mixed use redevelopment comprising the provision of up to 1,300 residential units, up to 150 hotel 
rooms, up to 37,500 sqm of mixed-use non-residential floorspace 

 Hard and soft landscaping 

Page 239



11 

 New public open spaces 

 Car parking provision 

 Formation of new pedestrian and vehicular access.  

In terms of the quantum of floorspace proposed, the minimum and maximum development areas are set out in 
Table 1 below: 

Land Use Minimum Development Quantum Maximum Development Quantum 

Residential (Class C3) (Units) 900 1,300 

Hotels (Class C1) (Keys) 0 150 

Commercial (Class E) Learning and 
Non-residential institutions (Class 
F1) and Sui Generis (GIA sqm) 

22,000 37,500 

Car Parking (Spaces) 90 300 

The proposed development quantum as shown above will be split across the entire site within different 
development blocks. The different development blocks are shown in Figure 3 below.  

Figure 3: CCS Proposed Development Blocks 

Page 240



12 

3.1.5. Maximum and Minimum Height Zones 

The application has not sought approval for a specific number of storeys but is governed by maximum and 
minimum heights to protect long views of the ‘three spires’ and allow for rationalised floor-to-floor ceiling 
heights and different residential and non-residential uses.  

The minimum heights for each of the Block are shown on Figure 4 below: 

Figure 4: Minimum Height Parameters  

The maximum heights are shown on Figure 5 below.  

Figure 5: Maximum Height Parameters 

Page 241



13 

When details on the proposed heights of the Blocks are finalised, they must be developed in accordance with 
the Development Principles Document along with any other material considerations at the reserved matters 
application stage.  In regard to scale, height and roofscape, the Development Principles Document 
recommends that there should be clear division in the façade to promote verticality and variety in the building 
elevation, especially where there is a change in building height.  

Block A1 

Block A1 will have a lower building element to the rear adjacent to Coventry Market, with a view to 
accommodating a terrace. The upper storeys of Block A1 must be set back by at least 18 metres from the 
residential units on the upper storeys of Block D to safeguard privacy and amenity.  

Block A2 

The parameter plans allow the building to rise to approximately six levels of residential space, with the top level 
set back to form a terrace. In elevational terms, the Block should be so that the height steps down from South 
to North to respect the height of the existing Woolworth’s building in elevation.  

Block B 

The massing of Block B must transition from the lower height of the Former British Home Stores, up towards 
the pavilion 

Block C 

The massing of the Block must show a north-south transition in building heights, from the lower proportion of 
the Reform Club up towards the new public square.  

Block D 

There must a gradual transition of three steps from the taller element of Block D on Rover Road towards the 
lower element of Block D on Greyfriars Road. The stepping down must frame the long-range view of Christ 
Church Spire from the Buttes.  

Block E 

The proposed height of the building is approximately two storeys. 

Page 242



14 

3.1.7. Use Types 

For each of the proposed blocks, certain uses have been proposed. The proposal allows for the provision of one 
or a combination of two or more, of the uses listed in Figure 6 below for the different blocks:  

Table 1: Summary of Use Types 

Development Block / Zone Ground / First / Second Floors Upper Floors 

Block A1 Class C1 Hotel 
Class C3 Residential 
Class E Commercial, Business and Service 
Class F.1 Learning and Non-Residential 
Institutions 
Sui Generis (Pub or Drinking 
Establishment / Hot 
Food and Takeaway) 

Class C1 Hotel 
Class C3 Residential 
Class E Commercial, Business and Service 
Class F.1 Learning and Non-Residential Institutions 

Block A2 Class C1 Hotel 
Class C3 Residential 
Class E Commercial, Business and Service 
Class F.1 Learning and Non-Residential 
Institutions 
Sui Generis (Pub or Drinking 
Establishment / Hot 
Food and Takeaway) 

Zones B (Block B however, 
different block 
arrangements can be 
accommodated) 

Class C1 Hotel 
Class C3 Residential 
Class E Commercial, Business and Service 
Class F.1 Learning and Non-Residential 
Institutions 
Sui Generis (Pub or Drinking 
Establishment / Hot 
Food and Takeaway / Cinema) 

Block C Class C1 Hotel 
Class C3 Residential 
Class E Commercial, Business and Service 
Class F.1 Learning and Non-Residential 
Institutions 
Sui Generis (Pub or Drinking 
Establishment / Hot 
Food and Takeaway / Cinema) 

Zone D (Block D however, 
different block 
arrangements can be 
accommodated) 

Class C1 Hotel 
Class C3 Residential 
Class E Commercial, Business and Service 
Class F.1 Learning and Non-Residential 
Institutions 
Sui Generis (Pub or Drinking 
Establishment / Hot 
Food and Takeaway / Cinema) 

Pavilion  Class E Commercial, Business and Service 
Class F.1 Learning and Non-Residential 
Institutions 
Sui Generis (Pub or Drinking 
Establishment / Hot 
Food and Takeaway / Cinema) 

N/A 

Page 243



15 

3.1.8. Listed Building Considerations 

The application site contains a Grade II listed building and is located adjacent to the Greyfriars Green 
Conservation Area.  

As such, the Hybrid Planning Application was accompanied by two applications for listed building consent. The 
first listed building consent sought permission for: 

the removal of the bridge link between Coventry Market roof top car park and the roof top parking over the existing retail 
units on Market Way and associated reinstatement works to roof top car park surface and balustrade, removal of existing 
Coventry Market basement ramp from Rover Road and associated infilling and reinstatement works, works to retaining wall 
to north-east of Coventry Market, removal of existing pedestrian ramp into Coventry Market off Rover Road, creation of 
new Coventry Market basement ramp from Queen Victoria Road and associated works to Coventry Market basement.  

The second listed building consent application sought permission for: 

the removal and relocation of the William Mitchell mural from the front elevation of the former Three Turns Public House 
building in Bull Yard. 

Page 244



16 

4. Funding and Delivery 
Approach 

4.1. Background 

SPG established ‘Shearer Property Regen Limited’ (‘SPRL’) as the special purchase vehicle (‘SPV’) to deliver the 
Scheme. 

SPRL was incorporated on 4 March 2019, with its three shareholders being Guy Edwin Argus Shearer, Adam 
Charles Drury Markwell and Stewart Underwood, two of whom are the registered Directors of SPG.  

SPRL in isolation lacks the ability to fund development works, particularly of the scale of the Scheme. 

SPRL’s funding to date has been provided through SPG equity (in respect of Directors and wider internal 
resources it has deployed on the Scheme), with third party planning costs – for example architect, planning 
consultant and cost consultancy services – recovered under the terms of the DA from the WMCA GA.  

Such arrangements are not uncommon on projects of this type, with SPG having previously established SPVs to 
deliver projects in locations such as Newbury and Cambridge and then disposing of the majority interest to a 
funding partner when the scheme was sufficiently advanced from a design and business plan perspective. 

4.2. Development Agreement Provisions 

The DA requires SPRL to take responsibility for securing a private sector funding and delivery partner (‘Funder’) 
to invest into SPRL. The expectation is the Funder would then provide the necessary finance to cover the 
Developer’s obligations up to the unconditional date – for example preparing detailed scheme design plans and 
procuring a main contractor, with a commitment in principle to fund the Scheme, subject to all pre-conditions 
having been met, including satisfaction of a pre-commencement viability test.  

4.2.1. Funding Security Condition 

The Developer is also required to secure sufficient funding assurances to satisfy the requirements of the 
Funding Security Condition. 

4.2.2. Viability Amount 

The Funder’s commitment is assumed to be predicated upon the continued ability to draw down the WMCA 
GA. The DA also provides for the Developer to seek an additional financial contribution (the ‘Viability Amount’) 
towards the Scheme from the Council, in the event that both the Developer and Funder have concluded that 
the Scheme would otherwise not be financially viable – i.e. be projected to deliver a profit below the target 
threshold set out in the DA.  

For the purposes of considering any Viability Amount request, the DA includes requirements upon the 
Developer to provide various ‘viability gap information’ – scheme plans, marketing reports, appraisals and the 
like, which are then to be reviewed by the Council and its advisors.  

Agreement of the Viability Amount is at the Council’s discretion. In the event that the Council does not agree to 
provide the Viability Amount, then there are provisions for the DA to terminate. In such circumstances where 
the Viability Amount is agreed, there are provisions for the DA to be amended as required.  

Page 245



17 

4.3. Progress to Date 

4.3.1. Funding Principles 

Over the first half of 2020, the Council and SPG collaboratively identified a number of initiatives and principles, 
to help inform an approach to securing a funding partner: 

1. Planning  – the hybrid planning application to adopt a parameter plan based approach, so as to allow 
flexibility for an incoming partner (or partners) to optimise the detailed design in response to their 
specific requirements and the prevailing economic conditions; 

2. Land Assembly  - for the Council to commit to accelerating the land assembly process to provide the 
funding partner confidence. This would assist in demonstrating the Council’s commitment and would 
be a proactive approach to facilitating the development;  

3. Phasing – the overarching principle of delivering a comprehensive scheme remains unchanged but there 
was recognition that a phased approach to delivery should be considered. This could include multiple 
funding / delivery partners working on individual phases, so as to be able to present more manageable 
funding ‘lot sizes’ to the market – for example a number of BTR investors expressed interest in delivering 
200 – 300 units, rather than attempting the c.1,000 units provided for in the outline planning scheme;  

4. Council Participation – inclusion of active ground floor spaces, incorporating a range of retail, leisure 
and cultural activities, is a key  priority for the Council. Given this, as well as its long standing experience 
of being an active retail and leisure landlord within the city centre, the Council indicated it was prepared 
to consider proposals where it purchased an element of the commercial uses within the Scheme, subject 
to all necessary internal approvals and understanding the level of financial return. This would contribute 
towards replacing some of the Council’s current estate income from the existing buildings that they own 
within the site; and 

5. WMCA Funding – examination of opportunities for the use of the WMCA funding to be restructured in 
terms of advancing planning and land assembly tasks, as well as funding site wide infrastructure. This 
latter element could be widened to include public realm which sits outside of the development plots 
(e.g. Market Way and Hertford Street). The Council has had initial engagement WMCA on this, noting 
that any approach which deviated from the existing GA would require WMCA approval.  

4.3.2. Marketing Approach 

Through discussions between the Council, WMCA and SPG, it was agreed that a targeted marketing approach 
should be adopted and that the type of partner targeted should be able to demonstrate the following: 

 A track record of delivering major residential led urban projects; 

 Experience of working in partnership with UK public authorities; 

 A strong balance sheet; 

 An ability to introduce equity into the project; and 

 Design, delivery and construction expertise.  

The rationale for this approach was to respond to a shared understanding that the scheme required more than 
a ‘traditional’ funding partner (i.e. one whose role would primarily be to introduce finance) and that  securing a 
partner who could assist with further enhancements and rationalisations to the illustrative scheme design, 
enhancing efficiencies and improving scheme viability was key. 

SPG, through its agents Montagu Evans, commenced a marketing process on 24 June 2021, which included 
both a press-release and a direct mail shot of a development prospectus to approximately 50 parties. 

Page 246



18 

4.3.3. Shortlisting Process 

Expressions of Interest were received from 10 parties and reported to SPG and the Council on 14 July 2021.  

SPG and Montagu Evans considered each of the responses against each of the desired attributes and arrived at 
a  shortlist of four potential partners: 

SPG subsequently entered into a round of dialogue meetings with these shortlisted parties, where the 
following matters were discussed: 

 Design and Planning Approach 

 Team and Resourcing 

 Programme 

 Financial Viability and Funding 

 Development Agreement and the Grant Agreement 

 Commercial proposal to SPG 

Bidding parties were invited to submit formal proposals to SPG by 22nd October 2021.  

4.3.4. Current Position 

At the time of preparing this report, SPG is considering proposals from three parties. 

SPG hopes to identify a preferred partner by the end of the year. This will then precipitate more detailed 
discussions between SPG and that party in respect of the acquisition of the SPRL shareholding and in turn 
trigger a review of the DA and WMCA Grant Agreement.  

The Council and its legal advisors are satisfied that the above considerations do not form an impediment to SPG 
being able to progress with its proposed approach and indeed the principle of SPG disposing of its shareholding 
in SPRL is contemplated in the DA.  

In the event that this process was not for some reason satisfactorily concluded during the DA period (March 
2023), it remains the Council’s intention to continue to bring forward the Scheme. In such circumstances, the 
Council would intend to effectively assume the role of the ‘master developer’ and take responsibility for 
overseeing the completion of land assembly, application of the WMCA grant towards enabling works and 
releasing enabled development plots to third party developers to deliver. The principle of a local authority 
taking responsibility for the early delivery phases of an urban centre scheme if required is an increasingly 
established one. The Council has an established track record of delivering major works and developments and 
overseeing the delivery of high quality public realm works around the city centre.   

Page 247



19 

5. Conclusions 
The scheme has been the subject of a number of viability and delivery challenges during its evolution, as 
summarised in this report. This has not been unusual in relation to schemes over the last few years.  

The project currently sits in a stronger position than it has done previously; a reflection of the efforts made by 
the Council and SPG to de-risk it through planning and advancing land assembly, as well as the Council having 
originally secured WMCA grant funding. The profile of the city itself has also grown in recent years, helped by 
factors such as the City of Culture designation; the growth and success of the two universities; and investment 
into the automotive sector, particularly linked to the development of battery electric vehicles.  

The evolution of the scheme, from one that was originally retail and leisure led through to one which is a 
residential led mixed use development, aligns well with wider market trends and Government direction to 
encourage city centre living. The response SPG has received to its JV Funding and Delivery Partner process is 
very encouraging, with the three shortlisted parties all having a strong track record of working on complex 
regeneration schemes and having access to internal resources to be able to drive forward a project of this 
scale.  

There presently appears a good prospect that SPG will be able to secure a partner, who in turn SPG will 
propose as the ‘Approved Funder’ under the terms of the DA and invite to take control of the SPV, which has 
been established to deliver the project.  

The proposals received from SPG’s proposed JV funding and delivery partners all indicate the basis for a 
deliverable project in the circumstances. The analysis of these proposals remains ongoing but the initial 
indications are that the improved viability position has been arrived at through optimisation of the masterplan 
(both in terms of block design and use mix); the ability of at least two of the bidders to undertake construction 
works themselves at a competitive price; and a general confidence in the end values which could be realised.  

All three parties have set out a commitment to fund the costs SRPL is responsible for up to the unconditional 
date, such as detailed design and reserved matters planning applications, which as a principle, is also 
encouraging.  

It is important to note that both the approval of the ‘funder’ and any change of control of SPRL will remain 
subject to the Council’s agreement. It is also anticipated that WMCA will require a Change Order Request 
process to be followed, to address any wider amendments to the DA and/or grant agreement which may be 
sought.   

Notwithstanding the encouraging progress SPG is making, it is important that the Council is able to satisfy itself 
that it has an alternative means of delivery approach as a fallback position.  

We consider that there are reasonable grounds to conclude that in such circumstances, a Council led delivery 
approach could be achieved within financial parameters similar to the proposals which SPG has received from 
prospective JV Funding and Delivery Partners.  

Any proposal for the Council to put additional funding into the scheme would be subject to Cabinet and Full 
Council approval. Whilst no commitment to such funding currently exists, the Development Agreement 
incorporates provision for the developer to seek an additional ‘Viability Amount’ if required (and subject to the 
Council’s approval).  

In conclusion, there is a reasonable prospect of scheme delivery by SPG and an appointed delivery and funding 
partner within the DA period and in the event that this process was not for some reason satisfactorily 
concluded during the DA period, we understand the Council would intend to bring forward the Scheme as the 

Page 248



20 

‘master developer’ and take responsibility for overseeing the completion of land assembly, applying the WMCA 
grant funding towards enabling works and releasing enabled development plots itself to third party developers 
to deliver.   

Having regard to the legal advice received from Pinsent Masons and Counsel, the MHCLG Guidance on 
Compulsory Purchase Process and the Crichel Down Rules guidance in relation to potential financial viability 
and funding as set out in this report is considered satisfied in this regard. 

7 December 2021 

Page 249



This document is confidential and it is not to be copied or made available to any other party. Deloitte LLP does not accept any liability for use of or reliance on the contents of 

this document by any person save by the intended recipient(s) to the extent agreed in a Deloitte LLP engagement contract.  

If this document contains details of an arrangement that could result in a tax or National Insurance saving, no such conditions of confidentiality apply to the details of that 

arrangement (for example, for the purpose of discussion with tax authorities). 

Deloitte LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC303675 and its registered office at 1 New Street Square, London, EC4A 

3HQ, United Kingdom. 

Deloitte LLP is the United Kingdom affiliate of Deloitte NSE LLP, a member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, a UK private company limited by guarantee (“DTTL”). DTTL 

and each of its member firms are legally separate and independent entities. DTTL and Deloitte NSE LLP do not provide services to clients. Please see www.deloitte.com/about to 

learn more about our global network of member firms. Real Estate Services regulated by RICS. 

© 2021 Deloitte LLP. All rights reserved. Page 250



 

 . \  1 

THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVENTRY (CITY CENTRE SOUTH) COMPULSORY PURCHASE 
ORDER 2022 

THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 SECTION 226(1)(A) 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 

AND THE ACQUISITION OF LAND ACT 1981 

The Council of the City of Coventry (in this order called the "acquiring authority") makes the following order:- 

1. Subject to the provisions of this order, the acquiring authority is under section 226(1)(a) of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 and section 13 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976 hereby authorised to purchase compulsorily the land and the new rights over land described 
in paragraphs 1 and 3 for the purpose of facilitating the carrying out of development, redevelopment 
or improvement of the land for the provision of mixed use regeneration and development on the 
Order Land including the delivery of new housing, new Class E commercial, business and services 
uses, hotel, food and drink uses, landscaping, open spaces, car parking and new pedestrian and 
vehicular accesses. 

2. The land authorised to be purchased compulsorily under this order is the land described in the 
Schedule and delineated and shown coloured pink on a map prepared in duplicate, sealed with the 
common seal of the acquiring authority and marked "Map referred to in the Council of the City of 
Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purchase Order 2022". 

3. The new rights to be purchased compulsorily over land under this order are described in the Schedule 
and the land is shown coloured blue on the said map. 

This order includes land falling within special categories to which section 19 of the Acquisition of Land Act 1981 
applies, namely:- 

 

Number on Map Special category 

29a S19 – public open space  

31a S19 – public open space  

38a S19 – public open space  

39a S19 – public open space  

39b S19 – public open space  

39b S19 – public open space  

56 S19 – public open space  

56a S19 – public open space  

56b S19 – public open space  

58a S19 – public open space  

58b S19 – public open space  

58c S19 – public open space  

67 S19 – public open space  

69 S19 – public open space  

70 S19 – public open space  

78 S19 – public open space  

79a S19 – public open space  

85a S19 – public open space  

88 S19 – public open space  

102a S19 – public open space  

103 S19 – public open space  

116a S19 – public open space  

128a S19 – public open space  

151b S19 – public open space  

167 S19 – public open space  

Page 251



 

 . \  2 

168 S19 – public open space  

169 S19 – public open space  

171 S19 – public open space  

171a S19 – public open space  

172 S19 – public open space  

 
 
Dated [    ] 2022 
 
 
 
THE COMMON SEAL of 
THE COUNCIL OF CITY OF COVENTRY 
was hereunto affixed 
in the in the presence of:- 

) 
) 
) 
) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 252



Q
U

E
E

N
 
V

I
C

T
O

R
I
A

 
R

O
A

D

CROFT ROAD

R
O

V
E

R
 R

O
A

D

LOWER

PRECINCT

CAR

PARK

COVENTRY

MARKET

1
5
.
9
2
m

4
4
.
6
5
m

3

1

.
4

5

m

1

2

.

0

1

m

2
.
3
8
m

2

1

.
4

2

m

1

0

.
8

m

B

LOWER

PRECINCT

CAR PARK

BLOCK

A1

BLOCK

D

6
0
0
0

COVENTRY

MARKET

(AS EXISTING)

BASED ON ORDNANCE SURVEY MAPPING AND

REPRODUCED BY TRANSPORT PLANNING

PRACTICE WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE

CONTROLLER OF HMSO © CROWN COPYRIGHT

This drawing has been prepared for planning purposes and should not be used for construction.

31176/AC/070 D

COVENTRY CITY CENTRE 

Rover Road Stopping Up

15/10/21 LD REV

T
:
\
3
0
0
0
0
_
P
r
o
j
e
c
t
s
\
3
1
1
7
6
 
C
o
v
e
n
t
r
y
 
C
i
t
y
 
C
e
n
t
r
e
 
S
o
u
t
h
\
A
C
A
D

\
0
7
0
_
D

 
-
 
0
7
1
_
D

.
d
w

g

transport planning practice

t: 020 7608 0008

w: www.tppweb.co.uk

70 Cowcross Street

London, EC1M 6EL

DRAWING NUMBER

REV

SCALE @ A3 DATE DRAWN BY CHECKED

TRANSPORT PLANNING PRACTICE

Key

 - Indicative proposed area to be

   stopped up

 - Public highway

 - Planning application boundary

 - Highway boundary

1:500

0 10m5

Page 253



Q
U

E
E

N
 
V

I
C

T
O

R
I
A

 
R

O
A

D

CROFT ROAD

R
O

V
E

R
 R

O
A

D

R

O

V

E

R

BEAUCHAMP

HOUSE

LOWER

MARKET

WAY

COVENTRY

MARKET

4
1
.
3
9
m

1

2

.
8

8

m

4

.
9

2

m

1

7

.
3

6

m

1

5

.
4

9

m

1
7
.
9
m

1

.
9

9

m

3

.

8

7

m

B

BLOCK

A1

BLOCK

D
6
0
0
0

6

0

0

0

3

0

0

0

3
0
0
0

COVENTRY

MARKET

(AS EXISTING)

BASED ON ORDNANCE SURVEY MAPPING AND

REPRODUCED BY TRANSPORT PLANNING

PRACTICE WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE

CONTROLLER OF HMSO © CROWN COPYRIGHT

This drawing has been prepared for planning purposes and should not be used for construction.

31176/AC/071 D

COVENTRY CITY CENTRE 

Queen Victoria Road Stopping Up

15/10/21 LD REV

T
:
\
3
0
0
0
0
_
P
r
o
j
e
c
t
s
\
3
1
1
7
6
 
C
o
v
e
n
t
r
y
 
C
i
t
y
 
C
e
n
t
r
e
 
S
o
u
t
h
\
A
C
A
D

\
0
7
0
_
D

 
-
 
0
7
1
_
D

.
d
w

g

transport planning practice

t: 020 7608 0008

w: www.tppweb.co.uk

70 Cowcross Street

London, EC1M 6EL

DRAWING NUMBER

REV

SCALE @ A3 DATE DRAWN BY CHECKED

TRANSPORT PLANNING PRACTICE

1:500

0 10m5

Key

 - Indicative proposed area to be

   stopped up

 - Public highway

 - Planning application boundary

 - Highway boundary

Page 254



REFORM

CLUB

2

5

0

0

1

5

0

0

BLOCK

C

6

0

0

0

6

0

0

0

8

0

0

0

8

0

0

0

8

0

0

0

8

0

0

0

6

0

0

0

A

(PAVILION)

5

1

.

7

1

m

3

0

.

5

7

m

T
:
\
3
0
0
0
0
_
P
r
o
j
e
c
t
s
\
3
1
1
7
6
 
C
o
v
e
n
t
r
y
 
C
i
t
y
 
C
e
n
t
r
e
 
S
o
u
t
h
\
A
C
A
D

\
0
7
2
_
D

.
d
w

g

transport planning practice

t: 020 7608 0008

w: www.tppweb.co.uk

70 Cowcross Street

London, EC1M 6EL

DRAWING NUMBER

REV

SCALE @ A3 DATE DRAWN BY CHECKED

TRANSPORT PLANNING PRACTICE

BASED ON ORDNANCE SURVEY MAPPING AND

REPRODUCED BY TRANSPORT PLANNING

PRACTICE WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE

CONTROLLER OF HMSO © CROWN COPYRIGHT

This drawing has been prepared for planning purposes and should not be used for construction.

31176/AC/072 D

COVENTRY CITY CENTRE 

Warwick Row Stopping Up

15/10/21 CWP REV

1:500

0 10m5

Key

 - Indicative proposed area to be

   stopped up

 - Public highway

 - Planning application boundary

 - Highway boundary

Page 255



This page is intentionally left blank



THE COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL - COUNCIL OWNED LAND PROPOSED FOR APPROPRIATION (EXCLUDING OPEN LAND)

Where applicable the plot boundaries show the general boundary
of the registered land, it does not show the exact line of the boundaries.
Measurements scaled from this plan may not match measurements
between the same points on the ground.

www.land-referencing.co.uk

DRAFT

Key:
Land Interests Proposed for 
Appropriation

Land to be Acquired

Rights to be Acquired

Alleyway to be acquired, 
first level not to be acquired

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of
Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Unauthorised reproduction
infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil
proceedings. Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance.
Survey Licence number: 0100031673

Date: 26/11/2021
Version Number: v1.2
Sheet Number:Sheet 1 of 1
Scale: 1:750 @A1

20

Metres

10010 0 10 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

Underpass to be acquired

Sta

Sub

4

El

6
8

84 .1m

3

LB

Q
U

EEN
 VIC

TO
R

IA R
O

AD

10
12

5

214

9
7

1315

11

SHERIFFS ORCHARD

2

TCBs
22

21

Stat
ue

Sir T
ho

mas
 W

hit
e's

15
 to

 17

Ramp

8 to
 12

Shelter

10
3 t

o 1
37

GREYFRIARS ROAD El Sub W
arw

ick
 R

ow

Th
e 

Q
ua

dr
an

t

10

9

Sta Holt Court

1 to
 24

25 to 46

7

Bank

5

Church

Beauchamp House

Warwick Road

17

Q
U

EEN
 VIC

TO
R

IA R
O

AD

Court

5 to 54

Vicroft

56 55

TCB

Shelter

C
O

R
PO

R
ATIO

N
 STR

EET

3537

SM

41
31

33

29 27 25 23

68
 to

 10
2

El Sub Sta

47 to 67

The Litten TreeThe Litten Tree

PH

The Litten TreeThe Litten Tree

PH
3

4

5

6

9

5

9

3

17
1315

1a

11

1 719

The Arcade
7

21
11

26

8

34

28

101010101012
1416

24

32

1820

30

22

38
36

40

Shelter

Albert Buildings

Coventry Retail Market

El Sub Sta

PC

Roof Car Park

ROVER ROAD

Roof Car Park PC

6

5

3

15

8

13

1

2

19

17Walk

Greyfriars4

21

(a
bo

ve
)

12

M
ar

ke
t C

ha
m

be
rs10

14 Shelton Square

8
6

4 23

412

28

39

16
20

30

24

27

22
14

12

35

M
ar

ke
t W

ay

18

26

Alda House

1 to 23 1 to 29

8 to 9

Club

6

1

Manor

Court

3

M anor House

Cheylesmore
Yard

Manor

to

141

Office

133  to  139

The Register

Car Park

149

145
143

151

153
to

161

El Sub Sta

Multi-storey Car Park

Traffic Control Centre
M

an
or

 T
er

ra
ce

4

123

1

to
121

131

to

125

117

NEW UNION STREET

109
to

The
 S

qu
irre

l

(P
H)

113

115

107

1

101
to

105

TCB

20

28

24

38

42 40

26

30

1

2

W
ARW

IC
K R

OAD (B
45

44
)

1

9

TCB s

Grey Friars Gate

11

10

Bull Yard

YARD

12

(s ite  o f)

PH

163

Shelters

Place

(Franciscan, founded

Friary

circa AD 1234)

Dresden

Rem a ins o f

LBs Christ Church House

Methodist Central Hall

49

48

51

47 WARWICK LANE

40

44

BARRACKS W
AY

45

42

43

84.1m

46

54
 to

 57

41

58

23

Barracks Car Park

21
19

61

60

38

37

Tunnel

59

39

36

64

62

33
 to

 35

He
rtf

or
d 

Ho
us

e

66

65

(a
bo

ve
) 32

Hert
for

d S
tre

et31

30

El Sub Sta

28

PH

27

25
26

24
23

22

The Wave

G
R

EY
FR

IA
R

S 
LA

N
E

(Swimming Pool)

Cas
se

lde
n

33

Hou
se

G
R

EY
FR

IA
R

S 
LA

N
E

24

Eventide

Homes

Ford's Hospital

Telephone Exchange

Shrub Walk

(A lm shouses, founded  AD  1529)

Multi-storey Car Park

67

68

Bank

Penny Black

House

69

70

University

Coventry
88.1m21

71
a

TCBs

76

75

20
21

72

Car Park

House

Greyfriars

Court

Waters

G
R

EY
FR

IA
R

S 
LA

N
E

1

Bank

Bank

PH

C
O

R
PO

R
ATIO

N
 STR

EET

85  to  101

Car Park Place

1 Lidice

75a77

18

75

2 
to

 4
8 

to
 1

6

Sh
er

bo
ur

ne
 A

rc
ad

e

15
13

11
9

7
5

3
1

63 to 73

1918

10
8

36
 to

 5
2

House

Broadgate

6

15

to

41
25

31

4

to 5 to 1113
1

27

329

43

2

49

1

47 45

59 61

51 to 57

39

Upper PrecinctTCBs

Lower Precinct10
2a

10
0

60  to  64

5052

22

56

4

54

54
40 to 44 38

48

M
ar

ke
t W

ay

46

28
8

2

24 12

10

The Precinct

House (above)
32

79

34

Broadgate 25

Cathedral Lanes
Lady Godiva

Shopping Centre

26

Broadgate

30

Bank
24

78

30

29

P
age 257



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Where applicable the plot boundaries show the general boundary
of the registered land, it does not show the exact line of the boundaries.
Measurements scaled from this plan may not match measurements
between the same points on the ground.

www.land-referencing.co.uk

Key:
THE COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL - OPEN SPACE FOR INCLUSION IN SECTION 19 CERTIFICATE

Open Space

Land to be Aquired

Rights to be Acquired

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of
Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Unauthorised reproduction
infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil
proceedings. Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance.
Survey Licence number: 0100031673

Date: 26/11/2021
Version Number: v1.2
Sheet Number:Sheet 1 of 1
Scale: 1:750 @A1

Alleyway to be acquired, 
first level not to be acquired

Underpass to be acquired

20

Metres

10010 0 10 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

Area 2

Area 3

Area 4

Area 1

Alda House

SHERIFFS ORCHARD

2

El Sub Sta

21

Stat
ue

Sir T
ho

mas
 W

hit
e's

15
 to

 17

8 to 9

Club

6

1

Manor

Court

3

M anor House

Cheylesmore
Yard

Manor

Traffic Control Centre

M
an

or
 T

er
ra

ce

4

El Sub W
arw

ick
 R

ow

Th
e 

Q
ua

dr
an

t

10

9

Sta Holt Court

1 to
 24

El

6
8

84 .1m

to

141

Office

133  to  139

The Register

Car Park

149

145
143

151

153
to

161

123

1

to
121

131

to

125

117

NEW UNION STREET

109
to

The
 S

qu
irre

l

(P
H)

113

115

25 to 46

7

Bank

5

Church

Beauchamp House

Warwick Road

Ramp

8 to
 12

Shelter

10
3 t

o 1
37

GREYFRIARS ROAD

107

1

101
to

105

TCB

3

LB

Q
U

EEN
 VIC

TO
R

IA R
O

AD

10
12

5

214

20

28

24

38

42 40

26

30

68
 to

 10
2

El Sub Sta

47 to 67

The Litten TreeThe Litten Tree

PH

The Litten TreeThe Litten Tree

PH
3

163

Shelters

Place

(Franciscan, founded

Friary

circa AD 1234)

Dresden

Rem a ins o f

LBs Christ Church House

Methodist Central Hall

1

2

W
ARW

IC
K R

OAD (B
45

44
)

1

9

TCB s

Grey Friars Gate

11

10

Bull Yard

YARD

12

(s ite  o f)

PH

4

5

6

9

5

9

3

17
1315

1a

11

1 719

The Arcade
7

21
11

3537

SM

41
31

33

29 27 25 23

The Wave

G
R

EY
FR

IA
R

S 
LA

N
E

(Swimming Pool)

Cas
se

lde
n

33

Hou
se

G
R

EY
FR

IA
R

S 
LA

N
E

24

Eventide

Homes

Ford's Hospital

49

48

51

47 WARWICK LANE

40

44

BARRACKS W
AY

45

42

43

84.1m

46

54
 to

 57

41

58

26

8

34

28

101010101012
1416

24

32

1820

30

22

38
36

40

6

5

3

15

8

13

1

2

19

17Walk

Greyfriars4

21

(a
bo

ve
)

12

M
ar

ke
t C

ha
m

be
rs10

14 Shelton Square

8
6

Telephone Exchange

Shrub Walk

House (above)
32

79

34

Broadgate 25

Cathedral Lanes
Lady Godiva

Shopping Centre

26

Broadgate

30

Bank
24

78

30

29

75a77

18

75

2 
to

 4
8 

to
 1

6

Sh
er

bo
ur

ne
 A

rc
ad

e

15
13

11
9

7
5

3
1

63 to 73

10
8

14

12

2
6

TCBs

M
ar

ke
t W

ay

51 to 57

43

59 61

4547

4

1

49

39
29

27

to

41
to

31

Upper Precinct

25

41

39

23

30

28

27

2

24

4

22
20

35

18

26

16

PH

C
O

R
PO

R
ATIO

N
 STR

EET

85  to  101

1
 to

 9
6

House

Car Park Place

1 Lidice

Lower Precinct

80

10
2a

78
82  to  96

10
0

68

60  to  64

66

50

56 to 58

52

22

58
56

4

54

54
40 to 44 38

48

M
ar

ke
t W

ay

46

28
8

2

24 12

10

The Precinct

61

60

38

37

Tunnel

59

39

36

64

62

33
 to

 35

He
rtf

or
d 

Ho
us

e

66

65

(a
bo

ve
) 32

Hert
for

d S
tre

et

(A lm shouses, founded  AD  1529)

Multi-storey Car Park

67

68

Bank

Penny Black

House

69

70

University

Shelter

Albert Buildings

ROVER ROAD

Roof Car Park

El Sub Sta

Car Park

28

30

31

PH

27

25
26

24
23

22
21

20

TCB

Shelter

C
O

R
PO

R
ATIO

N
 STR

EET

TCBs

71
a

75

72

Coventry

76

21 88.1m
House

Greyfriars

Court

Waters

G
R

EY
FR

IA
R

S 
LA

N
E

1

Bank

Bank

El Sub Sta

Roof Car Park

PC

Coventry Retail Market

PC

1918

36
 to

 5
2

House

Broadgate

19
21

Barracks Car Park

23

15

13 5 to 11
31

9
7

1315

11

17

Q
U

EEN
 VIC

TO
R

IA R
O

AD

Court

5 to 54

Vicroft

56 55

P
age 259



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Where applicable the plot boundaries show the general boundary
of the registered land, it does not show the exact line of the boundaries.
Measurements scaled from this plan may not match measurements
between the same points on the ground.

www.land-referencing.co.uk

DRAFT

Key:
Open Space

Land to be Acquired

Rights to be Acquired

THE COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL - OPEN SPACE TO BE ADVERTISED FOR APPROPRIATION/DISPOSAL

Alleyway to be acquired, 
first level not to be acquired

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of
Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Unauthorised reproduction
infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil
proceedings. Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance.
Survey Licence number: 0100031673

Date: 26/11/2021
Version Number: v1.2
Sheet Number:Sheet 1 of 1
Scale: 1:750 @A1

Area 1

Area 2

Area 3

Area 4

Sta

Sub

4

El

6
8

84 .1m

3

LB

Q
U

EEN
 VIC

TO
R

IA R
O

AD

10
12

5

214

9
7

1315

11

SHERIFFS ORCHARD

2

TCBs
22

21

Stat
ue

Sir T
ho

mas
 W

hit
e's

15
 to

 17

Ramp

8 to
 12

Shelter

10
3 t

o 1
37

GREYFRIARS ROAD El Sub W
arw

ick
 R

ow

Th
e 

Q
ua

dr
an

t

10

9

Sta Holt Court

1 to
 24

25 to 46

7

Bank

5

Church

Beauchamp House

Warwick Road

17

Q
U

EEN
 VIC

TO
R

IA R
O

AD

Court

5 to 54

Vicroft

56 55

TCB

Shelter

C
O

R
PO

R
ATIO

N
 STR

EET

3537

SM

41
31

33

29 27 25 23

68
 to

 10
2

El Sub Sta

47 to 67

The Litten TreeThe Litten Tree

PH

The Litten TreeThe Litten Tree

PH
3

4

5

6

9

5

9

3

17
1315

1a

11

1 719

The Arcade
7

21
11

26

8

34

28

101010101012
1416

24

32

1820

30

22

38
36

40

Shelter

Albert Buildings

Coventry Retail Market

El Sub Sta

PC

Roof Car Park

ROVER ROAD

Roof Car Park PC

6

5

3

15

8

13

1

2

19

17Walk

Greyfriars4

21

(a
bo

ve
)

12

M
ar

ke
t C

ha
m

be
rs10

14 Shelton Square

8
6

4 23

412

28

39

16
20

30

24

27

22
14

12

35

M
ar

ke
t W

ay

18

26

Alda House

1 to 23 1 to 29

8 to 9

Club

6

1

Manor

Court

3

M anor House

Cheylesmore
Yard

Manor

to

141

Office

133  to  139

The Register

Car Park

149

145
143

151

153
to

161

El Sub Sta

Multi-storey Car Park

Traffic Control Centre
M

an
or

 T
er

ra
ce

4

123

1

to
121

131

to

125

117

NEW UNION STREET

109
to

The
 S

qu
irre

l

(P
H)

113

115

107

1

101
to

105

TCB

20

28

24

38

42 40

26

30

1

2

W
ARW

IC
K R

OAD (B
45

44
)

1

9

TCB s

Grey Friars Gate

11

10

Bull Yard

YARD

12

(s ite  o f)

PH

163

Shelters

Place

(Franciscan, founded

Friary

circa AD 1234)

Dresden

Rem a ins o f

LBs Christ Church House

Methodist Central Hall

49

48

51

47 WARWICK LANE

40

44

BARRACKS W
AY

45

42

43

84.1m

46

54
 to

 57

41

58

23

Barracks Car Park

21
19

61

60

38

37

Tunnel

59

39

36

64

62

33
 to

 35

He
rtf

or
d 

Ho
us

e

66

65

(a
bo

ve
) 32

Hert
for

d S
tre

et31

30

El Sub Sta

28

PH

27

25
26

24
23

22

The Wave

G
R

EY
FR

IA
R

S 
LA

N
E

(Swimming Pool)

Cas
se

lde
n

33

Hou
se

G
R

EY
FR

IA
R

S 
LA

N
E

24

Eventide

Homes

Ford's Hospital

Telephone Exchange

Shrub Walk

(A lm shouses, founded  AD  1529)

Multi-storey Car Park

67

68

Bank

Penny Black

House

69

70

University

Coventry
88.1m21

71
a

TCBs

76

75

20
21

72

Car Park

House

Greyfriars

Court

Waters

G
R

EY
FR

IA
R

S 
LA

N
E

1

Bank

Bank

PH

C
O

R
PO

R
ATIO

N
 STR

EET

85  to  101

Car Park Place

1 Lidice

75a77

18

75

2 
to

 4
8 

to
 1

6

Sh
er

bo
ur

ne
 A

rc
ad

e

15
13

11
9

7
5

3
1

63 to 73

1918

10
8

36
 to

 5
2

House

Broadgate

6

15

to

41
25

31

4

to 5 to 1113
1

27

329

43

2

49

1

47 45

59 61

51 to 57

39

Upper PrecinctTCBs

Lower Precinct10
2a

10
0

60  to  64

50

56 to 58

52

22

56

4

54

54
40 to 44 38

48

M
ar

ke
t W

ay

46

28
8

2

24 12

10

The Precinct

House (above)
32

79

34

Broadgate 25

Cathedral Lanes
Lady Godiva

Shopping Centre

26

Broadgate

30

Bank
24

78

30

29

20

Metres

10010 0 10 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

Underpass to be acquired

P
age 261



T
his page is intentionally left blank



THE WAVE

METHODIST

HALL

H

E

R

T

F

O

R

D

 

S

T

.

T

U

N

N

E

L

G

R

E

Y

F

R

I

A

R

S

 

R

O

A

D

Q
U

E
E

N
 
V

I
C

T
O

R
I
A

 
R

O
A

D

M
A

R
K

E
T

 
W

A
Y

B
U

S
 
S

T
O

P

W

A

R

W

I

C

K

 

R

O

W

IKEA

FORMER

WOOLWORTHS

BUILDING

FORMER

BHS

BUILDING

BROADGATE

HOUSE

LOWER

PRECINCT

CAR PARK

REFORM

CLUB

CATHEDRAL

LANES

BEAUCHAMP

HOUSE

UPPER PRECINCT

BLOCK

A1

BLOCK

A2

BLOCK

C

BLOCK

D

BLOCK

B

BLOCK E

(PAVILION)

COVENTRY

MARKET

(AS EXISTING)

APPLICATION SITE BOUNDARY

LEGEND

DEVELOPMENT PLOT

INDICATIVE SCHEME

BUILDING FOOTPRINT

TOLERANCE ZONE

PROPOSED OPEN SPACE AREAS

AREA A = 1537m2

AREA B = 1721m2

PUBLIC SQAURE 1

AREA C = 1285m2

PUBLIC SQUARE 2

Note:

Areas based on maximum parameter plan extents as

defined in the Outline Planning Application.

Refer to Chapman Taylor Drawing No. 764-COS-0402

N
O

R
T

H

NOTES:

This drawing is the copyright of

Hyland Edgar Driver. It must not be

copied or reproduced without

written consent. Only figured

dimensions are to be taken from

this drawing. All contractors must

visit the site and be responsible for

taking and checking all dimensions

related to the works shown on this

drawing.

REVISIONSREVISIONS REVISIONS

REVISIONDRAWING NUMBER

DRAWING TITLE

PROJECT

DRAWN BY CHECKED BYDATE

SCALE @ DRAWING STATUS

CLIENT

One Wessex Way  Colden Common  Winchester  SO21 1WG                         t. 01962 711 600

Waterloo Court  10 Theed Street  London  SE1 8ST                                         t. 020 7803 9636

H  E  D

Landscape Architects

H y l a n d  E d g a r  D r i v e r

& Urban Designers

L o n d o n  &  W i n c h e s t e r

                  A0
04/05/2020

ISSUE FOR INFORMATION

CITY CENTRE SOUTH, COVENTRY

PUBLIC REALM AREAS

1367-HED-XX-XX-DR-L-SK-008

KS CB

1:500

P01

SHEARER PROPERTY GROUP

P01 - Public realm areas updated  CRB  08.11.21

UNUSUAL RISKS

Construction:

Operations:

Maintenance:

Dismantling/Demolition:

SAFETY, HEALTH

AND ENVIRONMENT

INFORMATION

Unusual residual

hazards / risks, based

on experienced and

competent

contractors working to

approved method

statements.

f
i
l
e

n
a

m
e

:
 
q

:
\
j
o

b
s
\
1

3
6

7
 
c
c
s
 
c
o

v
e
n

t
r
y
 
s
p

g
\
h

e
d

\
c
a

d
\
0

0
 
s
k
e

t
c
h

\
1

3
6

7
-
h

e
d

-
x
x
-
x
x
-
d

r
-
l
-
s
k
-
0

0
8

 
p
r
o
p

o
s
e
d

 
p

u
b

l
i
c
 
s
p

a
c
e
.
d

w
g

;
 
p

r
i
n

t
e

d
 
o

n
:
2

0
2
1

-
1

1
-
0

8
 
o

n
 
i
s
o

 
f
u
l
l
 
b

l
e

e
d

 
a

0
 
(
8

4
1

.
0

0
 
x
 
1

1
8
9

.
0

0
 
m

m
)
 
@

 
1

0
0
%

 
o

f
 
o

r
i
g

i
n

a
l
 
s
c
a

l
e

AREA A

AREA B

AREA C

P
age 263

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
25m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
1:500



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Site Assembly Strategy - information for businesses 

This means bringing together all the parcels of land needed for the development. 

The City Centre South scheme, once implemented, will transform some of the most tired and 
outdated areas of the city centre, including Bull Yard, Shelton Square, City Arcade and 
Hertford Street.  The Council's vision for the scheme, which the Council’s Planning 
Committee resolved to grant Planning Consent for on the 22 April 2021, is for a vibrant 
mixed use development including new homes, hotel, retail, cafes, restaurants, leisure, office 
and community uses together with improved public realm and car parking spaces. 

The Council is keen to ensure that businesses affected by the planned City Centre South 
development are kept informed of progress and understand what this may mean for them. 

This information below sets out how that work will be carried out, along with how any land 
and property will be bought. It should give anyone affected by the scheme the information 
needed. 

Information included: 

• Background details on City Centre South 
• How communications and engagement will take place 
• The relocation, reprovision and support offer 
• Key information about the compulsory purchase order (CPO) process (Including links to 

Government booklets that provide more details on compulsory purchase process and 
compensation) 

• Your rights, including blight. 

Following consultation, an outline planning application for the City Centre South scheme was 
submitted to Coventry City Council’s Planning Department on 19 November 2020. Planning 
Committee considered the application on the 22 April 2021 and resolved to grant Consent 
for the scheme. 

Background 

The plans for City Centre South cover the area outlined in red in the plan above and include: 

• Between 900 and 1300 residential dwellings 
• Hotel with up to 150 rooms 
• A mix of non-residential uses including retail, food and beverage (including hot food and 

takeaway), leisure, office, community and cinema uses 
• Between 90 and 300 car parking spaces (private) 
• High quality new public realm 

You can see more detail in the planning application. 

Most of the land is owned freehold by the Council, but many shops, businesses and other 
properties are leasehold and owned and occupied by many different parties. The Council will 
work with leaseholders to try and find an agreed solution for purchases, and will also look at 
the possibility of businesses relocating to the new development once complete. 

Page 265

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/372/city_centre_developments/3921/city_centre_south/2#Background
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/372/city_centre_developments/3921/city_centre_south/2#Communication%20and%20Engagement
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/372/city_centre_developments/3921/city_centre_south/2#Relocation,%20reprovision%20and%20support
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/372/city_centre_developments/3921/city_centre_south/2#Compulsory%20Purchase
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/372/city_centre_developments/3921/city_centre_south/2#Compulsory%20Purchase
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/372/city_centre_developments/3921/city_centre_south/2#Compulsory%20Purchase
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/372/city_centre_developments/3921/city_centre_south/2#Rights
http://planning.coventry.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=812715
http://planning.coventry.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet


Where agreement cannot be reached, the Council will make a Compulsory Purchase Order 
(CPO) – as explained in the Compulsory Purchase section below – to acquire any remaining 
interests using its statutory powers.  Any CPO will be prepared in accordance with 
Government guidance and best practice.  The Council's decision on whether or not to make 
a CPO is expected to take place towards the end of this year with the site likely needing to 
be vacated on or after 31 January 2023.  

Communication and Engagement 

The Council will always try to maintain a continuing dialogue with all owners and occupiers 
of land required for the scheme and will use reasonable efforts to contact all those 
affected.  This will include information on the current status of the scheme; the current 
timetable; and the impact of the scheme on their property. All parties will be invited to 
discuss their circumstances and raise any questions with the Council or its advisers, 
Deloitte. 

Communication methods will include one-to-one meetings, emails, telephone calls, periodic 
‘surgery sessions’, or regular newsletters. 
 
The Council will respond promptly to all enquiries and a dedicated email address has been 
set up at CCSBusinessSupport@coventry.gov.uk. 

Negotiations, Relocation, Compensation and Support 

The Council will use reasonable efforts to acquire all business and property interests by 
agreement and will use a range of approaches, including early acquisitions, options and 
conditional contracts. 

In order to assist businesses and traders who are required to vacate as a result of the CCS 
Scheme, the Council has instructed local property agents Holt Commercial Ltd to maintain a 
schedule of retail premises available to let in the local area. If you would like access to this 
schedule, please contact Chris Hobday: 

Tel 07889 764350  email chris@holtcommercial.co.uk  

There may be opportunities for displaced occupiers to relocate to the City Centre South 
development on market terms at the time. This will be dependent on a variety of factors, 
including the planned retail mix within the development. 

There are two general categories of land interests to be acquired: commercial leases held 
from the Council with lease expiry after the land is expected to be required for the 
development (currently expected to be January 2023), and those with lease expiry before 
that date. 

Category 1: Lease expiry (or date on which the Council can “break” the lease) is 
before the date by which the property is required for the development (currently 
expected to be January 2023) 

Where the Council is able to bring leases to an end as landlord before the date the property 
is required for the development, it will do so.  Depending on the lease terms, this may 
require the Council to pay compensation under the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954. 

Page 266

mailto:CCSBusinessSupport@coventry.gov.uk


Category 2: Lease expiry (or earliest date on which the Council can “break” the lease) 
is after the date by which the property is required for the development (currently 
expected to be January 2023) 

The Council is actively engaging in negotiations with occupiers and this engagement will 
continue in parallel with the compulsory purchase process. Depending on the circumstances 
a range of potential agreements are being explored with affected occupiers, for example: 

• a purchase price to enable the business to vacate at an agreed time without relocation 
• an early acquisition so that the business can relocate immediately to allow a lease to be 

surrendered 
• an option to relocate back into the new development in future 
• an arrangement where there is an extended notice period before your property is acquired 
• an acquisition conditional on confirmation of the CPO and/or other matters. 

The Council will deal with all occupiers on a fair and reasonable basis. However, some 
leaseholders will be more significantly affected than others, and a flexible approach will be 
taken to take all circumstances into account. 

As part of any agreement, the Council will reimburse the reasonable professional fees 
incurred in taking professional advice.  These would usually comprise the fees of a chartered 
surveyor (who is experienced in dealing with compulsory purchase matters) and legal fees in 
documenting any agreement that is reached.  These fees will be reimbursed by the Council 
as long as the fee basis is agreed in advance of work commencing. 

The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) operates a helpline for people affected 
by compulsory purchase.  They will put you in touch with a local experienced surveyor in 
your area who will provide a 30 minute consultation free of charge.  The RICS Helpline 
number is 024 7686 8555. 

Relocation 

For businesses looking to relocate (either permanently or temporarily): 

1. The Council and partners will keep an updated record of available units and will help those 
affected businesses that wish to relocate to do as and when possible. 

2. For businesses interested in relocating to the new centre once complete, there is the 
possibility of relocating to the new City Centre South scheme on market terms at the time. 
The offer of accommodation in the Scheme will be dependent on a variety of factors, 
including the planned retail mix within the development. Other available Council properties 
will also be looked at for relocation needs. 

3. When relocation back into the new City Centre South scheme is not possible, or business 
owners do not wish to take space in the new scheme, they will be helped to relocate to 
alternative nearby premises. 

Existing commercial occupiers who may wish to relocate back to the completed 
development 

The Council and SPG want to engage with existing retailers and occupiers who may be 
interested in taking commercial space in the completed development.  The information below 
sets out the timing of, and process for, more detailed discussions and to ensure that 
appropriate and consistent action is taken by the Council and the Developer in response to 
expressions of interest and other enquiries.  

Page 267



It is important to note that any requests for commercial occupiers to relocate within the 
Scheme will be considered on their merits having regard to factors that include covenant and 
the tenant mix sought by the Council and SPG, the alternative options available to the 
displaced occupier and the ability to maintain continuity of trade during relocation (i.e. the 
new unit not  being ready for occupation prior to demolition of the existing unit). 
Notwithstanding this, the following stages are proposed: 

Early Engagement Period 

The early engagement period is the period, from now, up until the date that the Developer 
commences the marketing of the first commercial units in the CCS scheme to existing 
retailers and occupiers. Whilst the date cannot be confirmed at present, this will be a date 
before the commercial units are marketed more generally. 

From now and until the developer markets the commercial opportunities, any expressions of 
interest from existing retailers should be provided either to the Council or Deloitte (property 
advisors to the Council).  Deloitte will acknowledge this interest and compile a Register of 
Expressions of Interest that they will keep updated and issue to the SPG on a monthly basis. 

To discuss expressions of interest, please contact Helena Casement, Senior Surveyor at 
Deloitte LLP: 
Tel: 07810 620934 
Email: hecasement@deloitte.co.uk 
The Marketing Period 

Once marketing of the first commercial units in the CCS development to existing retailers 
and occupiers starts, the Developer will contact all the registered parties and provide a 
named contact and set up initial meetings with each of the registered parties.  It is envisaged 
this contact will be made during 2024.     

At these initial meetings, the Developer will provide more details on the size and 
configuration of commercial units in the scheme, the rents (and other lease terms), and any 
other issues relating to the occupier mix being sought.  If appropriate, negotiations will then 
continue on a case by case basis between the Developer and the individual tenants (or their 
agent).  

General 

During both the Early Engagement Period and the Marketing Period, the Council and 
Deloitte will continue to engage with all occupiers in accordance with the wider Site 
Assembly Strategy set out here.  

Compulsory Purchase  

Where, despite reasonable efforts, it is not possible to acquire all required interests by 
agreement, it may be necessary for the Council to make a CPO to enable the scheme to 
proceed within a reasonable timescale.  The decision to make a CPO will be taken by 
Cabinet following consideration of a full report into the details of the interests to be acquired, 
the benefits of the scheme and the impacts on those affected.  An Equalities Impact 
Assessment will be prepared, the results of which will be reported on to members to inform 
their decision making.  However, the Council cannot use the CPO to acquire any land 
interests until it has first been confirmed by the Secretary of State.  The Council will send the 

Page 268

mailto:hecasement@deloitte.co.uk


CPO to the Secretary of State for review who will make the final decision on whether or not 
the CPO will come into effect. 

Preparations for the making of any CPO will be undertaken in accordance with government 
guidance and best practice. All those with interests covered by the CPO will be notified and 
will have the opportunity to make representations to the Secretary of State before the 
decision on whether or not to confirm the CPO is made.  Site notices will be used where it 
has not been possible to identify the owner of an affected right or interest.  Copies of the 
CPO and all supporting documentation will be made publicly available for review in 
accordance with the statutory rules and guidance. 

All those owners of rights and interests that are acquired by CPO will be able to submit a 
claim for compensation assessed in accordance with statute. 

• Further information on the compulsory purchase process (PDF). 
• Information on how compensation is assessed (PDF). 

Rights 

The Council will need to acquire “new rights” over some property, for example the right for a 
crane to swing in the air-space above that property.  The acquisition of new rights should not 
prevent property being occupied, and (as and when the rights required are more precisely 
defined) the Council will seek to document these by agreement.  

Blight 

In response to a CPO being made by the Council, certain occupiers can serve a “blight 
notice” on the Council. If accepted, this notice may require the Council to acquire the 
property interest in advance of it being required for the development.  The Council can 
provide further details on this process, and if considered appropriate and agreed in advance 
of work commencing, will reimburse reasonable professional fees incurred in advising on this 
process. 

For more information, please email CCSBusinessSupport@coventry.gov.uk. 

 

Page 269

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/571449/booklet1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/571450/booklet2.pdf
mailto:CCSBusinessSupport@coventry.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 271

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 279

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 287

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 289

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 317

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 The 2022/23 Council Tax Base Report
	Executive summary:
	Recommendations:
	2) That, in accordance with the Local Authorities (Calculation of Tax Base) Regulations 2012, the amounts calculated by the City Council for 2022/23 shall be:
	a net tax base of 84,264.3 for the whole of the City Council area made up as follows:

	List of Appendices included:
	Background papers:
	None
	Other useful documents:
	None
	Has it or will it be considered by scrutiny?
	No
	Will this report go to Council?
	Report title:

	6 Approval of Rough Sleeper Drug and Alcohol Treatment Grant
	Executive Summary:
	Recommendations:
	List of Appendices included:
	Background papers:
	Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
	No
	No
	Will this report go to Council?
	The Rough Sleeper Drug and Alcohol Treatment Grant offer is valued at £640,361 for spend prior to March 2023.
	A sum of up to £592,271 will be transferred to CGL under a contract variation agreed by Procurement Board on 24 September 2021. A sum of up to £48,090 will be used to employ an outreach worker within the Council’s Rough Sleeper Outreach Team.  An addi...
	Valerie De Souza, Acting Director of Public Health and Wellbeing

	7 Outcomes of the Fair Funding Consultation 2022-23
	Executive Summary:
	Recommendations:
	List of Appendices included:
	Background papers:
	Outcomes of the Fair Funding Consultation 2022-23
	1 Context (or background)
	1.1 Under Section 48 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998, Local Authorities (LAs) are required to have schemes of delegation which set out the financial controls and arrangements that will operate between schools and the LA. Any proposed re...
	1.2 The DFE introduced its National Funding Formula (NFF) for LAs in 2018-19, whereby allocations for LAs were determined under the NFF approach, but LAs retained control over how they chose to distribute that funding amongst their schools. In Coventr...
	1.3 The Department for Education (DFE) published the "Schools Revenue Funding 2022 to 2023: Operational Guide" which sets out the school revenue funding arrangements for 2022-23. There have not been any significant changes required to the operation of...
	1.4 The consultation document was circulated on the 22nd October 2021 to Head Teachers including Academy Head Teachers/Principals, Chairs of Governing Bodies, relevant Councillors, Trade Unions, Diocesan authorities, the Coventry Governors Association...
	1.5 Stakeholder groups were briefed throughout the consultation period. These included Primary Finance representative head teachers and the Schools Forum. The consultation document also seeks to act as an information document to school stakeholders re...
	1.6 Context of the National Funding Formula
	1.6.1 The National Funding Formula continues to be in a ‘soft’ phase. This means that the DFE will run the NFF for each individual school and the total of Coventry schools’ allocations will become the total budget available for schools in Coventry. Th...
	1.6.2 The national announcements surrounding the 2.00% increase, and the publication of individual school allocations, set a level of expectation that all schools would see at least a 2.00% per pupil increase in their funding vs 2021-22 allocations.
	1.6.3 It remains the case that the pure NFF (without any protection) delivers significantly less resource for Coventry schools. The estimated value of protection in 2022-23 for Coventry schools is estimated to be £3.2M. It is not clear what protection...
	1.6.4 Further background on the National Funding reform and full details of the following proposals can be found in the Fair Funding Consultation 2022-23 which is included in this report at Appendix 3 to the report.


	2 Options considered and recommended proposal
	2.1 Fair Funding Formula options
	2.1.1 As a result of the continued application of the National Funding Formula (NFF), and following detailed work carried out with the Schools Forum and its sub-group we consulted on a preferred option in relation to the application of the schools fun...
	2.1.2 The consultation document asked stakeholders whether they agreed with the proposal and to feedback any general comments. The consultation responses received were unanimously in favour of the recommended option. Please see Appendix 1 to the repor...

	2.2 De-delegated Services
	2.2.1 The previous school funding reforms have required a number of former centrally held budgets within the Schools Block to be delegated to schools through the funding formula. Maintained schools then have the option to ‘de-delegate’ these amounts b...
	2.2.2 De-delegation items must be approved by Schools Forum with Primary maintained member representatives deciding for their own phase. In 2021-22 Primary maintained schools opted to pool resources for all de-delegated services offered. The table wit...
	2.2.3 The same de-delegation arrangements are available in 2022-23. Approval was given by the Schools Forum for this in November 2021 when maintained primary representatives voted to de-delegate all areas offered.
	2.2.4 The consultation document asked stakeholders whether they agreed with the proposal and to feed back any general comments. The consultation responses were unanimously in favour de-delegating funding for these services. Please see appendix 1 for a...

	2.3 Minimum Funding Guarantee Disapplications
	2.3.1 As part of the schools funding formula the LA is required to apply a Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG) protection mechanism to provide funding stability to schools on a per pupil basis.
	2.3.2 A disapplication was proposed in order to allow agreed one-off reserve funding to be delegated to schools without affecting their calculated protection level.
	2.3.3 The consultation document asked stakeholders whether they agreed with the proposal and to feed back any general comments. The responses received were unanimously in favour of the proposed disapplications. Please see appendix 1 for a summary of t...

	2.4 Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation
	2.4.1 Section 48 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998, and Schedule 14 to the Act set out that Local Authorities (LAs) should have a Scheme of Delegation. LAs are required to publish schemes for financing schools setting out the financial re...
	2.4.2 In making any changes to their schemes, local authorities must consult all maintained schools in their area and receive the approval of the members of their Schools Forum representing maintained schools. Local authorities must take this guidance...
	2.4.3 The nationally proposed change to the scheme for 2022-23 is set out below. This was already practice in Coventry but is now to be formalised within the scheme.
	2.4.4 The link to the consultation version of the Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation is https://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/37245/fair_funding_consultation_2022-23
	2.4.5 The fair funding consultation document asked stakeholders to feed back any general comments on the revised scheme. The responses were unanimously in favour of the proposal. Please see appendix 1 for a summary of the responses.


	3 Results of consultation undertaken
	3.1 The Fair Funding Consultation is an annual consultation. All Local Authorities are required by the Department for Education (DfE) to consult with all relevant stakeholders on the proposed changes to the local fair funding formula.
	3.2 The consultation document was circulated on the 22nd  October 2021 to Head Teachers including Academy Head Teachers/Principals, Chairs of Governing Bodies, relevant Councillors, Trade Unions, Diocesan authorities, the Coventry Governors Associatio...
	3.3 In addition, where possible, stakeholder groups were briefed throughout the consultation period. These included Primary Finance representative head teachers and the Schools Forum.
	3.4 The result of the consultation is set out in Appendix 1 to the report and summarised under each proposal within section 2 of this report.

	4 Timetable for implementing this decision
	4.1 We are required to submit a proforma to the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) by 21st January 2022 setting out the draft Fair Funding Formula, including proposed changes. Once the proforma is checked for compliance and approved by the ESF...

	5 Comments from the Director of Finance and the Director of Law and Governance
	5.1 Financial Implications
	Financial implications on schools
	5.1.1 Schools will face significant cost pressures in 2022-23 as a result of price inflation (particularly energy price inflation) and increasing staffing costs which are likely to be more than the extra 2.00% increase to pupil led funding. These pres...
	5.1.2 Mainstream schools will continue to be subject to the minimum funding guarantee (MFG) protection arrangements in 2022-23. The MFG seeks to protect schools against historical levels of pupil led funding for the purposes of stability. The level of...
	5.1.3 Within the National Funding Formula (NFF) there is a significant level of protection (ca. £3.2M) being applied to school budgets compared with the pure NFF allocations. It is not clear what protection arrangements will be in place for schools af...

	Financial Implications on the LA
	5.1.4 The DfE’s School Funding Reform required Local Authorities (LA)s to delegate some centrally spent dedicated schools grant (DSG) to schools. Maintained schools can then agree to pool funding and return to the LA to be spent on their behalf. Areas...
	5.1.5 Should the significant level of protection funding in schools (see 5.1.3) be quickly reduced after 2022-23 this could result in a number of schools needing to carry out restructures and potential staffing redundancies. This could create a financ...

	5.2 Legal implications
	5.2.1 s 48(1) of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 requires Local Authorities (LA)s to maintain and publish schemes connected with the financing of maintained schools. Regulations made under the Act (School and Early Years Finance (England) ...
	5.2.2 Public authority decision makers are under a duty to have due regard to 1) the need to eliminate discrimination: 2) advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not: 3) foster good relation...
	5.2.3 Decision makers must be consciously thinking about these three aims as part of their decision-making process with rigour and with and open mind. The duty is to have “due regard”, not to achieve a result but to have due regard to the need to achi...


	6 Other implications
	6.1 How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)?
	6.1.1 A clear and transparent financial infrastructure is key to ensuring that schools can focus on improving educational outcomes.
	6.1.2 We also want to ensure that the financial relationship between the City Council and the schools it maintains is clear and transparent, and this is set out in the Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation.

	6.2 How is risk being managed?
	6.2.1 The consultation document is sent to all relevant stakeholders within the city.
	6.2.2 The City Council has a statutory responsibility to ensure maintained schools can balance their budget, and the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) has a statutory responsibility to ensure Academies are setting balanced budgets. The City C...
	6.2.3 Any potential school deficit or long-term sustainability issues will be reported back to the City Council as early as possible to ensure plans are put in place for balanced budgets. This will include liaison with the ESFA where the school is an ...
	6.2.4 The updated Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation will enable schools and City Council officers to clearly understand and uphold the financial responsibilities of each organisation.

	6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?
	6.3.1 The proposals will continue the theme of mirroring the National Funding Formula protection mechanism and allocations in schools, as well as per pupil funding stability in schools as provided by the Minimum Funding Guarantee.
	6.3.2 If as a consequence of implementing some of the proposals there is the need to make staffing structure changes then full consultation will be undertaken with both Coventry City Council staff and the trade unions in accordance with city council p...

	6.4 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)
	6.4.1 The DfE carried out an Equality Impact Assessment on the significant changes introduced by the National Funding Formula. The majority of proposals included in this report are the result of the National Funding Formula changes therefore the DfE e...
	https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-formula-for-schools-and-high-needs-equalities-impact-assessment

	6.5 Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment
	6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

	Appendix 1
	1 Introduction
	1.1 This Appendix provides a summary of responses received to the consultation paper that was issued to all schools and other stakeholders on 22nd October 2021. All responses that were received have been analysed and the results are summarised in this...
	1.2 A total of 7 responses were received, with 2 of those received from groups and therefore representing multiple stakeholder views.
	1.3 The results and comments are summarised below. Some of the responses included further detail relating to connected issues within specific schools or specific aspects as funding. These raise concerns, but do not relate specifically to the proposals...

	2 RESULTS
	2.1 Proposal 1 –  Fair Funding Formula options
	2.1.1 This proposal recommends that Coventry continues to use the local funding formula in 2022/23 to mirror the National Funding Formula protection levels as closely as possible.
	2.1.2 We asked stakeholders whether they agreed with this proposal and for general comments.

	2.2 Proposal 2 – De-delegated Services
	2.2.1 Funding for some centrally provided services must be allocated direct to schools through the formula but can then be returned to the LA by maintained schools via local de-delegation agreement. This Proposal highlights the de-delegation decision ...
	2.2.2 We asked stakeholders for general comments on this proposal.

	2.3 Proposal 3 – Minimum Funding Guarantee approach
	2.3.1 The Local Authority retains the ability to set the level of the Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG) protection for schools in 2022/23, although the direction taken in proposal 1 determines the appropriate MFG approach this year. This proposal highli...
	2.3.2 We asked stakeholders whether they agreed with this proposal and for general comments.

	2.4 Proposal 4 – Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation
	2.4.1 This section covers change that is being made to the Fair Funding Scheme of delegation to reflect updated national and local policies.
	2.4.2 We asked stakeholders for general comments on this proposal.


	Appendix 2
	Fair Funding Consultation 2022/23
	1  Purpose of Consultation
	2  Executive Summary
	2.1 Background
	2.1.1 During the summer and in October the Department for Education (DFE) published a series of operational guides and technical notes for schools and high needs funding. The “Schools Revenue Funding Operational Guide ” and “High Needs Revenue Funding...
	2.1.2 The DFE has also published a further National Funding Formula (NFF) policy document  for the Schools Block, High Needs Block and Central Schools Services Block. These policies set out the composition of the formulas, including timings, transitio...
	2.1.3 There are a few, mostly minor, changes set out in the various guidance documents that relate to the 2022/23 funding formula. The main change is the change to the data sets used for FSM6 and low prior attainment. These changes are set out within ...
	2.1.4 The table below identifies which proposals within this consultation could potentially have a direct effect on each sector from the start of the 2022/23 financial year.

	2.2 Brief Description of Proposals
	2.2.1 Proposal 1: Fair Funding Formula options
	2.2.2 This proposal recommends that Coventry continues to use the local funding formula in 2022/23 to mirror the National Funding Formula protection levels as closely as possible.
	2.2.3 Proposal 2: De-Delegated services
	De-delegated services must be approved annually. We will be seeking approval at Schools Forum in autumn 2021 in relation to 2022-23 de-delegated services. This proposal in section 6 sets out the information we will be sharing with the Schools Forum.
	2.2.4 Proposal 3: Minimum Funding Guarantee Disapplications
	2.2.5 Proposal 4: Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation changes

	2.3 Consultation Response
	Please respond to this consultation using the consultation response form that you will find at appendix A. This should be returned electronically as per the instructions on the response form.


	3  Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Budget Implications
	3.1 Context
	3.1.1 This section is to provide early, high-level information to schools and other stakeholders on the emerging issues that will affect budget levels and financial positions in 2022/23 and beyond. Due to the nature of national policy development and ...

	3.2 Cost Pressures
	Pay Inflation
	3.2.1 There has not been any confirmation of the officers’ pay award from April 2021, we are assuming an additional 2% and we are assuming a similar increase from April 2022.
	3.2.2 The Government recently announced an increase of 1.25% in National Insurance Contributions from April 2022. No official announcement has yet been made as to whether any additional funding will be made available to cover this increase.
	3.2.3 There was no pay award in September 2021 for the majority of teachers, however there was an uplift of 1% for those earning below £24,000. We are prudently assuming a larger increase for September 2022.
	3.2.4 No additional funding to specifically support the 2021/22 teachers pay award is anticipated and schools will be expected to meet the costs of this, and future teachers pay awards, from your budget share funding.

	Health and Social Care Levy
	3.2.5 The government has announced a new health and social care levy which is being funded by increasing National Insurance Contributions by 1.25%. It has been implied that public bodies will be compensated for any increase in costs this causes. Howev...
	Pensions
	3.2.6 The employer superannuation contribution rate for officers in the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is 22.9%. We do not anticipate any changes to this rate for maintained schools during 2022/23.
	3.2.7 Increases in non-teaching staff employer pension contributions for academies and free schools will be dependent on the schemes employees are in, and their own scheme review date.
	3.2.8 The employer superannuation contribution rate for teachers in the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) remains at 23.68%. We do not anticipate any increase to this during 2022/23.
	Price Inflation
	3.2.9 The largest part of a school’s expenditure is staffing, so changes within that area of expenditure are by far the most significant, however the general inflation level will also affect other areas of expenditure within schools. For your informat...
	3.2.10 Please also note that any increases to teachers pay and pension costs (detailed above) will also affect other providers and services that are staffed/delivered by teachers; this is likely to result in higher fees for these services.


	2.5
	4 Schools Block National Funding Formula
	4.1 The Schools Block National Funding Formula
	4.1.1 The school and education system is funded from the dedicated schools grant (DSG), which is a ring-fenced grant. In 2021/22 the total amount of grant for Coventry is £343M, and this is spent across 4 areas/blocks: Early Years, Schools, Central Sc...
	4.1.2 From April 2018 the Government introduced a new “National Funding Formula” (NFF) for school funding which set nationwide funding formula values and determined the overall level of Schools Block funding for each Local Authority.
	4.1.3 The government’s stated intention behind the NFF is to "introduce a funding formula that addresses the long-standing inequalities in school funding that have existed for many years”. Unfortunately the impact of the National Funding Formula (if p...
	4.1.4 We are now in the third year of the Treasury’s three-year education funding settlement. For 2022/23 this brings an additional £2.3bn funding some of which the Department for Education (DFE) have used to raise most of the funding factors in the N...
	4.1.5 Since 2018/19, in consultation with schools, Coventry has taken the decision to mirror the NFF protection levels as closely as possible. This has allowed us to maximise the amount of funding we were able to pass out to schools; providing an annu...
	4.1.6 In 2022/23 the citywide allocation we receive for these protection arrangements (funding floor) is estimated to be ca. £3.2m. This indicates the difference between historic funding arrangements and the NFF for Coventry, and the importance of the...

	4.2 The NFF in Coventry
	4.2.1 The NFF is currently in a ‘soft’ phase, meaning that the DFE will run the NFF for each school, and then the total of the Coventry schools’ allocations will become the Schools Block DSG allocation for Coventry to use in its own formula. We then n...
	4.2.2 Whilst most of the Schools Block funding is based on the NFF factors, funding for premises factors (i.e. Rates, Split Site, PFI) is based on historic allocations. The extent to which our premises costs in 2022/23 are higher or lower than the all...
	4.2.3 The October 21 census will inform the level of funding we are required to distribute for 2022/23 and we will therefore not be able to fully understand the financial implications and affordability of Coventry’s funding formula until we have the f...
	4.2.4 We will be working with the Schools Forum, in consultation with Headteacher Partnerships, to understand the financial models available and to implement the appropriate formula changes to deliver school funding allocations for 2022/23.
	4.2.5 The DFE have also restated the ministerial commitment to move to a ‘hard’ NFF which would remove most/all local flexibilities on schools funding. A consultation on transitioning to the Hard NFF was launched in July 2021 . The Council’s consultat...
	4.2.6 The Council response disagreed with the direction of travel to the NFF stating that Local Authorities have knowledge of local factors and understand local requirements of schools and are therefore best placed to distribute funding in the most ef...
	4.2.7 The transition to the Hard NFF will be a complex piece of work due to the number of local complexities in play across the country. We will keep Schools Forum updated on this issue as it develops.

	4.3 NFF Changes of note
	4.3.1 The DFE have increased most national formula factors by 3% vs 21/22. Most Coventry schools’ funding will be unaffected by this increase as their formula allocations (via the funding floor) are already more than 3% above the NFF level – but schoo...
	4.3.2 The Minimum Per Pupil funding level has been increased by £85 to £4,265 (Pri) and by £110 to £5,525 (Sec) – this factor ensures that schools receive at least this amount per pupil in their funding allocations. This factor is mandatory in LA’s fo...
	4.3.3 The Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG) is a mechanism that protects a school’s funding (per pupil) against its previous year’s allocation. The level of protection which can be applied to schools has remained constant for 22/23; it can be set betwee...
	4.3.4 For the FSM Ever 6 factor, the DFE have changed the data point for checking whether pupils have been eligible for Free School Meals at any point in the past 6 years. This data will now be based on the October census instead of January in order t...
	4.3.5 In calculating the low prior attainment factor the DFE use data from the Early Years Foundation Stage Profile (EYFSP) and Key Stage 2 assessments. As these assessments were not conducted in 2020 due to Covid-19 the DFE will instead use a second ...
	4.3.6 Pupils who joined a school between January 2020 and May 2020 attract funding for mobility based on their entry date, rather than by virtue of the May school census being their first census at the current school as the May 2020 census did not tak...
	4.3.7 Schools business rates will be paid by ESFA to billing authorities directly on behalf of all state funded schools from 2022/23 onwards. This does not represent a change in funding levels, but instead a more streamlined system which restructures ...


	5  Proposal 1 – Fair Funding Formula options
	5.1 Background
	5.1.1 The recent ministerial announcements have set a level of expectation amongst schools that most will see a 2.00% per pupil increase in pupil led school funding in 2022/23, with schools above (or close to) the funding floor, receiving increases in...
	5.1.2 Since 2018/19, in consultation with schools, Coventry has taken the decision to mirror the NFF protection levels as closely as possible. This has allowed us to maximise the amount of funding we were able to pass out to schools, ensuring that all...
	5.1.3 As set out in section 4.2 the LA retains flexibility in how it sets the school funding formula and could choose to move away from mirroring the NFF protection levels, instead protecting all schools with a blanket protection %.
	5.1.4 Despite this flexibility, setting an equal protection level % for all schools in 2022/23 provides schools on the funding floor with only a marginal benefit, whilst providing significantly less funding for those schools that would be on the pure ...
	5.1.5 The Schools Forum Sub-group will be reviewing both options in detail to determine whether the decision to mirror the NFF for the past several years continues to be appropriate, and will report back to the November 2021 Schools Forum which formul...
	5.1.6 Given this, and the consensus to mirror the NFF during the past four years, we have decided to put only one 2022/23 formula approach forwards for consultation and we welcome your views on this proposal.

	5.2 Proposed Option: Continue to mirror the National Funding Formula (NFF) protection levels as closely as possible (subject to affordability).
	5.2.1 This would ensure that all schools receive at least a 2.00% increase in pupil led funding compared with 2021/22 funding levels. A Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG) protection level of +2.00 per pupil would also be put in place which would allow an...
	5.2.2 The financial impact of this option would be that all schools would receive the higher of the +2.00% Funding Floor or their National Funding Formula allocation (subject to affordability). In summary it would mean:
	 58 schools would receive a 2.00% per pupil funding increase vs 21/22
	 49 schools would see funding increases above 2.00% (up to 4.11%) per pupil vs 21/22
	 All schools would continue to be in line with NFF allocations including funding floor protection
	5.2.3 Should it not be affordable to deliver this option in full (see 4.2.3 – 4.2.4 for context) we will reduce all school allocations, where possible, on an equivalent % basis to fit within the available resource. To do this we will need to reduce th...

	5.3 Consultation

	6  Proposal 2 – De-delegated Services
	6.1 Background
	6.1.1 The budgets for a number of centrally provided services have to be delegated to schools through the funding formula but can be de-delegated for maintained schools. This means that maintained schools can choose to pool resources to continue deliv...
	6.1.2 In 2021/22 Primary maintained schools opted to pool resources for all of the de-delegated services offered. Licenses and Subscriptions are funded via a national top-slice for all schools and Behaviour Support Services are now traded. Both are no...

	6.2 Proposed way forward
	6.2.1 The pooling arrangements continue to be available in 2021/22 and must be approved by Primary representatives within the School Forum.
	6.2.2 We will be seeking approval from the School Forum in November in relation to de-delegated services. The table below shows the values approved for de-delegation in 2021/22. (These figures are subject to in-year change, where LA maintained schools...

	6.3 Consultation

	7  Proposal 3 – Minimum Funding Guarantee Disapplications
	7.1 Background
	7.1.1 The Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG) is a protection mechanism which protects school formula funding, so that schools cannot lose more than a set percentage of their funding (on a per pupil basis) between one year and the next.
	7.1.2 Historically the LA had no flexibility on what level the MFG protection % should be set at, with the DFE fixing at negative 1.5% rate; meaning schools could not lose more than 1.5% of their like for like funding between years. In recent years th...
	7.1.3 Despite the NFF announcements and shadow school allocations published by the Department for Education (DFE), the LA is still required to operate its local funding formula within a strict legal framework which does not allow the flexibility to si...

	7.2 Proposed way forward & Financial Impact
	7.2.1 The Local Authority wishes to continue the operation of the Coventry Education Improvement Strategy commissioning pot (network monies) into 2022/23 for all schools.
	7.2.2 As in 2021/22, if continuation of the fund is agreed, the funding for this pot will be given to all Coventry schools in addition to their usual budget share funding; this would be one-off funding from DSG reserves. The expectation would be that ...
	7.2.3 An MFG exemption is needed in order to allow this one-off reserve funding to be delegated to schools at the same level per pupil, as the operation of the MFG would currently act to redistribute the funding based on changes in overall school leve...
	7.2.4 Not having this exemption would result in some schools being delegated more one-off funding than they are required to contribute to the school improvement provision, whilst others would receive less than required.
	7.2.5 As is usual, we will go through the proposed exemption in detail with the Schools Forum funding sub-group and they will be making a recommendation on this exemption to the November Schools Forum.
	7.2.6 Should schools not agree to the continued operation of the Education Improvement Strategy commissioning pot this MFG exemption would no longer be needed.

	7.3 Consultation


	2.6
	8 Proposal 4: Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation changes
	8.1 Background
	8.1.1 Section 48 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998, and Schedule 14 to the Act set out that Local Authorities should have a Scheme of Delegation.
	8.1.2 Local authorities are required to publish schemes for financing schools setting out the financial relationship between them and the schools they maintain.
	8.1.3 In making any changes to their schemes, local authorities must consult all schools in their area and receive the approval of the members of their schools forum representing maintained schools. Local authorities must take this guidance into accou...
	8.1.4 The link to the draft consultation version of Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation is available at https://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/37241/fair_funding_scheme_of_delegation_-_september_2021

	8.2 Proposed way forward
	There is one main area of change in the FFSD. This is directed by national change and is summarised below:
	8.2.1 Section 3.1 (Frequency of instalments):
	 Amended the previous scheme guidance (3.1.2) to clarify that where a school requires a budget share advance in order not to be overdrawn at their bank, this is treated as a cash advance and not a loan.

	8.2.2 This is not a change for Coventry, where funding provided to maintained school to prevent them from being overdrawn has always been considered a cash advance.

	8.3 Consultation


	2.7
	Appendix A – Response Form
	Proposal 1 Response
	Proposal 3 Response
	Proposal 4 Response
	Other General Comments:




	8 External Auditor Appointment From April 2023
	Executive Summary:
	Recommendations:
	List of Appendices included:
	Background papers:
	Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
	No
	Will this report go to Council?
	1.1 This report sets out the options for appointing the external auditor to the Council for the 2023/24 accounts and beyond, as the current nationally regulated arrangements only cover up to and including 2022/23 audits.
	1.2 The Council’s current auditors are Grant Thornton UK LLP working under a 5-year contract let by Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) – a body set up principally to manage this process. The planned audit fees for 2020/21 are £211k.
	1.3 The PSAA is inviting the Council to opt into the national arrangements for the next 5-year period along with all other authorities, so that the PSAA can enter into a number of contracts with appropriately qualified audit firms and appoint a suitab...


	9 Homes for Disabled Children - Acceptance of a Capital Grant, Further Capital Borrowing and Future Homes for Children with a Disability
	Name of Cabinet Member:
	Director Approving Submission of the report:
	Ward(s) affected:
	Title:
	Executive Summary:
	Recommendations:
	List of Appendices included:
	Background papers:
	None
	Other useful documents
	Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
	No
	Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or other body?
	Will this report go to Council?
	No
	2. Options considered and recommended proposal
	3. Results of consultation undertaken
	5. Comments from Director of Finance and Director of Law and Governance
	5.2 Legal implications
	6. Other implications
	6.2 How is risk being managed?
	6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?
	6.5   Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment
	6.6    Implications for partner organisations?
	Report author(s):

	10 Disposal of Land at Allard Way
	Executive Summary:
	Recommendations:
	List of Appendices included:
	Background papers:
	None
	Other useful documents:
	Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
	No
	Will this report go to Council?
	Disposal of Land at Allard Way - Appendix - Site Plan - Allard Way London Rd

	11 City Centre South Land Acquisition and Compulsory Purchase Order
	Executive Summary:
	Recommendations:
	Cabinet is recommended to:
	List of Appendices included:
	Background papers:
	None
	Other useful documents:
	 Report to Cabinet and Council 24th January 2017 “City Centre South Development”
	 Report to Cabinet 28th November 2017 and Council 5th December 2017 “City Centre South – Early Acquisition of Aviva Long Leasehold Property Interests”
	 Report to Planning Committee 22nd April 2021 “City Centre South”
	Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
	No
	Will this report go to Council?
	No
	2.8.3 The children’s playground by Bull Yard also sits within the planning application boundary for the Scheme, however, it will not be redeveloped, will continue in its present use and will be retained by the Council.
	2.8.4 All the areas of land listed in the table are understood to be in the freehold ownership of the Council. However, the title to some of the land is unregistered, and there is a potential possibility that some third-party land interests may exist ...
	2.8.5 The area of existing open space at the top of Hertford Street (Area 1) is 1,518 square metres in area and located to the northern end of the site. The area is currently hard landscaped and used for access between Hertford St and Broadgate Square...
	2.8.6 Shelton Square (Area 2) is mostly enclosed to the south by a two-storey block, which wraps around to adjoin the entrance to City Arcade.  The Square serves as a link between Bull Yard, City Arcade, Market Way and the eastern entrances of Coventr...
	2.8.7 The existing open space at Bull Yard (Area 4) takes the form of a square which currently provides an entrance into the southern part of the existing retail core. The eastern side is open to the junction of Hertford and New Union Streets.  The sq...
	2.8.8 The total area of potential “open space” within the Order Land is 4,456 sqm. The total area of land within the Scheme that will be re-provided as open space is 4,543 sqm.  The total area of open space to be re-provided within the Scheme therefor...
	2.8.9 To the extent that there are any interests in the open space land affected by the redevelopment which are not already owned by the Council, those interests may be included within the CPO and, if so, an application will be made at the same time a...
	2.8.10 To the extent that interests in the open space land affected by the redevelopment are in the ownership of the Council (the extent of which is shown, so far as understood, on the plan at Appendix 11), then it is proposed that the Director of Pro...
	2.9  Statutory Undertaker and Electronic Code Operator Interests
	2.9.1 The statutory undertakers and electronic communications code network operators who have operational land and / or  apparatus within the site have been identified and have been contacted in relation to the effect of the Scheme and prospective CPO...
	2.10 Listed Building Consents
	2.10.1 Alongside the grant of planning permission, Listed Building Consent (ref LB/2020/2857) was granted on 24 June 2021 for the removal of the bridge link between the roof top car park of the Market and the roof top parking over the existing retail ...
	2.10.2 Listed Building Consent (ref LB/2020/2860) was also granted on 24 June 2021 for the removal and relocation of the Grade II listed William Mitchell Mural from the front elevation to a new location to be agreed in writing with the local planning ...
	2.11 Traffic Regulation Orders
	2.11.1 Traffic regulation orders may be required in due course.  The details of any necessary traffic regulation orders will be agreed with the local highway authority following reserved matters approval has been obtained in relation to access for the...

	City Centre South - Appendix 1 - Draft CCS CPO Map
	City Centre South - Appendix 2 - Plans Showing Proposed Parameters of the Scheme
	20210317-CCS-0450-Site Context Plan_Rev01
	Sheets
	0450 - SITE CONTEXT PLAN
	0451 - APPLICATION BOUNDARY AREAS
	0452 - ILLUSTRATIVE PHASING PLAN


	20210317-CCS-0451-Application Boundary Areas_Rev01
	Sheets
	0450 - SITE CONTEXT PLAN
	0451 - APPLICATION BOUNDARY AREAS
	0452 - ILLUSTRATIVE PHASING PLAN


	20210317-CCS-0452-Illustrative Phasing Plan_Rev01
	Sheets
	0452 - ILLUSTRATIVE PHASING PLAN



	City Centre South - Appendix 3 - Equalities Impact Assessment
	1.3 Who has primary responsibility for delivery?
	2.3 On the basis of evidence, has the potential impact of the area of work been judged to be positive (+), neutral (=) or negative (-)  (+&-) Positive and negative impacts for each of the protected groups below and in what way?
	2.8 Are there any potential impact(s) of this area of work on Council staff from protected groups? Please summarise:

	City Centre South - Appendix 4 - Draft City Centre South Statement of Reasons
	1. Introduction
	1.1 This document is the non-statutory Statement of Reasons prepared by the Council of the City of Coventry (the “Council") to set out the background to and the reasons for making the Council of the City of Coventry (City Centre South) Compulsory Purc...
	1.2 The Council made the Order pursuant to powers in section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 ("1990 Act") and section 13 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 ("1976 Act").  These powers are explained later in...
	1.3 The land and new rights included in the Order which are the subject of the proposed acquisition are referred to as the "Order Land" and are described in the next section.  The Council is the local planning authority and the highway authority for t...
	1.4 The Order has been made to authorise the acquisition of the land and the creation of the new rights to facilitate the delivery of the scheme described in Section 5 below (“Scheme") and which, if implemented, will facilitate regeneration of one of ...
	1.5 The schedule to the Order ("Schedule") lists the owners, lessees, tenants and occupiers of the Order Land.  In addition, it lists all those other parties that have been identified as having a qualifying interest in the Order Land as defined by sec...
	1.6 The Council recognises that a compulsory purchase order should only be made if there is a compelling case in the public interest (paragraph 12 of the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government Guidance on Compulsory Purchase Process and ...

	2. Description Of The Order Land
	2.1 The extent of the land proposed to be acquired, and over which new rights are proposed, is shown on the map which accompanies the Order (“Order Map").  The land proposed to be compulsorily acquired pursuant to the Order is shown coloured pink on t...
	2.2 The Order Land is situated in the southern part of the city centre about 600 metres north of Coventry mainline railway station.  It forms the main part of the area bordered by Upper Precinct and Broadgate to the north, Hertford Street to the east,...
	2.3 The need for each plot of land, or rights over the land, to facilitate the Scheme has been carefully assessed.  As already noted, the Schedule lists the owners, lessees and occupiers of the Order Land and those other parties who may have a qualify...
	2.4 The conservation areas surrounding the Order Land and the heritage assets around and within the Order Land are described in further detail in Sections 2, 4 and 7.
	2.5 The Pink Land proposed to be compulsorily acquired comprises an area of some 6.36 hectares and has been land referenced as comprising [173] plots.
	2.6 The Pink Land forms a substantial part of the city centre's post-war retail core. It encompasses Market Way, Shelton Square, the City Arcade, Rover Road, Hertford Street (other than properties on its eastern side) and the City Arcade and Barracks ...
	2.7 The Pink Land is dominated by buildings constructed in the 1950s and 1960s during the city's post war reconstruction. The ground and first floors of the buildings are mainly in retail use or are vacant.  There are a number of other town centre use...
	2.8 The Council owns the freehold interest in approximately 99% of the Pink Land.  However, the land is subject to a number of leasehold and occupational interests of premises used as shops, food and drink establishments, offices and for other busines...
	2.9 There are two Grade II listed structures within the Pink Land.  The first is the Grade II listed William Mitchell Mural at the Former Three Tuns Public House building in Bull Yard which is to be relocated as part of the Scheme. The second is the G...
	2.10 The Pink Land sits within and forms the major part of the land for which outline planning permission for the Scheme was granted by the Council on [XX 2022] pursuant to a hybrid planning application reference: OUT/2020/2876 ("2021 Permission"). Th...
	2.11 A plan showing the Pink Land overlaid by the Scheme is provided at Appendix 1 to this Statement which demonstrates the need for each plot within the Pink Land to be included within the Order.
	2.12 The progress made by the Council in seeking to acquire the Pink Land by agreement is described in Section 12.
	2.13 The Blue Land over which new rights are to be created and acquired pursuant to section 13 of the 1976 Act ("New Rights") surrounds parts of the Pink Land and is in a number different uses but predominantly retail and commercial. One residential b...
	2.14 The Blue land encompasses the Lower Precinct Multi-storey car park, land at Upper Precinct, land at Broadgate, land at Hertford Street, land at Warwick Row, land at Market Way, and land at Queen Victoria Road as more particularly set out in the t...
	2.15 The Council is the freehold owner of a significant proportion of the blue land, with some areas of land held under registered titles and other areas unregistered, There are a variety of leasehold interests and occupations and other interests of r...
	2.16 There is one residential building, Beauchamp House, within the blue land.  The rights sought in relation to Beauchamp House pertain to crane oversailing and the right to undertake protective works, scaffolding and boundary treatment.  The residen...
	2.17 The Blue Land includes eight Grade II listed buildings:
	2.18 A summary of New Rights sought is set out below.  Not all rights are required in respect of each plot within the Blue Land.  The Schedule provides full details of the rights to be acquired with respect to each plot, including:
	2.18.1 to enter and remain on land for general construction, maintenance, repair and renewal purposes;
	2.18.2 to erect scaffolding and/or hoardings;
	2.18.3 to swing the jib of a crane loaded or unloaded through the airspace over properties;
	2.18.4 to carry out surveys of buildings and land;
	2.18.5 to enter onto land to make good and carry out protective works;
	2.18.6 to carry out boundary treatment works;
	2.18.7 to modify service media and other utilities;
	2.18.8 to alter and/or remove fire escapes (either on a temporary or permanent basis) and install fire escapes and to grant rights for owners and occupiers of land to use fire escapes;
	2.18.9 to carry out accommodation and reconfiguration works to properties where buildings will in whole or in part be demolished or accesses reconfigured in order to modify the retained properties so that they can be brought back into beneficial use; and
	2.18.10 to provide service access.

	2.19 The extent of rights required, and the works to be undertaken pursuant to such rights, varies between properties and the Council will seek to reach agreement with landowners and occupiers.  A broad summary of why the rights are needed is set out ...
	2.19.1 to enable access to land adjoining the Scheme site for the purposes of demolition, construction and future activities such as maintenance and renewal. Scaffolding will need to be placed on such land in some cases. Rights to oversail with cranes...
	2.19.2 to carry out boundary treatment works to certain properties that abut the Scheme. This is to ensure that boundary treatments of adjoining land and buildings are well maintained;
	2.19.3 to carry out works on land outside the Scheme site where existing buildings will be affected by the Scheme. This includes situations where existing buildings will in whole or in part be demolished and/or accesses or fire escapes and service med...
	2.19.4 to carry out works to Coventry Retail Market to demolish the connecting ramp at roof top car park level; to carry out modifications to the service access ramp at basement level and to have appropriate rights to undertake works of painting, deco...

	Beauchamp House
	2.20 In respect of Beauchamp House, rights are required to facilitate construction of the Scheme by the oversailing of cranes over the property.
	Queen Victoria Road
	2.21 In respect of Queen Victoria Road, rights of access are required to facilitate the construction, maintenance, repair and renewal of the scheme.
	Lower Precinct Car Park
	2.22 In respect of Lower Precinct Car Park, rights are required to facilitate the construction, maintenance, repair and renewal of the Scheme.  This includes rights for the purposes of access, survey, erection of scaffold, carrying out of protective w...
	Coventry Retail Market
	2.23 In respect of Coventry Retail Market, rights are required to facilitate the construction, maintenance, repair and renewal of the Scheme.  These include rights at all levels for the purposes of access, survey, erection of scaffold, carrying out of...
	2.24 At rooftop level, rights are required to demolish the existing ramp to the market from the adjacent City Arcade Car Park, which is proposed to be demolished as part of the Scheme, and to make good the roof top car park surfacing in that location.
	2.25 At basement level, rights are required to carry out works to tie in with the provision of a new basement access ramp to the Coventry Retail Market, and to make consequential modifications to service media.
	Upper Precinct
	2.26 In respect of Broadgate House, rights are required to facilitate the construction, maintenance, repair and renewal of the Scheme. These include rights on or over the land for the purposes of access, erection of scaffold, carrying out protective w...
	Broadgate House
	2.27 In respect of Broadgate House, rights are required to facilitate the construction, maintenance, repair and renewal of the Scheme. These include rights on or over the land for the purposes of access, erection of scaffold, carrying out protective w...
	In addition, rights are required to carry out works to modify the property by the removal of an existing access into the Barracks Car Park (which is proposed to be demolished as part of the Scheme) to Broadgate House.
	Hertford Street
	2.28 In respect of the above properties on Hertford Street, rights are required to facilitate the construction, maintenance, repair and renewal of the Scheme. These include rights on or over the land for the purposes of access, erection of scaffold, c...
	2.29 In addition, in respect of some of the above properties, rights to carry out works to modify properties and carry out boundary treatment works to external walls that will be affected by the Scheme where the current canopy which stretches between ...
	2.30 In respect of the above properties on Warwick Row, rights are required to facilitate the construction, maintenance, repair and renewal of the Scheme. These include rights on or over the land for the purposes of access, erection of scaffold, carry...
	2.31 In addition, rights to carry out works to modify properties that will be affected by the Scheme to enable the property to continue in beneficial use are also required. This includes rights to alter and install fire escapes, modify service media, ...
	2.32 In summary, the New Rights are required to facilitate the construction, use and maintenance of the Scheme and/or to carry out consequential modification works to properties affected by the Scheme and will only be exercised to the extent necessary...

	3. Enabling Powers For The Cpo And Related Statutory Provisions
	3.1 The Council has made the Order pursuant to its powers under section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and section 13 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.
	3.2 Section 226(1)(a) of the 1990 Act enables the compulsory acquisition of land where an acquiring authority thinks the acquisition will facilitate the carrying out of development, redevelopment, or improvement on or in relation to land and where the...
	3.3 The Council is exercising its powers under section 226(1)(a) because it has not been possible to acquire by agreement all the interests that are required for the Scheme and it is not certain it will be able to acquire all the remaining land by agr...
	3.4 Section 13 of the 1976 Act enables the Council to purchase rights which are not in existence when the Order is made and which are specified in the Order.  The New Rights to be created and acquired are reasonably required for the reasons set out ab...
	3.5 The CPO Guidance provides guidance to acquiring authorities on the use of compulsory purchase powers and sets out the overarching consideration in paragraph 12 that there must be a compelling case in the public interest for making a compulsory pur...
	3.6 In summary, in exercising its powers of compulsory purchase the Council is satisfied that it may lawfully do so under the powers set out above and there is a compelling case in the public interest for such exercise and that the public interest is ...
	3.7 The Acquisition of Land Act 1981 sets out the process for compulsory acquisition and applies to the Order.
	3.8 Section 203 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 ("2016 Act") authorises building works to be carried out and use of land even if the works or use would infringe a "relevant right or interest" as defined for the purposes of that provision to inclu...
	3.8.1 there is planning consent for the work and/or use;
	3.8.2 the land has either been acquired by the Council (whether by agreement or compulsorily), or the Council has appropriated the land for planning purposes;
	3.8.3 the Council could acquire the land compulsorily for the works/use (whether or not it in fact did so); and
	3.8.4 the work/use relates to the purposes for which the land was acquired or appropriated.

	3.9 The Council is the freeholder of the vast majority of the Site. However, there are a number of third-party rights and interests which burden the site and would restrict development of the Site for planning purposes. Therefore, the Council is inten...
	3.10 In so far as any of the land within the Site is already held by Council for planning purposes, the effect of the appropriation will be to re-affirm the appropriation in light of the current redevelopment proposal.
	3.11 In the event the Order is confirmed, and the Scheme proceeds pursuant to planning permission, the building works and use will be authorised by section 203 of the 2016 Act.  Any private landowner who benefits from a relevant right or interest over...
	3.12 The duties on local planning authorities in relation to conservation areas and listed building consents created by section 66 and section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 are addressed in Section 7 below
	3.13 The public sector equality duty created by section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 is addressed in Section 1415 below.

	4. Background
	4.1 The origins of Coventry are understood to date back to a Saxon village.  By the middle ages Coventry had grown to become one of the most important cities in England based on its wool, weaving and textile trade.  From the late 18th Century until th...
	4.2 Today Coventry is the 11th largest city in the UK with the fastest rate of population growth of any UK city recorded between 2012 and 2019 at around 1.8% per annum (ONS and Statista).  Although it is an important sub-regional centre, the City Cent...
	4.3 Coventry's strategic location at the centre of the West Midlands motorway network and railway network brings a number of competing centres within easy access, notably Birmingham.  Other centres such as Leamington Spa, Solihull, and Stratford-upon-...
	4.4 Coventry has a population of some 316,900 with an estimated spending power of £1,200 million per annum.  However only a third of this spending is currently drawn to the City Centre.
	4.5 The City Centre as a whole has a relatively low level of homes (indeed there are not any within the red line Scheme boundary) and therefore misses out on the vibrancy and spending power of a resident population. Cities and places that have experie...
	4.6 The major post-war redevelopment of City Centre South primarily involved the provision of new retail and office units, the Market and public spaces, but no new homes.  The original street pattern was swept away and this part of the city became one...
	4.7 The Development Site sits at the southern part of the City Centre’s Primary Shopping Area comprising some 6.36 hectares and is predominantly occupied by 1950’s and 1960’s buildings that formed part of Coventry’s post-war reconstruction.
	4.8 To the north the Development Site bounds the Lower Precinct Shopping Centre, the former Woolworths building (Grade II listed), the former BHS building (Grade II listed), the south link building within Upper Precinct (Grade II listed) and Broadgate...
	4.9 The eastern boundary of the Development Site is formed by Hertford Street. Its broad northern square links directly into Broadgate Square via pedestrian routes beneath Broadgate House. Historic buildings falling within the High Street Conservation...
	4.10 Hertford Street leads down to Bull Yard, which is a public square within the Development Site formed by two-storey post war development on three sides with the south eastern end open to the junction of Hertford Street, New Union Street and Warwic...
	4.11 The western end of Bull Yard also provides a pedestrian route through beneath a six-storey commercial/office building into Shelton Square. Market Way is located to the north of Shelton Square formed by two-storey commercial buildings with roof to...
	4.12 The western boundary of the Development Site adjoins Queen Victoria Road and is formed by the City Arcade, the Iceland store, a vacant plot adjoining Coventry Market and the Lower Precinct multi-storey car park, which is proposed to be retained. ...
	4.13 Set between Iceland and the vacant plot is Rover Road, which has a taxi rank and provides pedestrian and vehicular access to the Grade II Listed Coventry Market and its service yard/basement ramp. The rotunda design of Coventry Market provides se...
	4.14 At present there are a mix of commercial uses within the Development Site. As of March 2020, existing floorspace (gross internal area) (excluding Coventry Point) was estimated to comprise:
	4.14.1 31,340 square metres of retail floorspace (note that circa. 7,240 sqm of this includes Coventry Market ground floor and basement, which is to be retained);
	4.14.2 7,300 square metres of office floorspace;
	4.14.3 160 square metres of storage floorspace;
	4.14.4 4,030 square metres of other uses, including Use Class F.1 Non-Residential Institutions including social enterprises and the Shop Front Theatre and Sui Generis floorspace; and,
	4.14.5 1,233 public car parking spaces accommodated in multi-storey car parks including City Arcade and Barracks MSCPs.

	4.15 In total there are around 155 commercial units within the Development Site.  The ground floor and basement of the Market comprises some 7,240 square metres of retail floor space.  However, while the redline boundary of the Planning Application wa...
	4.16 Today, the general appearance of the existing buildings on the Development Site is tired and outdated.  The area suffers from poor permeability and legibility with views through the Site blocked by tall buildings (although that situation has impr...
	4.17 The existing public realm suffers from a lack of distinctive arrival points to draw people into the area, poor linkages between spaces. The Market is situated within a poor quality and untidy urban environment, mostly comprising servicing and cir...
	4.18 The Council has invested significantly in public realm improvements throughout the City Centre. This includes improvements to parts of the northern end of Hertford St (including resin bonded surfacing), new surfacing and a playground in a key are...
	4.19 A historic area assessment covering the City Centre was undertaken by Historic England to outline the heritage significance.  The Site can be seen to comprise four main character areas, which are summarised below.   Photographs of the key areas w...
	Hertford Street
	4.20 Hertford Street rises in level from south west to north east. Changes in level within the public realm area are accommodated by a series of steps and ramps. A roof structure (canopy) also spans the middle section of Hertford Street.
	4.21 Buildings on the western side of Hertford Street are mainly two storey retail-type units, although heights generally increase within the northern part of Hertford Street. This includes Hertford House, a five storey vacant office block, which is l...
	4.22 At the north eastern end of Hertford Street is Hertford Square, which is enclosed on three sides. Broadgate House (Grade II listed) forms the northern termination point of Hertford Street and provides a pedestrian link through to the Broadgate ar...
	4.23 To the rear of buildings on the western side of Hertford Street is the Barracks Lane MSCP, which is surrounded by circulation and servicing space to the rear of surrounding commercial properties. Vehicular access to the car park and service area ...
	Bull Yard
	4.24 Bull Yard is a square, which provides an entrance into the southern part of the existing retail core. The eastern side is open to the junction of Hertford and New Union Streets. Other sides of Bull Yard are formed by two storey blocks of a simila...
	4.25 The western side of Bull Yard includes the Grade II listed William Mitchell mural which forms the façade to the former Three Tuns Public House. This designated heritage asset is formed of pre-cast concrete and is in an ‘Aztec-style’ with raised s...
	4.26 Immediately to the south of Bull Yard is the four storey brick-built building occupied by the Litten Tree Public House. Adjacent to the Litten Tree building (outside of the Site) are a number of listed buildings along Warwick Row, including Grade...
	4.27 Bull Yard also contains existing public art; the Thread Through Time Sculpture, the Phoenix Sculpture and the Dun Cow Relief.
	Shelton Square and City Arcade
	4.28 The western side of Shelton Square is three storeys in height. The northern side of the Square is similarly treated, but with a rooftop car park (part of Barracks Lane MSCP) projecting out over the ground and first floor retail frontage, forming ...
	4.29 The Square is mostly enclosed to the south by a two storey block, which wraps around to adjoin the entrance to City Arcade.
	4.30 City Arcade comprises an arcade of one and two storey retail units, which is mostly enclosed by a vaulted double-height ceiling, on top of which the City Arcade MSCP rooftop car parking is located. Pedestrian access to the City Arcade MSCP can be...
	Coventry Market and its Surroundings
	4.31 Coventry Market (‘the Market’) was designed as a rotunda to maximise the circulation within the building and to enable several entrances to be provided. Entrances include a ramped access to the south-west, which leads onto Rover Road and Queen Vi...
	4.32 The Market is Grade II listed and recognised as being important due to its level of originality and completeness, whilst also being one of the few remaining post-war markets in the country to survive relatively unaltered. The roof-top car park, o...
	4.33 Access to the rooftop car park is obtained off Corporation Street as part of the Lower Precinct MSCP to the north west of the market building (this access will not be affected by the Development and hence, the rooftop car park over the Market wil...
	4.34 There is also an existing bridge linking the rooftop car parking on top of the Market to rooftop car parking located on top of existing units on the western side of Market Way.
	4.35 The Market is situated within a poor quality and untidy urban environment, mostly comprising servicing and circulation space to the rear of commercial properties at Lower Precinct and Market Way and City Arcade. There is a vacant plot to the sout...
	4.36 Vehicular access to the Market basement, which is only used for servicing, is obtained via a ramp located within the service area to the south of the Market, which is accessed via Rover Road, which connects to Queen Victoria Road.

	The Development Site
	4.37 As at March 2020, the vacancy rate on the Development Site was estimated to be around 26%.  That proportion may well increase with the continuing structural changes in the retail market and the impact of Covid 19. Retail vacancy rates across the ...
	4.38 As noted, the area is pedestrianised, with vehicular access to car parks and for servicing.  The land is well served by public transport: Coventry mainline station lies some 600 metres to the south and there are bus stops nearby on Queen Victoria...
	4.39 Levels within the Development Site generally fall by around 7 metres from the north east corner of the Site at the top of Hertford Street in a south westerly direction towards the junction of Queen Victoria Road and Greyfriars Road.
	4.40 Since at least 2008 the Council has been planning the transformation of the Coventry city centre.  In November 2009 the Council published a City Centre Area Action Plan for public consultation, but the plan was not progressed due to changes in na...
	4.41 The CCCAAP identifies key areas for regeneration, important heritage assets that must be preserved and areas of opportunity for a range of uses including employment, housing, culture, tourism and leisure.  The CCCAAP provides a framework for the ...
	4.42 Key schemes supporting the regeneration of Coventry city centre include:
	4.43 Friargate: the Friargate scheme, adjacent to Coventry railway station and consented in 2011, will deliver over 3 million square feet of mixed use space across 15 hectares of brownfield land over a twenty year programme of development, including u...
	4.44 Coventry Station Masterplan: the station is being transformed through a £82m investment to create a new station building, bus interchange and multi-storey car park befitting the fastest growing station outside of London (source) and providing a f...
	4.45 Broadgate and Cathedral Lanes: following the Council’s transformation of a busy road thoroughfare and bus interchange into the city’s key public square, further investment followed by SPG to transform Cathedral Lanes into the food and leisure des...
	4.46 Upper Precinct: The Council, working with its partners SPG and JP Morgan, has invested over £10m in transforming the main retail street in the city centre, Upper Precinct, into a genuine heart of the city. This has included high quality landscapi...
	4.47 The Wave is an indoor water park, with a 600 person capacity, situated on New Union Street in Coventry City Centre. The water park currently holds the record for the largest wave pool in the UK, at a capacity of 20 million litres. The park also c...
	4.48 Belgrade Plaza: is a key mixed use scheme in Coventry. The development generated close to 200 new permanent service sector jobs in the bars, restaurants, hotels and car park as well as 500 construction jobs during the building period. The first p...
	4.49 Coventry Telegraph: Opened 17th May 2021, in the historic former premises of the Coventry Evening Telegraph newspaper, the all-new Telegraph Hotel has 88 air-conditioned bedrooms including penthouse suites, an all-day restaurant, large, flexible ...
	4.50 Co-op: Located on Corporation Street in Coventry City Centre, the 1950’s Co-Operative department store building was sold by Mid Counties Co-Operative in 2015 and has been transformed into a mixed-use destination development to include a collectio...
	4.51 Collections Centre: following Ikea’s closure in March 2020, rather than leaving over 500,000 sqft of retail property to remain vacant adjacent to the CCS scheme, the Council has purchased the Ikea building and site and is working with a range of ...

	5. Description Of The Scheme
	5.1 The principle of comprehensive mixed-use development of the Development Site was established by the outline planning permission granted by the Council on 31 May 2012 in respect of application reference OUT/2012/0575 (the 2012 Permission). That per...
	5.2 A number of changes have already taken place to transform Coventry’s public spaces. This includes completing the demolition of Coventry Point.
	5.3 A new planning permission for the Scheme was resolved to be granted by the Council in 2021, subject to the completion of a s106 Agreement. The S106 Agreement was completed on [XX] and planning permission formally issued on that date (the 2021 Perm...
	5.4 Full permission and listed building consent relates to the following works:
	5.5 The areas of land subject to full permission are shown outlined in solid red on the plan which appears below.
	5.6 The two outline elements of the 2021 Permission relate to demolition of all the buildings on the Development Site and redevelopment of the land for:
	5.7 The first of the two outline elements includes permission for details of layout and scale (access, appearance and landscaping reserved) so that the planning authority has certainty as to of the scale and layout of Block A1, the majority of Block A...
	5.8 The Scheme includes the demolition of the existing two-storey commercial building (14-30 Market Way), and the associated roof top car park and link ramp, to facilitate the construction of the new commercial / residential Block A2. The ground surfa...
	5.9 During the demolition of the existing two-storey commercial building (14-30 Market Way), site hoardings will be required to fully enclose the site boundary to allow for the safe demolition. Due to the proximity of the hoarding to the adjacent exte...
	5.10 The external market units will be unable to operate and will need to be relocated. Further planning details as part of the Detailed Design are required to assess whether the units will recommence trading in their current location.
	5.11 The second element of the outline part of the 2021 Permission relates to the remainder of the Development Site and has all matters reserved.  The land subject to this part of the outline permission in hatched in green on the plan below.
	5.12 The Scheme envisages a comprehensive new mixed use regeneration scheme within the city centre, including a greater variety of uses to reinforce the existing city centre retail and leisure offer and create a distinctive part of the city in which t...
	5.13 Core elements of the Scheme include:
	5.13.1 Between 900 and 1,300 new homes (Class C3);
	5.13.2 An hotel with up to 150 bedrooms (Class C1);
	5.13.3 Mixed non-residential uses totalling between 22,000 and 37,500 square metres Gross Internal Area ('GIA') of floorspace, including retail, food and beverage, leisure, office and community uses (Class E), learning and non-residential institutions...
	5.13.4 Between 90 and 300 car parking spaces; and
	5.13.5 Some 2 hectares of open space including: two new public squares east of the Market and to the south east of the Development Site, pedestrian priority boulevards and enhancements to Market Way and Hertford Street.

	5.14 The scope and extent of the Scheme has been considered carefully and has been the subject of a long period of design evolution in discussion with the Council as local planning authority, as well as with other key stakeholders such as Historic Eng...
	5.15 The boundaries of the Site reflect the OJEU process for the developer selection and also reflect the site boundaries of the 2012 Permission.
	5.16 The western boundary of the Scheme is bordered by Queens Victoria Road and Corporation Street. To the north, the Site extends around the southern and eastern side of the Listed Market adjacent to the former Woolworths building and to the rear of ...
	5.17 To the East the Scheme takes in the properties on the western side of Hertford Street from Broadgate House down to Bull Yard. This allows the new scheme to accommodate the existing level change within this area.
	5.18 The southern part of the proposed scheme incorporates the existing entrance off Greyfriars Road and is bordered in part by the exiting residential units at Beauchamp House. The Scheme re-uses part of the existing service yard area to the rear of ...
	5.19 The proposals include the removal of Bull Yard so as to improve the pedestrian flow and sightlines around the city and to encourage footfall into this area from the Warwick Row Side of the scheme. This will also improve view of The Wave from the ...
	5.20 The key objectives of the Scheme are as follows:
	5.20.1 To create a 21st century regional ‘destination’ capable of retaining graduates and attracting new visitors and tourists from a wider catchment area;
	5.20.2 To develop a ‘whole-place’ approach to urban design, acknowledging the aspirations of the Government’s High Streets Task Force;
	5.20.3 To bring together a range of uses for a new city centre community (for live, work and play) collectively creating a ‘lifestyle’, promoting footfall and the evening economy;
	5.20.4 To develop a series of new urban blocks with improved legibility and permeability;
	5.20.5 To tailor the massing to respect of view corridors across Coventry city centre, including views of Coventry’s three historic spires) as well as Listed Buildings and heritage assets within or adjacent to the application site;
	5.20.6 To develop a range of new character areas, with associated high quality public realm;
	5.20.7 To develop strategies for servicing, parking, safety, security, and vehicular access;
	5.20.8 To contribute to the delivery of Coventry’s Housing and Homelessness Strategy through the delivery of at least 900 new homes;
	5.20.9 To improve the quality of the retail and leisure offer through the provision of modern, flexible and sustainable spaces aligned with contemporary city centre economic and living requirements; and
	5.20.10 To secure delivery of economic benefits through the delivery of around 1,700 full time jobs.

	5.21 The key objectives of the Scheme align with the principle aims of the AAP of regenerating and developing the city centre, which involves new homes, employment space, new retail provisions and leisure, social and community provisions. The objectiv...
	5.22 In addition, the objectives align with Local Plan Policy R2, such as improving accessibility and the enhancement of the area as a national and international destination to live, work and play.
	5.23 The design and content of the Scheme has been informed by comprehensive pre-application engagement with the Council as local planning authority and a wide range of consultees including local business and residents.  In devising the Scheme full ac...
	5.24 Consequently, the Scheme proposes residential, leisure and commercial uses, as well as on-site parking.  The Scheme incorporates many of the key urban design features of the 2012 scheme, including enhancement of the public realm, improving the se...
	5.25 The Scheme is likely to be delivered in phases but adopts a comprehensive approach. The outline permission is based on approved parameter plans which allow for a degree of flexibility to accommodate further changes in demand and other conditions ...
	5.26 The Development Principles Document sets out the mandatory and recommended development principles on a site wide and block-specific basis. Future applications for reserved matters approvals will be accompanied by a statement setting out how the d...
	5.27 The site wide development principles include architectural diversity and forms, active frontages, mix of uses, scale, height and roofscape, materials, elevational character, public realm, green infrastructure, access strategy and public art strat...
	5.28 The block specific development principles consider the surrounding urban context of the development plot and applies additional control to horizontal and vertical massing to protect the setting of adjacent buildings, to ensure appropriate height ...
	5.29 Both the Parameter Plans Document and Development Principles Document have been developed with careful consideration of the following key matters:
	5.29.1 The heights of buildings around the application site’s perimeter;
	5.29.2 The height and mass in relation to the city centre’s topography;
	5.29.3 The setting of the Grade II Listed Coventry Market, as well as other designated heritage assets including Grade II Listed former Woolworths, former BHS Building and Broadgate House;
	5.29.4 The desire and need to maintain and enhance the setting of other designated and non-designated heritage assets and, taking into account other important features of the city centre such as Broadgate, the Precincts and the original Gibson Plan fo...
	5.29.5 Respect for key urban design principles, including views of the ‘Three Spires’ (Christ Church, Holy Trinity Church and St. Michaels);
	5.29.6 The need to restore permeability and connectivity by creating legible and attractive north-south and east-west pedestrian routes across the Site;
	5.29.7 The need to ensure the adjacent commercial properties and Coventry Market can continue to be efficiently serviced, alongside the servicing needs arising from the Development; and
	5.29.8 Seeking to safeguard the amenity of neighbouring occupiers in the context of urban design, deliverability and other considerations.

	5.30 The 2021 Permission splits the Development Site into six distinct development blocks, which are as follows:
	5.30.1 Block A1 is located on a vacant plot fronting Queen Victoria Road and adjoining Lower Precinct multi-storey car park to the north and the Grade II listed Coventry Market to the east. This block will include a new basement ramp access into Coven...
	5.30.2 Block A2 is located adjacent to the eastern elevation of Grade II listed Coventry Market and south of the former Grade II listed Woolworths building. This block has fixed vertical parameters and horizontal parameters; however, the southern end ...
	5.30.3 Block B will span from Market Way to Hertford Street and is described as a development ‘Zone’ within the parameter plans, as a number of different building arrangements can be accommodated around a publicly accessible central space. The norther...
	5.30.4 Block C will front Warwick Row adjoining the Grade II listed Reform Club and project to a similar depth as the Beauchamp House apartment building to the southwest. The southeast section of the block has fixed horizontal and vertical parameters ...
	5.30.5 Block D is located immediately south of Coventry Market and will front Queen Victoria Road extending southwards to Greyfriars Road. Block D is described as a development ‘Zone’ within the parameter plans, as a number of different building arran...
	5.30.6 The Pavilion is a detached two-storey building sitting between Block B and C.

	5.31 An Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) was volunteered by the applicant and carried out in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (EIA) Regulations 2017 (as amended).
	5.32 The 2021 Permission provides for an overall maximum parameter of up to up to 1300 new homes within Use Class C3 and 37,500sq.m of non-residential mixed uses:
	5.32.1 Residential: the residential dwellings may be brought forward as a combination of open market sale and Build to Rent accommodation.  This will be established at Reserved Matters stage for each development block.
	5.32.2 Retail: the Scheme will include a variety of uses falling within Use Class E, which can include retail shops, services, restaurants and cafes, commercial workspace and community uses.
	5.32.3 Office: workspace is to be provided in a variety of sizes and formats, which will be able to meet the diverse requirements of businesses, including small-scale start-ups. The provision of high quality, flexible workspace in an attractive mixed-...
	5.32.4 Leisure:  the development will include the ability to provide a cinema, bars and public houses and hot food takeaways.  These uses will contribute to an enhanced leisure and evening economy offer in the city centre, providing leisure opportunit...
	5.32.5 Open Space and Public Realm: substantial areas of paved and landscaped open spaces are proposed within the Scheme.  The total amount of proposed publicly accessible open space comprises of approximately two hectares and includes a new public sq...
	5.32.6 The Pavilion: the proposed ‘Pavilion’ is designed to create a nodal point in the Scheme to mark a transition between periods of development of the city.
	5.32.7 Market and MSCP: the Market contains a range of stalls selling groceries, household goods, takeaway food and other products.  It is to be retained on Site together with the Lower Precinct MSCP.  The Market comprises some 7,240 square metres GIA...
	5.32.8 Servicing and Vehicular Access: the proposed servicing strategy uses existing points of access from the local highway network where possible. A key point of access for delivery vehicles will be via Lower Market way off Greyfriars Road, with egr...


	6. The Council's Purpose And Justification For Making The Order
	6.1 The purpose of the Council in making the Order is to secure the acquisition of all relevant interests in and rights over the Order Land to facilitate the vital redevelopment of City Centre South through comprehensive redevelopment of the Developme...
	6.2 The overarching consideration for the Secretary of State in deciding when an Order should be confirmed, which is of equal relevance to the Council in reaching its decision to make the Order, is set out in paragraph 12 of the CPO Guidance which sta...
	6.3 In the context of that overarching consideration, paragraphs 12 -14 of the CPO Guidance and in particular paragraph 106 in Section 1 (regarding orders made under s226 of the 1990 Act) give relevant guidance on issues which should be considered:
	6.3.1 whether the purpose for which the land is being acquired fits with the adopted Local Plan for the area;
	6.3.2 the extent to which the Scheme will contribute to the achievement of the promotion and/or improvement of the economic, and/or social, and/or environmental well-being of the Council's area;
	6.3.3 whether the purposes for which the proposed Order Land is to be acquired could reasonably be achieved by any other means within a reasonable timeframe;
	6.3.4 the potential financial viability of the Scheme, general funding intentions and the timing of available funding, sufficient to reassure the Secretary of State that there is a reasonable prospect that the Scheme will proceed; and
	6.3.5 any impediments to the Scheme going ahead.

	6.4 Each of these factors is addressed in a separate section below.

	7. The Planning Position And Extent To Which The Purpose For Acquistion Fits With The Planning Framework
	7.1 Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) require that planning applications should be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless materia...
	7.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (published July 2021) reconfirms the statutory requirement set out in Section 38(6) relating to the determination of planning applications and also confirms that the NPPF must be taken into account as ...
	7.3 Although not part of the statutory Development Plan, the NPPF sets out Government policy and should be considered in the determination of planning applications.
	7.4 The presumption in favour of sustainable development is at the heart of the NPPF. Paragraph 8 sets out the economic, social and environmental objectives of sustainable development, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually suppor...
	7.5 The NPPF states that: "…decisions should play an active role in guiding development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so should take local circumstances into account, to reflect the character, needs and opportunities of each area."
	7.6 Paragraph 11 sets out that local planning authorities should approve development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay; or where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most impo...
	7.7 The Government has also published National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) notes to support the NPPF, providing high level guidance on specific planning issues and processes. NPPG notes are referenced where applicable in this Statement.
	7.8 Section 38(3) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) defines the Development Plan as: − the Development Plan documents (taken as a whole) which have been adopted or approved in relation to that area; and − b) the neighbourho...
	7.9 In this instance, the current adopted Development Plan for the Site comprises:
	7.9.1 Coventry City Council Local Plan adopted December 2017 (the Local Plan); and
	7.9.2 Coventry City Council City Centre Area Action Plan adopted December 2017 (the CCCAAP).

	7.10 There are no emerging local plan documents to be considered.
	7.11 The Local Plan provides the overarching policy context for Coventry as a whole, as well as providing detailed policies and standards against which planning applications will be assessed.
	7.12 The CCCAAP provides a framework for the future growth and regeneration of Coventry city centre.
	7.13 There are a number of adopted Supplementary Planning Guidance ('SPG') and Supplementary Planning Documents ('SPD') which are material policy considerations in the determination of the Development:
	7.13.1 Air Quality SPD adopted Aug 2019;
	7.13.2 Coventry Connected (Transport and Accessibility) SPD adopted Jan 2019;
	7.13.3 Delivering a More Sustainable City SPD adopted Jan 2009;
	7.13.4 Design Guidance for New Residential Development SPG adopted Jan 1991;
	7.13.5 Green Space Strategy 2019-2024 SPD; and
	7.13.6 Health Impact Assessment SPD.

	7.14 Whilst not carrying the same weight as an adopted SPD, the Coventry View Management Framework forms part of the Development Plan evidence base and is therefore a material consideration, specifically informing Development Plan policies in relation...
	7.15 In addition, the One Coventry Plan Annual Performance Report 2020-2021 provides that the Scheme is a key regeneration priority for the city centre and will transform seven hectares of the city.  Whilst this does not carry the same weight as other...
	7.16 Paragraph 86 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should support the role that town centres play at the heart of their communities and take a positive approach to their growth and adaptation, including the promotion of their vitality and vi...
	7.17 Planning decisions should recognise the role of residential development in ensuring the vitality of centres and encourage residential development on appropriate sites.
	7.18 Local Plan Policy R2: ‘Coventry City Centre – Development Strategy’ is reflected in the CCCAAP Policy CC1 and states that the city centre will continue to be developed and regenerated to ensure it is a truly world class city centre, leading in de...
	7.19 Policy CC19 ‘Primary Shopping Area regeneration – South’ is a policy specific to the Development Site and states that the regeneration of the Southern part of the Primary Shopping Area for predominantly comparison shopping will be promoted, encou...
	7.19.1 An increase of at least 10,000 sq.m gross retail floor space;
	7.19.2 A range of shop sizes that reflect market requirements;
	7.19.3 High quality entrances from the Precinct, Queen Victoria Road and Bull Yard;
	7.19.4 The redevelopment of the Barracks car park and the relocation of the parking spaces as part of a new multi storey car park incorporated within the development;
	7.19.5 The relocation of the listed mural situated in Bull Yard to a new and prominent site situated within the new development;
	7.19.6 The retention of the listed market building, with improvements made to its setting and connectivity to Queen Victoria Road and Market Way;
	7.19.7 Associated residential provision of at least 40 homes as part of upper floors above retail uses; and
	7.19.8 Complementary leisure, office and hotel uses as part of upper floors above retail uses.

	7.20 Local Plan Policy JE6 ‘Tourism/Visitor Related Development’ states that proposals for development within Coventry City Centre, which would contribute towards the city’s role as a tourist destination will be supported, subject to compatibility wit...
	7.21 A mixed-use development is appropriate within this sequentially preferable, sustainable City Centre location. Specific uses are considered in greater detail below.
	7.22 Local Plan Policies R2 and CC1 identify that that the regeneration of the city centre will be achieved by enhancing its retail and leisure offer to strengthen the city’s sub-regional role. Policy CC19 seeks to deliver approximately 10,000sq.m of ...
	7.23 As part of the overall maximum parameter of up to 37,500sq.m of non-residential mixed uses, the Scheme will include a variety of uses falling within Use Class E, which can include retail shops, services, restaurants and cafes, commercial workspac...
	7.24 The Scheme will create high quality ground floor commercial spaces that can respond to both current and future market dynamics due to their inherent flexibility and simplicity. These spaces will enable both shorter term, incubation type spaces to...
	7.25 The degree of structural change that has taken place in town centres in the intervening period is highlighted in the House of Commons - Housing, Communities and Local Government Committee report ‘High Streets and Town Centres in 2030’ February 20...
	7.26 The report does however envisage a positive future for the role of town centres and the summary conclusion states:
	7.27 This is reflected in the Scheme with flexible uses and a mixed-use approach in order to create a sustainable new piece of city that is attractive to visitors with a broader range of food and beverage and leisure uses, as well as bringing a substa...
	7.28 The flexibility afforded by Class E will enable a variety of appropriate city centre uses to be brought forward, responding to the requirements of future phases. Retail remains an essential component of the Scheme and the Parameter Plans identify...
	7.29 In terms of office space, the 2021 Permission allows for workspace to be provided in a variety of sizes and formats, which will be able to meet the diverse requirements of businesses, including small-scale start-ups. The provision of high quality...
	7.30 As part of the overall maximum parameter of up to 37,500sqm of non-residential mixed uses, the development will include the ability to provide a cinema, bars and public houses and hot food takeaways. These are ‘Sui Generis’ uses with no use class...
	7.31 The scheme will secure the positive enhancement of the city centre’s retail and leisure offer to strengthen the city’s sub regional role and its position as a focus for the entire sub-region and as a national and international destination to live...
	7.32 NPPF paragraph 60 highlights the Government's objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes and states the importance of a sufficient amount and variety of land being able to come forward where it is needed.
	7.33 Local Plan Policy H3 ‘Provision of New Housing’ states that new residential development must provide a high-quality residential environment, which assists in delivering urban regeneration or contributes to creating sustainable communities and whi...
	7.34 Policy H4 of the Local Plan requires proposals for residential development to include a mix of market housing which contributes towards a balance of house types and sizes across the city.
	7.35 Policy R2 of the Local Plan requires focus for the entire sub-region as a national and international destination to live, work and play. It states that this includes a variety of places to live which cater for different needs.
	7.36 Compared with other cities, Coventry has a relatively low level of city centre living, and therefore misses out on the vibrancy generated by a city centre residential population, as well as the benefits of capturing residents’ local spending. Wit...
	7.37 CCCAP Policy CC19 requires associated residential provision of at least 40 homes as part of the upper floors above the retail uses. Whilst the Scheme comprises a much larger number of proposed homes, this addresses the shift in retail and office ...
	7.38 Paragraph 119 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should promote the effective use of land in meeting the needs for homes and other uses. Strategic policies should set out clear strategies for accommodating objectively assessed needs in a ...
	7.39 The Development Site is located within a highly sustainable city centre location, with excellent access to shops, services and public transport options.  Although the scheme is in Outline form, the proposed ‘Development Principles Document’ shows...
	7.40 The residential dwellings may be brought forward as a combination of open market sale and Build to Rent accommodation; this will be established at Reserved Matters stage for each development block.  The residential accommodation complies with Loc...
	7.41 Hotels are a main town centre use (as identified in the NPPF) and will be acceptably located within the city centre providing a sustainably located facility with excellent access to the city centre’s shops, services and public transport links in ...
	7.42 The Scheme proposes a hotel of up to 150 bedrooms. Flexibility in the location of the potential hotel has been sought, with several potential locations proposed in the Land Use Parameter Plans.
	7.43 The hotel use accords with Policy R2 and CC1 and CCAAP Policy CC19. If a hotel is not brought forward in the Development Blocks identified, other approved uses are permitted instead.
	7.44 The spaces created between the development blocks are highly important and Local Plan Policy R2 seeks to secure a connected public realm including public squares and green spaces, easily accessible through the creation of desirable and legible pe...
	7.45 Substantial areas of paved and landscaped open spaces are proposed within the Scheme.  As the horizontal parameters of development blocks are flexible, the Parameter Plans set minimum and maximum street widths to achieve new pedestrian priority b...
	7.46 Located adjacent to the existing Coventry Market will be public square No.1, which is an important nodal point in the Scheme and one which formally marks a transition between periods of development of the city. The Development Design Principles r...
	7.47 Public square No.2 forms a key arrival point into the city centre on approach from the railway station and Greyfriars Green area. Several mandatory principles are included in the Development Principles Document which seek to ensure flexibility of...
	7.48 The open space and public realm proposed accords with Policy R2, DE1 and CC1 and will overall provide a net gain and substantial enhancements. Specific hard and soft landscaping details, as well as public art provision would be secured at Reserve...
	7.49 Policy DE1 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure high quality design and development proposals must respect and enhance their surroundings and positively contribute towards the local identity and character of an area. Policy R2 reflects CCCAAP Policy...
	7.50 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that “Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments:
	7.50.1 will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but over the lifetime of the development;
	7.50.2 are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping;
	7.50.3 are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change (such as increased densities);
	7.50.4 establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit;
	7.50.5 optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and mix of development (including green and other public space) and support local facilities and transport networks; and
	7.50.6 create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of l...

	7.51 Paragraph 134 of the NPPF requires that great weight should be given to proposals which help raise the standard of design more generally in an area, so long as they fit with the overall form and layout of their surroundings.
	7.52 The Outline element of the 2021 Permission seeks to enable a flexible scheme where future applicants can submit an application for reserved matters approval providing full design details that will sit within the agreed height and massing set out ...
	7.52.1 Architectural Diversity: The Development Principles Document has a mandatory requirement that proposed buildings must incorporate diversity in their form, roofscape, and create legible blocks to ensure visual interest and richness in townscape ...
	7.52.2 Active Frontages:  The Development Principles Document addresses the need to provide active frontages in prominent pedestrian locations across the Development Site with a mandatory provision being indicated for buildings fronting Market Way and...
	7.52.3 Mix of Uses:  The Development Principles Document has a mandatory requirement that the Scheme must consist of a mix of uses to create a sustainable community and to achieve active frontage at the base of buildings.
	7.52.4 Scale, Height, Roofscape: There is a mandatory requirement that the visibility of rooftop plant must be screened from street-level view, using setbacks and well-considered screening. This is important for minimising massing impact of such eleme...
	7.52.5 Materials: There is a mandatory requirement for building material selection to exhibit weight, permanence and solidity with material colours and tones required to contribute to variety in the appearance of individual and groups of buildings. It...
	7.52.6 Site-wide Elevational Character: Elevational character within the Development Principles Document delivers aspirations of the designing of street rhythm, promoting clear divisions in the facade to create verticality and variety and also ‘tripar...
	7.52.7 Public Realm: Quality of public realm is key to the successful delivery of the Scheme and as such a number of mandatory principles within the Development Principles Document are established that form a sound base on which reserved matters propo...
	7.52.8 Accessibility:  A notable challenge in level change in the Scheme is that of Hertford Street. Given this challenge and the primacy of the route toward Broadgate, the Development Principles Document states as a mandatory requirement that particu...
	7.52.9 Green Infrastructure: The inclusion of green and brown roofs is a recommended principle in the Development Principles Document and therefore justification will need to be provided for not accommodating these elements at the reserved matters det...
	7.52.10 Public Art Strategy: CCAAP Policy CC4 states that established public art shall be retained in redevelopment proposals unless the benefits of its removal outweigh the harm of its loss. Where public art is lost replacement works shall be incorpo...
	(a) The Phoenix sculpture by George Wagstaffe: The asset must be relocated to a prominent location in the public realm within or immediately adjacent to the Development Site, in order to maintain or enhance the significance of the asset. The 2021 Perm...
	(b) Sir Guy and the Dun Cow Relief: The Development Principles Documents provides that this asset should be relocated to a prominent location within the Development Site.
	(c) Thread Through Time sculpture by Robert Conybear and Uta Molling: The asset must be relocated to a prominent location in the public realm within or immediately adjacent to the Development Site, in order to maintain or enhance the significance of t...
	(d) Peeping Tom Wood Carving: The Development Principles Documents provides that asset should be relocated to a prominent location within the Development Site.
	(e) Two Tone and Shelton Square plaques:  The Development Principles Documents provides that consideration should be given to the relocation of the in closest possible proximity to the geographic location from which they originate.
	(f) The William Mitchell fibreglass decorative panels on Hertford Street; and the concrete panels to rear of 26-48 Hertford Street:  The Development Principles Documents provides that incorporation of a sample of the following existing architectural e...
	(g) Non-designated William Mitchell mural located within Hertford House: although this is not a public art piece, as it is located within a private space, it is still intended to secure the careful removal of this valued mural prior to demolition of t...
	(h) The Three Tuns Mural by William Mitchell is a Grade II listed designated heritage asset.  The 2021 Permission secures the removal and relocation of this asset which is considered further at section 7 of this Statement of Reasons.


	7.53 Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 1990 imposes a duty when exercising planning functions to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character of a Conservation Area.  Section 66 ...
	7.54 NPPF Paragraph 199 states that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation.
	7.55 NPPF Paragraph 201 advises that where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to (or total loss of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the...
	7.55.1 the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; and
	7.55.2 no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term through appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and
	7.55.3 conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit, charitable or public ownership is demonstrably not possible; and
	7.55.4 the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use.

	7.56 NPPF Paragraph 202 indicates that where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.
	7.57 NPPF Paragraph 203 states that the effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-design...
	7.58 Local Plan Policy HE2 reflects NPPF policy and states that development proposals involving heritage assets in general and listed buildings in particular, should acknowledge the significance of the existing building and the area by means of their ...
	7.59 Policy R2 states the preservation and enhancement of the character and setting of the historic built landscape and the archaeological environment.
	7.60 The CCCAAP Policy CC2 ‘Enhancement of Heritage Assets’ states, amongst other things, that all development relating to heritage assets shall be undertaken sympathetically and seek to preserve or enhance their setting.
	7.61 The CCCAAP Policy CC19 provides for the relocation of the listed Three Tuns mural situated in Bull Yard and the retention of the listed market building.
	7.62 Careful assessment was given to the impacts on individual designated heritage assets as part of the determination of the 2021 Permission.
	7.62.1 Substantial harm was identified to the Three Tuns Mural (Grade II Listed). The identified adverse impacts seriously affect key elements of the asset’s special architectural and historic interest. Specifically, the total loss of its original des...
	7.62.2 Substantial harm was identified to the Upper Precinct, North and South Links Blocks and Piazza, Broadgate House, Former British Home Stores Building and Carphone Warehouse, Marks and Spencer and 4-10 Smithford Way, The former Woolworth Building...
	7.62.3 Less than substantial harm was identified to Coventry Market, the listed buildings fronting Warwick Row, including The Reform Club adjoining The Litten Tree Public House, the Library (former Locarno) and Mercia House (former Leofric Hotel) form...
	7.62.4 Less than substantial harm is also identified for the Greyfriars Green Conservation Area.
	7.62.5 Less than substantial harm is also identified to The Grade I Listed spires of St. Michael's Cathedral, Holy Trinity Church, and the Grade II* Listed Christchurch spire. The Spires are experienced from many viewpoints across the city and whilst ...

	7.63 Non-designated heritage assets are not subject to the tests established by NPPF in respect of ‘substantial harm’ and ‘less than substantial harm’. Nevertheless, NPPF Paragraph 203 is clear that a balanced judgement will be required having regard ...
	7.64 The impacts on the designated and non-designated heritage assets were carefully considered when determining the 2021 Permission and associated listed building consents in light of the requirements of the NPPF and the Local Plan.  In applying the ...
	7.64.1 Enhancements to the experience of the heritage significance of the Grade II Listed Natwest Bank on Hertford Street through improved public realm within its immediate setting;
	7.64.2 Enhancements to the experience of the heritage significance of non-designated Methodist Central Hall through improved public realm within its immediate setting;
	7.64.3 Securing the optimum viable use of the Grade II listed Coventry Retail Market through development within its immediate setting that will likely improve its viability as a commercial marketplace by improving its setting/footfall.
	7.64.4 Proposed mitigations incorporated into the Scheme including the relocation of the Three Tuns Mural and other non-designated public art within the new Scheme.

	7.65 Overall the Scheme was considered to provide substantial widespread and long-lasting public benefits to Coventry’s citizens at a multi-generational level. The local planning authority concluded that the substantial harm to certain designated heri...
	7.66 Additionally, having considered the significance of the non-designated heritage assets and the scale of harm identified, it is concluded, on balance, the benefits delivered by the proposed Scheme will outweigh the potential harm to the identified...
	7.67 NPPF Paragraph 204 advises that Local planning authorities should not permit the loss of the whole or part of a heritage asset without taking all reasonable steps to ensure the new development will proceed after the loss has occurred. The 2021 Pe...
	7.68 NPPF Paragraph 104 requires transport issues to be considered in development proposals, so that opportunities from existing or proposed infrastructure can be realised in the scale, location and density of development that can be accommodated. Opp...
	7.69 NPPF Paragraph 111 states that development should only be refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.
	7.70 NPPF Paragraph 112 requires that developments should give priority to pedestrian and cycle movements, within the scheme and with surrounding areas; address the needs of people with reduced mobility; create places that are safe, secure and attract...
	7.71 Local Plan Policy AC1 ‘Accessible Transport Network’ states that development proposals which are expected to generate additional trips on the transport network should:
	7.71.1 Integrate with existing transport networks including roads, public transport and walking and cycling routes to promote access by a choice of transport modes;
	7.71.2 Consider the transport and accessibility needs of everyone living, working or visiting the city;
	7.71.3 Support the delivery of new and improved high-quality local transport networks which are closely integrated into the built form; and
	7.71.4 Actively support the provision and integration of emerging and future intelligent mobility infrastructure.

	7.72 Local Policy AC3: Demand Management states that “Proposals for the provision of car parking associated with new development will be assessed on the basis of parking standards set out in Appendix 5”. With regard to the provision of car parking wit...
	7.73 Appendix 5 also states that 5% of all new parking spaces should include provision for electric car charging points. Where this is demonstrated to be impractical, 5% of spaces should have the capacity to be easily retrofitted for the provision of ...
	7.74 Policy AC4: Walking and Cycling states that “Development proposals should incorporate appropriate safe and convenient access to walking and cycling routes. Where these links do not exist, new and upgraded routes will be required and these must ap...
	7.75 Policy R2 encourages provision of a high-quality public transport system that benefits from seamless integration and is well connected to existing and new infrastructure. It also states to provide an attractive and safe environment for pedestrian...
	7.76 City Centre AAP Policy CC11(e) encourages proposals for the redevelopment of the Barracks Multi Storey Car Park (“MSCP”) and City Arcade MSCP as part of the wider regeneration of the city centre. Policy CC11 requires that any change in the provis...
	7.77 Policy CC11: Accessibility states that “Development proposals should support the needs of pedestrians and cyclists by incorporating new dedicated safe and direct pedestrian and cycle routes which integrate seamlessly into established networks inc...
	7.78 The approved Access and Movement Parameter Plan identifies areas of the Development Site which will prioritise pedestrian movement in the public realm, with limited access for service vehicles during off-peak hours, and allowing for emergency veh...
	7.79 Short-stay cycle parking for visitors and long-stay cycle parking for residents of the Scheme will be provided in subsequent reserved matters applications in accordance with the relevant policy requirements. In March 2021, the West Midlands Cycle...
	7.80 In terms of car parking, a minimum of 90 and maximum of 300 car parking spaces will be delivered for future residential development, all of which will be able to accommodate electric vehicles.  There will also be the opportunity for future reside...
	7.81 Vehicular access will be from existing accesses from Barrack Street, City Arcade existing car park access and the existing service access to the north of Coventry Market off Queen Victoria Road. These will be retained for service and operational ...
	7.82 Pedestrian/cycle access is proposed to be via existing routes through the site such as Market Way, Hertford Street and Warwick Road/New Union Street. It is also proposed to amend Rover Way (via Queen Victoria Rd) to allow for pedestrian/cycle acc...
	7.83 A detailed Travel Plan is required to be submitted for approval at the reserved matters stage to outline implementation of sustainable travel measures and a detailed action plan of delivery to capitalise upon the city centre location of the devel...
	7.84 A construction travel plan must also be submitted to detail construction traffic demands, routes, mitigation etc. These will be conditioned as part of the outline planning permission.
	7.85 NPPF Paragraph 157 sets out that new development should be expected to comply with any development plan policies on local requirements for decentralised energy supply, unless it can be demonstrated that this is not feasible or viable. The Scheme ...
	7.86 NPPF Paragraph 159 states that development should be directed away from areas at highest risk of flooding.
	7.87 NPPF Paragraph 167 requires that flood risk is not increased elsewhere, as demonstrated in a site-specific flood risk assessment.
	7.88 NPPF Paragraph 169 requires major developments to incorporate sustainable drainage systems unless there is clear evidence this would be inappropriate.
	7.89 Local Plan Policy EM4 states that all major developments must be assessed in respect of the level of flood risk from all sources.  If development in areas at risk of flooding is the only option following the application of the sequential test, it...
	7.90 City Centre AAP Policy CC9 ‘Drainage & Flood Risk’ states that development shall be designed and located to minimise the risk of flooding and if permitted development, development should be resilient to flooding.
	7.91 The majority of the Development Site is within Flood Zone 1; however, part of Block A1 and Block D adjacent to Queen Victoria Road and Rover Road are within Flood Zone 2. The Scheme is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment and includes, through co...
	Contaminated Land
	7.92 Policy EM6 seeks to ensure that redevelopment of previously developed land does not have a negative impact on water quality, either directly through pollution of surface or ground water or indirectly through the treatment of wastewater by whateve...
	7.93 Due to the location and site history there is an increased risk of unexploded ordnance being found within the site; however, conditions have been imposed on the 2021 Permission to secure the recommendations within the supporting unexploded ordnan...
	7.94 Policy EM7 states that major development schemes should promote a shift to the use of sustainable low emission transport to minimise the impact of vehicle emissions on air quality.  Air quality mitigation measures will be determined once the fina...
	7.95 The Scheme is located within a highly sustainable location where future residents will have excellent access to shops and services and public transport options. The provision of electric vehicle charging points and a maximum dry NOx emissions rat...
	Ecology and Green Infrastructure
	7.96 Policy GE3 of the Local Plan states that proposals for development will be expected to ensure that they lead to a net gain of biodiversity, protect or enhance biodiversity assets and secure their long term management and maintenance, avoid negati...
	7.97 Policy GE4 ‘Tree Protection’ notes that trees make a valuable contribution to the city’s green landscape. New developments should seek to retain existing trees and other landscape features, incorporating them into a high-quality design and landsc...
	7.98 Policy R2 encourages the reintroduction of green and blue infrastructure throughout the city centre, including opportunities for de-culverting wherever possible.
	7.99 City Centre AAP Policy CC8 ‘Green and Blue Infrastructure’ states that new development will be expected to maintain the quantity, quality and functionality of existing green and blue infrastructure and that development proposals should enhance bl...
	7.100 The proposal will not impact on any statutory or non-statutory wildlife sites and there are no records of notable wildlife from the area. Bats (Pipistrelles) are recorded generally within the city centre and Peregrine Falcon nests within the cen...
	7.101 The Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment submitted in support of the 2021 Permission suggests that the Scheme will lead to a net gain in biodiversity. The net gain depends upon the delivery of significant areas of green and brown roofs.  Conditions ...
	7.102 Accordingly the Council is satisfied that the purpose for which the Order Land is being acquired fits with the adopted Local Plan for the area.

	8. Contribution To Well-Being And Other Benefits
	8.1 The average economic activity amongst the working-age population is significantly lower at the local neighbourhood (52.8%) and local authority (72.4%) levels than the national average of 76.8% (2011 Census).  The Council’s Economic Development ser...
	8.1.1 £1.1bn in total economic benefits: CCS represents an investment of £350m in Coventry, which will deliver transformational benefits for local people and businesses and generate over £1.1bn in economic benefits over 25 years.
	8.1.2 £583m in net additional overall GVA: The economic output of CCS is at least double that which could reasonably be expected to occur if the status quo is maintained, with the construction and operation of CCS contributing at least £583m in net ad...
	8.1.3 1,700 full time jobs on completion: the existing Development Site is characterised by a high level of vacancy in the retail and office units representing a lost opportunity to support economic activity and jobs. As at March 2020, the estimated v...
	8.1.4 620 full time construction jobs over three years: Construction of CCS is expected to require 1,857 person years of labour – supporting the equivalent of 620 full time construction jobs sustained for the entire anticipated 3 year duration of the ...
	8.1.5 Growth in tax base: These new homes will generate an estimated £1.6m per annum in Council Tax, the commercial uses are also expected to generate around £0.75m per annum in business rates and the new homes up to £9.8m per annum in New Homes Bonus...
	8.1.6 Growth in a sustainable city centre community: as well as delivering a £33.5m pa increase in household expenditure the city centre resident population will increase by 24%.
	8.1.7 New retail, office, leisure and hotel accommodation:  the Scheme will support a broader range of employment opportunities than currently supported by the existing Development Site, which predominantly comprises low-quality retail and office floo...
	8.1.8 Improved employment opportunities: the creation of high-quality office accommodation aimed at smaller office typologies such as co-working space will support inward investment and high employment opportunities accessible to the local population ...

	8.2 The Scheme will deliver the following social benefits:
	8.2.1 Provision of new high-quality homes in a sustainable city centre location: The Development Site currently provides no housing and the wider city centre’s housing offer predominantly comprises purpose-built student accommodation.
	8.2.2 The Scheme will deliver up to 1,300 new high-quality homes as part of a sustainable mixed-use neighbourhood. If this maximum parameter of residential development was delivered, it would enable Coventry to meet over 5% of its minimum housing targ...
	8.2.3 The current MHCLG Standard Method to calculating Local Housing Need is substantially higher than the Local Plan Policy DS1 requirement of 1,230 homes per annum, at 1,722 homes per annum. The Scheme will contribute substantially to Coventry’s abi...
	8.2.4 Improved pedestrian environment and public safety: the environmental benefits also identify an improvement in quality and quantity of the public realm more generally, whilst the text below focusses on the benefits to pedestrians travelling throu...
	8.2.5 The Scheme significantly improves the permeability of the Development Site by reinstating the two historic north-south routes along Market Way and Hertford Street and creating new east-west linkages across the Site, to overcome the existing frag...
	8.2.6 Improved surveillance: As secured by the Parameter Plans Document and Development Principles Document, the Scheme will improve passive surveillance through the removal of inactive frontages and ill-defined servicing areas and through the introdu...

	8.3 The Scheme will deliver the following environmental benefits:
	8.3.1 Provision of new high-quality homes in a sustainable city centre location: The Scheme will deliver up to 1,300 new high-quality homes as part of a sustainable mixed-use neighbourhood, this maximises the use of previously developed brownfield lan...
	8.3.2 Creation of a larger amount and better quality of public space: The Development Site’s current layout hinders pedestrian connectivity through the site and into Coventry City Centre, with an illegible mixture of servicing areas, pedestrian precin...
	8.3.3 Potential for net biodiversity gain: Whilst landscaping is a reserved matter for the majority of the Scheme, an indicative Net Biodiversity Gain Assessment was produced to inform the application for the 2021 Permission.  This assessed the likely...
	8.3.4 Positive townscape effects:  The Scheme will deliver:
	(a) Beneficial townscape effects of major-to-moderate significance within the Coventry Central Retail townscape character area, with the re-introduction of historic north-south routes across the site (Market Way and Hertford Street) and creation of ne...
	(b) Beneficial townscape effects of moderate-to-minor significance on the adjacent Greyfriars Green townscape character area, with the introduction of varied rooflines and façade treatment and use of high-quality materials; and
	(c) Beneficial effects of minor significance in the Coventry West and Coventry South Mixed Use townscape character area south and west of the Development Site, with the removal of the inactive frontage associated with City Arcade and its multi-storey ...

	8.3.5 Enhancement of setting of designated heritage assets:  at present, the Grade II Listed Coventry Retail Market is relatively obscured from public view situated to the rear of the primary pedestrian thoroughfare along Market Way and is surrounded ...

	8.4 The Council is therefore satisfied that the Scheme will deliver significant contributions to the achievement of the promotion and/or improvement of the economic, and/or social, and/or environmental well-being of the Council's area.

	9. Alternatives To Compulsory Purchase
	9.1 Paragraph 106 of the CPO Guidance states that, amongst the factors which the Secretary of State can be expected to consider when determining whether to confirm an order made under section 226(1)(a), is “whether the purpose for which the acquiring ...
	9.2 Here, there are no reasonable alternatives to the Scheme. There is no alternative location for the delivery of the Scheme, and there is no evidence that piecemeal redevelopment is likely to come forward sufficiently to meet policy objectives nor, ...
	9.3 The comprehensive regeneration of the City Centre South cannot be achieved without the wholesale regeneration of the Order Lands.  Policy CC19 of the CCCAP clearly prioritises comprehensive redevelopment over a piecemeal approach. The Council is t...

	10. Means Of Delivery, Potential Viability And Funding
	10.1 A Development Agreement (“DA”) between the Council and SPG places an obligation on SPG to secure private sector funding and a delivery partner for the Scheme.
	10.2 The DA places obligations on SPG to secure this private sector funding and delivery partner with the expectation that the funder would then provide the necessary finance to cover the costs of getting to a start on site (what is called an “Uncondi...
	10.3 The scheme has been the subject of a number of viability and delivery challenges during its evolution, as summarised in the Deloitte Potential Means of Funding and Delivery Report (December, 2021). This has not been unusual in relation to schemes...
	10.4 Notwithstanding the encouraging progress SPG is making, it is important that the Council is able to satisfy itself that it has an alternative means of delivery approach as a fallback position. The Council and Deloitte consider that there are reas...
	10.5 Overall, there is a reasonable prospect of scheme delivery by SPG and an appointed delivery and funding partner within the DA period. In the event that this process was not for some reason satisfactorily concluded during the DA period, it would b...

	11. Impediments To Delivery And Whether The Scheme Has A Reasonable Prospect Of Going Ahead
	11.1 Paragraph 15 of the CPO Guidance confirms that an acquiring authority will need to show that the scheme is unlikely to be prevented by any physical or legal impediments to implementation.
	11.2 As described above, the Council has considered the means of delivery, potential viability and funding of the Scheme and is satisfied that there are no resulting impediments to delivery.  In addition, the Council is also satisfied that there are n...
	11.3 Investigations undertaken to date have not revealed any physical factors which would impede development.
	11.4 The Order Land includes areas of open space as considered below. To the extent that there are any interests in the open space land affected by the Scheme, which are not already owned by the Council, those interests may be included within the Orde...
	11.5 There is some operational land of statutory undertakers. All statutory undertakers have been identified and discussions are progressing with them.  No interests within the Order Land fall within the definition of “Crown Land” as confirmed below.
	11.6 There are a number of electricity substations within the Order Lands.  In addition, there are leasehold interests which encompass telecommunication apparatus and masts operated by telecommunications companies.  SPG has been engaging with relevant...
	11.7 As described above, Planning Permission has been granted for the scheme and reserved matters applications will be submitted in respect of the detailed design of the Scheme.  As a result, it is considered that there are no planning impediments tha...
	11.8 Applications for three orders under section 247 of the 1990 Act are being made in respect of the stopping up of three small areas of public highway that sit within the boundary of the Scheme as further set out at paragraph 16 below.  It is intend...
	11.9 In summary, the Council is satisfied that there are no financial, physical, planning or legal impediments to the Scheme proceeding and that there is a reasonable prospect that it will proceed.

	12. Steps Taken By The Council To Acquire Land By Agreement
	12.1 The Council owns the freehold of the majority of the Pink Land.  This land is subject to various long-leasehold, short-leasehold and other occupational interests that need to be acquired for the Scheme to proceed.  The occupational interests are ...
	12.2 Since 2013 the Council has actively sought to acquire the long-leasehold interests in this land.
	12.3 The long-leasehold interest acquired by the Council since this date are:
	12.3.1 Coventry Point – a 14 storey office building.  The long leasehold interest in Blocks 1 and 2 Coventry Point, Market Way was acquired by the Council on 6 April 2018.  Building demolished by the Council in 2020.
	12.3.2 21-25 Hertford Street – retail parade, long leasehold acquired by the Council on 6th April 2018.  Comprises cinema and shops on the North West side of Hertford Street together with the basement bar below these addresses.
	12.3.3 26-48 Hertford Street and part of 12 Bull Yard – retail parade, long leasehold acquired by the Council on 6th April 2018.
	12.3.4 14-16 Market Way – two retail units.  Long leasehold was acquired by the Council on 28th November 2017.
	12.3.5 1-23 Shelton Square & 1A City Arcade – retail parade.  Long leasehold acquired by the Council on 6th April 2018.
	12.3.6 1-11 (odd numbers) Shelton Square and 1a City Arcade was acquired by the Council on 13th September 2013.

	12.4 The remaining leasehold and other occupational interests are summarised in Table 1 below.

	Table 1
	12.5 In September 2019, the Council established a “Land Assembly Group” (LAG).  The LAG comprises officers from the Council, the Council’s development partner, the Council’s appointed compulsory purchase surveyor, Deloitte, and the Council’s appointed...
	12.6 The activity of the LAG is aligned to the Council’s Site Assembly Strategy. A copy of this strategy has been issued to leaseholders and occupiers within the Pink Land and is published on the Council’s website.
	12.7 In the absence of agreement, compulsory purchase will be required to acquire the Category 1a and Category 1b interests in Table 1. Where appropriate, unconditional offers have been made for the acquisition of these interests, and some of these ne...
	12.8 It is not expected that compulsory purchase will be required to acquire the Category 2 and Category 3 interests. The Council has served the necessary notices, under section 25 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954 (“the 1954 Act”), to bring the Cat...
	12.9 In addition to the interests set out in Table 1, 37 properties (principally retail units) within the Pink Land are currently vacant.  Any new leases granted by the Council over these properties will be short-term and provide the ability to obtain...
	12.10 Where appropriate, the Council has also sought to engage with landowners with an interest in the Blue Land, who might be affected by the acquisition of new rights required to build and maintain the Scheme.  This has included engagement with the ...
	12.11 Affected parties have also been invited to attend two CPO “surgery” events, on 4 and 10 August 2021, at which representatives from the Council and Deloitte were available to discuss the timing and impact of the Scheme with individual owners and ...
	Proposals for relocating businesses
	12.12 The Council has prepared and published a Site Assembly Strategy for businesses which provides a range on information for those affected by the proposals including how those with interests in the Pink Land will be contacted to discuss the acquisi...
	12.13 The Council has instructed a local property agent, Holt Commercial Ltd, to maintain a schedule of retail premises available to let in the local area (the “Availability Schedule”). The Availability Schedule is updated on a two monthly basis and c...
	12.14 The Availability Schedule demonstrates there are a range of suitable available properties within the local area. Given this, and the time available before vacant possession is required, and taking into account the Council’s knowledge of occupier...
	On-going engagement
	12.15 In accordance with the CPO Guidance and the Council’s Site Assembly Strategy, engagement by the Council and Deloitte will continue in parallel with all stages of the compulsory purchase process.  The Council remains committed to acquire all inte...

	13. Human Rights Considerations
	13.1 Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits a public authority from acting in a way which is incompatible with the rights and fundamental freedoms set out in specified provisions of the European Convention on Human Rights ("Convention Rights").
	13.2 Convention Rights likely to be engaged in the process of considering, making, confirming and implementing a compulsory purchase order include those under Article 6 (right to a fair and public hearing to determine a person's civil rights), Article...
	13.3 In relation to the rights protected under Article 1 of the First Protocol (right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions) the European Court has recognised that "regard must be had to the fair balance that has to be struck between the competing inte...
	13.4 If a compelling case in the public interest can be demonstrated, as the Council considers here, then this will meet the requirements of the Convention. In making this Order, the Council has carefully considered the balance to be struck between in...
	13.5 In relation to the requirements of Article 6 (right to a fair and public hearing), these are satisfied by the statutory procedures which include rights to object and to be heard at any public inquiry and by the right to statutory challenge under ...

	14. The Public Sector Equality Duty
	14.1 In discharging all its functions, the Council (and the Secretary of State) has a statutory duty under section149 of the Equality Act 2010 ("2010 Act"), "the public sector equality duty", to have due regard to the need to:
	14.1.1 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act;
	14.1.2 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and
	14.1.3 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.

	14.2 Section 149 of the 2010 Act gives greater detail of what each of the above matters involves which the Council has taken into account.  The "relevant protected characteristics" are age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; rac...
	14.3 An Equality Impact Assessment ("EqIA") has been undertaken to assess the impact on protected groups of the making of the Order and implementation of the Scheme, to assist decision-makers in discharging the public sector equality duty.  The EqIA i...
	14.4 In preparing the EqIA, an equalities and communication survey was sent to approximately 130 businesses and property owners who may be impacted by the making of the Order and the implementation of the Scheme. Due to an initial low response, the su...
	14.5 The EqIA for the proposed Order identifies that the wider community potentially affected would include:
	14.5.1 those who currently own or occupy land within and around the affected area including business and land owners;
	14.5.2 current visitors as well as future visitors to the affected area for work or leisure and to use the retail and other City Centre South facilities; and
	14.5.3 those who live around the Order Land now and those who will live within or around the land in the future.

	14.6 The potential impact on each of the protected groups is examined in detail within the EqIA.
	14.7 The EqIA notes that the implementation of the Council’s published Site Assembly Strategy, taken together with the statutory compensation code, will ensure that fair and non-discriminatory processes are in place.  Those responsible for disposing o...
	14.8 The EqIA identifies the following potential negative impacts on protected groups:
	14.8.1 Most of the business occupiers and their staff fell within the 19-64 year age group giving rise to a potential for this age group to be disproportionately impacted by business loss or relocation.  However, business and relocation support is bei...
	14.8.2 Access to essential services, including banks and chemists, may be disrupted during construction which may result in a temporary adverse impact on protected groups based on age and disability as well as pregnancy and maternity due to disruption...
	14.8.3 The Barracks Car Park is due to be demolished leading to a potential adverse impact on those in protected groups based on disability due to the disruption to the Shopmobility facility.  However, a condition of the Planning Permission requires t...
	14.8.4 One of the affected businesses has customers predominantly from the LGBTQ+ community. The Council will work with the business and other representatives of this community to ensure that their requirements for a safe space to socialise are met.
	14.8.5 There will be an adverse impact resulting from construction noise and traffic for local residents, in particular homeworkers.
	14.8.6 There is a potential perceived loss of safe spaces for homeless and rough sleepers during demolition and construction.  Steps for Change – the local support service for homeless people - are located in the affected area. When the development wo...
	14.8.7 Although very close to the affected area, there is no impact on the Central Methodist Hall other than slight disruption during the construction phase. The Council will work closely with representatives of the church to ensure this is kept to a ...

	14.9 The EqIA additionally identifies the following positive impacts on protected groups:
	14.9.1 The Scheme will offer jobs and training opportunities, including for those age 16-18 years. These will include construction apprenticeships and employment opportunities in retail and leisure.
	14.9.2 The Scheme will include leisure facilities, for example a cinema, cafes and restaurants, giving social opportunities for young people.
	14.9.3 Improved green space and places to socialise will give parents and carers space for younger children to enjoy.
	14.9.4 New housing provision within the scheme will offer a mix of much needed high-quality housing of particular benefit for the 19-64 age group. The Scheme will also provide increased access to affordable housing for those with lower incomes.
	14.9.5 The Scheme has the potential to offer over 1,000 new full-time jobs as well as 620 new construction related jobs.
	14.9.6 The Scheme will include positive accessibility principles, including the mandatory principle to mitigate existing steep gradients on Hertford Street. Tactile paving will be provided at crossing points, together with sloped pavements as well as ...
	14.9.7 There will be a courtyard area for rest and relaxation and space for community use. The community use space can support opportunities to get involved in social activities, which may have positive health impacts and reduce loneliness in the 65+ ...
	14.9.8 There will be a considered approach to lighting which will have a significant impact on orientation, security and visual quality. This will impact crime and the fear of crime and is of benefit for a number of protected groups including those ba...
	14.9.9 It is considered that once the redevelopment proposals have been completed, all groups would benefit from the improved physical environment in City Centre South as well as the wider economic benefits stemming from the proposals.  The proposed n...

	14.10 The EqIA will be monitored and reviewed throughout the progress of the proposals in order to ensure that any future impact can be measured and mitigated against as necessary.
	14.11 To conclude, steps are being taken to ensure that the acquisition and relocation processes are applied in a fair and non-discriminatory manner.  Steps will also be taken to minimise the adverse effects on protected groups during construction.  T...

	15. Special Considerations Affecting The Order Land
	15.1 Section 19 of the Acquisition of Land Act 1981 defines “open space” as any land laid out as a public garden, or used for the purposes of public recreation, or land being a disused burial ground”.  The Order Land includes four areas that potential...

	Table 2
	15.2 The total area of “open space” within the Order Land is 4,456 sqm.  The total area of land within the Scheme that will be re-provided as open space is 4,543 sqm. The total area of open space to be re-provided within the Scheme therefore exceeds t...
	15.3 There is no other land within the Order Land that falls within the scope of sections 16, 17, 18 or 19 of the 1981 Act.
	15.4 No interests within the Order Land fall within the definition of “Crown Land” as defined in section 293(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, section 82C of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and section 31 of...

	16. Related Orders And Consents
	16.1 There are three areas of publicly maintained adopted highway within the boundary of the Scheme and which will need to be stopped up before the Scheme can be fully implemented.  These areas are as follows:
	16.2 Applications to allow these areas of highway to be stopped up to facilitate delivery of the Scheme have been made pursuant to section 247 of the 1990 Act.  It is intended that any objections to these applications will be heard at a conjoined publ...
	16.3 As set out in detail at section 5 above, the Scheme benefits from the 2021 Planning Permission which takes the form of a hybrid permission in which the details for the layout and scale for areas of the Scheme (being those needed to assess the imp...
	16.4 Listed Building Consent (ref LB/2020/2857) was granted on 24th June 2021 for the removal of the bridge link between the roof top car park of the Market and the roof top parking over the existing retail units on Market Way together with associated...
	16.5 Listed Building Consent (ref LB/2020/2860) was also granted on 24th June 2021 for the removal and relocation of the Grade II listed William Mitchell Mural from the front elevation to a new location to be agreed in writing with the local planning ...
	16.6 Traffic regulation orders may be required in due course.  The details of any necessary traffic regulation orders will be agreed with the local highway authority following reserved matters approval has been obtained in relation to access for the S...
	16.7 The Council is not aware of any reason why all necessary orders required for the implementation of the Scheme will not be obtained in due course.

	17. Legal Status Of This Statement Of Reasons
	17.1 This Statement of Reasons is not a statement under Rule 7 of the Compulsory Purchase (Inquiries Procedure) Rules 2007.

	18. Contacts For Further Information And Negotiation
	18.1 Parties affected by the Order who wish to discuss matters with a representative of the Council should contact:
	18.2 Owners and tenants of properties affected by the Order who wish to negotiate a sale and/or relocation or discuss matters of compensation should contact:

	19. Inspection Of The Order, Map And Other Douments
	19.1 A copy of the Order and of the Order map and other documents may be seen at:
	19.1.1 The Council House, CV1 5RR between the hours of 9:00-17:00 Monday to Friday (please ask at reception to see the documents); and
	19.1.2 on the Council's website at: www.coventry.gov.uk /[XX]


	20. Documents To Be Referred To Or Put In Evidence In The Event Of An Inquiry
	20.1 Documents and plans may be inspected at the same venues and times as the Order, identified above.
	20.2 List of Documents
	20.2.1 The Order and Order Map
	20.2.2 Delegated Authority Report dated [XX]
	20.2.3 The 2012 Permission
	20.2.4 The 2021 Permission
	20.2.5 National Planning Policy Framework
	20.2.6 The Government Guidance on Compulsory Purchase Process dated October 2015
	20.2.7 Equality Impact Assessment
	20.2.8 Relevant planning policy extracts from the Local Plan



	City Centre South - Appendix 5 - Draft Schedule of Interests
	City Centre South - Appendix 6 - CCS Delivery Approach Report
	City Centre South - Appendix 7 - Draft City Centre South Compulsory Purchase Order
	1. Subject to the provisions of this order, the acquiring authority is under section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and section 13 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 hereby authorised to purchase compulsor...
	2. The land authorised to be purchased compulsorily under this order is the land described in the Schedule and delineated and shown coloured pink on a map prepared in duplicate, sealed with the common seal of the acquiring authority and marked "Map re...
	3. The new rights to be purchased compulsorily over land under this order are described in the Schedule and the land is shown coloured blue on the said map.

	City Centre South - Appendix 8 - Draft Highways Order Plans
	070_D
	Sheets and Views
	070_D


	071_D
	Sheets and Views
	071_D


	072_D
	Sheets and Views
	072_D



	City Centre South - Appendix 9 - Land within CCC Freehold Ownership Appropriation Plan (exc. Open Space)
	City Centre South - Appendix 10 - Open Space Land Certificate of S19 Sought
	City Centre South - Appendix 11 - Open Space Land Planning Purposes and Disposal
	City Centre South - Appendix 12 - Open Space Proposed to be Provided Within the Scheme
	Sheets and Views
	1367-HED-XX-XX-DR-L-SK-008


	City Centre South - Appendix 13 - Site Assembly Strategy Information for Businesses

	14 Homes for Disabled Children - Acceptance of a Capital Grant, Further Capital Borrowing and Future Homes for Children with a Disability
	15 Disposal of Land at Allard Way
	Disposal of Land at Allard Way - Appendix - Site Plan - Allard Way London Rd

	16 City Centre South Land Acquisition and Compulsory Purchase Order
	City Centre South - Appendix 14 - CCS Potential Means of Funding and Delivery Report


